

A mechanistic approach to plankton migration Rémi Monthiller

▶ To cite this version:

Rémi Monthiller. A mechanistic approach to plankton migration. Fluids mechanics [physics.class-ph]. Ecole Centrale Marseille, 2022. English. NNT: 2022ECDM0016 . tel-04164543

HAL Id: tel-04164543 https://theses.hal.science/tel-04164543v1

Submitted on 18 Jul2023

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.











A mechanistic approach to plankton migration

Une approche mécaniste à la migration du plancton

Rémi Monthiller

Ph.D. thesis supervised by Christophe ELOY and Benjamin FAVIER

Jury members:

É. CLIMENT	Professor, ENSEEIHT, IMFT, Toulouse	Rapporteur
A. SEMINARA	Professor, unige, DICCA, Genova	Rapporteure
M. DIBENEDETTO	Assistant professor, Univ. of Washington, Mechanical Engineering, Washington	Éxaminatrice
A. CELANI	Research scientist, ICTP, Trieste	Éxaminateur
M. KOEHL	Professor, University of California, Integrative Biology, Berkeley	Invitée
B. FAVIER	CR CNRS, IRPHE, Marseille	Co-directeur
C. ELOY	Professor, Centrale Méditerranée, IRPHE, Marseille	Directeur

Doctoral school: **ED 353**: Sciences pour l'ingénieur: Mécanique, Physique, Micro et Nanoélectronique

Student of Centrale Méditerrannée working in the IRPHE, (UMR 7342) lab (also tutored by Aix-Marseille Université and the CNRS).

This project has received funding from the European Research Council (ERC) under the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme (grant agreement No 834238).

Defended on December 20, 2022

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Ph.D. in **Engineering Sciences**, in the specialty **Fluid Physics and Mechanics**, delivered by **Centrale Méditerranée**.



This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License.

Affidavit

I, undersigned, Rémi Monthiller, hereby declare that the work presented in this manuscript is my own work, carried out under the scientific direction of Christophe Eloy and Benjamin Favier, in accordance with the principles of honesty, integrity and responsibility inherent to the research mission.

The research work and the writing of this manuscript have been carried out in compliance with both the french national charter for Research Integrity and the Aix-Marseille University charter on the fight against plagiarism.

This work has not been submitted previously either in this country or in aother country in the same or in a similar version to any other examination body.

Marseille, September 27, 2022



To my parents

who passed on their passions to me.

Acknowledgements

En premier lieu, un grand merci à mes deux directeurs de thèse, Christophe et Benjamin. Merci Christophe pour m'avoir introduit au monde fascinant du plancton et merci Benjamin pour ton accompagnement tout au long des divers obstacles numériques rencontrés. Merci aussi à Aurore pour nos discussion fructueuses et ton rôle de quasi troisième directrice de thèse tout au long de ces trois années.

Ensuite, j'aimerais remercier les membres du jury, et en particulier les deux rapporteurs, Éric et Agnese, pour leur lecture attentive de mon manuscrit et pour nos échanges lors de ma soutenance. Ce fut un réel plaisir de discuter avec vous.

L'ensemble du personnel de l'Institut de Recherche sur les Phénomènes Hors Équilibre ont contribué, de près ou de loin, à ce travail de recherche. Parmi le personnel permanent, je remercie particulièrement Patrice pour nos échanges, souvent à la cafétéria et Frédéric pour son aide vis-à-vis de mes besoins en matière de réseau.

Malgré le Covid-19, pendant ces trois années, l'ensemble de l'équipe de postdocs, doctorants et stagiaires ont fait de ce laboratoire un réel lieu de vie et de travail ! En commençant par les générations précédentes, je les remercie pour leur accueil d'une grande bienveillance. Sans tous les citer (ils se reconnaîtront), je remercie particulièrement Amélie pour ses contributions essentielles à la vie du laboratoire.

Cette aventure aurait été des plus ardus sans l'avoir partagé avec les doctorants de ma génération: Merci à Tristan pour son éternelle bonne humeur et nos matchs de lutte sur la plage. Merci à Ahmed pour sa gentillesse et pour nous avoir suivi au mont Ventoux ! Merci à Raùl, le plus courageux d'entre nous, pour les bières qu'on a partagé ainsi que notre passion partagé pour le fromage. Enfin un grand merci à Tommaso pour m'avoir supporté pendant ces trois ans et pour m'avoir tant apporté.

Un grand merci également aux générations de doctorants et stagiaires suivantes (dont la liste est longue) qui ont pu supporter les nombreuses versions de mon jeu de société mais aussi les itinéraires approximatifs de nos treks. Un grand merci pour toutes nos discussions scientifiques (notamment de biomécanique, la physique des fronts réactifs ou même la pluie de sucres, etc...) et pour toute votre aide inestimable.

Ce travail n'aurait pas pu être réalisé sans le soutien de ma famille et de mes amis. Un grand merci pour nos voyages, nos soirées arrosées, nos treks annuels, nos sorties alpines et célestes, nos restaurants mensuels, nos LANs et parties de jeux de société. Mention spéciale aux survivants, Marie et Maxime, dont la présence à Marseille a été inestimable et à mes parents qui ont su me transmettre leurs passions ainsi que leur détermination pour venir à bout de ce travail.

Enfin, je ne pourrais jamais assez remercier Suzanne pour son soutien indéfectible pendant ces trois années, que ce soit pour la thèse ou pour tous les projets que j'ai pu entreprendre, sans quoi rien de tout ça n'aurait été possible. Je te dois tant, merci.

Abstract

At the basis of the marine food chain, plankton play a key role in ocean ecology. Due to their daily vertical migration of several hundred meters, some of these organisms play an important role in the vertical mixing of the ocean. Far from being passive, many planktonic organisms are motile and able to perceive their environment and react accordingly.

Focusing on the representative example of unidirectional migration, this thesis aims to demonstrate that these motor and sensory skills, useful for predation, are also advantageous for navigating their turbulent environment.

Limited by the measure of local variations of velocity, the inability of plankton to directly sense the flow velocity makes this navigation problem particularly challenging. By considering non-inertial organisms swimming at constant speed and able to reorient instantaneously in response to their flow sensing, we propose a new strategy that derives from an optimal solution in a linear flow. Taking advantage of nearby updrafts to ascend faster, this strategy is called "surfing".

This strategy is first characterized in various simple flows and then tested in turbulent flow simulations in which "surfers" are observed to migrate vertically twice as fast as simulated plankters that do not react actively to the local flow. We then relax the assumptions of the model to demonstrate the robustness of this strategy to various plankter limitations before comparing it to various other navigation approaches, involving various optimization algorithms. Finally we discuss of the benefit that such strategy could provide to real-life plankton and propose experimental approaches that would help finding out whether surfing is a realistic strategy for planktonic navigation before discussing the perspectives of the study.

Résumés

Constituant la base de la chaîne alimentaire marine, le plancton joue un rôle primordial pour l'écologie océanique. De par leurs migrations verticales journalières de plusieurs centaines de mètres, certains de ces organismes participent grandement au mélange vertical océanique. Loin d'être passifs, les planctons sont, pour beaucoup, capables de nager, de percevoir leur environnement et d'y réagir.

Au travers de l'exemple de la migration verticale, cette thèse vise à démontrer que ces capacités motrices et sensorielles, utiles à la prédation, leur donnent également un avantage pour naviguer leur environnement turbulent.

Limité par la mesure des variations locales de vitesse, et non la mesure directe de la vitesse de l'écoulement, ce problème de navigation devient particulièrement difficile. En considérant des organismes non inertiels nageant à vitesse constante et pouvant se réorienter instantanément en réponse à leur mesure de l'écoulement, nous proposons une nouvelle stratégie qui découle d'une solution optimale dans un écoulement linéaire. Permettant d'atteindre les courants ascendants à proximité pour se faire porter par l'écoulement, cette stratégie est nommée le "surf".

Cette stratégie est tout d'abord caractérisée grâce à des écoulements simples avant d'être testée dans des simulations d'écoulements turbulents, dans lesquels les surfeurs parviennent à migrer verticalement deux fois plus vite que des planctons ne réagissant pas à l'écoulement. Nous démontrons la robustesse de cette stratégie de navigation aux diverses limitations auxquelles les planctons sont soumis avant de comparer le "surf" à d'autres méthodes de navigation impliquant divers algorithmes d'optimisation.

Enfin nous quantifions l'avantage que pourrait procurer cette stratégie à de vrais planctons dans leur habitat turbulent et proposons des approches expérimentales qui permettraient de vérifier la capacité du plancton à surfer, avant de discuter des perspectives de cette étude.

Contents

1	Intr	oductio	n	1
	1.1	What a	are plankton?	1
	1.2	Why a	re plankton important?	1
		1.2.1	Their role in the marine food-web	1
		1.2.2	The threat of climate change	1
		1.2.3	Their role on climate itself: the biological pump	3
	1.3	Plankt	onic navigation problems	5
		1.3.1	How do plankton perceive their environment?	5
		1.3.2	Examples of planktonic navigation problems	8
	1.4	Thesis	structure	13
2	The	Surfing	g Strategy	15
	2.1	Formu	llating the problem	15
	2.2	Optim	al solution in linear flows: surfing	19
		2.2.1	Derivation of the surfing strategy	19
		2.2.2	Physical interpretation of the strategy	21
		2.2.3	Surfing in linear flows	22
	2.3	Surfin	g in simple nonlinear flows	29
		2.3.1	Surfing on the Taylor–Green vortices	29
		2.3.2	Surfing in the Poiseuille flow	35
	2.4	Summ	ary	36
3	Surf	fing on	turbulence	37
	3.1	Model	ing the turbulent environment	38
		3.1.1	Turbulent flows	38

		3.1.2 Homogeneous isotropic turbulence
		3.1.3 Direct Numerical Simulations
	3.2	Problem description and surfing strategy 44
	3.3	Evaluation of surfing performance
		3.3.1 Surfing time horizon τ
		3.3.2 Influence of the Reynolds number Re_{λ}
	3.4	Estimating surfing performance
		3.4.1 Partial surfing performance
	3.5	Performance estimation
	3.6	Summary
4	Sur	ing robustness and adaptation 62
	4.1	Adapting to variations of turbulence intensity
		4.1.1 Adaptive surfing strategy
		4.1.2 Turbulence heterogeneity
	4.2	Accounting for limited plankter skills
		4.2.1 Limited processing skills
		4.2.2 Limited sensing skills
		4.2.3 Limited reorienting skills
	4.3	Summary
5	Alte	rnative navigation approaches 82
	5.1	Zermelo navigation problem 89
	5.2	Shortest path problem
	5.3	Local methods
		5.3.1 Local Dijkstra algorithm
		5.3.2 Local Zermelo approach: a generalisation of surfing 99
	5.4	Reinforcement learning
		5.4.1 Principle of reinforcement learning approaches
		5.4.2 Comparison to the surfing strategy
	5.5	Summary
6	Dis	cussion of biophysical relevance 10
	6.1	How well would actual plankton perform?
		6.1.1 Estimation of the reorientation time τ_{align}
		6.1.2 Empirical model for typical plankton performance
		6.1.3 Results: surfing performance and plankton habitat
	6.2	Optimality in marine biophysics

Contents

6.3	Do pla	ankton really surf?	. 118
	6.3.1	Larvae in turbulence	. 118
	6.3.2	Phototactic surfing	. 122
6.4	Summ	nary	. 123
Con	clusior	n and perspectives	125
7.1	Towar	d a better description of the flow sampled	. 126
7.2	Towar	ds other planktonic navigation problems	. 127
	7.2.1	Larval horizontal dispersion and settlement	. 128
	7.2.2	Navigating to a passive target	. 129
	7.2.3	Navigating to an odor source	. 131
	7.2.4	Collective navigation	. 132
7.3	Surfin	g towards broader applications	. 133
opend	lix A	Additional motion dynamics	135
A.1	Addit	ional rotation dynamics	. 135
	A.1.1	Bottom-heaviness	. 135
	A.1.2	Spheroidal shape	. 137
	A.1.3	Fluid inertial torque induced by settling	. 139
	A.1.4	Implications for active control	. 139
A.2	Addit	ional translation dynamics	. 140
	A.2.1	Inertialess settling	. 141
	A.2.2	Inertial motion	. 142
openc	lix B	Larval dispersion and settlement	151
B.1	Foragi	ing walls: a turbophoretic strategy	. 152
B.2	Foragi	ing large scale horizontal currents	. 155
openc	lix C	The energetic cost of surfing	159
C.1	The co	ost of active reorientation	. 159
C.2	The co	ost of swimming: the on/off strategy	. 160
openc	dix D	Runge kutta method	165
ferer	nces		169
	6.3 6.4 Con 7.1 7.2 7.3 Pend A.1 A.2 Pend B.1 B.2 Pend C.1 C.2 Opend C.1 C.2 Opend	6.3 Do pla 6.3.1 6.3.2 6.4 Summ Conclusion 7.1 Towar 7.2 Towar 7.2.1 7.2.2 7.2.3 7.2.4 7.3 Surfin pendix A A.1 Addit A.1.1 A.1.2 A.1.3 A.1.4 A.2 Addit A.2.1 A.2.2 pendix B B.1 Forag B.2 Forag Dendix C C.1 The co C.2 The co pendix D C.2 Streences	6.3 Do plankton really surf? 6.3.1 Larvae in turbulence 6.3.2 Phototactic surfing 6.4 Summary 6.4 Summary 7.1 Towards a better description of the flow sampled 7.2 Towards other planktonic navigation problems 7.2 Towards other planktonic navigation problems 7.2 Towards other planktonic navigation problems 7.2.1 Larval horizontal dispersion and settlement 7.2.2 Navigating to a passive target 7.2.3 Navigating to an odor source 7.2.4 Collective navigation 7.3 Surfing towards broader applications 9pendix A Additional motion dynamics A.1.1 Bottom-heaviness A.1.2 Spheroidal shape A.1.3 Fluid inertial torque induced by settling A.1.4 Implications for active control A.2 Additional translation dynamics A.2.1 Inertialess settling A.2.2 Inertial motion A.2 Additional translation dynamics A.2.1 Inertialess settling A.2.2 Inertial motion A.2 Intral dispersion and settlement B.1 Foraging walls: a turbophoretic strategy B.2 Foraging large scale horizontal currents B.2 Foraging large scale horizontal currents Dependix C The energe

List of Figures

1.1	Illustration of marine plankton	2
1.2	Illustration of the biological pump	4
1.3	Annotated picture of copepod	6
1.4	Illustration of the measure process of the flow strain rate	7
1.5	Illustration of the measure process of flow vorticity.	7
1.6	Non exhaustive list and illustrations of planktonic navigation problems	9
2.1	Illustration of the Stokes flow around a spherical particle.	16
2.2	Illustration of the influence of the Stokes number.	17
2.3	Illustration of performance evaluation	18
2.4	Physical interpretation of the surfing strategy	22
2.5	The surfing strategy performing in linear flows.	23
2.6	Illustration of the decomposition of a linear flow into its skew symmetric	
	part $\boldsymbol{\Omega}$ and symmetric part S	25
2.7	In a pure strain flow, the surfing direction tends to align with the extension	
	axis	26
2.8	In a pure vortex, the surfing direction reduces to a rotation opposing to the	
	vorticity.	27
2.9	Alignment of shear direction with the target direction $\hat{\vec{z}}$ impacts surfing per-	
	formance	28
2.10	Initial position impacts surfing performance.	30
2.11	The surfing direction in a Taylor-Green cell.	31
2.12	For large enough values of the final time <i>T</i> , performance of the surfing strat-	
	egy becomes independent of <i>T</i>	32

2.13	Swimming speed V_{swim} impacts surfing performance and the optimal value	
	of the surfing parameter τ^*	33
2.14	Alignment of the flow to the target direction $\hat{\vec{z}}$ impacts surfing performance	34
2.15	Surfing may induce movement towards or away from walls in a Poiseuille	
	flow	35
3.1	Illustration of the differences of Eulerian and Lagrangian specification.	38
3.2	Illustration of differences between a laminar flow and turbulent flow	39
3.3	Illustration of the dynamics of 3D homogeneous isotropic turbulence	41
3.4	Visualization of the vertical centerplane velocity field of the 3D forced ho-	
	mogeneous isotropic turbulence simulation of the Johns Hopkins Turbulence	
	Database	44
3.5	Visualization of 3D trajectories obtained in the simulations of plankters mi-	
	grating vertically in turbulence	47
3.6	The surfing strategy may double migration speed in turbulence	48
3.7	The surfing strategy induces preferential sampling of the flow velocity	49
3.8	The surfing strategy induces preferential sampling of the flow velocity gra-	
	dients.	50
3.9	Influence of the time horizon on the surfing strategy	52
3.10	Influence of the swimming speed on the time correlations of the flow sam-	
	pled by plankters	53
3.11	Surfing performance increases with the Reynolds number Re_{λ}	55
3.12	The use of the rotation rate tensor $\boldsymbol{\Omega}$ is enough to capture most of surfing	
	performance	57
3.13	The influence of parameters on surfing performance are not yet fully under-	
	stood	63
4.1	Turbulence adaptive surfers perform as well as surfers with a constant time	
	horizon	68
4.2	Schematic of the channel flow of the Johns Hopkins Databases.	69
4.3	In average, adaptive surfers perform almost as well as non-adaptive surfers	
	in turbulence heterogeneity.	71
4.4	Adaptive surfers show actual adaptation to turbulence heterogeneity in con-	
	trast to non-adaptive surfers.	71
4.5	The optimal value of the free parameter of the adaptive strategy (α_{τ}) is almost	
	constant in the channel.	73

4.6	A first order computation of the matrix exponential is enough to capture	
	most of surfing performance.	74
4.7	The sensing of horizontal vorticity is sufficient to navigate efficiently in tur-	
	bulence	76
4.8	An optimal filtering length l_f^* exists for a given swimming velocity V_{swim}	78
4.9	Illustrative cartoon that discusses the benefit of filtering for fast surfers	79
4.10	Demonstration of surfing robustness to various noise sources	80
4.11	Demonstration of surfing robustness to finite reorientation time τ_{align}	82
4.12	Adapting the reorientation control further increase surfing performance	84
5.1	Zermelo trajectories compared to surfing trajectories in Taylor-Green vortices.	89
5.2	Illustration of how the connectivity radius r_c impacts the Dijkstra graph edges	
	creation.	91
5.3	Illustration of four steps of the Dijkstra algorithm.	93
5.4	Impact of the graph resolution on the trajectories performed by the Dijkstra	
	algorithm.	95
5.5	Impact of the connectivity radius on the trajectories performed by the Dijk-	
	stra algorithm	96
5.6	Local iterative Dijkstra algorithm compared to the surfing strategy in Taylor-	
	Green vortices.	98
5.7	Illustration of the problem of finding the best path from the shelter (house)	
	to the mountain summit (flag).	103
5.8	Comparison of the surfing strategy to the result of a reinforcement learning	
	algorithm in turbulence.	107
6.1	Visual representation of the size ratios of the typical plankters we consider	110
6.2	Evaluation of the empirical models of surfing performance	112
6.3	The surfing strategy is beneficial over a wide range of plankton habitats	114
6.4	Illustration of the experiment performed by DiBenedetto et al. (2022)	119
6.5	Evaluation of the proposed experimental cues in simulated turbulence	121
6.6	Illustration of the proposed experiment: monitoring the correlations between	
	the behavior of phototactic plankters and the local flow field	122
7.1	Illustration of the effect of random walk on the distance to a target.	129
7.2	Simulation of a scalar filament in turbulence, as part of the implementation	
	of the <i>diffusive sheet method</i> , implemented in our homemade code <i>Sheld0n</i>	131
7.3	Representation of the influence of chain formation on the plankter alignment	
	with the flow.	132

A.1	Influence of the alignment time τ_{align} on spherical bottom-heavy swimmer
	effective upward velocity $V_{\text{eff.}}$
A.2	Influence of the alignment time τ_{align} on spherical bottom-heavy swimmer's vertical flow velocity sampled $u_{\hat{z}}(\vec{X})$
A.3	Influence of the shape parameter Λ_{shape} on spheroidal bottom-heavy swim-
	mer effective upward velocity
A.4	Influence of the inertial delay τ_{delay} on the settling speed of particles 144
A.5	Influence of the inertial delay τ_{delay} on surfing performance
B.1	Schematic of the channel flow of the Johns Hopkins Databases
B.2	The turbophoresis direction $\hat{\vec{n}}_{turb.}$ [Eq. (B.1)] give the direction to the nearest wall. (a) Instantaneous value $\hat{\vec{n}}_{turb.}$ in the vertical centerplane and (b) averaged value $\langle \vec{n}_{turb.} \rangle_{x_2,t} / \langle \vec{n}_{turb.} \rangle_{x_2,t} $ as a function of position in the channel
	flow of the Johns Hopkins turbulence databases
B.3	Estimated flow direction $\hat{\vec{n}}_{\text{flow}}$ [Eq. (B.4)] as function of a local flow measure.
	(a) Instantaneous value $\hat{\vec{n}}_{\text{flow}}$ in the vertical centerplane and (b) averaged value $\langle \vec{n}_{a} \rangle = \sqrt{ \vec{n}_{a} } \langle \vec{n}_{a} \rangle = \sqrt{ \vec{n}_{a} }$ as a function of position in the channel flow of
	the Johns Honkins turbulence databases 156
B.4	Surfers are able to exploit the mean gradients in a channel flow with $\hat{z} = \vec{e}_1$ and accumulate in the center of the channel. (a) Centered and normalized effective upward velocity as a function of the swimming velocity V_{swim} . (b)
	lation times.
C.1	Influence of the surfing parameter $ au$ and swimming velocity on rotating
	power consumption
C.2	Illustration of the optimal threshold angle θ_{th}^*
C.3	Illustration of the rotational diffusion reduction when swimming cause a
	swimmer to swim more than expected
C.4	Illustration of the increase of rotational diffusion of the surfing direction
	causing a swimmer to swim less than expected
C.5	Influence of the angular threshold on swimming power consumption 163
C.6	Influence of the angular threshold on effective upward velocity
D.1	Illustration of the Runge-Kutta method

List of Tables

2.1	List of the problem assumptions.	19
2.2	Parameters of the simulations presented in Fig. 2.5.	23
2.3	Simulations parameters in arbitrary units of the navigation simulation pre-	
	sented in Fig. 2.7	26
2.4	Simulations parameters in arbitrary units of the navigation simulation pre-	
	sented in Fig. 2.8.	27
2.5	Initial position of the swimmers for the simulations presented in Fig. 2.10	30
2.6	Initial position of the swimmers for the simulations presented in Fig. 2.14	34
2.7	Initial position of the swimmers for the simulations presented in Fig. 2.15	35
3.1	Flow parameters and characteristics of the homogeneous isotropic turbu- lence simulations performed using <i>Snoonu</i> .	43
3.2	Flow parameters and characteristics of the forced homogeneous isotropic	10
3.3	turbulence simulation of the Johns Hopkins Turbulence Database Various possible definitions of $I(\omega_f)$ based on different invariants of the flow	44
	velocity gradients	53
4.1	Flow parameters and characteristics of the turbulent channel flow of the Johns Hopkins Turbulence Database	69
6.1	Typical plankton characteristics: size d (in mm), swimming velocity V_{swim} (in mm s ⁻¹), and reorientation time τ_{align} (in s).	111
D.1	Butcher's table.	166
D.2	Butcher's table of the Runge-Kutta-Fehlberg method.	167

List of Symbols

Typography

- \vec{a}, \vec{A} Vector
- $\hat{\vec{a}}$ Unit vector
- A Matrix
- \mathcal{A} Set

Greek symbols

- α Largest eigenvalue of *S*
- $\alpha_{\text{meta.}}$ Prefactor of Kleiber's law [Eq. (6.15)]
- α_{swim} Dimensionless model parameter defined in Eq. (3.18) that characterizes the importance of the swimming advection process over the viscous diffusion
- α_{τ} Dimensionless surfing time horizon defined in Eq. (4.1)
- β Intermediate (or smallest in 2D) eigenvalue of *S* or bearing of vehicle
- $\beta_{\text{bear.}}$ Bearing, defined as the angle between a vessels orientation and the north
- $\beta_{\text{eff.}}$ Efficiency of the conversion of biochemical energy to mechanic power
- γ Smallest eigenvalue of S
- $\gamma_{sh.}$ Shear rate of a simple shear flow

δ	Defined as $\delta \equiv \alpha$ when $\alpha = \beta$, characteristic value of flow stretching
Δx	Spatial increment
ϵ	Turbulent energy dissipation rate [Eq. (3.4)]
$\epsilon_{ m learn.}$	Parameter of the ϵ -greedy approach that can be used in the context of a Q learning method [Eq. (5.16)]
η	Kolmogorov scale [Eq. (3.5)]
θ	Signed angle from $\hat{\vec{z}}$ to $\hat{\vec{p}}$
$ heta_\gamma$	Signed angle from $\hat{\vec{z}}$ to the direction of shear
$\theta_{ m surf}$	Signed angle from $\hat{\vec{z}}$ to $\hat{\vec{n}}_{\mathrm{surf}}$ (axis depends on the context)
$\theta_{\rm dest.}$	Latitude of the destination
$\theta_{\text{lat.}}$	Latitude
λ	Taylor microscale [Eq. (3.7)]
$\lambda_{\mathrm{Dijk.}}$	Length horizon in the local Dijkstra approach
$\lambda_{ m shape}$	Plankter aspect ratio
$\Lambda_{\mathrm{Dijk.}}$	Final length to reach (in the context of the application of the Dijkstra algorithm)
$\Lambda_{ m shape}$	Plankter shape factor that depends on the aspect ratio [Eq. (A.2)]
ν	Fluid kinematic viscosity
μ	Fluid dynamic viscosity
$ ho_f$	Fluid density
$ ho_p$	Plankter density
σ	Standard deviation
τ	Surfing time horizon [Eq. (2.23)]
$ au_{ec abla ec u}$	Time left before $\vec{\nabla} \vec{u}$ changes
$ au_{S}$	Time left before <i>S</i> changes

List of Tables

- τ_{Ω} Time left before Ω changes
- τ_{η} Kolmogorov time scale [Eq. (3.6)]
- $\tau_{\theta,\text{delay}}$ Inertial rotation delay [Eq. (2.11)]
- τ_{align} Reorientation time [Eq. (2.13)]
- τ_{delay} Inertial delay [Eq. (2.6)]
- $\phi_{\text{dest.}}$ Longitude of the destination
- $\phi_{\text{long.}}$ Longitude
- $\phi_{\hat{\tau}}$ Orientation of $\hat{\vec{z}}$ with respect with the flow
- $\vec{\omega}$ Flow vorticity
- ω Flow vorticity norm
- ω_f Temporal pulsation
- ω_{max} Maximal flow vorticity norm
- $\vec{\Omega}$ Plankter angular velocity
- $\Omega_{\rm swim}$ Plankter active angular velocity
- Ω Skew symmetric part of the flow velocity gradient tensor [Eq. (2.27)]

Letters

- \mathcal{A} Set of actions (reinforcement learning)
- *c* Plankter concentration
- *d* Plankter diameter
- *D* Large scale flow length
- $\hat{\vec{e}}_{\alpha}$ Normalized eigenvector of *S* associated to the eigenvalue α
- $\hat{\vec{e}}_{\beta}$ Normalized eigenvector of *S* associated to the eigenvalue β
- $\hat{\vec{e}}_{\gamma}$ Normalized eigenvector of *S* associated to the eigenvalue γ
- *E* Spectral energy density

*E*_{eff.} Energetic efficiency

- \mathcal{E} Total kinetic energy of the flow
- $\mathcal{E}_{\mathcal{G}}$ Set of the edges of the graph \mathcal{G}
- $\vec{f}_{\text{ext.}}$ Resultant of external volumic forces on the fluid
- \vec{F}_{flow} Resultant of flow forces on the plankter

 \mathcal{G} Graph

- *h* Height of a viscous channel flow or half height of a turbulent channel flow
- $I(\omega_f)$ Module of the temporal Fourier transform of an invariant of the velocity gradient tensor, defined in Tab.3.3
- *k* Iterator or vector number
- *k*_{max} Maximal vector number resolve in a simulation

 l_f Filter length [Eq. (4.6)]

- *l* Turbulent flow length scale that ranges from η to *L*
- *L* Taylor-Green vortex cell length scale or the turbulence integral scale [Eq. (3.11)]
- $\hat{\vec{n}}$ Preferred orientation of the plankter
- $\hat{\vec{n}}_{a \to b}$ Control to apply to get from vertex *a* to vertex *b* [Eq. (5.5)]
- *N* Number of simulated plankters
- *m* Dimension of the problem: m = 2 for 2D and m = 3 for 3D
- *M_p* Plankter mass

*M*_{inert.} Shape factor that controls the torque induced by fluid inertia [Eq. (A.3b)]

- *p* Flow pressure or probability function
- *P*_{meta.} Plankter metabolic power consumption
- *P*_{swim.} Plankter swimming power consumption
- *P*_{tot.} Total plankter power consumption

- *P*_{turn} Plankter active reorientation power consumption
- Q Quality value function used in the context of the Q-learning method
- $\hat{\vec{p}}$ Plankter orientation/swimmming direction
- $\hat{\vec{r}}$ Direction to the target
- *r* Distance to the target
- r_c Connectivity radius (Fig. 5.2)
- \mathcal{R} Reward function (reinforcement learning)
- $R_{\hat{x}}(\theta)$ Rotation matrix of axis $\hat{\vec{x}}$ and angle θ
- *S* Set of states (reinforcement learning)
- *S* Symmetric part of the flow velocity gradient tensor [Eq. (2.27)]
- t Time
- *T* Final time
- $T_{a \rightarrow b}$ Edge weight corresponding to the time to get from vertex *a* to the vertex *b* [Eq. (5.4)]
- $\mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{G}}$ Set of the target vertices of the graph \mathcal{G}
- $T_{\rm flow}$ Resultant of flow torques on the plankter
- T_L Large-eddy turnover time
- \vec{u} Flow velocity
- *u* Flow velocity norm
- *u*_{max} Maximal flow velocity norm
- *u*_{rms} Root mean square velocity
- u_{η} Kolmogorov velocity scale [Eq. (3.6)]
- *U* Large scale flow velocity
- $\mathcal{V}_{\mathcal{G}}$ Set of the vertices of the graph \mathcal{G}
- *V* Volume or set of graph vertices

List of Tables

- *V*_{eff.} Effective upward velocity [Eq. (2.15)]
- V_{swim} Plankter swimming speed
- \vec{x} Position in space
- \vec{X} Plankter position
- $\hat{\vec{z}}$ Target direction, vertical direction (upward)

Nabla

- $\vec{\nabla}\vec{a}$ Gradient tensor operator
- $\vec{\nabla}a$ Gradient vector operator
- $\vec{\nabla} \cdot \vec{a}$ Divergence operator
- $\vec{\nabla}^2 \vec{a}$ Laplacian operator

Dimensionless numbers

- *Re* Reynolds number [Eq. (3.3)]
- Re_{λ} Taylor scale Reynolds number [Eq. (3.8)]
- Re_p Particle Reynolds number [Eq. (2.3)]
- St Stokes number [Eq. (2.7)]

Subscripts and superscripts

- a_0 Refers to "initial", at t = 0 or the first term of a series
- *a*_{b-h} Refers to "bottom-heavy plankter"
- *a*_{surf} Refers to "surfer"
- *a*^{*} Characterizes optimality

Functions and operators

- |a| Absolute value for scalars
- $|\vec{a}|$ Frobenius norm
- |A| Frobenius norm

- $|\mathcal{A}|$ Cardinal of a set (number of elements)
- $\frac{\partial a}{\partial t}$ Eulerian temporal derivative
- $\frac{Da}{Dt}$ Particle derivative (along a flow particle trajectory)
- $\frac{da}{dt}$ Derivative along a plankter trajectory
- exp A Matrix exponential
- sgn *a* Sign function
- skew *A* Skew symmetric part of a matrix
- sym *A* Symmetric part of a matrix
- Tr A Matrix trace
- A^T Matrix transpose
- $a \equiv b$ Definition of *a* as *b*
- $\langle a \rangle_N$ Average over *N* simulated plankters
- $\langle a \rangle_{N,\hat{z}}$ Average over N simulated plankters and over random orientations of \hat{z}
- $\vec{a}^{\perp \hat{\vec{b}}}$ Projection of \vec{a} in the plane orthogonal to $\hat{\vec{b}}: \vec{a} (\vec{a} \cdot \hat{\vec{b}})\hat{\vec{b}}$

Introduction

1.1 | What are plankton?

The word "plankton" is derived from the ancient greek *planktós*, that means *wandering*. This term regroups all organisms that live in water while being unfit to swim against currents. This designation can refer to any kind of organisms in practice. It includes many micro-organisms such as viruses, bacteria, algae, animal larvae and small crustaceans but also slowly swimming jellyfishes (Fig. 1.1). An individual organism of this group is called a plankter. Plankton are generally separated into two groups: phytoplankton that describe the algae performing photosynthesis and zooplankton composed of animals that predate on other plankters.

1.2 | Why are plankton important?

1.2.1 | Their role in the marine food-web

Planktonic organisms are at the base of most of marine food-webs. They constitute the food of many larger organisms that constitute themselves the food of even larger organisms. Moreover, they are the direct food source of some large mammals such as baleen whales. Their role is then essential to sustain fisheries and marine ecology in general.

1.2.2 | The threat of climate change

In a world where the climate is actively changing due to the global warming, understanding how planktonic organisms respond to it is primordial. This necessity moti-



Figure 1.1: Illustration of marine plankton. Picture of a part of the contents of a hand net. We can see a wide variety of plankters, ranging from phytoplankton (cyanobacteria, diatoms, ...) to zooplankton (copepods, dish eggs, crab larvae, worm larvae ...). Adapted from Nadeau et al. (2016) (20) v4.0.

vates numerous efforts to monitor plankton at a global scale (Batten et al., 2019; Brander et al., 2003) and use them as a cue of the ocean "health" (Suthers et al., 2019). The climate change impacts on plankton ecology are numerous (Hays et al., 2005; McKinnon et al., 2007). For instance, in addition to its direct physiological impact on plankters, water temperature influences the nutrient concentration of surface water (Bouman et al., 2003; Doney, 2006; Richardson, 2008). Low temperatures favour the ocean mixing that brings nutriments near the surface. This leads to the development of large phytoplankton communities. These conditions are particularly favourable for the development of large crustaceans. Cold waters become then a rich environment that sustains life-dense seas. On the contrary hotter water surface tends to stratify the upper ocean layers and prevent vertical mixing. The absence of ocean mixing avoids sinking nutrients to get carried back to the surface. This hinders the development of a phytoplankton communities that impact then the whole food-web.

Another consequence of climate change is the acidification of oceans. This is due to the growing amount of carbon dioxide released in the atmosphere that is now dissolving in the ocean. Caldeira and Wickett (2003) predict that the oceanic pH will drop by 0.3

units by 2100. Among other effects, this acidification of the oceans especially affects organisms that rely on calcifying (Flynn et al., 2012; Orr et al., 2005). This acidification causes the decrease of calcium carbonate saturation at ocean surfaces, that is needed by some plankton species (and corals) to form their external carbonate skeletons, necessary to their development. Moreover, many plankton communities do not have the time to migrate as fast as these modifications occur. As a consequence, some plankton species are at the verge of extinction (Lowery et al., 2020; Trubovitz et al., 2020): a risk shared by all marine life that feeds on them.

1.2.3 | Their role on climate itself: the biological pump

In addition to their impact on the marine food-web, plankton have an important role in the absorption of carbon dioxide from the atmosphere. The plankton ecosystem acts as a "biological pump" that drags the carbon of the atmosphere and fix it on organic mater that sediments in the depth of the ocean. This phenomenon entails a large variety of physical and biological processes briefly summarized here (Fig. 1.2). The ocean absorbs carbon molecules through dissolution. This phenomenon can be further enhanced by flow perturbations at the free surface, increasing air-water mixing. The dissolved carbon molecules are then consumed by plankton species through photosynthesis but also through calcification to build outer shells and skeletons. By grazing on them, other plankton species contribute to the vertical transport of carbon through their vertical migrations. In addition, their excretion tend to aggregate with other ocean debris forming larger particles, called marine snow (Alldredge and Silver, 1988; Turner, 2015), that settle. During their sedimentation, these aggregates may break down due to their interactions with plankters that may feed on them. The marine snow that makes it through and sediments in the ocean depths contributes to long term carbon trapping into solid sediments. The oceanic flow comes into play on top of these processes. It contributes to plankton transport and mixing, the formation of aggregates and their break up, as much as the direct advection of dissolved carbon.

The biological pump is then an essential part of the carbon cycle. This process has led to the formation of carbon materials, such as chalk that is composed of prehistoric dead plankters (Farouk et al., 2020). More importantly, this process makes the ocean the largest carbon sink on earth (Hinge et al., 2020; Lal, 2008). The comprehension of the biological pump is then essential to model long term global climate. On top of that, plankton can also influence local weather. They release organic matter in the atmosphere, such as organic sulfur molecules. Acting as nucleation cores for water vapour, these particles eventually lead to the formation of clouds (Charlson et al., 1987; Szyrmer and



Figure 1.2: Illustration of the biological pump. Adapted from Ducklow et al. (2001). This cartoon lists the main processes of the biological pump. We focus in particular on the plankton dynamics that influence this physical process. Starting from the top, carbone dioxide is dissolved into the ocean water through exchanges with the atmosphere. Inside water, CO₂ may react to form various carbonate species. This dissolved carbonates molecules may then be assimilated by planktonic organisms, either through photosynthesis or calcification for example. Through their movements in the flow, they actively participate to the dissemination of carbone in the water column. By grazing on theme, other plankters further contribute to the transport of carbon molecules, in particular for those that perform daily vertical migrations. At the same time, the excretion of zooplankton tends to aggregate with other marine debris forming larger particles called marine snow that sediment into the depth of the ocean. Concentrating nutriments, this aggregates may attract hungry plankters that bring back some of the carbon molecules to the surface. However the particles that reach the oceans can be trapped for huged amount of time. The biological pump then contributes greatly to the global carbon trapping.

Zawadzki, 1997). This phenomenon is particularly important when local high concentration of plankton occur, called plankton blooms (Behrenfeld and Boss, 2014; Creamean et al., 2019; Park et al., 2017). Its impact on weather remains to be fully quantified (Quinn and Bates, 2011) and motivates ongoing research on the topic. For instance the Plankton, Aerosol, Cloud, ocean Ecosystem mission of the NASA (Werdell et al., 2019) is expected to provide important satellite observations that will help understand and quantify these effects.

1.3 | Planktonic navigation problems

Due to their implications in these various physical processes, modelling plankton is key to understand these important phenomena. However modelling plankton is not trivial: (1) many plankters are motile and (2) react actively to their environment. This motility contributes greatly to the processes described above. Their active behavior and their responses to the environment are then key elements of plankton dynamics, that remain to be understood and accurately modelled (Franks et al., 2022). The objective of the current manuscript is to contribute to improve our understanding of the response of plankton to their flow environment.

During their life, planktonic organisms have to face numerous survival tasks. For instance, planktonic larvae have to disperse horizontally in the ocean to increases their chances to find a suitable settling habitat. Plankters also have to forage for food and predate on other planktonic organisms, while having to escape their own predators. Many zooplankton also perform diel vertical migrations: they travel to the oceans depths to avoid visual predators during the day. Then, during the night when predators cannot see them, they get back to the ocean surface to feed on phytoplankton. These previously described tasks involve reaching a target (either positional or directional) in a complex flow environment. As such, these tasks can be considered as planktonic navigation problems.

It is not yet completely understood how plankters solve these problems. Therefore navigation problems are the main interest of this study. As we expect organisms to have evolved effective navigation strategies through natural selection, we investigate this issue using an optimality driven approach (Smith et al., 2011): we look for efficient navigation strategies in the context of plankton migration, in the aspiration it may lead to plankton behavior models in the future.

1.3.1 | How do plankton perceive their environment?

1.3.1.1 | Plankton are riddled with inboard sensors!

To address these planktonic navigation problems, the first question that arises is: how do plankters perceive their environment? Many organisms, such as copepods [group of crustaceans sometime called the "insects of the sea" due to their abundance and variety (Schminke, 2007)], are equipped with a primitive eye used to measure light intensity (Fig. 1.3). This organ is however too underdeveloped to actually let them "see" their environment. Therefore, to perceive their environment, copepods mostly rely on hairlike sensilia (sensory organs) on their antennules (antennae-shaped appendages). Part of these sensilia are dedicated to flow measures, called setae, while others, called aesthetascs, enable chemical sensing (Heuschele and Selander, 2014). Many planktonic larvae, such as oyster larvae, are also able to measure the direction of gravity thanks to their stotachists (Fuchs et al., 2015b). These organs function similarly to our internal ear that enable us to remain balanced. Stotachists are sac-like organs containing a mobile mineralized component (statolith) that rolls in the organ when subject to acceleration or gravity (Fig. 1.5). The statolith then triggers the setae (mechano-sensory cilia) that covers the organs internal walls. Therefore, planktonic organisms equipped with this organ are able to measure their orientation with respect to gravity.

1.3.1.2 | Focus on flow sensing

We now focus on the flow sensing of planktonic organisms. How does their perception of the flow differ from that of marine navigators on boats? How does it differ from that of other animals such as flying insects, fishes or birds?

Marine navigators in charge of boat routing have access to weather forecasts and large scale ocean measures. They can rely on this global information to plan their navigation route. On the contrary, animals only react to the local information they can measure with their onboard sensors. But planktonic organisms are even more limited than larger animals as they drift with the flow. This property prevent them to directly measure the flow speed. They are rather able to sense the difference of flow velocity between different parts of their body (gradients). antennules eye 1mm

Figure 1.3: Annotated picture of copepod (Female adult *Acartia Clausi*). Original picture by Minami Himemiya (©()) v3.0.

As humans, we are also subject to this phenomenon when we go swimming in the ocean. It is easy to feel the impact of the waves and small scale currents on our body. But if we do not visually pay enough attention to the shore, we hardly realize the large scale currents that may push us away from it.



Figure 1.4: Illustration of the measure process of the flow strain rate.



Figure 1.5: Illustration of the measure process of flow vorticity.

For the readers that had the chance to take a ride in a hot air balloon, they may also have noticed they hardly felt any wind during their flight. The only way to notice movement and apprehend the wind's presence is through the view of landscape passing below. While flying insects, fishes and birds can assess their speed similarly using similar vision skills, most of planktonic organisms rely only on their measure of small flow perturbations (velocity gradients) due to their poor vision capabilities. The measure of the flow speed and therefore, of their own total speed, is then out of reach.

Depending on their sensory organs, the flow information plankters have access to may be even more limited. Even when equipped with setae (mechano-sensors) they would not be able to measure flow rotation (vorticity) as they would rotate with it as much as they drift with it. This limits the part of the flow they can measure to pure strain (Fig. 1.4). Moreover as sensing depends on the alignement of the atennules with shear, plankters orientation with respect to the flow strongly impacts sensing capabilities (Fields, 2010). If they are equipped with stotachists (gravity sensing) however, as illustrated in Fig 1.5, the flow vorticity (rotation rate of the flow) can be computed from their tilting angle with the vertical (Fuchs et al., 2015a). Note that these organs may also let plankters react to strong flow accelerations. Overall, when having only one or the other of these sensory organs, having access to the whole flow velocity gradients is challenging.

On the one hand, if one relies only on setae, like most copepods, one could overcome this difficulty with bottom-heaviness. Having a heavy bottom causes immersed plankters to reorient and align with the vertical. If the effect is strong enough, this may prevent them to rotate with the flow thus enabling them to measure flow vorticity. However, this may limit their own active rotation capabilities.

On the other hand, if one only relies on statochists, having a non spherical shape
could be helpful. The rotation of non spherical particles is also influenced by the shear part of the flow. However the challenge then lies in separating the part of rotation due to flow vorticity from the part due to pure strain¹.

Despite these limitations, many plankton species, such as copepods, are known to use this partial flow information to detect mates, preys and predators (Jiang et al., 2002; Kiørboe, 2018; Kiørboe and Visser, 1999; Kiørboe et al., 1999)². Oyster larvae are even known to be able to measure and forage underwater sounds (Williams et al., 2022). But, coming back to navigation, could plankters also use their flow sensing to travel faster towards their objective?

1.3.2 | Examples of planktonic navigation problems

To answer this question, we need to define and formalize the planktonic navigation problem we address. In practice a given problem depends on various parameters: the nature of the target to reach (or from which to escape), the sensory information available and the motivation to navigate. Figure 1.6 lists and illustrates these different planktonic navigation problems that are described below.

1.3.2.1 | Close range navigation: predation and escape

As a first example, we consider the case of prey hunting or predator escape when detection occurs thanks to local flow sensing. The detection process controls the short range nature of the problem: from three to ten body lengths in calm water (Fields, 2010). This implies that hydrodynamical interactions, such as lubrification forces, need to be accounted for. Then the behaviour of the prey or the predator also influences the problem. Is it possible to predict its behavior? Is stealth an option rather than running away? Finally the motivation: either avoiding being eaten or feeding. To avoid death, the prey is motivated to react regardless of the energy used whereas the predator needs to ensure catching the prey is worth the energy consumed to catch it.

Similar navigation problems, accounting for various of the previously described effects, have already been addressed either using physics-based strategies and reinforcement learning models. For instance, accounting for hydrodynamical interactions, Zhu et al. (2022) show that optimal control can be used to find the optimal navigation strategy that enables to catch a non-motile point. They also showed that efficient strategies

¹Note that **pure strain** (also called pure shear) is not to be confused with **simple shear** that contains a vortical part.

²The title of this thesis is an homage to the excellent book of Kiørboe (2018), that inspired greatly this whole study.



Figure 1.6: Non exhaustive list and illustrations of planktonic navigation problems.

can be found using reinforcement learning to catch finite-size preys and characterize the effect of the size of the prey on the navigation strategy. Borra et al. (2022) additionally account for prey behavior and show that prey-predator systems can display complex dynamics.

However, these strategies do not account for an external flow gradient that could further modify navigation. This is one of the aspects that could be explored in future research. Note that from this problem also rise the questions of hydrodynamical detection strategies and hydrodynamical stealth strategies, also motivating ongoing research (Ren et al., 2021).

1.3.2.2 | Navigating to an odor source: finding a mate

Another example consists of mate finding through chemical trails. Particularly in the copepod group, the females of some plankton species leave a chemical trail behind as they swim (Bagøien and Kiørboe, 2005; Weissburg et al., 1998; Yen and Lasley, 2010).

This odor trail is aimed to attract males that need to follow it to find their mate (phenomenon called chemotaxis). This enables medium range sensing: up to \approx 30 body lengths (Bagøien and Kiørboe, 2005) in quiescent water.

This complex navigation task is particularly challenging in the presence of a flow field that deforms that chemical trail. Flow sensing can then be used to either try to find quicker path to the target but also to assess how the odor trail was deformed. Note that tracking through chemical sensing is not exclusive to mate finding. Experimental evidences show that odor sensing can be used by zooplankton to forage marine snow aggregates (Lombard et al., 2013). The sperm cells of some marine invertebrates are also known to perform chemotaxis to reach egg cells (Lange and Friedrich, 2021). On the contrary, many plankters display chemophobic responses to the detection of predator-mediated chemicals (Hay, 2009). This planktonic navigation problem is similar, yet differs from odor tracking performed by flying insects (Cardé and Willis, 2008; Willis et al., 2011) due to the inability of most plankters to use visual references.

In different contexts, odor tracking has received increasing attention in the last years These problems have been addressed using physics based models: Vergassola et al. (2007) proposes a very efficient strategy called *infotaxis* to track the position of a scalar source without relying on local gradients. The method however requires a spatial references and extensive memory. This is relevant for complex organisms that can use spatial references using advanced vision to visualize their environment but this approach is out of reach for most plankters. Furthermore this method does not account for flow sensing that could help to find the source. On the contrary, Lange and Friedrich (2021) proposes a simple chemotactic behavior based on gradient ascent that explains how external planktonic sperm cells find egg cells in the ocean. Other studies rely on simple data-driven approaches. For instance Koehl et al. (2007) deduced a simple on/off model parameterized with experiments. This model was then used in simulations to understand how planktonic larvae increased their migration towards coral reefs in response to the chemical cues they emit.

Finally reinforcement learning methods are also a popular approach to address this problem (Fischer-Tenhagen et al., 2017; Jing et al., 2021; Liberzon et al., 2018; Loisy and Eloy, 2022; Lu and Luo, 2011; Rigolli et al., 2022). Overall, reinforcement learning are shown to be a promising tool to solve this kind of navigation problems. However most of these learning-based studies either consider simple flow environments (rather than chaotic environments such as turbulence) or consider large memory organisms with spatial reference (not applicable to the planktonic version of the problem). Furthermore, most of these studies do not consider local flow sensing, then the question of how this information could be used to improve navigation remains to be addressed.

1.3.2.3 | Point to point navigation: hunting a bioluminescent target

Yet another example of planktonic point to point navigation consists of target tracking sing basic light sensing. The oceans contain numerous bioluminescent organisms (organisms that emit light): 76% of the organisms recorded by Martini and Haddock (2017) had bioluminescent capabilities with very little variations with depth. Despite their poor vision skills, many zooplankton react to these visual cues and trigger phototactic (attraction) or photophobic (repulsion) responses. For instance, dinoflagellate flashing luminescence has been observed to trigger escape responses from certain species of copepods (Buskey and Swift, 1983). It has been suggested the dinoflagellates evolved to copy the warning signal of bioluminescent copepods to avoid being grazed (Buskey and Swift, 1985). On the contrary, many zooplankton species are observed to be phototactic and attracted by sunlight (Ringelberg, 1999), artificial light (Jékely et al., 2008; Krafft and Krag, 2021; Stearns and Forward, 1984) or illuminated particles (Tanaka et al., 2019).

Bioluminescence has an important role in marine ecology. It is used by marine organisms to predate, defend themselves and even to attract potential living habitats by bioluminescent bacteria (Haddock et al., 2010). It also has a large impact on the carbon biological pump as bioluminescent organisms often aggregate in marine snow, then attracting organisms that feed on them. In the context of planktonic navigation, bioluminescent organisms constitute detectable long range positional targets.

This navigation problem drawed attention in recent studies. For instance in the context of the flight of flies, Fabian et al. (2018) showed that a proportional feedback control [called proportional navigation, also used to control the navigation of modern missiles (Shneydor, 1998)] can successfully model the interception of aerial targets by flies. However no flow exploitation is considered. Flow sensing could lead to the for-aging of beneficial currents that could be used to reach (or escape) that visual target faster. Reinforcement learning has also been shown to be a promising tool to solve this problems in simplified flow fields (Gunnarson et al., 2021) and using the information of the whole flow field (Biferale et al., 2019). However, these approaches are challenged in more complex flows such as time-dependant 3D turbulence (Alageshan et al., 2020b; Qiu et al., 2022c), more representative of the complexity of plankton environment.

1.3.2.4 Navigating to explore: plankton horizontal dispersion

The population of many marine organisms is solely redistributed at their planktonic larvae stage. As adults they fixate on surfaces preventing them to disperse anymore. The dispersion of their larvae when a new generation births is then essential for the migration of these marine species. While simple passive Lagrangian models are often used to model larval dispersion (Siegel et al., 2003), it has been shown that larval behavior can strongly affect the horizontal distribution of larvae (Morgan et al., 2021; Naylor, 2006; Vikebø et al., 2007). The horizontal dispersion problem consists then of a long range navigation problem where larvae need to maximize horizontal dispersion to ensure the largest settlement area is explored so the species gets the best chances of survival.

1.3.2.5 | Directional navigation: plankton vertical migrations

Finally, we can consider the plankton vertical migrations. It is yet another essential navigation problem that many plankters have to face. The research on vertical migrations initiated two hundreds years ago when they were first observed by Cuvier (1817). Plankton vertical migration generally occurs either daily or seasonally (Bandara et al., 2021).

The former, called diel vertical migrations, are generally performed by grazing zooplankton that migrate to the surface during the night to graze on other plankters.³ Then they flee the light at dawn to avoid getting caught by visual predators (such as fishes). These migrations are generally triggered by variations of light intensity (Richards et al., 1996; van Haren and Compton, 2013). More frequent migration can even be triggered due to cloud cover (Omand et al., 2021), moon light (Last et al., 2016) and eclipses (Adhikari et al., 2018).

Seasonal vertical migration however, occur on much larger time scale. Various planktonic organisms swim to the ocean depths at the beginning of winter to wait the end of the season in a dormant stage (Kaartvedt, 1996; Næss and Nilssen, 1991). The cold water of the depths keeps their metabolism slow while they wait for the time to migrate back to the surface when spring comes. Seasonal vertical migration can also be part of larval dispersion (Kim et al., 1994; McManus and Woodson, 2012; Vikebø et al., 2007). Some larvae may migrate near the surface to benefit from stronger currents that disperse over larger distances.

Overall vertical migration translates to a long range vertical navigation problem: Antarctic krill may migrate over one kilometer distance (Hamner et al., 1983), corresponding to one hundred thousand time their body length!

Overall this navigation problem shines by its simplicity: plankters just have migrate in a constant direction. In addition, plankton vertical migration is an essential part of plankton dynamics and the biological pump. Both of these reasons make of this problem, a good first candidate to start investigating planktonic navigation.

³Note that all diel vertical migrations are not synchronous, and asynchronous migrations are also observed (Cottier et al., 2006).

Note that, in different contexts, similar problems has already been addressed in the past. For instance solutions have been deduced in simple flows thanks to reinforcement learning (Colabrese et al., 2017; Gustavsson et al., 2017). The efficiency of reinforcement learning remains however to be demonstrated in more complex flows such as time-dependant 3D turbulence (Alageshan et al., 2020b). Moreover the link between these navigation strategies and the modeling of plankton migration remains unclear due to the "black box" effect of learning methods that challenges their physical interpretation. Therefore a physics-based approach is used in this study.

1.4 | Thesis structure

Due to the essential importance of vertical migrations in plankton dynamics (and the biological pump) (Archibald et al., 2019; Bianchi et al., 2013), the simplicity of the navigation problem and the lack of comparative physics-based model performing in complex flow environments, this thesis focuses on the navigation related to planktonic vertical migration. The key question is to understand to what extent local flow information can be used to improve navigation through complex flow environments.

To address this problem, in Chap. 2, we first simplify the process of plankton vertical migrations to formalize the problem into an idealized navigation problem. We then derive an optimal solution in linear flow, which we call the *surfing strategy*, and assess its performance in simple non-linear flows. In Chap. 3, we introduce the physics and features of turbulence. We then assess the performance of the previously derived surfing strategy in turbulent environments. In Chap. 4, we relax the previously made assumptions to assess how robust would the strategy remain to biological constraints. Surfing is then compared to alternative navigation methods in Chap. 5. This motivates a generalisation of the surfing strategy that can be applied with more flow information. The surfing strategy is then discussed in the context of marine biology in Chap. 6. We demonstrate it to be beneficial over a wide range of plankton habitats and present potential experiments that could be performed to help verifying its relevance for actual plankters. Finally we conclude and discuss of the various perspectives of this study in Chap. 7.

The Surfing Strategy

In this chapter, we first describe the physical model used to characterize plankter motion. We then present formally the problem of planktonic vertical migration and derive its optimal solution in linear flows. The resulting "surfing" strategy is then characterized in various linear flows before it is evaluated in simple non-linear flows.

2.1 | Formulating the problem

We consider a plankter in a flow. Its task is to go as fast as possible in a target direction, which is chosen to be \hat{z} , the vertical, without loss of generality. We model the plankter as an active particle with position $\vec{X}(t)$, swimming in direction $\hat{\vec{p}}(t)$ in a flow velocity field $\vec{u}(\vec{x}, t)$ of vorticity $\vec{\omega}(\vec{x}, t) = \vec{\nabla} \times \vec{u}$. The first question that arises is that of the plankter model. How can we describe the motion of a plankter?

To answer this question, we first assume the plankter to be **neutrally buoyant** (this assumption is discussed in App. A, Sec. A.2.1). In that case, weight and buoyancy play no part in the problem. Applying the second Newton law, we express the plankter acceleration

$$M_p \frac{d^2 \vec{X}}{dt^2} = \vec{F}_{\text{flow}}.$$
(2.1)

with M_p the mass of the plankter and \vec{F}_{flow} the resultant force exerted by the flow on the plankter.

To compute this force, we need to describe the fluid motion around the plankter. The fluid flow, composed of a **single liquid phase**, is considered **incompressible** of constant kinematic viscosity ν and density ρ_f . The flow velocity \vec{u} and pressure p of such a flow

are then described by the the incompressible Navier-Stokes equations,

$$\frac{\partial \vec{u}}{\partial t} + \left(\vec{u} \cdot \vec{\nabla}\right) \vec{u} = -\frac{1}{\rho_f \vec{\nabla}} p + \nu \nabla^2 \vec{u} + \frac{1}{\rho_f} \vec{f}_{\text{ext}}$$
(2.2a)

$$\vec{\nabla} \cdot \vec{u} = 0, \tag{2.2b}$$

where Eq. (2.2a) describes momentum conservation while Eq. (2.2b) is the result of mass conservation and incompressibility. Each term of Eq. (2.2a) corresponds to different physical effects. The term $(\vec{u} \cdot \vec{\nabla}) \vec{u}$ describes flow inertia, the term $\nu \nabla^2 \vec{u}$ corresponds to momentum diffusion due to flow viscosity and the term $(1/\rho_f)\vec{\nabla}p$ characterizes pressure effects. The term \vec{f}_{ext} may include all external forcings, due to gravity for example.

To further simplify the problem, the plankter is assumed to be **spherical** and **small** compared to the smallest scale of the flow. In this context, we can define the particle Reynolds number Re_p . This number is the result of the ratio of the intensity of the inertial and viscous term of the Navier-Stokes momentum equation (2.2), at the scale of the plankter

$$Re_p \sim \frac{|\vec{u} - (d\vec{X}/dt)| d}{\nu}$$
(2.3)

with $d\vec{X}/dt$ the actual plankter speed and *d* the plankter diameter. The term $\vec{u} - (d\vec{X}/dt)$ denotes the slip velocity: the difference between the local flow velocity and the plankter actual velocity.

If $Re_p \ll 1$, the flow in the immediate proximity of the plankter can be modeled by neglecting the inertial terms of the Navier-Stokes equations [Eq (2.2)]. We then obtain the Stokes equation

$$\nu \nabla^2 \vec{u} = \frac{1}{\rho_f} \vec{\nabla} p - \frac{1}{\rho_f} \vec{f}_{\text{plank.}}, \qquad (2.4)$$

where $\vec{f}_{\text{plank.}}$ denotes the volumic force exerted by the plankter on the flow. Note that the force exerted by the flow on the plankter \vec{F}_{flow} matches the volume integral of the volumic force exerted by the plankter on the flow $\vec{F}_{\text{flow}} = -\iint \vec{f}_{\text{plank.}} dV$.

Thanks to the spherical shape of the plankter and the linearity of Stokes equation, the nearby flow velocity can be computed analytically (illustrated in Fig. 2.1). This leads to the expression of the force exerted on the plankter (Stokes et al., 1851)

$$\vec{F}_{\text{flow.}} = 3\pi\mu d \left(\vec{u} - \frac{d\vec{X}}{dt} \right),$$
 (2.5)



tion of the Stokes

flow around a spheri-

Illustra-

Figure 2.1:

cal particle.

with μ the dynamic viscosity of the flow. Injecting Eq (2.5) into the equation of motion [Eq (2.1)], we obtain

$$\frac{d^2 \vec{X}}{dt^2} = \frac{1}{\tau_{\text{delay}}} \left[\vec{u} - \frac{d \vec{X}}{dt} \right] \quad \text{with} \quad \tau_{\text{delay}} = \frac{(\rho_p + \rho_f/2)d^2}{18\mu}, \tag{2.6}$$

with $\rho_p = \pi d^3/(6M_p)$ the density of the plankter, assumed to be **homogeneously distributed** in the body of the plankter. The value τ_{delay} denotes the characteristic time needed for the particle to reach a constant velocity when \vec{u} varies in time¹. If this time is small compared to the flow time scale ($\tau_{delay} \ll \tau_{\eta}$), the acceleration phase of the plankter can be neglected. This comparison of the particle relaxation time τ_{delay} and the characteristic time of flow variation (corresponding to the Kolmogorov time scale τ_{η} in turbulent flows, defined in Eq. 3.6 in Chap. 3, Sec. 3.1.2) defines the Stokes number

$$St = \frac{\tau_{\rm delay}}{\tau_{\eta}}.$$
(2.7)

This number characterizes the ability of flow particles to follow streamlines (Fig. 2.2).



Figure 2.2: Illustration of the influence of the Stokes number.

The Stokes number *St* is first considered small ($St \ll 1$) meaning the plankter considered is **inertialess**. This hypothesis is relaxed and discussed in App. A, Sec. A.2.2. Additionally plankters are also assumed to swim at **constant speed** *V*_{swim}. Under the limit of these assumptions, the translation kinematics of plankters are reduced to

$$\frac{d\vec{X}}{dt} = \vec{u}(\vec{X}, t) + V_{\text{swim}}\,\hat{\vec{p}},\tag{2.8}$$

with \vec{u} the flow velocity field and $\hat{\vec{p}}$ the current swimming direction of the plankter.

The swimming direction \vec{p} of a plankter is controlled by its rotation kinematics

$$\frac{d\vec{p}}{dt} = \vec{\Omega} \times \hat{\vec{p}},\tag{2.9}$$

with $\overline{\Omega}$ the angular velocity of the plankter.

To model the rotation dynamics of the spherical plankter we consider, one can similarly compute the viscous torque on a sphere (Lamb, 1945)

$$\vec{T}_{\rm flow} = \pi \mu d^3 \left(\frac{1}{2} \vec{\omega} - \vec{\Omega} \right) \tag{2.10}$$

¹Strictly speaking, Eq. (2.6) is only valid in a steady uniform flow. Unsteadiness and irregularities cause the apparition of other flow induced forces (Maxey, 1987b; More and Ardekani, 2020; Wang and Ardekani, 2012).

with $\vec{\omega}$ the flow vorticity. Using the conservation of total angular momentum, one can express the rotation motion of a spherical plankter

$$\frac{d\vec{\Omega}}{dt} = \frac{1}{\tau_{\theta,\text{delay}}} \left[\frac{1}{2} \vec{\omega}(\vec{X},t) - \vec{\Omega} \right] \quad \text{with} \quad \tau_{\theta,\text{delay}} = \frac{\rho_p d^2}{60\mu}. \tag{2.11}$$

Similarly to the translation dynamics, if $\tau_{\theta,\text{delay}} \ll \tau_{\eta}$, the rotation dynamics of a passive plankter reduce to its kinematics and

$$\frac{d\hat{\vec{p}}}{dt} = \boldsymbol{\Omega} \cdot \hat{\vec{p}},\tag{2.12}$$

where Ω = skew $\nabla \vec{u}$ is the skew symmetric part local velocity gradient tensor $\nabla \vec{u}$. Note that bold symbols denote matrices.

Then to take into account active reorientation, we use the model proposed by Pedley and Kessler (1992)

$$\frac{d\vec{p}}{dt} = \boldsymbol{\Omega} \cdot \hat{\vec{p}} + \frac{1}{2\tau_{\text{align}}} \left[\hat{\vec{n}} - (\hat{\vec{n}} \cdot \hat{\vec{p}}) \hat{\vec{p}} \right], \qquad (2.13)$$

with \vec{n} the preferred orientation of the plankter and τ_{align} the active reorientation time scale. The smaller τ_{align} , the stronger is the plankter able to reorient. Originally designed to model bottom-heavy plankters (with $\hat{n}_{b-h} = \hat{z}$, and the subscript $_{b-h}$ referring to bottom-heavy), this expression is the result of the balance of the viscous torque exerted by the flow and the gravity torque. Despite its origin, this model is commonly used to model particles that reorient actively (Colabrese et al., 2017; Gustavsson et al., 2017; Lange and Friedrich, 2021). We discuss the choice of this model in Chap. 4, Sec. 4.2.3.2.

Assuming for now that the reorienting torque is strong enough, then $\tau_{\text{align}} \ll \tau_{\eta}$ and the plankter can be assumed to reorient instantaneously. As a consequence, the swimming direction is always aligned with the preferred direction $[\hat{\vec{p}}(t) = \hat{\vec{n}}(t)]$. The complete set of equations that describe plankter motion then reads

$$\frac{d\vec{X}}{dt} = \vec{u}(\vec{X}, t) + V_{\text{swim}} \hat{\vec{p}}, \qquad (2.14a)$$
$$\hat{\vec{p}}(t) = \hat{\vec{n}}(t). \qquad (2.14b)$$



Figure 2.3: Illustration of performance evaluation.

This hypothesis, assumed for most of the study, is relaxed and discussed in Chap. 4, Sec. 4.2.3. Finally, while more general swimming behaviors could eventually be considered (cf. App. C, Sec. C.2), at this stage, the plankter swimming speed V_{swim} is assumed **constant**.

■ V _{swim} constant
inertialess
neutrally buoyant
mass homogeneously distributed in the plankter body
small compared to the smallest flow scale
instantaneous reorientation $(\hat{\vec{p}} = \hat{\vec{n}})$
u sensing limited to $\hat{\vec{z}}$ and $\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}$
memoryless

Table 2.1: List of the problem assumptions.

Concerning sensing, we assume the plankter **sense the full local flow velocity gradient tensor** $\nabla \vec{u}(\vec{X}, t)$, simply noted $\nabla \vec{u}$ below, and **the vertical direction** $\hat{\vec{z}}$. The plankter then responds **instantaneously** to this information by choosing a preferred direction $\hat{\vec{n}}(\nabla \vec{u}, \hat{\vec{z}})$, **without any memory**. All of these assumptions are summed up in Tab. 2.1.

The metric used to quantify the performance of the plankters is the effective velocity, $V_{\text{eff.}}$ (Fig. 2.3), defined as the long-time average velocity along \hat{z}

$$V_{\rm eff.} = \lim_{T \to \infty} \frac{\vec{X}(T) - \vec{X}(0)}{T} \cdot \hat{\vec{z}}.$$
 (2.15)

In the language of control theory (resp. reinforcement learning), $\hat{\vec{n}}(\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}, \hat{\vec{z}})$ is the control (resp. policy) and $V_{\text{eff.}}$ is the objective function (resp. return).

2.2 | Optimal solution in linear flows: surfing

2.2.1 Derivation of the surfing strategy

To derive the surfing strategy, we start from the equation of motion of an inertialess active particle (2.14). The fluid flow \vec{u} at position \vec{X} and time *t* can be approximated using a linear approximation

$$\vec{u}(\vec{x},t) \approx \vec{u}_0 + (\vec{\nabla}\vec{u})_0 \cdot \left(\vec{x} - \vec{X}_0\right) + \left(\frac{\partial \vec{u}}{\partial t}\right)_0 (t - t_0)$$
(2.16)

for which the 0 subscript denotes evaluation at $t = t_0$ and $\vec{x} = \vec{X}_0$ [i.e. $\vec{u}_0 = \vec{u}(\vec{X}_0, t_0)$]. Without loss of generality, we can assume $t_0 = 0$ and $\vec{X}_0 = \vec{0}$ and drop the 0 subscript in the following. By substituting this expression into Eq. (2.14), we obtain the linear approximation

$$\frac{d\vec{X}(t)}{dt} \approx \vec{u} + \vec{\nabla}\vec{u} \cdot \vec{X}(t) + \left(\frac{\partial \vec{u}}{\partial t}\right)t + V_{\text{swim}}\,\hat{\vec{n}}(t).$$
(2.17)

Integrating this first-order differential equation leads to the following solution for the displacement

$$\vec{X}(T) = \left[\exp\left(T\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}\right) - Id \right] \cdot (\vec{\nabla}\vec{u})^{-1} \cdot \left[\vec{u} + (\vec{\nabla}\vec{u})^{-1} \cdot \left(\frac{\partial\vec{u}}{\partial t}\right)\right] - T(\vec{\nabla}\vec{u})^{-1} \cdot \left(\frac{\partial\vec{u}}{\partial t}\right) + V_{\text{swim}} \int_{0}^{T} \exp\left((T-t)\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}\right) \cdot \hat{\vec{n}}(t) dt, \quad (2.18)$$

with *Id*, the identity matrix, *T* the final time and exp the matrix exponential². The problem consists in finding the control $\hat{\vec{n}}$ such that the displacement along $\hat{\vec{z}}$ at time *T* is maximum, that is

Find $\hat{\vec{n}}$ such that $\vec{X}(T) \cdot \hat{\vec{z}}$ is maximum. (2.19)

Since $\hat{\vec{n}}$ only appears in the last term of Eq. (2.18), the problem reduces to

Find
$$\hat{\vec{n}}$$
 such that $\int_0^T \exp\left[(T-t)\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}\right] \cdot \hat{\vec{n}}(t) \cdot \hat{\vec{z}} dt$ is maximum. (2.20)

This is done by maximizing the integrand, which can be conveniently rewritten

Find
$$\hat{\vec{n}}$$
 such that $\left(\exp\left[(T-t)(\vec{\nabla}\vec{u})^T\right]\cdot\hat{\vec{z}}\right)\cdot\hat{\vec{n}}(t)$ is maximum. (2.21)

The solution to the problem of Eq. (2.21) is colinear with $\exp[(T - t)(\vec{\nabla}\vec{u})^T] \cdot \hat{\vec{z}}$. This solution gives the surfing strategy

$$\hat{\vec{n}}_{\text{surf}} = \frac{\vec{n}_{\text{surf}}}{|\vec{n}_{\text{surf}}|}, \quad \text{with} \quad \vec{n}_{\text{surf}} = \exp\left[(T-t)(\vec{\nabla}\vec{u})^T\right] \cdot \hat{\vec{z}}.$$
 (2.22)

Defining $\tau = T - t$, as the duration left before performance evaluation, the surfing strategy can be formulated as follows

$$\hat{\vec{n}}_{\text{surf}} = \frac{\vec{n}_{\text{surf}}}{|\vec{n}_{\text{surf}}|}, \text{ with } \vec{n}_{\text{surf}} = \exp\left[\tau(\vec{\nabla}\vec{u})^T\right] \cdot \hat{\vec{z}}.$$
 (2.23)

Surfing is optimal in a linear flow. In a nonlinear flow however, we expect the linearization to break down after a finite time horizon. This time horizon τ then becomes a free parameter of the surfing strategy which needs to be optimized. While there is no way to guess easily the optimal value of this time horizon τ without more information, we expect it to crucially depend on the temporal statistics of the flow.

This analysis shows that, in the limit of a linear flow, the flow velocity gradient tensor $\nabla \vec{u}$ is the only information needed to locally optimize the plankter trajectory.

²The inversibility of the gradient tensor $\nabla \vec{u}$ is assumed to be able to write this solution conveniently but the gradient inversibility is not required to derive the following in practice.

While some plankters are able to sense the local flow acceleration $(\partial \vec{u}/\partial t)$ (Fuchs et al., 2015b, 2018), Eq. (2.23) shows that it would not be of any direct use for the problem we consider³.

2.2.2 | Physical interpretation of the strategy

The surfing strategy is mainly described by a matrix exponential [Eq. (2.23)]. The matrix exponential is actually defined as a series. The surfing strategy can then also alternatively be expressed as

$$\hat{\vec{n}}_{\text{surf}} = \frac{\vec{n}_{\text{surf}}}{|\vec{n}_{\text{surf}}|}, \quad \text{with} \quad \vec{n}_{\text{surf}} = \left[\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{\tau^k}{k!} \left(\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}\right)^k\right]^T \cdot \hat{\vec{z}}.$$
(2.24)

The resulting surfing direction then appears as a weighted averaged over several directions corresponding to the terms of the series. The value of the surfing time horizon τ controls which term of the series predominates over the others. For $\tau = 0$, the first term of the series predominates. When τ increases, the next terms of the series gain importance.

To further detail the implications of this exponential, we rewrite conveniently the first terms of the series

$$\hat{\vec{n}}_{\text{surf}} = \frac{\vec{n}_{\text{surf}}}{|\vec{n}_{\text{surf}}|}, \quad \text{with} \quad \vec{n}_{\text{surf}} = \hat{\vec{z}} + \tau \,\vec{\nabla} u_z + \frac{1}{2} \tau^2 \,\vec{\nabla} \left(\vec{u} \cdot \vec{\nabla} u_z \right) + \cdots, \qquad (2.25)$$

with $u_z = \vec{u} \cdot \hat{\vec{z}}$. The first term of the series simply corresponds to the target direction $\hat{\vec{z}}$ [Fig. 2.4(a)]. It translates the fact that a surfer partly swims directly in the target direction. The second term is in the direction of the gradient of the vertical velocity $\vec{\nabla}u_z$ [Fig. 2.4(b)]. This term corresponds to a gradient ascent of the vertical flow velocity u_z . It characterizes the fact that surfers, seeking to get carried by the flow, also swim in the direction that leads to the nearest beneficial current, in the direction of $\vec{\nabla}(\vec{u} \cdot \vec{\nabla}u_z)$. So to maximize vertical displacement, surfer also have to maximize displacement in the direction $\vec{\nabla}(\vec{u} \cdot \vec{\nabla}u_z)$. And thus to do so, the next term of the series takes the form of the gradient of the velocity component in that direction [Fig. 2.4(c)]. Not content with the exploitation of ascending currents, given a large enough surfing time horizon τ , surfers also seek to exploit horizontal currents that would push them towards those upwellings.

³Note however that since acceleration and velocity gradients are correlated in flows (through the Navier-Stokes equation 2.2), acceleration may still provide indirect information that could be exploited.



Figure 2.4: Physical interpretation of the surfing strategy. The surfing strategy can be interpreted as a compromise between swimming straight to the target and an iterative gradient ascent method that forages beneficial currents based on local gradients.

Each of the next term of the series actually corresponds to the gradient of the flow velocity component in the direction of their precedent term.⁴ The tendency to lead plankters to "surf" local flow features gives its name to this strategy.

2.2.3 Surfing in linear flows

A linear flow is defined by a velocity \vec{u}_0 at $\vec{x} = \vec{0}$ and t = 0, a constant acceleration $\partial \vec{u} / \partial t$ and a constant flow velocity gradient tensor $\nabla \vec{u}$. For the sake of simplicity, we consider steady linear flows in the following: $\partial \vec{u} / \partial t = \vec{0}$. The steady flow velocity can then be expressed as the following:

$$\vec{u}(\vec{x}) = \vec{u}_0 + \vec{\nabla}\vec{u} \cdot \vec{x}. \tag{2.26}$$

The surfing strategy [Eq. (2.23)] is the exact solution of the vertical migration problem in any linear flow. Thus, such flows already provide an interesting framework to assess the behavior of the surfing strategy. For that purpose, we compare surfer trajectories [$\hat{\vec{p}}$ = $\hat{\vec{n}}_{surf}$, Eq. (2.23)], to bottom-heavy swimmers trajectories, which always swim upwards $(\vec{p}_{b-h} = \vec{z})$, and to passive particle trajectories ($V_{swim} = 0$).

Trajectories are integrated numerically using a fifth-order Runge-Kutta method (Dormand and Prince, 1980) thanks to the scipy.integrate.solve_ivp function of the scipy python library ⁵. A description of the principle of the Runge-Kutta method is provided in App. D. Unless mentioned otherwise, all trajectories integrated in 2D flows through-

⁴This observation also leads to an alternative expression of the surfing strategy based on a recursion: $\hat{\vec{n}}_{surf} = \vec{n}_{surf} / |\vec{n}_{surf}|$ with $\vec{n}_{surf} = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \vec{n}_k$, with $\vec{n}_0 = \hat{\vec{z}}$ and $\forall k > 0$, $\vec{n}_k = \frac{1}{k}\tau[\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}]^T \cdot \vec{n}_{k-1}$. ⁵The various Python scripts used to integrate 2D trajectories are provided at http://www.github.

com/COPEPOD.



Figure 2.5: The surfing strategy performing in linear flows. Comparison of simulated surfers trajectories with bottom-heavy swimmers and passive particle trajectories in various linear flows. Simulations parameters are provided in Tab. 2.2. Note that $\tau = T - t$ is time dependant.

Fig. 2.5	\vec{u}_0	$\vec{\nabla} \vec{u}$	$V_{ m swim}$	$ec{X}_0$	Т
(a)	$\begin{pmatrix} 0.97 \\ -0.244 \end{pmatrix}$	$\begin{pmatrix} -0.239 & 0.85 \\ -0.402 & 0.23 \end{pmatrix}$	$\begin{pmatrix} 1\\9 \end{pmatrix}$ 0.5	$\begin{pmatrix} 0\\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$	6
(b)	$\begin{pmatrix} -0.936\\ 0.352 \end{pmatrix}$	$\begin{pmatrix} -0.667 & -0.0 \\ 0.331 & 0.66 \end{pmatrix}$	$\begin{pmatrix} 07\\7 \end{pmatrix}$ 0.5	$\begin{pmatrix} 0\\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$	1.5
(c)	$\begin{pmatrix} -0.652\\ -0.758 \end{pmatrix}$	$ \begin{pmatrix} 0.644 & -0.4 \\ -0.42 & -0.64 \end{pmatrix} $	$\begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 14 \end{pmatrix} 0.5$	$\begin{pmatrix} 0\\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$	2
(d)	$\begin{pmatrix} -0.991\\ -0.131 \end{pmatrix}$	$\begin{pmatrix} 0.027 & -0.7 \\ -0.711 & -0.0 \end{pmatrix}$	$\begin{pmatrix} 02\\27 \end{pmatrix}$ 0.5	$\begin{pmatrix} 0\\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$	1.4

Table 2.2: Parameters of the simulations presented in Fig. 2.5.

out this study are performed using this same procedure (as opposed to the 3D flows introduced below). As incompressibility is an important property of plankton flow environment, we further restrict our initial analysis to steady 2D incompressible linear flows.

Figure 2.5(a) shows a counter intuitive solution where the surfer (red) starts by swimming downwards going around the vortex to end up in a beneficial current that propels it upwards. Note how this strategy helps avoiding being trapped in the vortex as the bottom-heavy swimmer (blue) that ends up being propelled downwards while always swimming upwards. This illustrates how flow information can be used to optimize navigation significantly. However in Fig. 2.5(b) and Fig. 2.5(c), we observe very similar trajectories for surfers and bottom-heavy swimmers. The two cases correspond to very singular case where shear is strong compared to vorticity and the stretching direction of the flow is either almost parallel or orthogonal to the target direction \hat{z} . However in a less singular cases where the stretching direction is neither parallel nor orthogonal to \hat{z} , the benefit of surfing is significant [Fig. 2.5(d)]. Yet, surfing in such a strain dominated flow remains less beneficial than surfing in vortical flow such as the one presented in Fig. 2.5(a).

To better understand how linear flow characteristics can influence surfing performance, one can decompose the flow into two contributions: a symmetric one, of gradient $S \equiv \text{sym} \, \vec{\nabla} \vec{u}$ and a skew symmetric one, of gradient $\Omega \equiv \text{skew} \, \vec{\nabla} \vec{u}$, both defined as follows:

$$S \equiv \operatorname{sym} \vec{\nabla} \vec{u} = \frac{1}{2} \left[\vec{\nabla} \vec{u} + (\vec{\nabla} \vec{u})^T \right], \quad \boldsymbol{\Omega} \equiv \operatorname{skew} \vec{\nabla} \vec{u} = \frac{1}{2} \left[\vec{\nabla} \vec{u} - (\vec{\nabla} \vec{u})^T \right], \quad (2.27)$$

This decomposition is commonly used to distinguish rotating regions, $|\Omega| \gg |S|$, from strain regions, $|S| \gg |\Omega|$, of the flow (Fig. 2.6). The skew symmetric part of the gradient is responsible for the rotation of fluid parcels while the symmetric part describes extension and contractions axes of the flow. Each part is known to behave differently in turbulence (Fang et al., 2015; Meneveau, 2011).

2.2.3.1 | Pure strain

2D case. Assuming the flow is symmetric $\nabla \vec{u} = S$, one can write all quantities in the orthonormal basis $(\hat{e}_{\alpha}, \hat{e}_{\beta})$, composed of the flow velocity gradients eigenvectors⁶. We choose this basis so that their respective eigenvalues are sorted in descending order: $\alpha \ge \beta$. Due to incompressibility, the second eigenvalue is the opposite of the first one: $\delta \equiv \alpha \ge 0$ and $\beta = -\delta$. The direction \hat{e}_{α} then represents the extension axis of the flow

⁶This claim is the result of Cauchy's finite-dimensional spectral theorem, (Hawkins, 1975).



Figure 2.6: Illustration of the decomposition of a linear flow into its skew symmetric part Ω and symmetric part S. The vectors $\hat{\vec{e}}_{\alpha}$ and $\hat{\vec{e}}_{\beta}$ corresponds to the eigenvectors of S, corresponding also to the extension and compression axes of the flow.

while $\hat{\vec{e}}_{\beta}$ represents the compression axis (Fig. 2.6). So in a 2D symmetric linear flow, the surfing direction, Eq. (2.23), is reduced to

$$\hat{\vec{n}}_{surf}(\tau) = \frac{e^{\delta\tau} z_{\alpha} \hat{\vec{e}}_{\alpha} + e^{-\delta\tau} z_{\beta} \hat{\vec{e}}_{\beta}}{\sqrt{e^{2\delta\tau} z_{\alpha}^2 + e^{-4\delta\tau} z_{\beta}^2}}.$$
(2.28)

with $z_{\alpha} = (\hat{z} \cdot \hat{e}_{\alpha})$ and $z_{\beta} = (\hat{z} \cdot \hat{e}_{\beta})$. We note that for a large enough time horizon $\tau \delta \gg 1$, the surfing strategy aligns with the extension axis (Fig. 2.7)

$$\lim_{\tau \to +\infty} \hat{\vec{n}}_{surf} = \frac{z_{\alpha}}{|z_{\alpha}|} \vec{e}_{\alpha} = \operatorname{sgn}(z_{\alpha}) \hat{\vec{e}}_{\alpha}.$$
(2.29)

As a consequence, in a symmetric linear flow, the optimal swimming direction is a balance between the target direction \hat{z} and the stretching direction of the flow sgn(z_{α}) \hat{e}_{α} . This alignment is controlled by the time horizon τ .

As illustrated in Fig. 2.7(b), for small values of the time horizon τ , the optimal direction is \hat{z} . As τ increases the surfing direction tends to align with the stretching axis $\operatorname{sgn}(z_{\alpha})\hat{e}_{\alpha}$. Furthermore, note that the surfing direction \hat{n} converges exponentially to this limit making it almost independent of τ for large enough vales of $\tau\delta$.

3D case. In 3D, one can still consider the orthonormal basis of the velocity gradient composed of the flow velocity gradients eigenvectors $(\hat{e}_{\alpha}, \hat{e}_{\beta}, \hat{e}_{\gamma})$, and its respective eigenvalues so that $\alpha \ge \beta \ge \gamma$. If $\alpha > \beta$, as for the 2D case, the surfing direction tends to align with the maximal extension axis

$$\lim_{\tau \to +\infty} \hat{\vec{n}}_{surf} = \frac{z_{\alpha}}{|z_{\alpha}|} \vec{e}_{\alpha} = \operatorname{sgn}(z_{\alpha}) \hat{\vec{e}}_{\alpha}.$$
 (2.30)



Figure 2.7: In a pure strain flow, the surfing direction tends to align with the extension axis. Influence of the time horizon τ on the surfing strategy in a pure strain flow. (a) Comparison of surfers trajectories for various final times *T*. (b) Surfing direction as a function of the surfing time horizon τ . Simulations parameters are provided in Tab. 2.3. For reference, the bottom-heavy case is evaluated for $T\delta = 5$.

Fig.	\vec{u}_0	$\vec{\nabla} \vec{u}$	$V_{\rm swim}$	\vec{X}_0
2.7	$\begin{pmatrix} 0\\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$	$\begin{pmatrix} 0.0273 & -0.707 \\ -0.707 & -0.0273 \end{pmatrix}$	0.5	$\begin{pmatrix} 0\\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$

Table 2.3: Simulations parameters in arbitrary units of the navigation simulation presented in Fig. 2.7.

In the singular case where $\alpha = \beta$, the surfing strategy tends towards the direction \hat{z} projected on the stretching plane

$$\lim_{\tau \to +\infty} \hat{\vec{n}}_{surf} = \frac{\hat{\vec{z}} - \hat{\vec{e}}_{\gamma}}{|\hat{\vec{z}} - \hat{\vec{e}}_{\gamma}|}.$$
(2.31)

Overall surfers essentially exploit the symmetric part of the velocity gradients by swimming in the direction of maximal stretching $sgn(z_{\alpha})\hat{e}_{\alpha}$. While bottom-heavy swimmers still end up being pushed along the upward stretching direction, surfers, by swimming actively in that direction, maximize their displacement along the stretching axis, thus maximizing the upward velocity they can extract from flow stretching.

2.2.3.2 | Vortex

Now for a pure vortex flow $\vec{\nabla} \vec{u} = \Omega$, surfing can be written

$$\hat{\vec{n}}_{surf}(\tau) = R_{\hat{\vec{\omega}}}(-\omega\tau/2) \cdot \hat{\vec{z}}, \qquad (2.32)$$



Figure 2.8: In a pure vortex, the surfing direction reduces to a rotation opposing to the vorticity. Influence of the time horizon τ on surfing in a pure vortex flow. (a) Comparison of surfers trajectories for various final times *T*. The trajectory of a bottom-heavy (b-h) swimmer is plotted for reference. (b) Surfing direction as a function of the time horizon τ . Simulations parameters are provided in Tab. 2.4.

Fig.	\vec{u}_0	$\vec{\nabla} \vec{u}$	$V_{ m swim}$	\vec{X}_0
2.8	$\begin{pmatrix} 0\\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$	$\begin{pmatrix}0&0.707\\-0.707&0\end{pmatrix}$	0.5	$\begin{pmatrix} 0\\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$

Table 2.4: Simulations parameters in arbitrary units of the navigation simulation presented in Fig. 2.8.

with $R_{\hat{\omega}}(-\omega\tau/2)$ the rotation matrix of angle $-\omega\tau/2$ with $\omega = |\vec{\nabla} \times \vec{u}|$, the norm of flow vorticity, and of axis $\hat{\omega} = \vec{\nabla} \times \vec{u}/\omega$, the normalized vorticity. As illustrated in Fig. 2.8, the optimal solution corresponds to the target direction $\hat{\vec{z}}$ rotated by an angle $-\omega\tau/2$ along the vorticity axis.

Note that even though the matrix exponential seems highly non linear and computationally expensive, in the case of a skew symmetric flow, the surfing strategy reduces to a linear response to vorticity. Indeed, if θ_{surf} denotes the angle of $\hat{\vec{n}}_{surf}$ with respect to the vertical $\hat{\vec{z}}$ and oriented so that the the rotation axis matches the direction of vorticity, then the surfing strategy can be written as the following linear expression

$$\theta_{\rm surf}(\tau) = -\omega\tau/2. \tag{2.33}$$

Furthermore, when compared to the expected trajectory of a bottom-heavy swimmer that would be trapped in the vortex [Fig. 2.8(a)], the surfing strategy is highly beneficial as it enable surfers to escape such vortices.



Figure 2.9: Alignment of shear direction with the target direction \hat{z} impacts surfing performance. Comparison of surfers trajectories for various final times *T*. (a) \hat{z} is aligned with the shear axis. (b) \hat{z} is not aligned with the shear axis: $\theta_{\gamma_{sh.}} = \pi/4$. Swimming speed is set to $V_{swim} = 0.5$ (arbitrary units). For reference, the bottom-heavy case is evaluated for $T\gamma_{sh.} = 3$.

2.2.3.3 | Simple shear

The simple shear flow is a simple combination of a symmetric flow and a skew symmetric flow. Its velocity gradient tensor is characterized by its shear value γ_{sh} .

$$\vec{\nabla}\vec{u} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0\\ \gamma_{\rm sh.} & 0 \end{pmatrix} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \gamma_{\rm sh.}\\ \gamma_{\rm sh.} & 0 \end{pmatrix} + \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -\gamma_{\rm sh.}\\ \gamma_{\rm sh.} & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (2.34)

In such a flow, the surfing strategy reduces to the following

$$\hat{\vec{n}}_{surf}(\tau) = \frac{\vec{n}_{surf}}{|\vec{n}_{surf}|} \quad \text{with} \quad \vec{n}_{surf} = \hat{\vec{z}} + \tau \vec{\nabla} (\vec{u} \cdot \hat{\vec{z}}) = \hat{\vec{z}} + \tau \gamma_{sh.} \cos \theta_{\gamma_{sh.}} \hat{\vec{e}}_x$$
(2.35)

where $\theta_{\gamma_{\text{sh.}}}$ is the angle of the target direction $\hat{\vec{z}}$ with respect to the shear direction $\hat{\vec{e}}_y$. In this case, the surfing strategy reduces to a weighted average of $\hat{\vec{z}}$ and the direction of the gradient $\nabla(\vec{u} \cdot \hat{\vec{z}})$. The normalized surfing time horizon $\tau \gamma_{\text{sh.}} \cos \theta_{\gamma_{\text{sh.}}}$ then acts simply as an averaging weight between these two directions. Figure 2.9(a) shows trajectories for various final times *T*. As *T* increases surfers penetrate further the upstream region by swimming almost horizontally at the beginning. The surfing strategy is more beneficial when the target direction is aligned with shear. If it is not the case, as we observe in Fig. 2.9(b), a surfer may have to swim initially backwards with respect to $\hat{\vec{z}}$ to exploit the shear velocity gradient.

2.3 Surfing in simple nonlinear flows

2.3.1 | Surfing on the Taylor–Green vortices

The Taylor-Green vortex flow is an exact solution of the 2D Navier-Stokes equations introduced by Taylor and Green (1937). This solution may arise from thermal convention and wind induced Langmuir (1938) circulations (Woodcock, 1941). In the context of plankton settling, Stommel (1949) showed the propensity of inertialess plankters to get trapped in such flow structures. This flow is still currently used to characterize properties of vortical flows (Samant et al., 2021) and is used as a model flow to study navigation problems (Colabrese et al., 2017; Qiu et al., 2022b).

This flow is characterized by its maximal flow velocity u_{max} and maximal vorticity $\omega_{\text{max}} = 2u_{\text{max}}/L$

$$\vec{u}(\vec{x}) = u_{\max} \begin{pmatrix} \cos(x/L) \sin(y/L) \\ -\sin(x/L) \cos(y/L) \end{pmatrix}, \quad \text{with} \quad \vec{x} = \begin{pmatrix} x \\ y \end{pmatrix}.$$
(2.36)

with πL the size of the flow cells.

Now applied in a non-linear flow, the surfing strategy is expected to be sub-optimal. The surfing time horizon τ , originally corresponding to the duration until the end of the simulation $\tau = T - t$, becomes a constant free parameter of the surfing strategy. This time corresponds to the time horizon over which the measured flow velocity gradient can be considered constant. Finding the value of τ that maximizes vertical migration is crucial to solve the problem. The larger the value of τ , the more surfers exploit the flow. But if the surfing parameter τ is too large, the linear approximation used to derive the surfing strategy breaks down and we expect performance to drop significantly.

The problem depends a priori on seven parameters: the plankter V_{swim} , the surfing time horizon τ , the final time T, the maximal flow velocity u_{max} , the maximal flow vorticity ω_{max} and the starting position \vec{x}_{start} . Using Buckingham π theorem, one can reduce the number to four dimensionless parameters: the dimensionless swimming velocity V_{swim}/u_{max} (also called swimming number), the dimensionless surfing time horizon $\tau \omega_{max}$, the dimensionless final time $T\omega_{max}$ and the dimensionless initial position \vec{x}_{start}/L with $L = 2\omega_{max}/u_{max}$ (Bertrand, 1878; Buckingham, 1914; Vaschy, 1892). While another choice would have been possible, we choose here the flow scales to non-dimensionalize the problem. Flow scales are systematically chosen to normalize the problem parameters throughout this study.

In Fig. 2.10, we plot surfers trajectories in a stationary Taylor-Green vortex flow. We vary the surfing time horizon τ to observe its influence on surfer trajectories and performance. We observe that increasing τ results in wider turns around vortices [Fig. 2.10(a)].



Figure 2.10: Initial position impacts surfing performance. Comparison of surfer trajectories $[\hat{\vec{p}} = \hat{\vec{n}}_{surf}, \text{ Eq. } (2.23)]$ with variation of the parameter τ , for various initial positions. Trajectories of perfectly bottom-heavy plankters $(\hat{\vec{p}} = \hat{\vec{z}})$ are plotted in blue for reference. The plankter swimming speed $V_{swim} = u_{max}/2$ and the final time $T = 22/\omega_{max}$ are kept constant for each simulation. Initial positions are provided in Tab. 2.5. Note that for clarity, the end of the trajectories of the case $\tau u_{max} = 2\pi$ are not displayed when they get out of the displayed domain (occurring in **(b)** and (c)).

Fig. 2.10	(a)	(b)	(c)	(d)	(e)
\vec{X}_0/L	$\begin{pmatrix} 0\\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$	$\begin{pmatrix} \pi/4\\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$	$\begin{pmatrix} -\pi/4\\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$	$\begin{pmatrix} 0\\ -\pi/4 \end{pmatrix}$	$\begin{pmatrix} 0\\ \pi/4 \end{pmatrix}$

Table 2.5: Initial position of the swimmers for the simulations presented in Fig. 2.10.

We can further notice, especially for $\tau \omega_{\text{max}} = 2\pi$, how differently surfers behave in vortex regions ($|\Omega| \gg |S|$) of the flow compared to strain regions ($|S| \gg |\Omega|$), leading to sharp turns when one passes from one to the other. This effect is further emphasized in Fig. 2.11 where we plot the surfing direction \hat{n}_{surf} as a function of position in a Taylor-Green cell for $\tau \omega_{\text{max}} = \pi/2$. Note how \hat{n}_{surf} aligns with the target direction \hat{z} in-between vortices, corresponding to pure strain regions. The surfing strategy is unable to exploit



Figure 2.11: Surfing direction [$\hat{\vec{n}}_{surf}$, Eq. (2.23)] as function of position in Taylor-Green vortices for $\tau \omega_{max} = \pi/2$.

much these regions as they correspond to the particular case for which the extension axis \hat{e}_{α} (cf. Sec. 2.2.3.1) is either parallel or orthogonal to the target direction \hat{z} . In vortical regions however, the surfing direction deviates from \hat{z} in response to local flow vorticity ω and leads surfers to beneficial currents.

We are interested in the value τ^* of the surfing time horizon τ that maximizes the vertical displacement. The strong symmetries that characterize this velocity field lead to preferential trajectories that strongly depend on the starting position, influencing the optimal value of τ [Fig. 2.10(**a-d**)]. In practice, we cannot expect a particular plankter starting position. As a consequence, we are more interested in a value τ^* that is optimal in average for various starting positions rather than a position specific optimum. Thus, in the following, the performance metric $V_{\text{eff.}}$, corresponding to the vertical effective velocity, is averaged over N = 600 random starting positions. This average is noted $\langle \cdot \rangle_N$ throughout the study.

The final time *T* is also an important parameter of the problem. Indeed in Fig. 2.12, we first observe surfers falling behind bottom-heavy swimmers that go straight vertically as they need some time to forage upwards currents. Then once found, upwards currents let surfers catch up and eventually outdistance bottom-heavy swimmers in the long run. Performance of surfers increase as function of time before converging towards a constant value for large times [Fig. 2.12(a)]. As a consequence, we notice in Fig. 2.12(b) that the value of τ for which the performance is maximal changes as a function of the final time *T*. Note that in practice, migrating planktonic organisms may



Figure 2.12: For large enough values of the final time *T*, performance of the surfing strategy becomes independent of *T*. (a) Performance convergence as a function of time for various values of the surfing parameter τ . Note that the x axis is in log scale. (b) Surfer performance as a function of τ for various final simulation time *T*. Swimmers swimming speed is set to $V_{\text{swim}} = u_{\text{max}}/2$.

travel through the water column over a large distance Λ (Hardy and Bainbridge, 1954; Prairie et al., 2012; Williamson et al., 2011). We focus then on the case of large distance migration ($\Lambda \rightarrow \infty$) corresponding to large final times ($T = \Lambda/V_{\text{eff.}} \rightarrow +\infty$) in the following [Eq. (2.15)]. We observe that surfers reach effective velocities $V_{\text{eff.}}/V_{\text{swim}} \approx 1.7$ for $T \rightarrow \infty$ while bottom-heavy swimmers are unable to harness favorable flow currents so that their effective velocity is approximately equal to their swimming velocity.

The swimming speed of actual planktonic organisms varies over several orders of magnitudes, from 10^{-3} cm.s⁻¹ for bacteria to 1 cm.s⁻¹ for fish larvae (Fuchs and Gerbi, 2016; Peters and Marrasé, 2000). So, how does this strategy adapts to this range of swimming speed? First, as one increase its swimming speed with respect of the flow velocity, one may expect upwards currents being less beneficial. Indeed the larger the swimming speed, the weaker is the flow compared to their own swimming skills. As a consequence, performance increase due to flow exploitation should drop, until it becomes marginal.

This effect is observed in Fig. 2.13(a) where we plot surfing performance $V_{\text{eff.}}$ as function of the surfing time horizon τ for various plankter swimming speeds V_{swim} . Note furthermore how the maximal performance shifts towards lower values of τ when swimming velocity V_{swim} increases. As a faster swimmer samples faster the flow, its measure of the flow velocity gradients $\nabla \vec{u}$ varies faster with time. Thus the optimal time



Figure 2.13: Swimming speed V_{swim} impacts surfing performance and the optimal value of the surfing parameter τ^* . Surfing performance as function of the surfing parameter τ for various swimming speeds V_{swim} , with the target direction \hat{z} (a) oriented vertically. (b) oriented randomly for each microswimmer considered.

horizon τ^* , corresponding to the time limit of validity of the linearization, decreases.

Another parameter of the problem is the orientation of the flow compared to the target direction \hat{z} . As previously described for linear flows in Sec. 2.2.3.1, alignment of stretching axes with respect to the target direction \hat{z} strongly influences surfing performance. In the context of navigation in Taylor-Green vortices, this effect is observed from surfer trajectories plotted in Fig. 2.14 for various flow orientation.

In the ocean however, we may not expect actual planktonic organisms to experience preferential alignment of vortices with the vertical. Therefore Fig. 2.13(b) shows performance of surfers averaged over both starting positions and flow orientation (or seamlessly over various target direction \hat{z}). Compared to the constant target direction case, this averaged performance, noted $\langle V_{\text{eff.}} \rangle_{N,\hat{z}'}$, slightly decreases. The optimal surfing time horizon τ^* increases however. Not necessarily aligned with the target direction \hat{z} , beneficial currents are certainly harder to exploit. Moreover, the increase of τ^* means that surfers tend to align more with the stretching directions. This is in agreement with the observations made previously in linear flows: the pure strain part (symmetric) of the flow cannot be exploited if stretching is either parallel or orthogonal to \hat{z} . Note that the performance ($V_{\text{eff.}}/V_{\text{swim}}$) remains larger than 2 for the optimal time horizon τ and for the slowest swimmers $V_{\text{swim}} = u_{\text{max}}/4$.

Overall, even though the surfing strategy does not guarantee optimality in non-



Figure 2.14: Alignment of the flow to the target direction \hat{z} impacts surfing performance. Comparison of surfer trajectories $[\hat{p} = \hat{n}_{surf}, Eq. (2.23)]$ with variation of the parameter τ , for various flow orientation $\phi_{\hat{z}}$ with respect to \hat{z} . Trajectories of perfectly bottom-heavy plankters $(\hat{p} = \hat{z})$ are plotted in blue for reference. The plankter swimming speed $V_{swim} = u_{max}/2$, the plankter initial position $\vec{X}_0 = (0 \ 0)$ and the final time $T = 22/\omega_{max}$ is kept constant for each simulation. Additional simulations parameters are provided in Tab. 2.6.

Fig. 2.14	(a)	(b)	(c)
$\phi_{\hat{arphi}}$	0	$\pi/8$	$\pi/4$

Table 2.6: Initial position of the swimmers for the simulations presented in Fig. 2.14.

linear flows, these results still demonstrates its applicability in such flow: this behavior already leads to large navigation performance enhancement compared to bottom-heavy swimmers in Taylor-Green vortices. We also showed that navigation performance is also strongly influenced by the alignment of flow structures with the target direction, of particular importance in Taylor-Green vortices.



Figure 2.15: Surfing may induce movement towards or away from walls in a Poiseuille flow. Comparison of surfer trajectories $[\vec{p} = \hat{n}_{surf}, Eq. (2.23)]$ with variation of the parameter τ , for various initial positions. Trajectories of perfectly bottom-heavy plankters $(\vec{p} = \hat{z})$ are plotted in blue for reference. Simulations parameters are provided in Tab. 2.7.

Fig. 2.15	$\hat{ec{z}}$	$V_{\rm swim}/u_{\rm max}$	$T(du_x/dy)_{\max}$
(a)	transverse	1	8
(b)	downstream	0.5	20
(c)	upstream	0.5	20

Table 2.7: Initial position of the swimmers for the simulations presented in Fig. 2.15.

2.3.2 | Surfing in the Poiseuille flow

The Poiseuille flow is a laminar solution of the Navier-Stokes equations (Poiseuille, 1844). This solution characterizes a laminar flow between two parallel plates placed at y = 0 and y = h. This solution takes the form of the following parabolic velocity profile

$$\vec{u}(\vec{x}) = 4u_{\max} \begin{pmatrix} y/h - (y/h)^2 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} \quad \text{with} \quad \vec{x} = \begin{pmatrix} x \\ y \end{pmatrix}.$$
(2.37)

This parabolic velocity profile is characteristic of near-boundaries regions of flows and may be relevant as a simple model to study navigation near the sea floor or around oceanic obstacles.

Similarly to the precedent case, we choose u_{max} and $(du_x/dy)_{\text{max}} = 4u_{\text{max}}/h$ to non dimensionalize the problem. Figure 2.15(a) illustrates a surfer trajectory in a Poiseuille flow when the target direction \hat{z} is orthogonal to the flow. As the flow velocity gradient

is completely aligned with the target direction, the flow cannot be exploited in any way and a surfer will behave exactly as a perfectly bottom-heavy swimmer. In Fig. 2.15(b) however, \hat{z} is aligned with flow velocity and surfers are able to follow the gradient until they reach the center-line of the flow for which the velocity is maximal. Finally in Fig. 2.15(c), \hat{z} is aligned against flow velocity. The surfing strategy enables surfers to reach the wall thus avoiding drifting with the current as it would be the case for a bottom-heavy swimmer always swimming in the direction \hat{z} .⁷

This emphasizes the ability of the surfing strategy to adapt to various non-linear flows, and further stresses the importance of the alignment of flow features with the target direction.

2.4 | Summary

We conclude this chapter by summing up key elements discussed previously:

- planktonic organisms can use effectively local flow information to enhance navigation
- the planktonic vertical migration navigation problem has an approximate analytical solution which we called the surfing strategy, described by Eq. (2.23). This strategy
 - is an exact solution of the problem in linear flows [Eq. (2.23)].
 - tends to align the swimming direction with stretching axes of the local flow
 - tends to rotate the swimming direction oppositely to flow vorticty
 - is shown to be effective in non-linear flows such as Taylor-Green Vortices and Poiseuille flow.
 - is controlled by the surfing time horizon τ for which an optimal value τ^* exists.
- the strategy is sensitive to the parameters of the problem, in particular the ratio between the swimming speed V_{swim} and the typical flow speed.

⁷Note however that all near-wall effects on the plankter have been neglected from the simulation that lead to the trajectories in Fig. 2.15. In practice, we would expect the presence of walls to affect plankter dynamics in non-trivial ways that have not been taken into account in this illustrative example [Refer for example to Zöttl and Stark (2012) for details].

Surfing on turbulence

Turbulence is an important feature of the flow environment relevant to many plankton species (Fuchs and Gerbi, 2016). For instance, turbulent flow velocity fluctuations are known to increase plankton contact rates (Rothschild and Osborn, 1988). On the other hand, flow disturbances generated by turbulent flows might also alter plankton sensing and, as a consequence, influence prey/predator interactions (Pécseli et al., 2019; Saiz and Kiørboe, 1995) and mate finding (Michalec et al., 2020). Inertial and active particles are known to preferentially concentrate (Gustavsson et al., 2016; Monchaux et al., 2012) in turbulence, then displaying macroscopic density distribution patterns. Overall, turbulence lead to important consequences on the development of plankters, such as altering their growth rate (Peters and Marrasé, 2000). Note however that some recent studies demonstrated that plankton may experience weaker turbulence than previously considered (Franks et al., 2022).

Despite these numerous studies, the role of turbulence in plankton dynamics remains to be fully understood, in particular in regard of plankton **active response** to turbulence (Franks et al., 2022). In this chapter, we discuss the surfing strategy, presented in Chap. 2, in the context of navigation in turbulent flows.

We first discuss the features of turbulent flows and explain how the turbulent environments are simulated in this study. Then we assess surfing performance in homogeneous isotropic turbulence for various turbulence intensities. Finally we propose an estimate of surfing performance based upon the analysis of surfing performance restricted to various parts of the flow. Some of the results presented in this chapter have been published in Monthiller et al. (2022) but original results are also included.

3.1 | Modeling the turbulent environment

3.1.1 | Turbulent flows

As previously described in Chap. 2, we consider the plankter environment as an **single phase incompressible** fluid flow of constant kinematic viscosity ν and density ρ . The flow velocity \vec{u} and pressure p of flow are described by the the Navier-Stokes equations,

$$\frac{\partial \vec{u}}{\partial t} + \left(\vec{u} \cdot \vec{\nabla}\right) \vec{u} = -\frac{1}{\rho} \vec{\nabla} p + \nu \nabla^2 \vec{u} + \frac{1}{\rho} \vec{f}_{\text{ext}}$$
(3.1a)

$$\vec{\nabla} \cdot \vec{u} = 0. \tag{3.1b}$$

Flows can be studied through two different specifications: The Eulerian one or the Lagrangian one. In the Eulerian approach, the flow field is described as a function of position \vec{x} and time t. In the Lagrangian approach however, the observer follows the motion of fluid particles along their trajectory (Fig. 3.1). The flow field is then represented as a function of time and the particle selected. One can link flow kinematics in both specifications through the material derivative

$$\frac{D\vec{u}}{Dt} = \frac{\partial\vec{u}}{\partial t} + \left(\vec{u}\cdot\vec{\nabla}\right) \quad \vec{u}.$$
(3.2)

Lagrangian

Eulerian

Figure 3.1: Illustration of the differences of Eulerian and Lagrangian specification.

The operator $D \cdot / Dt$ describes the time derivative in the Lagrangian specification (following a fluid particle trajectory) and $\partial \cdot / \partial t$ describes the time derivative in the Eulerian specification (at a fixed position in space).

Since we are interested in particles advected by a turbulent flow, each approach are useful and advantageous depending on the context. In this study, the turbulent velocity fields are solely the result of Eulerian simulations. However as our problem is inherently Lagrangian (as plankters are advected by the flow), some Lagrangian properties of these flows are also considered in this study.

In fluid dynamics, turbulence is the state of a fluid flow characterized by its strong irregularity. Contrary to the smooth nature of laminar flows, turbulent flows present small scales fluctuations on top of large scale motion (Fig. 3.2).

The turbulent nature of a flow is quantified by the Reynolds number *Re*. This number is the result of the ratio of the intensity of the inertial and viscous terms of the Navier-Stokes momentum equation (3.1)

$$Re \sim \frac{\left|\left(\vec{u} \cdot \vec{\nabla}\right) \, \vec{u}\right|}{\left|\nu \nabla^2 \vec{u}\right|} \sim \frac{UD}{\nu}.$$
(3.3)



Figure 3.2: Illustration of differences between a laminar flow and turbulent flow. Colors indicate the norm of planar flow velocity normalized by the bulk velocity (average velocity). The turbulent case is plotted from data of the Johns Hopkins Turbulence Database turbulent channel flow (Li et al., 2008; Perlman et al., 2007).

This number is generally evaluated using a flow velocity scale U and a flow length scale D. This choice is however not unique and depends on the problem. Contrary to the particle Reynolds number Re_p introduced in Chap. 2, Sec. 2.1, defined at the scale of the plankter, this Reynolds number characterizes the large scale flow motion, independent of the plankter movements.

For a large Reynolds number ($Re \gg 1$), inertial effects prevail over viscous effects. In that case, viscous effects are too weak to dissipate large structures directly. This cause large structures to continuously break down into smaller ones down until the smallest possible scale is reached, where viscous dissipation occurs. This phenomenon, discussed below, is characteristic of turbulent flows and is generally called the "inertial cascade" described below.

3.1.2 Homogeneous isotropic turbulence

We can characterize the small scales of the flow through the description of the inertial cascade (Richardson, 1922). This phenomenon is well characterized by the Kolmogorov theory (Kolmogorov, 1941a,b,c,d). In addition to the **single phase** and **incompressible** properties of the flow, this theory relies on important additional assumptions:

- The flow is isotropic, meaning the flow must be, on average, the same in every direction.
- The flow is homogeneous, meaning the flow must be, on average, the same at any point in space.

The energy transfer must occurs locally, meaning eddies only interact with other eddies of similar size.

While turbulent flows are rarely isotropic at large scales, small scales tend towards isotropy and homogeneity in turbulent flows (Frisch and Kolmogorov, 1995). As a consequence, for large enough Reynolds number flows $Re \gg 1$, small enough scales exist in the flow for which this assumption is valid.

We note the turbulent dissipation rate of the kinetic energy

$$\epsilon = 2\nu |\mathbf{S}|^2, \tag{3.4}$$

that describes the energy dissipated by the smallest scales of the flow. Due to the energy conservation, for the process to be stationary, the small scales of the flow must draw the same amount of energy from larger scales of the flow as the amount of energy dissipated. Thus as transfers occur locally (assumption previously stated), ϵ then also corresponds to the energy transfer rate through flow scales and the energy rate injected in the flow at large scales.

Assuming then ϵ is independent of the flow viscosity ν , one can assume by dimensional analysis that $\epsilon = u_l^3/l$ for each flow length scale $l \ll L$, with L the integral scale. The integral scale L is defined as the scale for which the energy is injected in the system. Note that, flow behavior at integral scale L is highly dependent of the problem and is not described by this theory. One can then deduce the scale of the flow for which viscous effects take over inertial effects [the length scale η so that $Re_{\eta} = 1$, Eq. (3.3)]

$$\eta = \left(\frac{\nu^3}{\epsilon}\right)^{1/4},\tag{3.5}$$

from which we can also deduce a time scale and a velocity scale

$$\tau_{\eta} = \sqrt{\frac{\nu}{\epsilon}}, \quad u_{\eta} = (\nu \epsilon)^{1/4}.$$
(3.6)

These scales, called the Kolmogorov microscales, describe the scales of the smallest flow features of turbulence.

While the scale of Kolmogorov η corresponds to the smallest scale of turbulence, dissipation starts to occur at larger scales. The scale for which gradients starts to contribute to viscous dissipation is characterized by the Taylor microscale (Taylor, 1935)

$$\lambda = \sqrt{15\frac{\nu}{\epsilon}} u_{\rm rms},\tag{3.7}$$



Figure 3.3: Illustration of the dynamics of 3D homogeneous isotropic turbulence. Energy is injected in the system through a large scale forcing. Turbulent energy is then transferred through the energy cascade to ever smalle scales until the Kolmogorov scale η is reached: scale for chich viscouss dissipation occurs.

with $u_{\rm rms} = \sqrt{\langle |\vec{u}|^2 \rangle_{x,t}}$ the root mean square velocity of the flow. Defined by the statistics of the flow, this length scale is often used to define the Taylor Reynolds number

$$Re_{\lambda} = \frac{u_{\rm rms}\lambda}{\nu}.$$
 (3.8)

This definition removes the ambiguity of the choice of the length scale D and velocity U of the Reynolds number in Eq (3.3).

The Kolmogorov theory also leads to the description of the spectral energy density E(k), associated to a wavenumber k, of turbulence in the inertial cascade. The spectral energy density is defined as

$$\mathcal{E} = \frac{1}{2} \int \left| \frac{d\vec{u}}{dk} \right|^2 4\pi k^2 dk = \int E(k) dk, \tag{3.9}$$

with \mathcal{E} the total kinetic energy of the flow, $|d\vec{u}/dk|$ the module of the spatial Fourier transform of the flow velocity and $k = 2\pi/l$ the norm of the wavenumber considered. Based on the same hypothesis of independence of ν and locality, by dimensional analysis, Kolmogorov theory predicts the spectral energy density to follow

$$E(k) = C_K e^{2/3} k^{-5/3}.$$
 (3.10)

 C_K is the Kolmogorov constant, supposedly independent of the flow kinematic viscosity and the large scale forcing. Experimentally, this constant has been determined to be of the order of unity, $C_K \approx 1.5$ (Sreenivasan, 1995). The basics of 3D turbulence dynamics are summed up in Fig 3.3.

Note that this theory is only valid for 3D turbulence, case of interest here. 2D flows have different properties (for example due to the absence of vortex stretching) that generate different dynamics . This causes 2D turbulence to behave rather differently. For instance, we can observe an inverse energy cascade where energy is transferred to larger scales than the scale of energy injection.

The description of turbulence by Kolmogorov theory is however limited to this spectral energy density E(k). To model and capture all the complexity of small scale turbulence relevant for planktonic organisms, one must rely on direct numerical simulations.

3.1.3 | Direct Numerical Simulations

3.1.3.1 | *Snoopy* simulations

In computational fluid dynamics, *direct numerical simulations* are used to solve a discrete version of the Navier-Stokes equations [Eq. (2.2)] directly. On the contrary, *Reynolds average numerical simulations* or *large eddy simulations* do not solve turbulence down to the smallest scales and require a turbulence model (Lesieur, 2014).

To capture the complex small scale dynamics of plankton-turbulence interaction, we rely on direct numerical simulations to simulate the plankter environment. We use the pseudo-spectral, open-source solver *Snoopy* (Lesur and Longaretti, 2007, 2005) to simulate homogeneous isotropic turbulence. We solved the Navier-Stokes equations for an incompressible fluid with kinematic viscosity ν , varying from 0.002 to 0.02 (arbitrary unit), in a tri-periodic domain of size l = 1 (arbitrary unit) with resolution of $n \times n \times n$ with n = 64 or n = 128. The flows were made statistically steady thanks to an external forcing delta-correlated in time and localized in spectral space ($3/2 < |\vec{k}|l < 5/2$, with \vec{k} the wavevector). These simulated turbulent flows are characterized by their root mean square velocity $u_{\rm rms}$ and their integral length scale L, computed as follows

$$L = \frac{\pi}{2u_{\rm rms}} \int \frac{E(k)}{k} \, dk, \tag{3.11}$$

where *E* is the spectral energy density [Eq. (3.9)].

The parameters of the simulations performed with *Snoopy* are summed up in Tab. 3.1. Note that capturing the smallest features of the flow requires the spatial and the temporal resolution to be small enough $dx = L/n \leq \eta$ and $dt \leq \tau_{\eta}$. As the size of the Kol-

Re_{λ}	п	$k_{\max}\eta$	L/η	T_L/ au_η	$u_{\rm rms}/u_{\eta}$
1.6	64	1.9	11	17	0.6
3.6	64	1.2	18	17	1.0
11	128	1.1	35	19	1.8
21	128	0.66	56	22	2.4

Table 3.1: Flow parameters and characteristics of the homogeneous isotropic turbulence simulations performed using *Snoopy*.

mogorov scales decrease with the turbulence intensity $(\eta/L \propto Re_{\lambda}^{-3/2}, \tau_{\eta}/T_L \propto Re_{\lambda}^{-1})$, the computation time increases with $Re_{\lambda}^{5/2}$.

However, since our approach to compute plankter dynamics is inherently Lagrangian (cf. Chap. 2, Sec. 2.1), we have to store all of the velocity components over many snapshots in order to be able to reconstruct the particle dynamics. As the required memory size scales as $L^3T_L/\eta^3\tau_\eta \propto Re_\lambda^{17/8}$ to save all necessary snapshots, limitations in terms of storage is therefore the main reason behind these low resolutions instead of actual computational costs of the simulations, hence the modest resolution used here (compared to modern standards). Strictly speaking, for the lowest values of Re_λ , the simulations do not result in actual turbulent flows but rather in 3D chaotic flows. Nevertheless, navigating in these flows remains (1) challenging and (2) relevant for plankton as the do not always experience very turbulent flows.

3.1.3.2 | Johns Hopkins Turbulence Database

To complete our study and reach a higher Reynolds number *Re*, we use the Johns Hopkins turbulence database (Li et al., 2008; Perlman et al., 2007). This database provides open access to high quality, high Reynolds number simulated turbulent flows.

The forced homogeneous isotropic case has been generated from a direct numerical simulation using a pseudo-spectral code. It reproduced the case of isotropic turbulence forced by keeping constant the total energy of the lowest modes of flow ($k \le 2$). The problem has been solved on a 1024³ periodic grid of dimension $2\pi \times 2\pi \times 2\pi$. The database gives access to five large-eddy turnover times $T_L = L/u_{\rm rms}$, with $u_{\rm rms}$ the root mean square velocity and L the integral scale.

The parameters of the simulation are summed up in Tab. 3.2. More details are provided at http://turbulence.pha.jhu.edu/Forced_isotropic_turbulence. aspx. A visualization of the flow is provided in Fig. 3.4.


Figure 3.4: Visualization of the vertical centerplane velocity field of the 3D forced homogeneous isotropic turbulence simulation of the Johns Hopkins Turbulence Database. Colors indicate the norm of the flow velocity normalized by the root mean square velocity. The visualisation is adapted from data of the Johns Hopkins Turbulence Database homogeneous isotropic turbulence simulation (Li et al., 2008; Perlman et al., 2007).

Re_{λ}	п	$k_{\max}\eta$	L/η	T_L/ au_η	$u_{\rm rms}/u_{\eta}$
418	1024	1.35	487	46.9	10.4

Table 3.2: Flow parameters and characteristics of the forced homogeneous isotropic turbulence simulation of the Johns Hopkins Turbulence Database (Li et al., 2008; Perlman et al., 2007).

3.2 | Problem description and surfing strategy

We remind briefly the description of the navigation problem addressed in this study (see Chap. 2, Sec. 2.1 for details).

We consider a plankter whose task is to go as fast as possible in a target direction, which is chosen to be $\hat{\vec{z}}$, the vertical. We model the plankter as an active particle with position $\vec{X}(t)$, swimming in direction $\hat{\vec{p}}(t)$ at **constant swimming speed** V_{swim} in a flow velocity field $\vec{u}(\vec{x}, t)$ of vorticity $\vec{\omega}(\vec{x}, t) = \vec{\nabla} \times \vec{u}$. The plankter is assumed to be **inertialess**, **neutrally buoyant**, and **small compared to the Kolmogorov scale** η [the scale of the smallest turbulent features (Frisch and Kolmogorov, 1995)]. It actively controls its orientation by choosing a preferred direction $\hat{\vec{n}}$. We start by assuming that the swimming direction $\hat{\vec{p}}$ is always aligned with this preferred direction $\hat{\vec{n}}$ (assumption of **instantaneous reorientation**). We will lift this assumption and examine the effects of a finite reorientation time below. Under these assumptions, the equations of motion are

$$\frac{d\vec{X}}{dt} = \vec{u}(\vec{X}, t) + V_{\text{swim}}\,\hat{\vec{p}},\tag{3.12a}$$

$$\hat{\vec{p}}(t) = \hat{\vec{n}}(t). \tag{3.12b}$$

We assume that the plankter senses the local flow velocity gradient $\nabla \vec{u}$ and the vertical direction $\hat{\vec{z}}$. It responds to this information by choosing its preferred direction $\hat{\vec{n}}(\nabla \vec{u}, \hat{\vec{z}})$, without any memory.

The metric used to quantify the performance of the plankters is the effective velocity, $V_{\text{eff.}}$, defined as the long-time average velocity along \hat{z} (Fig. 2.3).

$$V_{\text{eff.}} = \lim_{T \to \infty} \frac{\vec{X}(T) - \vec{X}(0)}{T} \cdot \hat{\vec{z}}.$$
 (3.13)

As derived in Chap. 2, Sec. 2.2.1, this navigation problem has an approximate solution based on a local optimization. This solution, called the surfing strategy, is formulated as follows

$$\hat{\vec{n}}_{\text{surf}} = \frac{\vec{\vec{n}}_{\text{surf}}}{|\vec{\vec{n}}_{\text{surf}}|}, \quad \text{with} \quad \vec{\vec{n}}_{\text{surf}} = \left[\exp\left(\tau\vec{\nabla}\vec{\vec{u}}\right)\right]^T \cdot \hat{\vec{z}}, \tag{3.14}$$

with \hat{n}_{surf} the chosen preferred direction, τ the sole free parameter of the surfing strategy, $\nabla \vec{u}$ the measured flow velocity gradients and \hat{z} the target direction.

To assess the relevance of this strategy to real life planktonic organisms and determine its possible benefit, we need to demonstrate its efficiency in biologically relevant environments such as turbulent flows. To this end, we first evaluate the performance of surfers in homogeneous isotropic turbulence, compared to bottom-heavy swimmers that are always aligned with the vertical. We thus compare $\vec{p} = \hat{n}_{surf}$ [Eq. (3.14)] for surfers and $\hat{p} = \hat{n}_{b-h} = \hat{z}$ for bottom-heavy swimmers in Eq. (3.12). Then, based on the previous observation that surfer behave differently in pure strain than in pure vortices (Chap. 2, Sec. 2.2.3), we push the analysis further to assess which component of the flow contributes the most to surfing performance and attempt to estimate surfing performance based on this analysis.

3.3 | Evaluation of surfing performance

In the following, the performance of surfers is assessed in homogeneous isotropic turbulence. Despite turbulence rarely being rigorously isotropic and homogeneous in the oceans, we expect nevertheless the insight gained in this model flow to be of great interest due to the universality of turbulence at small scales (Frisch and Kolmogorov, 1995). Homogeneous isotropic turbulence is a simplification of real turbulent flows but still captures most of their complexity.

To assess their navigation performance, surfers are simulated in numerical simulations of turbulence. Initially placed randomly in the virtual domain, the trajectories of plankters are integrated over time (illustrated in Fig. 3.5). Due to the complexity of the expression of the flow velocity field \vec{u} in 3D turbulence, the equations of motion Eq. (3.12) must be integrated numerically. To this end we use our own in-house open-source code *Sheld0n*¹. The code can be setup to integrate plankter trajectories by automatically querying various flow fields of John Hopkins turbulence database at plankton positions through simulations. It is also able to use local flow databases generated from *Snoopy* simulations (or from any fluid solver with the same output format) by interpolating the flow field at plankter positions. In this study, we used a fourth-order Lagrange polynomial interpolation to integrate trajectories in our own flow databases while a sixth-order interpolation is performed on query when using the Johns Hopkins turbulence database.

Unless mentioned otherwise, the performance is evaluated using Eq. (2.15) after a time *T* larger than five large eddy turnover times $T \gtrsim 5T_L$, and averaged over *N* plankton with random initial positions. This average is noted $\langle \cdot \rangle_N$. The number of plankters *N* varies from 10 for $V_{\text{swim}} = 20u_{\eta}$ to 16384 for $V_{\text{swim}} = u_{\eta}/2$, so that uncertainties on performance are independent of swimming velocity V_{swim} .

The vertical migration performance of plankters is then evaluated as the effective velocity, $V_{\text{eff.}}$ [Eq. (3.22)], evaluated at the end of the time span available ($T \approx 5T_L$). Plank-

¹Our in-house code is available at http://www.github.com/COPEPOD/sheldOn.



Figure 3.5: Visualization of 3D trajectories obtained in the simulations of plankters migrating vertically in turbulence. The gray line shows the depth of the initial positions and circles show the average final vertical position for the same turbulent flow. For the same simulation time, surfers migrated further upwards in average compared to bottom-heavy swimmers.

ter performance is evaluated in simulations of variable turbulence intensity throughout the study. The simulations are referred to using the value of their corresponding Reynolds number Re_{λ} (see Sec. 3.1 and Tabs. 3.1 and 3.2 for more details).

We plot in Fig. 3.6 the maximal performance of surfers, evaluated as the effective vertical velocity $V_{\text{eff.}}$ for the optimal value of τ , compared to that of bottom-heavy swimmers in two simulations of turbulence ($Re_{\lambda} = 418$ and $Re_{\lambda} = 11$). For the most turbulent case, we show that surfers can reach an effective velocity as large as twice their swimming speed ($V_{\text{eff.}} \approx 2V_{\text{swim}}$) when $V_{\text{swim}} \leq u_{\eta}$. Therefore, they systematically outperform bottom-heavy swimmers, for which turbulence only acts as a random noise of zero mean and whose performance is $V_{\text{eff.}} = V_{\text{swim}}$. In contrast, surfers exploit the turbulent flow by biasing the sampling of vertical flow velocities.

This bias is illustrated in Fig. 3.7(a), where we show the distribution of the vertical velocity component of the turbulent flow sampled by surfers, bottom-heavy swimmers, and passive particles. One can see that the Gaussian distribution of the vertical component is not centered on zero but shifted towards positive values for surfers. The positive shift is approximately equal to the Kolmogorov velocity scale u_{η} . The velocity being less widely distributed in weak turbulence ($Re_{\lambda} = 11$), this effect is even more apparent in



Figure 3.6: The surfing strategy may double migration speed in turbulence. Effective upward velocity $[V_{\text{eff.}}, \text{ Eq. (2.15)}]$ as a function of the swimming velocity (V_{swim}) for a surfer $(\hat{\vec{p}} = \hat{\vec{n}}_{\text{surf}})$ with optimal time horizon $\tau \approx \tau^*$ and for a bottom-heavy swimmer that always swims upwards $(\hat{\vec{p}} = \hat{\vec{n}}_{b-h} = \hat{\vec{z}})$ for (a) $Re_{\lambda} = 418$ and (b) $Re_{\lambda} = 11$. Velocities are normalized either by the Kolmogorov velocity $[u_{\eta}, \text{ Eq. (3.6)}]$ (bottom xaxis) or by the root-mean-square velocity u_{rms} (top x-axis). The same data is presented in (c) and (d), but effective upward velocity is normalized by the swimming velocity. The solid line represents $V_{\text{eff.}} = V_{\text{swim}}$. Shaded areas correspond to 95% confidence intervals.



Figure 3.7: The surfing strategy induces preferential sampling of the flow velocity. Probability density function of the vertical flow velocity sampled along trajectories of passives particles, bottom-heavy swimmers and surfers. The swimming speed of simulated plankters is set to $V_{\text{swim}} = u_{\eta}$ and the surfing parameter is set to its optimal value $\tau \approx \tau^*$ ($\tau = 5\tau_{\eta}$ for $Re_{\lambda} = 418$ and $\tau = 2\tau_{\eta}$ for $Re_{\lambda} = 11$).

Fig. 3.7(c).

On the contrary, as illustrated in Fig. 3.7(b) and Fig. 3.7(d), the horizontal component of the sampled flow velocity is mainly unchanged. We still notice a slightly wider spreading of the sampled horizontal flow velocity distribution for surfers in Fig. 3.7(d). As noted in Chap. 2, Sec. 2.2.2, surfers also seek to exploit horizontal currents to reach vertical ones faster. This would lead to a slight accumulation of surfers at the maxima of horizontal velocity, hence the wider distribution of the sampled horizontal velocity. This shows that sensing flow gradients is beneficial for navigation in turbulence and



Figure 3.8: The surfing strategy induces preferential sampling of the flow velocity gradients. Probability density function of the flow velocity gradients components, for bottom-heavy swimmers and surfers. The flow simulation corresponds to the case $Re_{\lambda} = 11$. The swimming speed of simulated plankters is set to $V_{swim} = u_{\eta}$ and the surfing parameter is set to its optimal value $\tau \approx \tau^*$ ($\tau = 2\tau_{\eta}$).

that surfing allows plankton to exploit this information in order to sample beneficial currents.

The preferential sampling of the vertical flow velocity is the desired effect. However, surfing also causes weak yet significant preferential sampling of the gradients (Fig. 3.8). First we observe narrower distributions of the horizontal gradients of u_z [Fig. 3.8(g,h)]. As maxima of the vertical velocity are located where its gradient is minimum, the preferential sampling of the vertical velocity leads to the preferential sampling of smaller

values of $\partial u_z/\partial x$ and $\partial u_z/\partial y$. In a similar way, we also note a slight preferential sampling of smaller values of $\partial u_x/\partial y$ [Fig. 3.8(b)] and $\partial u_y/\partial x$ [Fig. 3.8(d)] that result directly of the slight preferential sampling of high horizontal velocity observable in Fig. 3.7(d).

We also observe a positive shift of the distributions of $\partial u_x/\partial x$ [Fig. 3.8(a)] and $\partial u_y/\partial y$ [Fig. 3.8(e)] that indicates a preferential sampling. To explain these shifts, one may consider the behavior of the surfing strategy in a linear symmetric flow (component of the flow responsible for compression and extension axes). As described in Chap. 2, Sec. 2.2.3.1, in such a flow, surfers swim horizontally to exploit the maximal extension axis of the flow by tilting in its direction. This preferential swimming direction in the horizontal plane certainly leads to this preferential sampling of $\partial u_x/\partial x$ [Fig. 3.8(a)] and $\partial u_y/\partial y$ [Fig. 3.8(e)]. Due to incompressibility, the vertical compression axis is also preferentially sampled causing a negative shift of $\partial u_z/\partial z$ [Fig. 3.8(i)].

Overall, the surfing behavior may double migration speed in turbulence. This effect is explained by the preferential sampling of upward vertical flow velocity that also causes a weak preferential sampling of the velocity gradients.

3.3.1 | Surfing time horizon τ

We recall that the surfing strategy depends on a free parameter: the time horizon τ . All previous results correspond to the surfing performance of surfers using the optimal horizon time, noted τ^* . This value has been determined numerically: for a given swimming speed V_{swim} , we looked for the value that maximizes performance when τ varied in the range $[0, 8\tau_{\eta}]$ [Fig. 3.9]. For all swimming velocities V_{swim} , the performance V_{eff} . has a clear maximum at $\tau^*(V_{swim}) = O(\tau_{\eta})$. When $\tau \ll \tau_{\eta}$, surfers do not use gradient sensing and swim upwards [Eq. (3.14)]. Acting as bottom-heavy swimmers, their performance is $V_{eff} = V_{swim}$. When $\tau \gg \tau_{\eta}$, the steady linear approximation of the flow, given in Eq. (2.16), breaks down and the planned route becomes irrelevant. The optimal value τ^* can thus be interpreted as the duration over which the steady linear approximation of the flow is reasonable. For $V_{swim} = u_{\eta}$, the optimal time horizon is $\tau^* \approx 4\tau_{\eta}$ for $Re_{\lambda} = 418$ and $\tau^* \approx 3\tau_{\eta}$ for $Re_{\lambda} = 11$. Note the similitude of these results with those obtained in Taylor-Green vortices (Chap. 2, Sec. 2.3.1, Fig. 2.13). A similar phenomena occurs here but rather than surfing on Taylor-Green cells, plankters surf on Kolmogorov eddies.

Despite Fig. 3.9(b) showing a weak Reynolds dependence of both surfing performance and the value of the optimal parameter τ^* , we expect our conclusions to be qualitatively independent of Re_{λ} , because of the universality of turbulence at small scale in the limit of large Re_{λ} (Frisch and Kolmogorov, 1995). This assumption is discussed



Figure 3.9: Influence of the time horizon on the surfing strategy. Effect of the time horizon [τ , Eq. (3.14)] on the effective velocity [$V_{\text{eff.}}$, Eq. (3.22)], for different swimming velocities V_{swim} and Reynolds numbers Re_{λ} . Shaded area represents the 95% confidence interval. Solid lines represent a fit with Chebyshev polynomials of degree 3.

below.

To characterize the dependence of the time evolution of the flow sampled by plankters, we plot in Fig. 3.10(a) the square root of the module of the temporal Fourier transform $I(\omega_f)$ of Tr($[\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}]^2$), an invariant of the flow velocity gradients

$$I(\omega_f) = \sqrt{\left|\frac{d}{d\omega_f} \operatorname{Tr}([\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}]^2)\right|},\tag{3.15}$$

measured along trajectories of plankters with various swimming velocities. The symbol ω_f denotes the temporal pulsation associated to the module $I(\omega_f)$. The derivative $d/d\omega_f$ then denotes that it is the Fourier transform of the invariant that is considered (independent on time but dependent on ω_f). As expected, the intensity $I(\omega_f)$ shifts from low to high frequencies as the swimming velocity increases.

Supported by this observation, we hypothesize that the optimal time horizon τ^* scales as a correlation time $\tau_{\text{corr.}}$. We define $\tau_{\text{corr.}}$ as the average of the period $2\pi/\omega_f$, weighted by $I(\omega_f)$ (averaged over all trajectories of plankters: $\langle I(\omega_f) \rangle_N$)

$$\tau_{\rm corr.}(V_{\rm swim}) = \frac{\int \langle I(\omega_f) \rangle_N (2\pi/\omega_f) \, d\omega_f}{\int \langle I(\omega_f) \rangle_N \, d\omega_f}.$$
(3.16)

Figure 3.10(b) shows that, up to a multiplicative constant, $\tau_{\text{corr.}}$ is a good predictor of the optimal time horizon with $\tau^* \approx 0.55 \tau_{\text{corr.}}$.



Figure 3.10: Influence of the swimming speed on the time correlations of the flow sampled by plankters. **(a)** Invariant intensity [*I*, Eq. (3.15)] as a function of the pulsation ω_f for various plankter swimming speed. **(b)** Correlation time $\tau_{\text{corr.}}$, defined in Eq. (3.16), and optimal time horizon τ^* as a function of swimming velocity (τ^* is evaluated using the fitted polynomial). The optimal time horizon τ^* is compared to the correlation time $\tau_{\text{corr.}}$ [Eq. (3.16)] for various definitions of $I(\omega_f)$ (Tab. 3.3) and to the model given by Eq. (3.18). The simulation case is $Re_{\lambda} = 418$.

$I(\omega_f)$	$I^b(\omega_f)$	$I^{c}(\omega_{f})$
$\sqrt{\left \frac{d}{d\omega_f}\operatorname{Tr}\left[\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}\right]^2\right }$	$\left \frac{d}{d\omega_f}\hat{\vec{z}}\cdot\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}\cdot\hat{\vec{z}}\right $	$\left rac{d}{d\omega_f} ec ablaec u\cdot\hat{ec z} ight $

Table 3.3: Various possible definitions of $I(\omega_f)$ based on different invariants of the flow velocity gradients.

The choice of $I(\omega_f)$ in Eq. (3.16) is not unique, any invariant of the gradient matrix could be used. Figure 3.10(b) shows the differences obtained using the alternative definitions of $I(\omega_f)$ given in Tab. 3.3. While we observe differences on $\tau_{\text{corr.}}$ for alternative invariants, τ^* is always approximately proportional to any definition of the correlation time.

To attempt to capture the dependence of the optimal time horizon $\tau^* \propto \tau_{\text{corr.}}$ on swimming velocity V_{swim} we start from the observation that, passing faster through the flow, fast micro-swimmers increase the temporal derivative of the velocity gradients they measure $d\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}/dt$. The correlation of the flow sampled, and thus τ^* , should then scale as $\tau^* \propto |\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}|/|d\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}/dt|$. We expect the evolution of this lagrangian measure to be controlled by a viscous diffusive flux and an advection flux controlled by the swimming speed. The time scale of the diffusion process should scale with τ_{η} while the advection process is controlled by $V_{\text{swim}}|\vec{\nabla}(\vec{\nabla}\vec{u})|$. Assuming $\vec{\nabla}\vec{u} \propto 1/\tau_{\eta}$ and $\vec{\nabla} \propto 1/\eta$, $|d(\vec{\nabla}\vec{u})^T/dt|$ should then scale as follows

$$\left|\frac{d\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}}{dt}\right| \propto \frac{1}{\tau_{\eta}^{2}} + \alpha_{\text{swim}} \frac{V_{\text{swim}}}{\eta \tau_{\eta}} = \frac{1}{\tau_{\eta}^{2}} \left(1 + \alpha_{\text{swim}} \frac{V_{\text{swim}}}{u_{\eta}}\right)$$
(3.17)

with α_{swim} a dimensionless parameter that characterises the importance of the swimming advection process over the viscous diffusion. Note that this model does not account for any of the complex spatial and temporal correlations prescribed by turbulence. Due to the apparent complexity it would imply, we favor simplicity here. Note well more advanced models exist that describe the temporal correlations of the Lagrangian gradient tensor (Chevillard and Meneveau, 2011; Fang et al., 2015; Yu and Meneveau, 2010a). However, these models do not account for an active swimming velocity V_{swim} . The optimal time horizon should then scale as

$$\tau^* \approx \frac{\tau_{\eta}}{1 + \alpha_{\rm swim} (V_{\rm swim} / u_{\eta})}.$$
(3.18)

The value of $\alpha_{swim} \approx 0.08$ and the prefactor 4.368 are fitted to our data. Plotted in Fig. 3.10(b), this model provides a fair prediction in the range of parameters explored here but the simplicity of the model fails to capture all features observed: the concavity of the function for small swimming velocities for instance. Therefore models that account for more effects, such as the complex spatial distribution of flow features in turbulence, should be considered in the future.

Overall, the optimal horizon time τ^* has then two properties: (1) τ^* is always of the order of the Kolmogorov time scale and (2) increasing the swimming velocity tends to reduce τ^* (due to shorter Lagrangian decorrelation time induced by Doppler-shifting of frequencies).

3.3.2 | Influence of the Reynolds number Re_{λ}

Oceanic turbulence intensity varies widely with ocean regions and weather (Fuchs and Gerbi, 2016). Thus, plankton may experience very different Reynolds numbers depending on their habitat. While for large Reynolds numbers ($Re_{\lambda} \gg 1$), the universality of turbulence at small scales ensures weak dependence of performance on the Reynolds number (Frisch and Kolmogorov, 1995), this is not the case for small Reynolds numbers



Figure 3.11: Surfing performance increases with the Reynolds number Re_{λ} . Effective velocity [$V_{\text{eff.}}$, Eq. (3.22)] as function of the surfing time horizon τ , for various Reynolds numbers Re_{λ} . The swimming speed of simulated plankters is set to $V_{\text{swim}} = u_{\eta}$. Shaded area represents the 95% confidence interval. Evaluated for $V_{\text{swim}} = u_{\eta}$.

 $Re_{\lambda} \leq 1$. If there is no mean flow $\langle \vec{u} \rangle_{x,t} = \vec{0}$, temporal and spatial flow fluctuations decrease directly with Re_{λ} . Surfing performance is then expected to drop as Re_{λ} decreases, down to the performance of bottom-heavy swimmers for $Re_{\lambda} = 0$ for which the fluid would be quiescent.

To assess the effect of the Reynolds number on performance, surfers with swimming speed $V_{swim} = u_{\eta}$, are simulated in flows of various Re_{λ} (Fig. 3.11). As expected, starting from a low (yet significant) maximal performance of +8% at $Re_{\lambda} = 1.4$, surfing performance increases with Re_{λ} for low turbulence levels and seems to plateau for larger values of Re_{λ} . Furthermore, we observe that the Reynolds number Re_{λ} has little influence on the optimal surfing time horizon τ^* that remains of the order of τ_{η} : it ranges from $\tau^* \approx \tau_{\eta}$ for $Re_{\lambda} = 1.4$ to $\tau^* \approx 4\tau_{\eta}$ for $Re_{\lambda} = 418$. We note particularly that very little differences are observed between our most extreme simulations with the Snoopy solver ($Re_{\lambda} = 21$) and the Johns Hopkins turbulence databases ($Re_{\lambda} = 418$) in regard of the large Reynolds number difference.

3.4 | Estimating surfing performance

Now that we demonstrated the surfing strategy to be effective, we look for a proper quantification of surfing performance. To do so, we push further our analysis to determine the role of the symmetric component of the flow and of the skew symmetric one. This lets us first assess which component of the flow is responsible for most of the surfing performance. Build upon this assessment, we then estimate surfing performance. Based on the simplified formulation of the surfing strategy in both a simple vortex flow and a pure strain flow (cf. Chap. 2, Sec. 2.2.3) we then estimate surfing performance.

3.4.1 | Partial surfing performance

Based on the observation that the surfing strategy behaves differently in a vortex flow than in a pure strain flow, we can expect that different components of the flow contributes differently to surfing performance. In linear flows (cf. Chap. 2, Sec. 2.2.3), when the flow corresponds to pure strain (symmetric), $\vec{\nabla}\vec{u} = S$, surfers perform only slightly better than bottom-heavy swimmers. On the contrary, in a vortex flow (skew symmetric), $\vec{\nabla}\vec{u} = \Omega$, bottom-heavy swimmers get trapped into the vortex. Surfers are however able to escape from it and perform much better. Based on the observation made for linear flows, we already expect the rotation rate Ω to contribute more to surfing performance. But how does these observations translate to a turbulent flow? To answer this question, the surfing strategy can be adapted by directly replacing the gradients $\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}$ by one of these components in Eq. (3.14).

3.4.1.1 | Performance of symmetric surfers: S

Starting with the strain rate tensor *S* = sym $\vec{\nabla} \vec{u}$, surfing can be adapted

$$\hat{\vec{n}}_{\text{surf},\boldsymbol{S}} = \frac{\vec{n}_{\text{surf},\boldsymbol{S}}}{|\vec{n}_{\text{surf},\boldsymbol{S}}|}, \quad \text{with} \quad \vec{n}_{\text{surf},\boldsymbol{S}} = [\exp(\tau \boldsymbol{S})]^T \cdot \hat{\vec{z}}.$$
(3.19)

This limited strategy is referred to as symmetric surfing below.

In Fig. 3.12, we show that even though performance drops drastically compared to surfers using the full velocity gradients (for which $\langle V_{\text{eff.}} \rangle_N(\tau^*) \approx 2V_{\text{swim}}$), such limited surfers are still able to perform 25% better than bottom-heavy swimmers for both the turbulence intensities presented. Note how the optimal surfing parameter τ^* for which surfing performance is maximal is shifted towards larger values compared to a fully informed surfer. For example, in the case $Re_{\lambda} = 418$, $\tau_s^* \approx 7\tau_{\eta}$ for symmetric surfers whereas $\tau^* \approx 4\tau_{\eta}$ for fully informed surfers. Moreover, for $\tau \gtrsim \tau_{\eta}$ the dependence on



Figure 3.12: The use of the rotation rate tensor Ω is enough to capture most of surfing performance. Performance of surfers compared to surfers limited to the measure of components of the velocity gradients tensor. The swimming speed of plankters is set to $V_{swim} = u_{\eta}$. Shaded area represents the 95% confidence interval.

the free parameter τ is weak: for the case $Re_{\lambda} = 418$, performance does not vary much from $\tau \approx 2\tau_{\eta}$ to $\tau \approx 15\tau_{\eta}$. Similarly for $Re_{\lambda} = 11$, performance of symmetric surfers is weakly dependent of τ from $\tau \approx 2\tau_{\eta}$ to $\tau \approx 8\tau_{\eta}$. An explanation for this effect is provided below.

This shows that even limited to the measure of the strain rate tensor, the flow remains exploitable. Less sensitive to τ , the parametrization of the surfing strategy even becomes easier. However, the overall performance is much smaller than the fully informed surfing, further highlighting the importance of the rotation rate component of the flow to navigate.

3.4.1.2 | Performance of skew symmetric surfers: Ω

Now investigating the impact of the rotation rate Ω = skew $\vec{\nabla} \vec{u}$, the surfing direction can be adapted to

$$\hat{\vec{n}}_{\text{surf},\boldsymbol{\Omega}} = \frac{\vec{n}_{\text{surf},\boldsymbol{\Omega}}}{|\vec{n}_{\text{surf},\boldsymbol{\Omega}}|}, \quad \text{with} \quad \vec{n}_{\text{surf},\boldsymbol{\Omega}} = [\exp(\tau \boldsymbol{\Omega})]^T \cdot \hat{\vec{z}}.$$
(3.20)

This is referred to *skew-symmetric surfing* below. Surfers using the rotational part of the velocity gradients are almost performing as well as fully-informed surfers: for Re_{λ} = 418, $\langle V_{\text{eff.},\Omega} \rangle_N(\tau^*) \approx 1.7V_{\text{swim}}$ (Fig. 3.12). However, contrary to symmetric surfers, per-

formance drastically drops when the surfing time horizon τ exceeds its optimal value for wich performance is maximal. For $Re_{\lambda} = 11$, large values of $\tau \gtrsim 5\tau_{\eta}$ can lead to poor performance to the point where $\langle V_{\text{eff.,b-h}} \rangle_N < V_{\text{swim}}$. Such surfers would be better off not reacting to the flow at all.

This shows that most of the surfing performance can be captured by reacting to the rotation rate tensor (flow vorticity). However in that case, the choice of the surfing time horizon τ is critical as it strongly influences performance.

3.5 | Performance estimation

We now look for an estimate of surfing performance. As it is shown below, the previously described partial surfing behaviors enable to simplify the expression of the surfing directions. We first account for these simplifications to deduce models of surfing performance of symmetric surfers and skew-symmetric surfers. We then build upon these models to estimate the performance of fully informed surfers.

3.5.0.1 | The strain rate tensor: S

In the following, we look for an estimate of symmetric surfing performance as a function of τ . We remind the reader that, in a linear flow, the position of a swimmer can be integrated as follows (cf. Chap. 2, Sec. 2.2.1)

$$\vec{X}(T) = \left[\exp\left(T\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}\right) - Id \right] \cdot \vec{\nabla}\vec{u}^{-1} \cdot \left[\vec{u} + \vec{\nabla}\vec{u}^{-1} \cdot \left(\frac{\partial\vec{u}}{\partial t}\right)\right] - T\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}^{-1} \cdot \left(\frac{\partial\vec{u}}{\partial t}\right) + V_{\text{swim}} \int_{0}^{T} \exp\left[(T-t)\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}\right] \cdot \hat{\vec{n}}(t) dt. \quad (3.21)$$

We model the flow as a succession of random linear flows that do not change over a time *T*. Then averaging over all possible values of \vec{u} and $\partial \vec{u} / \partial t$, the last term is the only term that does not cancel out. Based on this hypothesis, the expected effective swimming velocity can be estimated as

$$\langle V_{\text{eff.}} \rangle_{\vec{u},\partial\vec{u}/\partial t} = V_{\text{swim}} \iint p(\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}, \tau_{\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}}) \left(\left[\exp\left(\tau_{\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}} \vec{\nabla}\vec{u}\right) \cdot \hat{\vec{n}}(\tau) \right] \cdot \hat{\vec{z}} \right) d\vec{\nabla}\vec{u} d\tau_{\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}}, \quad (3.22)$$

with $p(\nabla \vec{u}, \tau_{\nabla \vec{u}})$ the joint probability density function of the gradient tensor $\nabla \vec{u}$ and the duration $\tau_{\nabla \vec{u}} = T - t$ corresponding to the time left before $\nabla \vec{u}$ changes.

We now want to model the term $[\exp(\tau_{\nabla \vec{u}} \vec{\nabla} \vec{u}) \cdot \hat{\vec{n}}(\tau)] \cdot \hat{\vec{z}}$ in the case $\hat{\vec{n}} = \hat{\vec{n}}_{\text{surf},S}$. We further assume that the symmetric surfing direction $\hat{\vec{n}}_{\text{surf},S}$ is independent of the rotational

part of the flow velocity gradients Ω . In practice, both parts of the symmetric decomposition of the gradient tensor are known to be correlated (Buaria and Pumir, 2022) but here our ambition is to obtain a tractable model of surfing performance.

After averaging over possible values of Ω , the exponential term is expected to be proportional to its value in a pure strain flow

$$\left\langle \left[\exp\left(\tau_{\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}}\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}\right) \cdot \hat{\vec{n}}_{\mathrm{surf},\boldsymbol{S}}(\tau) \right] \cdot \hat{\vec{z}} \right\rangle_{\boldsymbol{\Omega}} \propto \left[\exp\left(\tau_{\boldsymbol{S}}\boldsymbol{S}\right) \cdot \hat{\vec{n}}_{\mathrm{surf},\boldsymbol{S}}(\tau) \right] \cdot \hat{\vec{z}}, \tag{3.23}$$

where τ_S is the time left before *S* changes. We can then write everything in the eigen orthonormal basis of $S = \text{sym} \vec{\nabla} \vec{u}$, noted $(\hat{e}_{\alpha}, \hat{e}_{\beta}, \hat{e}_{\gamma})$ with its respective eigenvalues $\alpha \geq \beta \geq \gamma$ (We have $\gamma = -(\alpha + \beta) \leq 0$ due to flow incompressibility). Symmetric surfing can then be formulated as follows

$$\hat{\vec{n}}_{\text{surf},\boldsymbol{S}}(\tau) = \frac{e^{\alpha\tau} z_{\alpha} \hat{\vec{e}}_{\alpha} + e^{\beta\tau} z_{\beta} \hat{\vec{e}}_{\beta} + e^{-(\alpha+\beta)\tau} z_{\gamma} \hat{\vec{e}}_{\gamma}}{\sqrt{e^{2\alpha\tau} z_{\alpha}^2 + e^{2\beta\tau} z_{\beta}^2 + e^{-2(\alpha+\beta)\tau} z_{\gamma}^2}},$$
(3.24)

with $z_{\alpha} = \hat{\vec{z}} \cdot \hat{\vec{e}}_{\alpha}$, $z_{\beta} = \hat{\vec{z}} \cdot \hat{\vec{e}}_{\beta}$ and $z_{\gamma} = \hat{\vec{z}} \cdot \hat{\vec{e}}_{\gamma}$. Then injecting Eq. (3.24) into Eq. (3.23), we obtain the following proportionality relation

$$\left\langle \left[\exp\left(\tau_{\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}}\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}\right) \cdot \hat{\vec{n}}_{\text{surf},\boldsymbol{S}}(\tau) \right] \cdot \hat{\vec{z}} \right\rangle_{\boldsymbol{\Omega}} \propto \frac{e^{\alpha(\tau_{S}+\tau)} z_{\alpha}^{2} + e^{\beta(\tau_{S}+\tau)} z_{\beta}^{2} + e^{-(\alpha+\beta)(\tau_{S}+\tau)} z_{\gamma}^{2}}{\sqrt{e^{2\alpha\tau} z_{\alpha}^{2} + e^{2\beta\tau} z_{\beta}^{2} + e^{-2(\alpha+\beta)\tau} z_{\gamma}^{2}}}$$
(3.25)

In turbulence, the eigenvalue β is on average positive (Lund and Rogers, 1994), thus \hat{e}_{β} is most likely an extension axis. Furthermore, the most likely state is $\delta \equiv \alpha = \beta$ and $\gamma = -2\delta$. Evaluating $\langle [\exp(\tau_{\nabla_{\vec{u}}} S) \cdot \hat{\vec{n}}_{surf,S}(\tau)] \cdot \hat{\vec{z}} \rangle_{\Omega}$ in this mostly likely state reduces the previous expression to

$$\left\langle \left[\exp\left(\tau_{\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}}\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}\right) \cdot \hat{\vec{n}}_{\mathrm{surf},\boldsymbol{S}}(\tau) \right] \cdot \hat{\vec{z}} \right\rangle_{\boldsymbol{\Omega}} \propto \frac{e^{\delta(\tau_{S}+\tau)} \left[z_{\alpha}^{2} + z_{\beta}^{2} \right] + e^{-2\delta(\tau_{S}+\tau)} z_{\gamma}^{2}}{\sqrt{e^{2\delta\tau} \left[z_{\alpha}^{2} + z_{\beta}^{2} \right] + e^{-4\delta\tau} z_{\gamma}^{2}}}$$
(3.26)

To continue the analysis, one needs to make yet another assumption: $e^{-4\delta\tau} \ll e^{2\delta\tau}$. This assumption reduces the model to large enough values of the surfing time horizon, $\delta\tau \gg 1$. In this case, the expression further simplifies to

$$\left\langle \left[\exp\left(\tau_{\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}}\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}\right) \cdot \hat{\vec{n}}_{\mathrm{surf},\boldsymbol{S}}(\tau) \right] \cdot \hat{\vec{z}} \right\rangle_{\boldsymbol{\Omega}} \propto \frac{e^{\delta\tau_{\boldsymbol{S}}} \left[z_{\alpha}^{2} + z_{\beta}^{2} \right] + e^{-2\delta\tau_{\boldsymbol{S}} - 3\delta\tau} z_{\gamma}^{2}}{\sqrt{\left[z_{\alpha}^{2} + z_{\beta}^{2} \right]}}$$
(3.27)

One may then average this value over all possible orientations of the target direction $\hat{\vec{z}}$ in the basis $(\hat{\vec{e}}_{\alpha}, \hat{\vec{e}}_{\beta}, \hat{\vec{e}}_{\gamma})$. Writing $\hat{\vec{z}}$ in spherical coordinates, we obtain

$$\left\langle \left[\exp\left(\tau_{\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}}\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}\right) \cdot \hat{\vec{n}}_{\mathrm{surf},\boldsymbol{S}}(\tau) \right] \cdot \hat{\vec{z}} \right\rangle_{\boldsymbol{\Omega},\hat{\vec{z}}} \propto \frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{0}^{2\pi} \int_{0}^{\pi} \left(e^{\delta\tau_{\mathrm{S}}} \sin^{2}\theta + e^{-2\delta\tau_{\mathrm{S}} - 3\delta\tau} \cos^{2}\theta \right) \, d\theta \, d\phi \tag{3.28}$$

$$\propto \frac{\pi}{4} \left(e^{\delta \tau_{\rm S}} + e^{-2\delta \tau_{\rm S} - 3\delta \tau} \right) \tag{3.29}$$

Coming back to the estimation of the effective vertical velocity, if we inject this expression into Eq. (3.22), we obtain

$$\left\langle V_{\text{eff.},\mathbf{S}} \right\rangle_{\vec{u},\partial\vec{u}/\partial t,\hat{\vec{z}}} \propto V_{\text{swim}} \frac{\pi}{4} \iint p(\delta,\tau_{\mathbf{S}}) \left(e^{\delta\tau_{\mathbf{S}}} + e^{-2\delta\tau_{\mathbf{S}}-3\delta\tau} \right) \, d\delta \, d\tau_{\mathbf{S}},$$
(3.30)

where $\delta \approx |\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}|/2$ is a characteristic stretching value of the flow sampled by the microswimmers and τ_s is the duration for which a specific gradient can be considered constant, linked to the correlation time of the measured velocity gradient tensor.

The joint probability density function $p(\delta, \tau_S)$ is not obvious to model. First, δ and τ_S might be correlated. Indeed, one can actually expect τ_S to decrease when δ increase as the local dissipation increases [cf. the Navier-Stokes equations, Eq. (2.2)]. Then the statistics of the velocity gradient tensor are known to display complex non-Gaussian dynamics in turbulence (Li and Meneveau, 2005). Finally, the distribution of the stretching value δ might be affected by the surfer behavior.

In practice, one could evaluate the probability density function $p(\delta, \tau_S)$ numerically in simulations. But, given the already strong assumptions made previously, we look for the simplest model that would capture an estimation of performance. Thus, constant characteristic values of δ and τ_S are considered. Both values then become free parameters of our model. Even though these parameters are free in practice, these are linked to the properties of the flow sampled by swimmers: δ characterizes the intensity of flow stretching, while τ_S characterizes the time correlation of measured velocity gradient tensor. Under this assumption, symmetric surfing performance follows

$$\left\langle V_{\text{eff.},\mathbf{S}} \right\rangle_{\vec{u},\partial\vec{u}/\partial t,\hat{\vec{z}}} \propto V_{\text{swim}} \frac{\pi}{4} \left(e^{\delta \tau_{s}} + e^{-2\delta \tau_{s} - 3\delta \tau} \right).$$
 (3.31)

Now, the proportionality coefficient remains to be evaluated. To this end, we use the fact that for $\tau = 0$, the bottom-heavy strategy is retrieved $\hat{n}_{surf,S}(0) = \hat{n}_{b-h} = \hat{z}$. If continuous reorientation is assumed, the swimming direction of a bottom-heavy swimmer is completely uncorrelated with the flow, meaning $\langle V_{eff.}^{b-h} \rangle_{\vec{u},\partial\vec{u}/\partial t,\hat{z}} = V_{swim}$. Using the same approach, one may evaluate the surfing performance as a function of δ and τ_s . Note however that Eq. (3.31) is only valid for $\delta \tau \gg 1$. To evaluate $\langle V_{eff.,b-h} \rangle_{\vec{u},\partial\vec{u}/\partial t,\hat{z}'}$ one needs to start back from Eq. (3.26). Evaluating for $\tau = 0$ and similarly averaging all possible orientations of \hat{z} , we obtain

$$\langle V_{\text{eff.,b-h}} \rangle_{\vec{u},\partial\vec{u}/\partial t,\hat{\vec{z}}} \propto \frac{V_{\text{swim}}}{3} \left[2e^{\delta\tau_s} + e^{-2\delta\tau_s} \right]$$
 (3.32)

Now, if the rotational (skew symmetric) part of the flow, $\Omega = \text{skew } \nabla \vec{u}$, impacts bottom-heavy swimmers and symmetric surfers in the same way, the proportionality coefficient should be the same in Eqs. (3.31) and (3.32). As surfing may induce preferential sampling of Ω , this assumption is not obvious but as shown in Sec. 3.3, this preferential sampling is weak. This leads to this final estimation of performance for symmetric surfers

$$\left\langle V_{\text{eff.},\mathbf{S}} \right\rangle_{\vec{u},\partial\vec{u}/\partial t,\hat{\vec{z}}} \approx V_{\text{swim}} \frac{3\pi}{4} \frac{1 + e^{-3\delta(\tau_{\text{S}}+\tau)}}{2 + e^{-3\delta\tau_{\text{S}}}},$$
(3.33)

This model is shown in Figs. 3.13(a) with $\delta \approx 0.02/\tau_{\eta}$ and $\tau_{s} \approx 15\tau_{\eta}$. It shows good agreement with the simulations results for symmetric surfers performance in the limit $\delta \tau \gg 1$.

3.5.0.2 | Rotation rate tensor: Ω

In the case of skew-symmetric surfers, the arguments are similar to the symmetric case. Starting from Eq. (3.22), we look for an estimate of the same exponential in the case $\hat{\vec{n}} = \hat{\vec{n}}_{surf,\Omega}$.

Similarly to the symmetric case, one may average over all possible values of the pure strain part, *S*, to obtain the following proportionality relation

$$\left\langle \left[\exp\left(\tau_{\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}} \,\vec{\nabla}\vec{u} \right) \cdot \hat{\vec{n}}_{\text{surf},\boldsymbol{\Omega}}(\tau) \right] \cdot \hat{\vec{z}} \right\rangle_{S} \propto \left[\exp\left(\tau_{\boldsymbol{\Omega}} \boldsymbol{\Omega}\right) \cdot \hat{\vec{n}}_{\text{surf},\boldsymbol{\Omega}}(\tau) \right] \cdot \hat{\vec{z}}, \tag{3.34}$$

where τ_{Ω} corresponds the time left before Ω changes. We can then write our equations in a basis, noted $(\hat{\vec{e}}_{\alpha}, \hat{\vec{e}}_{\beta}, \hat{\vec{e}}_{\gamma})$, so that $\hat{\vec{e}}_{\beta}$ is aligned with the vorticity. In this basis, the effective velocity can be expressed as

$$\left\langle \left[\exp\left(\tau_{\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}} \,\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}\right) \cdot \hat{\vec{n}}_{\text{surf},\boldsymbol{\Omega}}(\tau) \right] \cdot \hat{\vec{z}} \right\rangle_{S} \propto V_{\text{swim}} \cos\left(\frac{\omega}{2} \left[\tau_{\boldsymbol{\Omega}} - \tau\right]\right) \left(z_{\alpha}^{2} + z_{\gamma}^{2}\right) + z_{\beta}^{2} \qquad (3.35)$$

with ω the norm of the flow vorticity. If a constant vorticity norm ω is considered, this expression is directly linked to the estimated effective velocity $V_{\text{eff.},\Omega}$. Moreover, averaging over all possible orientations of the direction \hat{z} leads to the expression

$$\left\langle V_{\text{eff.},\Omega} \right\rangle \propto \frac{V_{\text{swim}}}{3} \left[2\cos\left(\frac{\omega}{2} \left[\tau_{\Omega} - \tau\right]\right) + 1 \right].$$
 (3.36)

Similarly to the symmetric case, the proportionality coefficient can be found by evaluating this expression for $\tau = 0$ (corresponding to bottom-heavy swimmers)

$$\langle V_{\text{eff.,b-h}} \rangle \propto \frac{V_{\text{swim}}}{3} \left[2 \cos\left(\frac{\omega}{2} \tau_{\Omega}\right) + 1 \right]$$
 (3.37)

This leads to the expression of performance for skew-symmetric surfers

$$\left\langle V_{\text{eff.},\Omega} \right\rangle \approx V_{\text{swim}} \frac{2\cos\left(\omega[\tau_{\Omega}-\tau]/2\right)+1}{2\cos\left(\omega\tau_{\Omega}/2\right)+1}$$
(3.38)

This model is plotted in Figs. 3.13(a) with $\tau_{\Omega} \approx 4.25\tau_{\eta}$ and $\omega \approx 0.65/\tau_{\eta}$. While this model captures fairly well the qualitative behavior of performance for small values of τ however its oscillating nature differs from the actual observed performance of skew symmetric surfers.

To overcome the simplicity of this model, one may consider an non-trivial probability density function of the vorticity norm ω

$$\left\langle V_{\text{eff.},\Omega} \right\rangle \propto \frac{V_{\text{swim}}}{3} \int p(\omega) \left[2\cos\left(\frac{\omega}{2} \left[\tau_{\Omega} - \tau\right]\right) + 1 \right] d\omega.$$
 (3.39)

Again, to obtain the simplest model possible, we consider the time τ_{Ω} constant and independent of ω , even though this is not expected to be as simple in practice. In addition, the distribution $p(\omega)$ of vorticity is then chosen to be Gaussian. In practice, the distribution of vorticity is known for its non-Gaussian properties (Meneveau, 2011) but this assumption ensures tractability. This assumption then leads to

$$\left\langle V_{\text{eff.},\Omega} \right\rangle \propto \frac{V_{\text{swim}}}{3} \left[2 \exp\left(-\frac{1}{8} [\tau_{\Omega} - \tau]^2 \sigma_{\omega}^2\right) + 1 \right],$$
 (3.40)

with σ_{ω} the standard deviation of the vorticity.

Again, this expression can be evaluated for $\tau = 0$, corresponding to bottom-heavy swimmers, and effective velocity of skew-symmetric surfers is estimated to be

$$\left\langle V_{\text{eff.},\Omega} \right\rangle \approx V_{\text{swim}} \frac{2 \exp\left(-[\tau_{\Omega} - \tau]^2 \sigma_{\omega}^2/8\right) + 1}{2 \exp\left(-\tau_{\Omega}^2 \sigma_{\omega}^2/8\right) + 1},$$
 (3.41)

where $\tau_{\Omega} \approx 4.25\tau_{\eta}$ and $\sigma_{\omega} \approx 0.65/\tau_{\eta}$ are fitted on the numerical data (Fig. 3.13(a)). The model could certainly be improved further by using a better choice of the probability density function.

3.5.0.3 | Full velocity gradient tensor: $\vec{\nabla} \vec{u}$

Building upon the previous models, we now look for an estimate performance in the case a fully-informed surfer. To this end, we restrict our analysis to a particular case: we



Figure 3.13: The influence of parameters on surfing performance are not yet fully understood. Performance of surfers compared to surfers limited to the measure of components of the velocity gradients tensor. Performance is also compared to the estimators derived in Sec.3.5. The swimming speed of plankters is set to $V_{swim} = u_{\eta}$. Shaded area represents the 95% confidence interval.

assume that vorticity is aligned with the second eigenvector $\hat{\vec{e}}_{\beta}$ of the gradient tensor $\nabla \vec{u}$ and that the eigenvalues of $S = \text{sym } \nabla \vec{u}$ are δ , δ and -2δ . This preferential alignment is a property of 3D turbulence, partly due to vortex stretching (Ashurst et al., 1987; Gulitski et al., 2007; Tsinober et al., 1992). With this assumption the gradient tensor, $\nabla \vec{u}$, has the form

$$\vec{\nabla}\vec{u} \approx \begin{pmatrix} \delta & 0 & \omega \\ 0 & \delta & 0 \\ -\omega & 0 & -2\delta \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (3.42)$$

in the basis $(\hat{e}_{\alpha}, \hat{e}_{\beta}, \hat{e}_{\gamma})$ formed by the normed eigenvectors of *S*, with ω the norm of vorticity. The basis is chosen so that $\hat{e}_{\beta} \cdot \vec{\omega} > 0$.

As in the previous models, we look for an estimation of performance as a function of the time horizon τ . We start by an estimation of the term $[\exp(\tau_{\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}}\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}) \cdot \hat{\vec{n}}_{surf}(\tau)] \cdot \hat{\vec{z}}$. To compute this estimation we use the following approximation for the matrix exponential

$$\exp\left(\tau_{\Omega}\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}\right) \approx \exp\left(\tau_{\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}}S\right) \exp\left(\tau_{\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}}\Omega\right).$$
(3.43)

This expression is exact if sym $\nabla \vec{u}$ and skew $\nabla \vec{u}$ commute, which is not the case here, and is a first order approximation otherwise $[O(\tau_{\nabla \vec{u}} | \nabla \vec{u} |)]$. Note that higher order split-

ting methods could be used, such as the Strang (1968) splitting method, to obtain a higher order approximation.

Note that as already observed above, nothing guarantees that the duration $\tau_{\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}}$ is the same for both the components *S* and Ω of the full velocity gradient tensor $\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}$. As a consequence, we consider two different values of this time: τ_S and τ_Ω corresponding to each part of the flow velocity gradient. Using both Eq. (3.42) and Eq. (3.43), we obtain

$$\begin{bmatrix} \exp\left(\tau_{\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}}\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}\right)\cdot\hat{\vec{n}}_{surf}(\tau) \end{bmatrix} \cdot \hat{\vec{z}} \propto \begin{bmatrix} e^{\delta(\tau_{s}+\tau)} \left[z_{\alpha} \left(z_{\alpha}\cos\theta - z_{\gamma}\sin\theta \right) + z_{\beta}^{2} \right] + e^{-2\delta(\tau_{s}+\tau)} z_{\gamma} \left(z_{\alpha}\sin\theta + z_{\gamma}\cos\theta \right) \end{bmatrix} / \sqrt{e^{2\delta\tau} \left[z_{\alpha}^{2} + z_{\beta}^{2} \right] + e^{-4\delta\tau} z_{\gamma}^{2}}, \quad (3.44)$$

with $\theta \equiv [\omega(\tau_{\Omega} - \tau)/2]$. Note the introduction of two different times τ_s and τ_{Ω} , both linked to their corresponding part of $\nabla \vec{u}$.

We then use the same simplification as in the symmetric case ($e^{2\delta\tau} \gg e^{-4\delta\tau}$). The previous expression then reduces to

$$\begin{bmatrix} \exp\left(\tau_{\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}}\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}\right)\cdot\hat{\vec{n}}_{surf}(\tau) \end{bmatrix} \cdot \hat{\vec{z}} \propto \begin{bmatrix} e^{\delta\tau_{s}} \left[z_{\alpha} \left(z_{\alpha} \cos\theta - z_{\gamma} \sin\theta \right) + z_{\beta}^{2} \right] + e^{-2\delta\tau_{s} - 3\delta\tau} z_{\gamma} \left(z_{\alpha} \sin\theta + z_{\gamma} \cos\theta \right) \end{bmatrix} / \sqrt{z_{\alpha}^{2} + z_{\beta}^{2}}.$$
 (3.45)

Then, we average over all possible orientation of $\hat{\vec{z}}$ in the basis $(\hat{\vec{e}}_{\alpha}, \hat{\vec{e}}_{\beta}, \hat{\vec{e}}_{\gamma})$

$$\left\langle \left[\exp\left(\tau_{\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}}\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}\right) \cdot \hat{\vec{n}}_{\text{surf}}(\tau) \right] \cdot \hat{\vec{z}} \right\rangle_{\hat{\vec{z}}} \propto e^{\delta\tau_{\text{S}}} \frac{\pi}{8} \left[\left(1 + 2e^{-3\delta(\tau_{\text{S}}+\tau)} \right) \cos\left(\omega\left[\tau_{\Omega}-\tau\right]/2\right) + 1 \right].$$
(3.46)

Similarly to the previous cases, we obtain a similar expression for bottom-heavy swimmers. Note that $e^{2\delta\tau} \gg e^{-4\delta\tau}$ cannot be assumed here, and we use Eq. (3.44) evaluated for $\tau = 0$

$$\left\langle \left[\exp\left(\tau_{\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}} \vec{\nabla}\vec{u}\right) \cdot \hat{\vec{n}}_{b-h} \right] \cdot \hat{\vec{z}} \right\rangle_{\hat{\vec{z}}} \propto \frac{e^{\delta \tau_{S}}}{3} \left[\left(1 + e^{-3\delta \tau_{S}} \right) \cos\left(\omega \tau_{\Omega}/2\right) + 1 \right].$$
(3.47)

Finally, as for the case of skew symmetric surfers, we integrate this expression over a Gaussian distribution of the vorticity norm ω to obtain the following estimation of performance

$$\langle V_{\text{eff.}} \rangle \approx V_{\text{swim}} \frac{3\pi}{8} \frac{\left(1 + 2e^{-3\delta(\tau_{\text{S}}+\tau)}\right) \exp\left(-(\tau_{\Omega}-\tau)^{2}\sigma_{\omega}^{2}/8\right) + 1}{(1 + e^{-3\delta\tau_{\text{S}}}) \exp\left(-\tau_{\Omega}^{2}\sigma_{\omega}^{2}/8\right) + 1}.$$
 (3.48)

Using the same values of δ , τ_S , σ_{ω} and τ_{Ω} fitted for the previous models, this model is plotted in Fig. 3.13(**a-b**). Despite its inability to capture correctly performance for small and large values of the surfing time horizon τ , the model captures fairly well the

maximal performance. This maximal performance is obtained for $\tau = \tau^* \approx \tau_{\Omega}$ for which performance is estimated as

$$\langle V_{\text{eff.}} \rangle (\tau^*) \approx V_{\text{swim}} \frac{3\pi}{4} \frac{1 + e^{-3\delta(\tau_S + \tau_\Omega)}}{(1 + e^{-3\delta\tau_S}) \exp(-\tau_\Omega^2 \sigma_\omega^2/8) + 1}.$$
 (3.49)

Note well that this expression is only valid for $\tau_{\Omega} \delta \gg 1$.

Overall, depending on four parameters that require fitting, the model is not very satisfactory to predict performance prior to the evaluation of surfers in turbulence. But the final expression [Eq. (3.49)] can be used to guess qualitatively how maximal surfing performance varies with flow properties. Based on this expression, one may expect surfing performance to vary mainly with $\tau_{\Omega}\sigma_{\omega}$.

Now assuming the swimming speed dependence of τ_S and τ_Ω is given by the model described by Eq. 3.18, we may be able to capture the velocity dependence of maximal surfing performance. Replacing τ_S and τ_Ω by $\tau_S/[1 + \alpha_{swim}(V_{swim}/u_\eta - 1)]$ and $\tau_\Omega/[1 + \alpha_{swim}(V_{swim}/u_\eta - 1)]$, we obtain the model plotted in Fig 3.13(b). The model overestimates surfing performance. This suggests that the influence of swimming velocity V_{swim} on the problem is not completely understood. For instance, by inducing preferential sampling of the gradients, V_{swim} could influence both parameters δ and σ_ω . Moreover, the evolution of τ_S and τ_Ω with swimming velocity V_{swim} might not be same as opposed the assumption above. This highlights the importance for future research to investigate how the statistics of the flow sampled by micro-swimmers are influenced by their swimming velocity V_{swim} and behavior.

3.6 | Summary

We conclude this chapter by summing up key elements discussed previously

- the flow can be exploited for navigation even in a turbulent flow regardless of turbulence intensity
- surfing performance is due to the preferential flow sampling of the flow
- this strategy can lead to a vertical effective speed that is twice the actual swimming speed: $V_{\text{eff.}} \approx 2V_{\text{swim}}$
- the component of the flow that is responsible for most of the performance is the rotational component Ω , which is the most difficult to sense for organisms (using setae) because it does not yield body stretching (c.f. Chap. 1, App. 1.3.1.2)

Surfing robustness and adaptation

While the surfing strategy has been shown to be effective in homogeneous, isotropic turbulence, its relevance to actual plankters remains to be proven. Real life plankton may have to face more complex environments and their sensing and locomotion skills may not be perfect. In this chapter, we relax a number of assumptions to assess the robustness of the surfing behavior in more realistic situations.

4.1 | Adapting to variations of turbulence intensity

4.1.1 | Adaptive surfing strategy

Up to this point, we considered forced homogeneous isotropic turbulence at a steady state. Oceanic turbulence intensity is known however to fluctuate widely on short time scales (Franks et al., 2022). Moreover turbulence is known to be particularly heterogeneous near flow obstacles and boundaries. This may appear as a problem since surfers need to evaluate the value of τ_{η} of their local environment to choose the optimal time horizon τ^* . But in practice τ_{η} can be estimated from the velocity gradient itself since $\tau_{\eta} \sim 1/|\text{sym}\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}|$ where |.| is the Frobenius norm (Yu and Meneveau, 2010b). This suggests a refinement of the surfing strategy where τ in Eq. (3.14) is replaced by

$$\tau = \frac{\alpha}{|\text{sym}\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}|},\tag{4.1}$$

with α a dimensionless parameter, which can be viewed as a dimensionless time horizon. In Fig. 4.1, we show that surfers using this adaptive strategy perform as well as surfers with a constant time horizon τ with the additional benefit that they can adapt to changes in turbulence intensity. For $V_{swim} = u_{\eta}$, the optimal value of the parameter α is



Figure 4.1: Turbulence adaptive surfers perform as well as surfers with a constant time horizon. Performance [$V_{eff.}$, Eq. (2.15)] of adapative surfers using a time dependent time horizon. Plotted as a function of the dimensionless constant α_{τ} [Eq. (4.1)] for various swimming velocities V_{swim} and Reynolds numbers Re_{λ} . Shaded area represents the 95% confidence interval. Solid lines represent a fit with Chebyshev polynomials of degree 3.

 $\alpha^* \approx 2$ for $Re_{\lambda} = 418$ and $\alpha^* \approx 1.5$ for $Re_{\lambda} = 11$. This value is presumably independent of the turbulence intensity in the limit $Re_{\lambda} \gg 1$.

4.1.2 | Turbulence heterogeneity

To quantify the advantages of this adaptive surfing strategy, we can consider navigating in a flow where turbulence is not homogeneous. Planktonic navigation in heterogeneous flows is particularly relevant for numerous mollusks larvae that need to settle on see beds to reach maturity.

As a model flow, we consider the case of a turbulent channel flow, corresponding to the turbulent counterpart of the Poiseuille flow presented in Chap. 2, Sec. 2.3.2. To evaluate the performance in such a flow, we also use the open access Johns Hopkins turbulence database (Li et al., 2008; Perlman et al., 2007).

4.1.2.1 | Description of the channel flow simulation

The database represents a wall bounded flow with periodic boundary conditions in the longitudinal and transverse directions. The direction of the mean flow is noted $\hat{\vec{e}}_1$, the direction normal to the walls is noted $\hat{\vec{e}}_2$ and the transverse direction is noted $\hat{\vec{e}}_3$ (Fig. 4.2).



Figure 4.2: Schematic of the channel flow of the Johns Hopkins Databases.

Re_{ν}	Re_b	$n_1 \times n_2 \times n_3$	l_1/h
5186	$1.25 imes 10^{5}$	$10240 \times 1536 \times 7680$	8π
l_2/h	l_3/h	$\delta_ u/h$	u_{τ}/U_b
2	3π	$1.9 imes10^{-4}$	$4.15 imes 10^{-2}$

Table 4.1: Flow parameters and characteristics of the turbulent channel flow of the Johns Hopkins Turbulence Database (Li et al., 2008; Perlman et al., 2007). $Re_{\nu} = u_{\nu}h/\nu$ and $Re_b = u_bh/\nu$ denote the friction velocity Reynolds number and the bulk Reynolds number respectively.

The dimensions of the channel are $l_1 \times l_2 \times l_3 = 8\pi h \times 2h \times 3\pi h$ with *h* the half–channel height (Fig. 4.2). No-slip boundary conditions are applied to both horizontal walls. The data have been generated from a direct numerical simulation using a pseudo-spectral method for the longitudinal and transverse direction and a seventh-order Basis-splines collocation method is used in the wall normal direction. The flow is forced by applying a time dependent uniform mean pressure gradient forcing term that ensures a constant mass flux through the channel.

The channel flow is further characterized by its bulk velocity U_b (average flow velocity in the channel) and its friction velocity u_v

$$u_{\nu} = \sqrt{\nu \left\langle \frac{\partial u_1}{\partial x_2} \right\rangle_{x_2 = -h, t}} \tag{4.2}$$

evaluated at the bottom wall and $\delta_{\nu} = \nu/u_{\nu}$ the viscous length scale. Averaging over the bottom plane and over time is noted $\langle \cdot \rangle_{x_2=-h,t}$. The velocity u_1 denotes $u \cdot \hat{e}_1$.

The parameters of the simulation are summed up in Tab. 4.1. More details are provided at http://turbulence.pha.jhu.edu/Channel5200.aspx. A visual-ization of the flow is provided in Fig. 3.2.

4.1.2.2 | Evaluation of surfing performance

It should be noted that in our simulations, simulated plankters are able to reach and pass through the walls thanks to their active swimming. When that occurs, the flow is also considered periodic in the direction of the wall normals and these microswimmers thus stay in the simulation. This enables to integrate trajectories over larger distances. As our goal is simply to assess the effect of turbulence heterogeneity on surfing, all near-wall effects on the plankter dynamics are neglected. The results near the flow boundaries should then be taken carefully.

In such a flow, the turbulence heterogeneity develops along the wall normal (in the direction $\hat{\vec{e}}_2$). Despite the shear being maximal near walls, the flow viscous effects cause the flow to develop a viscous sublayer near the walls. In these laminar areas, the flow is parallel to the walls. Just above this viscous sublayer, turbulence is generated due to the strong shear and turbulent intensity peaks not far from the wall. The turbulence intensity then decays slowly as one gets further from the wall.

This flow is used to assess the adaptability of surfing to turbulence heterogeneity, the target direction for the migration problem is chosen to be the direction of the wall normal $\hat{z} \equiv \hat{e}_2$. This forces simulated plankters to pass through the turbulence intensity profile. This direction is therefore referred to as the vertical in this section.

The effective swimming velocity $V_{\text{eff.}}$ for an optimal value of the time horizon $\tau = \tau^*$ is plotted as a function of swimming velocity in Fig. 4.3. Contrary to the Poiseuille flow that surfers cannot exploit with such an alignment of \hat{z} (Chap. 2, Sec. 2.3.2), the presence of turbulence enables surfers to exploit small flow fluctuations along the way, regardless if the strategy is adaptive or not. This shows that this strategy is robust to turbulence heterogeneities. Surprisingly however, the improvement provided by the adaptive strategy is marginal.

To understand why, we need to look closer to how performance distributes along the vertical position x_2 . We plot then the effective vertical velocity $V_{\text{eff.}}$ as a function of the vertical position x_2 for surfers with a constant time horizon τ in Fig. 4.4(a) and for adaptive surfers in Fig. 4.4(b). Note the logarithmic scale of the vertical position. The bottom of the figure corresponds to the near wall region and the top of the figure corresponds to the centerline of the channel.

In addition, we plot the norm horizontal gradient of the vertical velocity $|\vec{\nabla}_{xy}u_z| = |\vec{\nabla}_{13}u_2|$ as a function of the vertical position x_2 in Fig. 4.3(c). This quantity is normalized by the Kolmogorov time scale $\langle \tau_\eta \rangle_V$ averaged over the whole volume of the channel. When there are no horizontal gradient of vertical velocity, the best one can do is to swim straight in the target direction \hat{z} . This quantity then characterizes how much the flow



Figure 4.3: In average, adaptive surfers perform almost as well as nonadaptive surfers in turbulence heterogeneity. Evaluation of performance for surfers and adaptive surfers in a channel flow with $\hat{\vec{z}} = \hat{\vec{e}}_2$. Effective upward velocity [$V_{\text{eff.}}$, Eq. (2.15)] as a function of swimming speed V_{swim} for non-adaptive surfers and for adaptive surfers, evaluated for their optimal value of their respective parameter: τ^* and α^*_{τ} .



Figure 4.4: Adaptive surfers show actual adaptation to turbulence heterogeneity in contrast to non-adaptive surfers. Performance of constant time horizon surfers (a) and adaptive surfers (b) in a channel flow with $\hat{z} = \hat{e}_2$ as a function of the vertical position x_2 . In addition a Eulerian measure of flow exploitability is plotted in (c).

can be exploited. Note however, as observed in Chap. 3, Sec.3.3.1, surfing performance also depends on the flow correlation time. This correlation time is captured at first order by the Kolmogorov time scale τ_{η} that also varies with vertical position. To capture how much one can exploit the flow in more details, the intensity of the gradient $|\vec{\nabla}_{xy}u_z|$ is normalized by a local value of $\langle \tau_{\eta} \rangle_{x_2}(x_2)$ averaged over a plane of constant altitude x_2 . Close to the wall, in the viscous sublayer, the flow is completely parallel to the flow hence no gradient of vertical velocity. As velocity fluctuations develop away from the wall, the gradient intensity increase until a maximum is reached at $x_2 \approx h/20$. Higher, the intensity of the gradient decrease until the centerline of the flow is reached. However, at the same time, the local Kolmogorov time scale of the flow $\langle \tau_{\eta} \rangle_{x_2}(x_2)$ increases with altitude and compensate for this decrease of the gradient intensity. Therefore the value of $|\vec{\nabla}_{xy}u_z|\langle \tau_{\eta} \rangle_{x_2}(x_2)$ plateaus in the bulk of the flow. This predicts that maximal surfing performance should be reached in the bulk of the flow.

Focusing first on surfers using a constant time horizon τ [Fig. 4.3(a)], we observe a strong dependence of surfing performance with the vertical position x_2 . While as expected, surfers achieve good performance in the bulk where turbulence intensity is relatively homogeneous, we observe that surfing becomes disadvantageous ($V_{\text{eff.}} < 1$) in the transition region between the viscous sublayer and the bulk. The time horizon τ being constant for the whole channel, surfers are unable to adapt to turbulence heterogeneity. Even though this parameter τ can be well tuned for the bulk, leading to even better performance than adaptive surfers for $x_2 \approx h/5$, its value makes the strategy overreacts to the gradient near the wall and causes this drastic performance drop.

On the contrary, the adaptive strategy [Fig. 4.3(b)] is able to adapt to local turbulence intensity, remaining advantageous ($V_{\text{eff.}} \ge 1$) in the whole channel. The layer where this difference occurs is however very thin ($\approx h/20$) compared to the actual bulk. As the actual effective velocity is the result of the trajectories passing through the whole channel, this small region does not account for much of the overall performance. That is why this advantage is barely visible in Fig. 4.3.

To further emphasize the benefit of the adaptive surfing strategy, we evaluate the maximal optimal parameter of both strategies, τ^* and α^* , that lead to maximal performance as a function of the surfer's distance to the wall x_2 (Fig. 4.5). As expected, the optimal surfing parameter τ^* strongly depends on depth x_2 [Fig. 4.5(**a**)] compared to α^* for the adaptive strategy. Note as the near flow region is not exploitable ($|\vec{\nabla}_{xy}u_z| \approx 0$), the performance is independent of the surfing parameter (τ or α), hence the almost random value of α^* we obtain for $x_2 \lesssim 0.01h$.

Overall this shows the proposed navigation strategy can be adapted to account for variations of turbulence intensity. Evaluated in a turbulent channel flow, surfing re-



Figure 4.5: The optimal value of the free parameter of the adaptive strategy (α_{τ}) is almost constant in the channel. Optimal surfing parameter of surfers (a) τ^* and adaptive surfers (b) α_{τ}^* in a channel flow with $\hat{\vec{z}} = \hat{\vec{e}}_2$ as a function altitude. In addition the Kolmogorov time scale is plotted as a function of the vertical position in (c).

mains effective in heterogeneous turbulence, more representative of plankton habitats.

4.2 Accounting for limited plankter skills

We expect the actual sensing, motor and processing skills of real planktonic organisms to be limited. While these limitations are hard to evaluate quantitatively in practice, one can evaluate the influence of such limitations in our simulations. In this section, we then demonstrate the robustness of the surfing strategy to these various limitations in simulated homogeneous isotropic turbulence (cf. Chap. 3, Sec. 3.1.2). We first discuss the limitation of processing skills by evaluating the performance of surfers that are limited in the order of the computation of their surfing direction. Then we introduce limited sensing through partial flow measures, filtered measures or noisy measures. Finally we relax the assumption of instantaneous reorientation.

4.2.1 | Limited processing skills

Even if some plankters such as copepods have neurons, their "computational" skills are definitely limited to some extent. The main processing challenge of the surfing strategy [Eq. (3.14)] lies in the evaluation of the matrix exponential. The surfing strategy can be



Figure 4.6: A first order computation of the matrix exponential is enough to capture most of surfing performance. Effective upward velocity [$V_{\text{eff.}}$, Eq. (2.15)] as a function of the computational order n of the matrix exponential. Shaded area represents the 95% confidence interval.

approximated by the following series (cf. Chap. 2, Sec. 2.2.2).

$$\hat{\vec{n}}_{\text{surf}} = \frac{\vec{n}_{\text{surf}}}{|\vec{n}_{\text{surf}}|}, \quad \text{with} \quad \vec{n}_{\text{surf}} = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{\tau^k}{k!} \left[(\vec{\nabla}\vec{u})^k \right]^T \cdot \hat{\vec{z}} = \hat{\vec{z}} + \tau \, \vec{\nabla}\vec{u}_z + \cdots$$
(4.3)

In practice, the series cannot be evaluated with an infinite number of terms and one has to stop eventually after n + 1 term. Doing so result in an approximation of order n in term of $\tau |\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}|$. To assess the impact of a limited computational power, we performed simulations for which the order n of the computation of the surfing direction varies (Fig. 4.6).

We note that the high-order computations only lead to a slight increase of the resulting effective swimming velocity $V_{\text{eff.}}$ compared to that achieved with the first order n = 1. This is particularly true for the low turbulence case $Re_{\lambda} = 11$. This discrepancy between the two turbulent environments can be understood as the value τ^*/τ_{η} , for which this maximal performance is evaluated, is smaller for the case $Re_{\lambda} = 11$ than for the case $Re_{\lambda} = 418$ (cf. Fig. 3.9). Being smaller a lower order computation is enough to obtain an accurate estimate of the matrix exponential.

If the power consumption is directly linked to the processing complexity of the strategy, we can expect power consumption to evolves linearly with n. Thus, for actual plankters, we would expect the actual accuracy of the computation to be a compromise between the computational cost of the strategy and its benefits. The performance enhancement of a high-order computation (n > 2) being marginal compared to n = 1, even for a high Reynolds number, suggests the relevance of the reduction of surfing to its linear expansion

$$\hat{\vec{n}}_{\text{surf}} = \frac{\vec{n}_{\text{surf}}}{|\vec{n}_{\text{surf}}|}, \quad \text{with} \quad \vec{n}_{\text{surf}} = \hat{\vec{z}} + \tau \,\vec{\nabla} u_z. \tag{4.4}$$

The surfing direction \hat{n}_{surf} then reduces to the weighted average of the target direction \hat{z} and the direction of the vertical velocity gradient ∇u_z where the surfing time horizon τ acts as an averaging weight (also discussed in Chap. 2, Sec. 2.2.2). As such, the resulting strategy only relies on the gradients of vertical velocity ∇u_z . That represents only three components of the gradient ∇u , out of eight independent components (accounting for incompressibility). Not content with reducing the processing power required, limiting surfing to its linear expansion also reduces the amount of information that needs to be measured.

Overall this shows that even with limited processing skills, turbulence could still be exploited by plankters. However the strategy still requires at least to evaluate a linear function which requires computational skills to apply it.

4.2.2 | Limited sensing skills

In this section, we continue the analysis of limited sensing already initiated in Chap. 3, Sec. 3.4.1. While above we focused on the contribution of the various flow components, the aim here is to show that limited sensing, that actual plankters would have to face, can be accounted for in the strategy we propose.

4.2.2.1 | Partial measure of $\vec{\nabla} \vec{u}$

In order to assess the contributions of flow components on navigation efficiency, sensing was limited to both parts of the symmetric decomposition, *S* and Ω , of $\vec{\nabla} \vec{u}$ in Chap. 3, Sec. 3.4.1. We demonstrated the robustness of surfing performance to such limited performance and highlighted how the measure of vorticity (equivalent to Ω) contributes to the overall performance.

In this section, we further limit plankter sensing to match the discussion of Chap. 1, Sec. 1.3.1.2. When the flow is perceived through the use of gravity sensing (thanks to statochists for instance), flow sensing should be limited to **horizontal vorticity** rather than measuring all components of vorticity (Ω) or the full measure of gradient tensor $\nabla \vec{u}$. To assess the impact of this limitation, we consider the surfing strategy limited to the measure of horizontal vorticity. This behaviour is formally defined as

$$\hat{\vec{n}}_{\text{surf,stat.}} = \frac{\vec{\vec{n}}_{\text{surf,stat.}}}{\left|\vec{\vec{n}}_{\text{surf,stat.}}\right|}, \quad \text{with} \quad \vec{\vec{n}}_{\text{surf,stat.}} = \left[\exp\left(\tau \,\boldsymbol{\Omega}^{\perp \hat{\vec{z}}}\right)\right]^T \cdot \hat{\vec{z}}, \tag{4.5}$$



Figure 4.7: The sensing of horizontal vorticity is sufficient to navigate efficiently in turbulence. Effective upward velocity [$V_{\text{eff.}}$, Eq. (2.15)] of surfers limited to the measure of horizontal vorticity compared to surfers using the full vorticity and the full velocity gradient tensor. The flow simulation corresponds to the case Re_{λ} . Plotted as a function of the surfing time horizon τ . The swimming speed of plankters is set to $V_{\text{swim}} = u_{\eta}$. Shaded area represents the 95% confidence interval.

with $\Omega^{\perp \hat{\vec{z}}} = \text{skew}(\vec{\omega} - \omega_z \hat{\vec{z}})/2 = \Omega - [\hat{\vec{e}}_y \cdot (\Omega \cdot \hat{\vec{e}}_x)](\hat{\vec{e}}_x \otimes \hat{\vec{e}}_y) - [\hat{\vec{e}}_x \cdot (\Omega \cdot \hat{\vec{e}}_y)](\hat{\vec{e}}_y \otimes \hat{\vec{e}}_x).$

Evaluated in our simulation of homogeneous isotropic turbulence of $Re_{\lambda} = 11$, the vertical effective velocity $V_{\text{eff.}}$ reached by such surfers $(\Omega^{\perp \hat{z}})$ is plotted as a function of the time horizon τ in Fig. 4.7. This performance is compared to that of surfers either using the full vorticity (Ω) and the full velocity gradient tensor ($\nabla \vec{u}$). The maximal performance (for $\tau \approx 2.5$) is barely affected by this limitation when compared to the performance of surfers that use the full vorticity. This can be understood by the fact that vertical vorticity does not provide any information concerning gradients of vertical velocity. As such the vertical vorticity component $\vec{\omega}_z$ would only contribute to the high-order terms (n > 1) of the surfing strategy. As shown in the previous section (cf. Fig. 4.6), the high-order terms do not contribute much to the overall performance.

This further highlights the navigation importance of certain components of the flow velocity gradients (ie. horizontal vorticity) relatively to other components (ie. gradients of horizontal velocity).

To go further towards more accurate models of plankter flow sensing, one could

take into account the influence of orientation. Indeed, in practice statochists can only evaluate the angle with respect to vertical, therefore the actual single component of vorticity such plankters can measure is the one along $\hat{\vec{p}} \times \hat{\vec{z}}$ and therefore depends on their orientation. Moreover in the context of the measure of strain using setae it has been shown that the orientation of plankters influences the detection of predators by certain copepods (Fields, 2010). We would then expect a similar impact on navigation that could be accounted for in future numerical studies.

4.2.2.2 | Filtered measure of $\nabla \vec{u}$

Our simulations are developed with the hypothesis that plankters are smaller than the Kolmogorov scale η [Eq. 3.5]. While this hypothesis is reasonable for the smallest plankters in most habitats, it is not necessarily true for bigger plankters, such as copepods (0.1-10mm), in the most turbulent regions of the ocean $\eta \approx 1$ mm.

Among other effects, finite-size plankters would likely filter out small-scale flow fluctuations (Capecelatro et al., 2014; Qureshi et al., 2007). This observation raises the question of how a filtered measure of the flow would impact surfing performance.

To answer this question, we performed simulations of surfers, replacing directly the flow velocity gradients $\nabla \vec{u}$ by its volume averaged value $\nabla \vec{u}|_{l_f}$ defined as follows

$$\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}|_{l_f}(\vec{X},t) = \frac{1}{l_f^3} \iiint_{-l_f/2}^{-l_f/2} \vec{\nabla}\vec{u}(\vec{X}+\vec{x},t) \, d^3x, \tag{4.6}$$

with l_f the characteristic averaging length and \vec{X} the position of the plankter. The volume averaged gradient tensor $\nabla \vec{u}|_{l_f}$ actually corresponds to the value of $\nabla \vec{u}$ averaged over a cube of side length l_f around the position of the plankter. We do not expect the shape of the averaging volume to influence much the qualitative conclusions, thus a cube has been chosen for computational convenience. A sphere would have been another sensible choice.

We plot the surfing performance as a function of the averaging length l_f for various plankter swimming speed V_{swim} for $Re_{\lambda} = 418$ and $Re_{\lambda} = 11$ in Fig. 4.8. Surprisingly, the strategy displays remarkable robustness with respect to the averaging length l_f , particularly for the case $Re_{\lambda} = 418$. Still, for a smaller Reynolds number $Re_{\lambda} = 11$, performance decreases with l_f for all swimming speeds V_{swim} , leading $V_{eff.} = V_{swim}$ when $l_f = 8\eta$. This largest filter length is actually of the order of half of the integral scale $L = 19\eta$ (Tab. 3.1). The filtering surfer then averages the gradient over a large part of the flow and therefore the intensity of the measure itself should drop, that explains their poor performance.



Figure 4.8: An optimal filtering length l_f^* exists for a given swimming velocity V_{swim} . Effective upward velocity [$V_{\text{eff.}}$, Eq. (2.15)] of surfers as a function of filtering length l_f for various swimming speeds V_{swim} . Shaded area represents the 95% confidence interval.

For $Re_{\lambda} = 418$ however, the effective vertical velocity $V_{\text{eff.}}$ displays interesting features [Fig. 4.8(a)]. First for the slowest swimming velocity $V_{\text{swim}} = u_{\eta}$, as one would expect, we observe that performance decrease with the filter length l_f . Indeed, as the averaging length l_f increases, the measure of the flow is degraded: the gradient measured does not correspond exactly to the actual gradient at the position of the plankter, hence the performance decreases. However, as swimming speed increases, $V_{\text{eff.}}$ is not a monotonic function of l_f anymore. Performance starts increasing with the averaging length l_f until an optimal value l_f^* is reached for which the performance is maximal (for instance $l_f^* = 4\eta$ for $V_{\text{swim}} = 8u_{\eta}$). This suggests that averaging the flow measure could actually be beneficial for the navigation of plankton given large enough swimming speeds $V_{\text{swim}} \gg u_{\eta}$.

We propose a possible explanation for this phenomenon illustrated in Fig. 4.9. If the plankter swimming speed $V_{swim} \ll \eta/\tau_{\eta}$ [Fig. 4.9(a)] is small enough, the plankter does not have the time to reach the limit of the flow feature before that structure is dissipated after a time $\sim \tau_{\eta}$. This would lead to the foraging of a vertical velocity of $\vec{u}_z(\vec{X}) \propto V_{swim}\tau_{\eta}|\vec{\nabla}_{xy}u_z|$. If however the plankter swimming speed is large enough, $V_{swim} \gg \eta/\tau_{\eta}$ [Fig. 4.9(b)], the plankter reaches the limit of the flow feature before that structure is dissipated. The surfing strategy then reaches a local optimum and as it relies on gradient ascent method, it is not able to get out of it. This limits the foraging of vertical flow velocity to $\vec{u}_z(\vec{X}) \propto \eta |\vec{\nabla}_{xy}u_z|$. If however the plankter is able to filter



Figure 4.9: Illustrative cartoon that discusses the benefit of filtering for fast surfers. We consider a plankter in a small flow structure of the size of the Kolmogorov scale η (represented as simple shear here). This flow feature has a given lifetime that scales with the Kolmogorov time scale τ_{η} . (a) Case of slow swimming surfers $V_{swim} \ll \eta \tau_{\eta}$. (b) Case of fast surfers $V_{swim} \gg \eta \tau_{\eta}$. (c) Case of fast filtering surfers.

the gradients [Fig. 4.9(c)], it may ignore the smaller gradients. This enables surfers to exploit gradients on larger scales, thus enabling to forage a potential larger vertical flow velocity that would scale with $\vec{u}_z(\vec{X}) \propto l_f |\vec{\nabla}_{xy} u_z|_{l_f}|$.

The resolution of our simulations is however limited due to the challenging numerical computation of $\nabla \vec{u}|_{l_f}$ they require. The averaging volume needs to be discretized to query the actual value of the gradient tensor in several positions. The averaged gradient is then computed by averaging all the values obtained. For each of these intermediate positions, the value of the gradient is obtained either by interpolating the value in that position in our flow database, either by querying the value of the gradients at that position in the Johns Hopkins turbulence database. These operations constitute the main bottleneck of our simulation code *Sheld0n* in terms of computation time efficiency. Increasing the averaging length l_f then drastically impacts the computational cost of our simulations. This influenced the uncertainty of our results and the range of parameters we explored. Note that flow filtering and gradient estimate could be done in Fourier space to decrease time complexity.

Overall this result suggests that accessing larger scales of the flow could be beneficial for navigation as the swimming speed of the organisms increases. This statement is yet to be confirmed with future research, but if confirmed, this might have implications when taking into account the size of the plankters.

4.2.2.3 | Noisy measures and control

Sensing and motor control of real organisms are subject to biological noise. These sensing and control imperfection are completely left out of the previous simulations. In


Figure 4.10: Demonstration of surfing robustness to various noise sources. Performance as a function of noise intensity on: (a) the measure of \hat{z} , (b) the flow velocity gradients $\nabla \vec{u}$ sensing, (c) the control of the swimming direction $\hat{\vec{p}}$. The noise is modeled as a Gaussian white noise of standard deviation σ . The shaded area represents the 95% confidence interval. Parameters: $Re_{\lambda} = 11$, $V_{swim} = 4u_{\eta}$ and $\tau_{align} = 0$.

order to quantify the impact of noise on navigation we assess here how robust is the surfing strategy to various noise sources. We first evaluate robustness to noisy measures of (1) the target direction \hat{z} and (2) the velocity gradients $\nabla \vec{u}$. We also assess the effect of noisy control of (3) the swimming direction $\hat{\vec{p}}$.

To this end, we introduce an additive Wiener noise with standard deviation σ on each of the components of the measure. For instance, the noisy measure of the target direction is expressed as

$$\hat{\vec{z}}_{\text{measure}} = \frac{\vec{z}_{\text{measure}}}{|\vec{z}_{\text{measure}}|}, \quad \text{with} \quad \vec{z}_{\text{measure}} = \hat{\vec{z}} + \vec{\xi}_{\sigma_{\hat{\vec{z}}}},$$
(4.8)

with $\vec{\xi}_{\sigma}$ a Gaussian white noise so that $\left\langle \vec{\xi}_{i}(t)\vec{\xi}_{j}(t')\right\rangle = \sigma^{2}\delta_{i,j}\delta(t-t')$.

Results are summarized in Fig. 4.10. Figure 4.10(a) illustrates the influence of a noisy measure of the target direction. Below $\sigma_{\hat{z}} = 25\%$, noise has a low impact on performance. When the noise intensity reaches the magnitude of the signal measured ($\sigma_{\hat{z}} = 100\%$), performance of surfers and bottom-heavy swimmers decreases significantly. Real plankters might measure \hat{z} using either gravity sensing or photoreceptors. As gravity sensing would be based on a measure of acceleration, we could expect noise to be due to flow acceleration. Note however that in the ocean, flow acceleration is at it strongest of the order of 0.3 m.s⁻² (Fuchs and Gerbi, 2016). That corresponds to a noise intensity of $\sigma_{\hat{z}} = 3\%$ and would not significantly impact performance in practice.

Robustness of the surfing strategy to a noisy measure of $\nabla \vec{u}$ is illustrated in Fig. 4.10(b). A noise of intensity lower or equal to 25% leaves the performance essentially unchanged. However when the noise magnitude is equal to that of the signal measured ($\sigma_{\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}}/\tau_{\eta}$ = 100%), performance of surfers decreases significantly.

The effect of a noisy control of the swimming direction $\hat{\vec{p}}$ is shown in Fig. 4.10(c). Noise intensity has a low impact on performance until it reaches $\sigma_{\hat{\vec{p}}} = 100\%$, when performance decreases significantly.

Overall, surfing is robust to these various sources of noise: small noise intensities leave the performance essentially unchanged, and the effective speed $\langle V_{\text{eff.}} \rangle_N$ remains greater than the swimming speed V_{swim} up to noise intensities of 25% of the signal intensity.

4.2.3 | Limited reorienting skills

So far we assumed the instantaneous reorientation of plankters and that lead to the equations of motion (3.12). This assumption holds for plankters that are able to exert a large reorientation torque compared to the one induced by the flow.

4.2.3.1 | Finite reorientation time

When the active torque plankters can produce is limited compared to the flow induced torque, the equation of plankter orientation, Eq. (3.12b), introduced in Chap. 2, Sec. 2.1, should be replaced by (Pedley and Kessler, 1992)

$$\frac{d\hat{\vec{p}}}{dt} = \frac{1}{2}\vec{\omega}(\vec{X},t) \times \hat{\vec{p}} + \frac{1}{2\tau_{\text{align}}} \left[\hat{\vec{n}} - (\hat{\vec{n}} \cdot \hat{\vec{p}})\hat{\vec{p}}\right],$$
(4.9)

where τ_{align} is a characteristic reorientation time that arises from the balance between the viscous torque and the aligning torque (Chap. 2, Sec. 2.1). This aligning torque can either arise from active orientation or passive reorientation due to bottom-heaviness for instance. In this section, the preferred direction $\hat{\vec{n}}$ now differs from the swimming direction $\hat{\vec{p}}$ that is described by Eq. (4.9).

The performance of surfers ($\hat{n} = \hat{n}_{surf}$) and bottom-heavy swimmers ($\hat{n} = \hat{n}_{b-h} = \hat{z}$) is plotted as a function of the reorientation time τ_{align} in Fig. 4.11 for $Re_{\lambda} = 418$ and $Re_{\lambda} = 11$. We observe for both turbulence intensities that the vertical effective velocity $V_{eff.}$ decreases with τ_{align} . This loss of performance is essentially due to the flow vorticity, which acts as a noise tilting the plankters away from their preferred direction. Note however that bottom-heavy swimmers (with $\tau_{align} > 0$) are also known to sample preferentially downwelling regions of the flow (Durham et al., 2013; Kessler, 1985) that also contributes to this poor performance. This effect is discussed further in App. A, Sec. A.1.1. Nevertheless, surfers are still able to outperform bottom-heavy swimmers



Figure 4.11: Demonstration of surfing robustness to finite reorientation time τ_{align} . Effective upward velocity [V_{eff} , Eq. (2.15)] of surfers compared to that of bottom-heavy plankters as a function of reorientation time τ_{align} . The swimming velocity of plankters is set to $V_{\text{swim}} = u_{\eta}$. Shaded area represents the 95% confidence interval.

for the same reorientation time τ_{align} . Besides, as long as $\tau_{\text{align}} \leq \tau_{\eta}$, the maximal effective speed $V_{\text{eff.}}$ that surfers can reach remains larger that their swimming speed V_{swim} for both Reynolds numbers considered. This observation demonstrates the robustness of the surfing strategy to a finite reorientation time. A discussion about the relative value of the alignment time and the Kolmogorov time for actual plankters is differed to Chap. 6.

4.2.3.2 | Adapting the reorientation control

In the precedent section, we use the equation of (4.9) to model the evolution of orientation of plankters. This model has been developed in the context of passively reorienting bottom-heavy microswimmers for which the reorientation dynamics are fixed. However the orientation dynamics of actively reorienting plankters depend on their behavior. Applying the same optimality driven approach employed to derive the surfing strategy, we can search for the optimal reorientation behavior that minimizes the time to reach a target direction $\hat{\vec{n}}_{target}$.

Starting from Eq. (4.9), we look for the the optimal control $\hat{\vec{n}}(t)$ that minimizes the time to reach a target orientation $\hat{\vec{p}} = \hat{\vec{n}}_{\text{target}}$. Note that in Eq. (4.9), the controlled pre-

ferred direction $\hat{\vec{n}}(t)$ can always be chosen so that

$$\frac{d\hat{\vec{p}}}{dt} = \left[\frac{1}{2}\vec{\omega} + \vec{\Omega}_{swim}(t)\right] \times \hat{\vec{p}}$$
(4.10)

with $|\vec{\Omega}_{swim}(t)| \in [-\Omega_{swim}^{max}, \Omega_{swim}^{max}]$ and $\Omega_{swim}^{max} = 1/(2\tau_{align})$. As a consequence the problem reduces to finding $\vec{\Omega}_{swim}(t)$ that maximizes the alignment with the target orientation $(\hat{\vec{p}} \cdot \hat{\vec{n}}_{target})$ over time. In a linear flow, $\hat{\vec{p}} \cdot \hat{\vec{n}}_{target}$ is maximized for

$$\vec{\Omega}_{\text{swim}} = \min\left(\Omega_{\text{swim}}^{\text{max}}, |\vec{\Omega}_{\text{swim}}^{*}|\right) \frac{\vec{\Omega}_{\text{swim}}^{*}}{|\vec{\Omega}_{\text{swim}}^{*}|} \quad \text{with} \quad \vec{\Omega}_{\text{swim}}^{*} = \frac{\theta_{\vec{p}, \hat{\vec{n}}_{\text{target}}}}{\tau_{\text{react}}} \frac{\vec{p} \times \vec{n}_{\text{target}}}{|\vec{p} \times \vec{n}_{\text{target}}|} - \frac{1}{2} \vec{\omega}^{\perp \hat{\vec{p}}},$$

$$(4.11)$$

with $\theta_{\hat{p},\hat{n}_{\text{target}}}$ the angle between \hat{p} and \hat{n}_{target} , τ_{react} the delay between two consecutive choices of $\vec{\Omega}_{\text{swim}}$ and $\vec{\omega}^{\perp \hat{p}} = \vec{\omega} - (\vec{\omega} \cdot \hat{p})\hat{p}$ the projection of the vorticity in the plane orthogonal to \hat{p} . This expression actually matches the classic proportional control algorithm (Bequette, 2003).

Note that when $\tau_{\text{react}} \to 0$ and $\Omega_{\text{swim}}^{\text{max}} \to +\infty$, we have

$$\vec{\Omega}_{\text{swim}}(t) = \delta(t) \,\theta_{\hat{\vec{p}}_0, \hat{\vec{n}}_{\text{target}}} \,\frac{\vec{\vec{p}}_0 \times \hat{\vec{n}}_{\text{target}}}{|\hat{\vec{p}}_0 \times \hat{\vec{n}}_{\text{target}}|} - \frac{1}{2} \vec{\omega}^{\perp \hat{\vec{p}}} \tag{4.12}$$

with δ the Dirac delta function. We then recover the assumption of instantaneous reorientation ($\hat{p} = \hat{n}_{target}$).

This improved active reorientation model [Eq. (4.11)] is tested in numerical simulations of turbulence. To do so, we replace the finite reorientation dynamics described by Eq. (4.9) with Eq. (4.10) for which the active velocity is prescribed by Eq. (4.11). Plankter migration performance is then evaluated for $\hat{n}_{target} = \hat{n}_{surf}$ and $\hat{n}_{target} = \hat{z}$ and compared to the migration performance of plankters that reorient using the classic orientation model of Pedley and Kessler (1992). Results are plotted in Fig. 4.12. We observe a slight but significant increase of surfing performance for $\tau_{align} > 0$ which demonstrate numerically the efficiency of this approach. This approach can be used regardless of the strategy, and also leads to significant improvement even in the case of a naive strategy aiming to swim upwards. This model provides an control-based alternative to the widely used model of Pedley and Kessler (1992) for directional control by active reorientation (Colabrese et al., 2017; Gustavsson et al., 2017; Lange and Friedrich, 2021).

Note furthermore that when relaxing some of the assumptions concerning the plankters we consider, such as the assumption of neutral buoyancy or the assumption of spherical shape, other torques appear enriching the rotation dynamics. However, most of this additional depend only on the local flow velocity gradients $\nabla \vec{u}$ and plankter parameters. These effects can then easily be accounted for in this model by replacing the



Figure 4.12: Adapting the reorientation control further increase surfing performance. Effective upward velocity [$V_{\text{eff.}}$, Eq. (2.15)] of surfers and "naive" swimmers ($\hat{n} = \hat{z}$) as a function of reorientation time τ_{align} . Filled symbols corresponds to proportional control, Eq. (4.11) and open symbol to the "gyrotactic" model of Pedley and Kessler (1992). The swimming velocity of plankters is set to $V_{\text{swim}} = u_{\eta}$. Shaded area represents the 95% confidence interval.

vorticity induced rotation $-\omega/2$ by the overall flow induced rotation. Refer to App. A, Sec. A.1 for additional details.

4.3 | Summary

In this chapter, we demonstrated that the surfing strategy

- it is robust to variations of turbulence intensity (Chap. 4, Sec. 4.1):
 - it can be **adapted** to account for these variations (Chap. 4, Sec. 4.1.1)
 - it is robust to turbulence spatial heterogeneity (Chap. 4, Sec. 4.1.2)
- it is robust to **plankton limitations** (Chap. 4, Sec. 4.2):
 - it is robust to **limited processing skills** (Chap. 4, Sec. 4.2.1)
 - it is robust to sensing limitation (Chap. 4, Sec. 4.2.2):

- * it is robust to a **partial measure of the velocity gradients** $\nabla \vec{u}$ (Chap. 4, Sec. 4.2.2.1)
- * it is robust to a **filtered measure of the velocity gradients** $\vec{\nabla} \vec{u}$ (Chap. 4, Sec. 4.2.2.2)
- * it is robust to various noise sources (Chap. 4, Sec. 4.2.2.3)
- it is robust to limited reorientation skills (Chap. 4, Sec. 4.2.3)

Furthermore, this analysis of surfing robustness brought to light the **benefit of spatial filtering** of the measure of the gradients $\nabla \vec{u}$ for fast surfers. In addition, we propose the use of a **control-based active reorientation model** to model the reorientation of plankters.

Alternative navigation approaches

Apart from planktonic navigation problems, the general study of navigation has been subject to extensive interest for a long time. This chapter aims to review common navigation problems and the methods used to address them. We further discuss how these methods can be adapted to planktonic navigation problems. Compared to these methods, the benefits and drawbacks of the surfing strategy are highlighted.

Navigation is the art of monitoring and controlling the movement of an entity from one place to another. Considered as one the seven mechanical arts in 12th century (Stahl, 1971; Taylor et al., 1961), it generally encompasses both the determination of the position and the orientation of such entity and the planning of its course. The latter is specifically called *routing* in marine navigation. Navigation can be specific to the mean of transport (pedestrian, car, bike, boat, airplane...), and the terrain roamed (land, oceans, sky, outer space ...).

Determining ones position already motivated extensive research and lead to the development of numerous tool to help navigation. For instance, one of the earliest known maps has been carved on a mammoth tusk, around 25,000 BC (Wolodtschenko and Forner, 2007), which stresses the past interest that has been attached to this problem. Beyond land cartography, navigators also mapped oceans currents and even oceans swell patterns [started in the Marshall Islands (Bagrow, 2017)] that lead to the current knowledge in marine cartography. On top of cartography, tools such as the sextant were developed and offered accurate ways to determine ones position thanks to the observation of celestial objects. Since the implementation of global navigation satellite systems (Galileo for the Europeans, GPS for the Americans, GLONASS for the Russians and Beidou for the Chinese), determination of the position is particularly easy for marine navigation.

The more accurate the maps and the measure of position became, the more the ques-

tion of routing became relevant. Considering wind and ocean currents, what is the path that leads to the destination in minimal time or at minimal cost?

One of the first formal step towards this goal was Mercator's projection (Snyder, 1997). Mercator proposed a projection of earth maps where north is always oriented up. This means a straight line on such map, a Rhumb line, corresponds to the trajectory achieved with a constant bearing $\beta_{\text{bear.}}$. The bearing $\beta_{\text{bear.}}$ is defined as the angle between the vessels orientation and the north. Despite not being optimal, following Rhumb lines was easier than great circle navigation.

Great circles are the shortest routes between two points on the surface of a spherical object. Given the latitude $\theta_{lat.}$ and longitude $\phi_{long.}$ of the vessel and the destinations coordinates ($\theta_{dest.}$, $\phi_{dest.}$). One can easily compute the bearing $\beta_{bear.}$, needed to follow a great circle path that leads to destination

$$\tan \beta_{\text{bear.}} = \frac{\cos \theta_{\text{dest.}} \sin \left(\phi_{\text{dest.}} - \phi_{\text{long.}}\right)}{\cos \theta_{\text{lat.}} \sin \theta_{\text{dest.}} - \sin \theta_{\text{lat.}} \cos \theta_{\text{dest.}} \cos \left(\phi_{\text{dest.}} - \phi_{\text{long.}}\right)}.$$
(5.1)

As the Earth is slighly spheroidal, the great circle has been generalized to spheroidal objects, then called the great ellipse.

For marine navigation, these methods shine thanks to their simplicity but lack some fundamental properties: they do not guaranty the path not to cross land and they do not take into account the weather, and ocean currents, that could influence the ship motion. While the great circle remains a reference for marine navigation, active research continues to develop methods to face these drawbacks which we summarize below.

The routing problem can essentially by formalized in two different ways:

- using a continuous control approach, one then relies on Pontryagin's maximum principle to solve the problem.
- using a discrete control approach, one can then rely on the Bellman's principle of optimality to solve the problem.

In the context of navigation, this two approaches lead to two distinct navigation problems that are presented below:

- the **Zermelo navigation problem** using a continuous approach.
- the **shortest path problem** using a discrete approach.



Figure 5.1: Zermelo trajectories compared to surfing trajectories $[\vec{p} = \hat{n}_{surf}, Eq. (2.23)]$ in Taylor-Green vortices (Chap. 2, Sec. 2.3.1) with $V_{swim} = u_{max}/2$ and $\tau \omega_{max} = \pi/2$ for various initial angles θ_0 of the Zermelo trajectories. Trajectories of perfectly bottom-heavy plankton ($\vec{p} = \vec{z}$) are plotted in blue for reference. The swimming speed is set to $V_{swim} = u_{max}/2$, the final time to $T\omega_{max} = 18$ and the surfing time horizon to $\tau \omega_{max} = \pi/2$.

5.1 | Zermelo navigation problem

Formulated by the mathematician Zermelo (1931), the problem consists of finding the best possible control for a boat (or any agent) of constant active velocity and navigating in a given velocity field \vec{u} , to reach its destination in a minimal time. While the shortest path is a straight line in the absence of currents, we expect the presence of currents to alter the optimal path.

This problem can be addressed using the Euler-Lagrange equations and leads to the

description of the boat's steering θ by the following differential equation

$$\frac{d\theta}{dt} = \sin^2 \theta \frac{\partial u_y}{\partial x} + \sin \theta \cos \theta \left(\frac{\partial u_x}{\partial x} - \frac{\partial u_y}{\partial y} \right) - \cos^2 \theta \frac{\partial u_x}{\partial y} \quad \text{with} \quad \vec{u} = \begin{pmatrix} u_x \\ u_y \end{pmatrix} \tag{5.2}$$

known as the Zermelo equation. Written here for a 2D case, this equation can be generalized to 3D cases (Guerrero and Bestaoui, 2013). Note that the Zermelo equation (5.2) can also be written in terms of steering direction $\hat{\pi}^1$

$$\frac{d\vec{n}}{dt} = -\left(\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}\right)^T \cdot \vec{n} \quad \text{with} \quad \vec{n} = \begin{pmatrix} \cos\theta\\ \sin\theta \end{pmatrix}.$$
(5.3)

For the sake of simplicity, this equation is formulated so that it does not guarantee the conservation of the norm. In a more formal way, one may use for example the method of Lagrange multipliers to enforce this constraint. In practice, the proper optimal steering direction \hat{n} is obtained by renormalizing \vec{n} after integration.

This theory however solely describes the evolution of the control without expressing the initial value of the control, θ_0 , that actually leads to the target destination. In the context of vertical migration, computing the optimal initial control θ_0^* requires to integrate the trajectory for arbitrary values θ_0 and select the value θ_0^* that maximizes vertical displacement ($\theta_0^* \approx \pi/2$). This optimization can be done analytically if the flow velocity field is simple enough, but in most case one must rely on a numerical optimization method. Brownlee (2011), among others, presents many algorithms that could be used to this end. Zermelo trajectories obtained by integrating numerically Eq. (5.2) method for various initial steering θ_0 are compared to the surfing strategy in Fig. 5.1.

Due to the proven optimality of Zermelo trajectories, a Zermelo swimmer is indeed able to perform better than a surfer if the initial control θ_0 is well chosen. As obtaining the optimal value θ_0^* relies on the integration of trajectories, one must know the whole velocity field to apply this approach. And we show in Fig. 5.1, arbitrarily chosen θ_0 can lead anywhere.

Apart from the needed knowledge to apply this navigation method, the chaoticity of flow velocity fields in nature prevents to integrate trajectories with absolute certainty. Thus in practice, this approach is mostly restricted to the context of idealized nonchaotic flow velocity fields for which Eq. (5.2) can be integrated analytically (Liebchen and Löwen, 2019). Moreover, despite some recent efforts to take into account a maximal curvature constraint on trajectories (denoted as the Zermelo-Markov-Dubins problem),

¹Note that this equation also governs the evolution of various other physical process. It describes the orientation of the axis of symmetry inertialess oblate spheroids (Jeffery, 1922) or the orientation of the normal of a high Peclet number scalar surface in a fluid flow (Martínez-Ruiz et al., 2018).



Figure 5.2: Illustration of how the connectivity radius r_c impacts the Dijkstra graph edges creation.

this approach remains rather difficult to adapt to variations of the problem (Caillau et al., 2019; Sacchelli et al., 2021).

5.2 Shortest path problem

Introduced by Dijkstra et al. (1959), the shortest path problem consists in finding the shortest path between two vertices of a graph. For instance, such graph can represent a road network in the context of land navigation, where roads are represented by graph edges and crossroads by graph vertices. Then, which path should be taken to minimize arrival time at destination?

The solution of Dijkstra et al. (1959), is now the basis of most personal navigation assistant software. To formulate this solution, graph weights have to be associated to graph edges and would correspond for example to road length between crossroads in the land navigation analogy. This algorithm remains asymptotically the fastest known single-source shortest-path algorithm for arbitrary directed graphs with unbounded non-negative weights. In other words, it is the fastest algorithm that finds the shortest itinerary from a single specific starting position for a graph where road lengths are strictly positive. Note that faster options exists for specialized graphs (Dial, 1969; Thorup, 2000).

In addition to its applications to land navigation problems, this method can also be applied to any navigation problem. In the case of a marine navigation problem, one needs to discretize space to define vertices. Then to define the edges of the graph, one must define connectivity between vertices. In our illustrative simulations, the graph connectivity is controlled by a discrete connectivity radius r_c . Each vertex *a* are connected to all vertices *b* within a radius $r_c\Delta x$, with Δx the step size between vertices

(Fig 5.2).

The time $T_{a \to b}$ necessary to move from one vertex *a* to another vertex *b* on a straight line then defines edges weights of the graph. This time $T_{a \to b}$ is deduced from the distance between the edges positions, the plankter swimming velocity and the flow velocity field and is expressed as

$$T_{a\to b} = \sqrt{\frac{|\vec{x}_a - \vec{x}_b|^2}{V_{\text{swim}}^2 - u^2}} + \left[\frac{(\vec{x}_a - \vec{x}_b) \cdot \vec{u}}{V_{\text{swim}}^2 - u^2}\right]^2 - \frac{(\vec{x}_a - \vec{x}_b) \cdot \vec{u}}{V_{\text{swim}}^2 - u^2},\tag{5.4}$$

with \vec{x}_a the position of the vertex a, \vec{x}_b the position of the vertex b, V_{swim} the plankter swimming velocity, $\vec{u} \approx \vec{u}(\vec{x}_a) \approx \vec{u}(\vec{x}_b)$ the local flow velocity and $u = |\vec{u}|$ its norm. The graph resolution must be fine enough to assume $\vec{u} \approx \vec{u}(\vec{x}_a) \approx \vec{u}(\vec{x}_b)$. In practice the local flow velocity \vec{u} may be evaluated as $\vec{u} = \vec{u}([\vec{x}_a + \vec{x}_b]/2)$. A negative value of $T_{a \rightarrow b}$ means the vertex b is not reachable from the vertex a. Such edges are removed from the graph. For the remaining edges, one also associates the actual control $\hat{n}_{a \rightarrow b}$ to apply in order to reach a vertex b from a vertex a

$$\hat{\vec{n}}_{a\to b} = \frac{1}{V_{\text{swim}}} \left[\frac{\vec{x}_a - \vec{x}_b}{T_{a\to b}} - \vec{u} \right].$$
(5.5)

Once the graph is generated, the Dijkstra algorithm can be applied. The principle of the algorithm is explained in the following and is illustrated in Fig 5.3.

Starting from a given initial crossroad (initial graph vertex), all possible roads (graph edges) starting their are first considered, each leading to a different intersections (other graph vertices). For each of these next crossroads, the distance (edge weight) traveled to reach these crossroads is noted and associated to them [Fig 5.3(b)]. The starting position is then tagged as explored. Then, based on the distances previously computed, the unexplored intersection that is the closest to the starting position is selected next [Fig 5.3(c)]. Again starting from the selected intersection, all possible roads leading to unexplored intersection are considered. Again the distance from the initial position to the associated edge is computed. This distance is calculated as the sum of the length of this last road taken and the original distance of the selected intersection. If one of these crossroads has already been reached and is already associated to a previously computed distance, the newly computed distance and the previous one are compared. If the recently computed distance is smaller than the original one, it means a new shorter path leading to that previously reached intersection has been found. The new distance then replaces the old one and the road that leads to it is now tagged as the best road to take to lead to that intersection [Fig 5.3(d)]. These operations are then repeated until the whole graph is explored.



Figure 5.3: Illustration of four steps of the Dijkstra algorithm. Circles represent vertices. Arrows represent edges. Filled circles represent explored vertices. Numbers represent edge weights in (a). Numbers represent computed vertex distances in (b-d).

Originally designed to find the shortest path from a specific position to another, the algorithm must be slightly adapted to match the vertical migration problem. For instance, one may defined a final distance $\Lambda_{\text{Dijk.}}$ and then define as targets all graph vertices *a* located at $\vec{x}_a \cdot \hat{\vec{z}} = \Lambda_{\text{Dijk.}}$. Applying the Dijkstra algorithm, one then obtains all minimal paths that lead to each of these vertices and selects the path that minimizes the time to reach one of these vertices. The algorithm, including this nuance, is formally written as Alg. 1.

This method is compared to the surfing strategy in Fig. 5.4 for various spatial resolutions of the Dijkstra algorithm. As expected, provided with the information of the full flow velocity field, the Dijkstra algorithm leads to much better performance compared to the surfing strategy in Taylor-Green vortices. Increasing the spatial resolution of the Dijkstra algorithm smoothens the trajectory obtained that gets closer to the optimal. This algorithm performs however at the cost of much larger time complexity, especially when spatial resolution increases.

The result can be further smoothed by increasing the graph's number of edges, increasing at the same time the number of possible trajectories explored by the algorithm (Fig. 5.2), observed in Fig. 5.5. Note that this enhancement is also at the cost of time complexity discussed below.

The definition of the graph can be widely adapted to the needs of the navigation problems. Highly flexible, this method enables edges weights to allow for any cost function. While the method works for travel time minimization, one may also add for instance fuel consumption and risk level into the equation. Particularly flexible, this method further allows to remove the vertices of the graph with respect to various constraints. For instance, graph vertices corresponding to the harshest weather conditions

Algorithm 1: Dijkstra's algorithm (Dijkstra et al., 1959)

Data: \mathcal{G} , graph representing the network, composed of vertices $\mathcal{V}_{\mathcal{G}}$ and edges $\mathcal{E}_{\mathcal{G}}$ **Data:** *s*, source vertex to start the search from **Data:** $\mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{G}}$, set of target vertices **Result:** *p*, previous vertex in the path that minimizes distance /* initialization */ $d \leftarrow \emptyset$; /* distance of vertices to the source s. */ $p \leftarrow \emptyset;$ /* previous vertex in the path. */ $Q \leftarrow \emptyset;$ /* gueue containing unvisited vertices */ foreach vertex v in \mathcal{V}_{G} do $d[v] \leftarrow \infty;$ $p[v] \leftarrow undefined;$ add v to Q; end $d[s] \leftarrow 0;$ /* search */ while $Q \neq \emptyset$ do $u \leftarrow v$ so that $d[v] = \min \{d[q]\}$, $\forall q \in Q$; remove *u* from *Q*; **foreach** *neighbor* v *of* u *so that* $v \in Q$ **do** $a \leftarrow d[u] + \mathcal{E}_{\mathcal{G}}(u, v);$ if a < d[v] then $d[v] \leftarrow \infty;$ $p[v] \leftarrow u;$ end end end $t \leftarrow v$ so that $d[v] = \min \{d[v]\}, \forall v \in \mathcal{T}_{G};$ /* the optimal path can then be deduced from $p_{,}$ starting from p[t]*/

can be removed from the graph to ensure the safety of the planned route. In the context of marine navigation, the presence of storm, wave risk or collision risk among others can easily be taken into account.

The Dijkstra et al. (1959) algorithm is not the sole algorithm that solves shortest path problems. Indeed this algorithm is actually a particular case of dynamic programming introduced later by Bellman (1966). The Bellman–Ford algorithm (Bellman, 1958; Ford Jr, 1956) for example is more general. At the cost of time complexity, it enables to find shortest paths in graphs with negative edge weights.

This discrete approaches however raise an important issue, the computational cost is function of the size and the complexity of the graph. Indeed the worst case, perfor-



Figure 5.4: Impact of the graph resolution on the trajectories performed by the Dijkstra algorithm. Dijkstra algorithm compared to the surfing strategy [$\hat{\vec{p}} = \hat{\vec{n}}_{surf}$, Eq. (2.23)] in Taylor-Green vortices (Chap. 2, Sec. 2.3.1) with $V_{swim} = u_{max}$ and $\tau \omega_{max} = \pi/2$ for various resolutions of the Dijkstra algorithm. Trajectories of perfectly bottom-heavy plankton ($\hat{\vec{p}} = \hat{\vec{z}}$) are plotted in blue for reference. The grid illustrates the resolution of the Dijkstra algorithm: line intersections represent graph vertices. The final time is set to $T\omega_{max} \approx 11.7$ and the initial position to $\vec{X}_0/L = (\pi/4, 0)$.

mance complexity of the Dijkstra algorithm is $O(|\mathcal{E}_{\mathcal{G}}| + |\mathcal{V}_{\mathcal{G}}| \log |\mathcal{V}_{\mathcal{G}}|)$ with $|\mathcal{E}_{\mathcal{G}}|$ the number of edges and $|\mathcal{V}_{\mathcal{G}}|$ the number of vertices (Fredman and Tarjan, 1987). The dynamic programming approach is even worse, $O(|\mathcal{E}_{\mathcal{G}}||\mathcal{V}_{\mathcal{G}}|)$, using the Bellman–Ford algorithm (Bellman, 1958; Ford Jr, 1956).

In the context of navigation, the accuracy of the trajectory obtained is directly related to the resolution of the discretization. The higher the resolution is, the larger is the graph necessary to represent the problem and leads to poor computational performance using the Dijkstra algorithm. This issue is called the *curse of dimensionality* (Bellman and Kalaba, 1957).

This observation motivated numerous approaches to minimize computational cost. The first natural approach is to try to minimize the size of the graph as much as possible. Indeed, in the context of marine navigation, one solely discretizes space around the great circle trajectory (Kobayashi et al., 2017). The size of the graph is thus minimized drastically and leads to better computational performance. This approach however limits the search of the optimal in a narrower region. The algorithm might then miss out some advantageous wider trajectories.



Figure 5.5: Impact of the connectivity radius on the trajectories performed by the Dijkstra algorithm. Dijkstra algorithm compared to the surfing strategy [$\hat{p} = \hat{n}_{surf}$, Eq. (2.23)] in Taylor-Green vortices (Chap. 2, Sec. 2.3.1) with $V_{swim} = u_{max}$ and $\tau \omega_{max} = \pi/2$ for various connectivity radius r_c of the Dijkstra algorithm. Trajectories of perfectly bottom-heavy plankton ($\hat{p} = \hat{z}$) are plotted in blue for reference. The grid illustrates the resolution of the Dijkstra algorithm: line intersections represent graph vertices. The final time is set to $T\omega_{max} \approx 11.7$ and the initial position to $\vec{X}_0/L = (\pi/4, 0)$.

When the Dijkstra algorithm reaches the destination for a given path length, at least all possible trajectories of the same length from the source are explored. This ensures the optimality of the resulting trajectory but is time consuming. Without changing the size of the graph, one can try to explore the graph in a particular way so that the smallest possible part of the graph is explored. Doing so one achieves less computational cost but one gives up on the insurance that the resulting trajectory is optimal.

For example, widely used in video games for land navigation, the A^* algorithm uses a heuristic to prioritize the progress through the graph (Hart et al., 1968). The distance, as the crow flies, to the destination can be used as heuristic for instance. Then the A^* algorithm prioritize the progress of paths through the graph that are the closest, as the crow flies, from the destination rather than prioritizing the closest from the starting position. The algorithm then stops when the destination is reached even if the path found is not the optimal one. This reduces drastically the proportion of the graph explored by the algorithm.

In practice any kind of optimization algorithm can be used to minimize the explo-

ration of such graph. A wide variety have been developed and tested in the context of marine navigation. For instance many rely on genetic algorithms (Avgouleas and Sclavounos, 2014; Vettor and Soares, 2016) while others on Powell's method (Kobayashi et al., 2017), on Nelder-Mead method (Pipchenko, 2011) and some even on ant colony algorithm (Tsou and Cheng, 2013). Brownlee (2011), among others, describes numerous additional algorithms that could be used to this end.

5.3 | Local methods

The methods previously described can be referred to *global* optimization methods (Todorov and Tassa, 2009). While in theory, these methods lead to optimal solutions, they may face the *curse of dimensionality*, previously described, and lead to poor performance in practice.

To overcome this difficulty, an interesting approach involves reducing the global problem to a "local" problem that can be solved at a lower cost. Solving such a problem iteratively along a swimmers trajectory leads to an approximate optimal solution. Iterative dynamic programming and its derivatives lie into this class of solutions (Luus, 2019; Todorov and Tassa, 2009). While the solution is not guaranteed to be optimal anymore, it solves the issue caused by the *curse of dimensionality* and is also widely used in marine navigation (Avgouleas, 2008; Avgouleas and Sclavounos, 2014).

In the context of planktonic navigation, where the steering direction $\hat{\vec{n}}$ is actually the swimming direction $\hat{\vec{p}}$, these local approaches feel particularly relevant. Indeed, due to their limited knowledge of the surrounding flow and their expected limited computational power, the global approaches are out of reach of such organisms.

5.3.1 | Local Dijkstra algorithm

We first discuss how the Dijkstra algorithm can be used locally to adapt it to solve planktonic navigation problems. Starting from a given position \vec{X} of a plankter, one first defines a length horizon $\lambda_{\text{Dijk.}}$ (as opposed to the surfing time horizon τ) that controls the distance of the local target vertices from the microswimmer position. Then a local graph of size $2\lambda_{\text{Dijk.}} \times 2\lambda_{\text{Dijk.}}$ is generated centered on the plankter position \vec{X} and is updated at all times when \vec{X} changes. It is then fed to a Dijkstra algorithm that computes the shortest path that leads to one of target edges of the graph. The control steering direction $\hat{n}_{\text{Loc.Dij.}}(t)$ is finally deduced from the control $\hat{n}_{a\to b}$ [Eq. (5.5)] corresponding to the first graph edge $a \to b$ of that shortest path.



Figure 5.6: Local iterative Dijkstra algorithm compared to the surfing strategy $[\vec{p} = \hat{n}_{surf}, Eq. (2.23)]$ in Taylor-Green vortices (Chap. 2, Sec. 2.3.1) for various length horizons $\lambda_{\text{Dijk.}}$, with $V_{swim} = u_{max}$, $\tau \omega_{max} = \pi/2$ for surfers and $r_c = 4$ for the local iterative Dijkstra algorithm. Trajectories of perfectly bottom-heavy plankton ($\vec{p} = \vec{z}$) are plotted in blue for reference. The grid illustrates the local graph of the Dijkstra algorithm: line intersections represent graph vertices. This graph is regenerated locally at each time step. The final simulation time is set to $T\omega_{max} = 18$ and the initial position to $\vec{X}_0/L = (\pi/4, 0)$.

To apply this algorithm to plaktonic navigation problems, an additional modification is required when computing the graph using Eq. (5.4) and Eq. (5.5). Indeed as stated in the problem description in Chap. 2, as they are advected by the fluid flow, planktonic organisms are not able to measure directly the flow velocity $\vec{u}(\vec{X})$. Thus $\vec{u}(\vec{x})$ is replaced by $\vec{u}(\vec{x}) - \vec{u}(\vec{X})$ in the expressions used to compute the graph². Thankfully, as proven below, the optimal control that leads to the maximization of vertical migration is independent of $\vec{u}(\vec{X})$ and this limitation is not affecting navigation performance ³.

This local iterative implementation of the Dijkstra algorithm is compared to the surf-

²If written as a Taylor expansion, $\vec{u}(\vec{x}) - \vec{u}(\vec{X})$, can be directly computed from spatial derivatives of the flow velocity.

³This is only valid in the context of vertical migration. If the aim of the plankter is to reach an Eulerian target, $\vec{u}(\vec{X})$ is of primordial importance.

ing strategy in Fig. 5.6 for various values of the length horizon $\lambda_{\text{Dijk.}}$ (dimension of the graph). Similarly to surfing, a small value of the length horizon $\lambda_{\text{Dijk.}}$ also leads to swimming straight up. Indeed if the target distance to reach is close to the plankter (characterized by the value of $\lambda_{\text{Dijk.}}$), one does not have the time to exploit the flow before reaching its target distance. Thus the optimal swimming direction \hat{p} is along \hat{z} . When $\lambda_{\text{Dijk.}}$ increases however, for $\lambda_{\text{Dijk.}} = \pi L/4$, performance increases drastically and this method outperforms the surfing strategy at the cost of a larger time complexity. Surprisingly, when one further increases $\lambda_{\text{Dijk.}}$, we observe a weaker vertical displacement. Similarly to the effect observed for surfing in Chap. 2, Sec. 2.3.1, we expect performance to be affected by the finite final time *T*. For a small value of *T*, large values of $\lambda_{\text{Dijk.}}$ may overanticipate the trajectory leading to weaker performance. However we would always expect performance to increase with $\lambda_{\text{Dijk.}}$ for $T \to \infty$.

Despite its attractiveness to solve planktonic navigation problems due to its better vertical migration performance compared to the surfing strategy this method remains very time consuming. Indeed, as discussed below in Chap. 3, Sec. 4.2.1 most of the surfing strategy is captured by a first order computation of the matrix exponential. The time complexity of the surfing strategy then scales as $O(m^2)$ with m the dimension of the problem (m = 2 in 2D flows and m = 3 in 3D flows). The complexity of the local Dijkstra approach depends however on the size of the graph generated. The initial bottleneck of this method comes from the generation of the graph that requires the computation of each graph edge weight based on Eq. (5.4). The complexity of the method then strongly depends on the number of graph edges |E| and is approximately equal to $\pi r_c^2 |V|$ in 2D or $4\pi r_c^3 |V|/3$ in 3D⁴. The number of graph vertices |V| depends directly on the length horizon $\lambda_{\text{Diik.}}$ and the resolution of the graph. The minimal graph resolution required to get a correct description of the possible paths depends on the smallest flow scales of the flow. The number of graph vertices |V| then scale as $O([\lambda_{\text{Dijk.}}/L]^m)$ in Taylor-Green vortices (or $O([\lambda_{\text{Dijk.}}/\eta]^m)$ in turbulence). Finally the time complexity of the local Dijkstra approach scales as $O([r_c \lambda_{\text{Dijk.}}/L]^m)$. This illustrates the clear advantage in time complexity of the surfing strategy, in particular in 3D flows (m = 3).

5.3.2 | Local Zermelo approach: a generalisation of surfing

A first way to approach the problem locally using a Zermelo derived method is to apply a similar idea than above. Rather than integrating Zermelo trajectories over a long time, trajectories could be integrated over a short time τ . In a similar manner than the original method, the trajectory that maximizes displacement in the desired direction is

⁴The actual number of vertices depends on the solution of Gauss lattice point problem (Guy, 2004).

selected and followed. This protocol can then be applied iteratively to navigate efficiently through the flow.

Note how similar this protocol reassembles the reasoning used to derive the surfing strategy in Chap. 2. The only difference in both methods lies in that the surfing strategy assumes that the flow is linear, therefore enabling the surfing to be expressed as a simple reactive strategy. Therefore the surfing strategy can actually be seen as a local Zermelo approach limited to $\tau \leq \tau^*$ with τ^* the optimal surfing time horizon. Based on this observation, in this section, we look for a generalisation of the surfing strategy that could extend the validity of the time horizon τ .

Starting from the directional Zermelo equation 5.3

$$\frac{d\vec{n}}{dt} = -\left(\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}\right)^T \cdot \vec{n} \quad \text{with} \quad \vec{n} = \begin{pmatrix} \cos\theta\\ \sin\theta \end{pmatrix}, \tag{5.6}$$

we recognize a first order homogeneous differential equation, for which the solution can be expressed as

$$\vec{n}(t) = \left[\exp\left(-\int_0^t \vec{\nabla} \vec{u} \, dt' \right) \right]^T \cdot \hat{\vec{n}}_0, \tag{5.7}$$

with $\hat{\vec{n}}_0$ the initial control value, still unknown. We remind that $\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}$ here represents the value of the flow velocity gradients measured along the trajectory of the plankter rather than a Eulerian measure.

When using this framework, maximizing the vertical migration over a time T (problem presented in Chap. 2) reduces to

Find
$$\hat{\vec{n}}_0$$
 such that $\vec{X}(T) \cdot \hat{\vec{z}}$ is maximum. (5.8)

Knowing the optimal steering direction at the final time *T* would be $\hat{\vec{n}}(T) = \hat{\vec{z}}$, we obtain the initial steering direction $\hat{\vec{n}}_0^*$ that maximizes vertical migration.

$$\hat{\vec{n}}_{0}^{*} = \frac{\vec{n}_{0}^{*}}{|\vec{n}_{0}^{*}|}, \quad \text{with} \quad \vec{n}_{0}^{*} = \left[\exp\left(\int_{0}^{T} \vec{\nabla}\vec{u} \, dt'\right)\right]^{T} \cdot \hat{\vec{z}}.$$
 (5.9)

The optimal steering direction $\hat{\vec{n}}^*$ can then be expressed as

$$\hat{\vec{n}}^* = \frac{\vec{n}^*}{|\vec{n}^*|}, \quad \text{with} \quad \vec{n}^*(t) = \left[\exp\left(\int_t^T \vec{\nabla}\vec{u} \, dt'\right)\right]^T \cdot \hat{\vec{z}}.$$
(5.10)

Denoting $\tau = T - t$ as the time remaining until the end, the previous expression may be rewritten as:

$$\hat{\vec{n}}^* = \frac{\vec{n}^*}{|\vec{n}^*|}, \quad \text{with} \quad \vec{n}^* = \left[\exp\left(\int_0^\tau \vec{\nabla} \vec{u} \, dt\right)\right]^T \cdot \hat{\vec{z}}.$$
(5.11)

We can then decompose the Lagrangian measure of the flow velocity gradients into its Taylor expansion in time

$$\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}(t) = \vec{\nabla}\vec{u} + \frac{d\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}}{dt}t + \frac{d^{2}\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}}{dt^{2}}\frac{t^{2}}{2} + \dots = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{d^{k}\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}}{dt^{k}}\frac{t^{k}}{k!}.$$
(5.12)

The subscript $_0$ has been omitted for clarity. This leads to the expression of the optimal steering direction as function of the Lagrangian time derivatives of the gradients at the moment of the measure

$$\hat{\vec{n}}^* = \frac{\vec{n}^*}{|\vec{n}^*|}, \quad \text{with}$$
$$\vec{n}^* = \left[\exp\left(\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{d^k \vec{\nabla} \vec{u}}{dt^k} \frac{\tau^{k+1}}{(k+1)!}\right) \right]^T \cdot \hat{\vec{z}} = \left[\exp\left(\vec{\nabla} \vec{u} \,\tau + \frac{d \vec{\nabla} \vec{u}}{dt} \frac{\tau^2}{2} + \cdots \right) \right]^T \cdot \hat{\vec{z}}. \quad (5.13)$$

Note that this same expression can be obtained by directly expanding on the approach used to derive the surfing strategy to higher orders.

While a plankter with no memory is limited to the first term of the series, with the ability to memorize past measures, the time derivatives of the measure of the gradient, $d^k \vec{\nabla} \vec{u}/dt^k$, should be accessible and could be used to further improve the performance of the surfing strategy.

However, strictly speaking, the derivatives of the gradient tensor, $d^k \nabla \vec{u}/dt^k$ do not depend only on the past but also on the current control \vec{n}^* . To highlight this dependence, one may note that

$$\frac{d^k \vec{\nabla} \vec{u}}{dt^k} = \frac{D^k \vec{\nabla} \vec{u}}{Dt^k} + V_{\text{swim}} \frac{\partial^k \vec{\nabla} \vec{u}}{\partial (\hat{\vec{n}}^*)^k},\tag{5.14}$$

with $\partial^k \nabla \vec{u} / \partial(\hat{n}^*)^k$ the spatial derivative of $\nabla \vec{u}$ along \hat{n}^* (for instance $\partial \nabla \vec{u} / \partial \hat{n}^* = \hat{n}^* \cdot \nabla^2 \vec{u}$ with ∇^2 the hessian tensor of the flow velocity). If no memory is provided but high order spatial derivatives can be computed, one may then estimate the terms $d^k \nabla \vec{u} / dt^k$ from local spatial derivatives. Doing so would result in an implicit expression of \hat{n}^* that could be solved iteratively.

Overall these analytic results show that:

- the optimal control to this global navigation problem can be written as a function of local information.
- the knowledge of the flow velocity field $\vec{u}(\vec{X}, t)$ is not necessary to apply this optimal control.

- the surfing strategy is the **simplification** of a **rigorously optimal solution**: if the flow velocity gradient tensor $\nabla \vec{u}$ is considered constant, the optimal solution indeed reduced to the surfing strategy [Eq. (2.22)].
- memory and finer spatial measurements could be used to further improve navigation performance.

5.4 | Reinforcement learning

Reinforcement learning methods have been successfully applied to learn efficient navigation strategies in fluid flows. For instance, using reinforcement learning, Reddy et al. (2016) show that turbulence fluctuations can be exploited to optimize bird flight [or more generally optimize thermal soaring (Reddy, 2018; Reddy et al., 2018)]. In the context of the vertical migration of microswimmers, Colabrese et al. (2017) demonstrates that smart navigation is possible in Taylor-Green vortices through reinforcement learning. Since then studies looked to quantify the performance of these methods of point to point navigation in more complex flows such as: 2D turbulent flows (Alageshan et al., 2020b; Biferale et al., 2019; Qiu et al., 2022b), 2D cylinder vortical wakes (Gunnarson et al., 2021), 2D random flow fields (Qiu et al., 2022b) and in the 3D ABC flow (Gustavsson et al., 2017) among others. Overall the results show reinforcement learning to be a promising tool to solve such navigation problems. However, its application to more complex flows such as 3D turbulence remains challenging (Alageshan et al., 2020b; Qiu et al., 2022c). Moreover the resulting strategies are often difficult to interpret, known as the "black box" issue.

Given the recent increasing interest for reinforcement learning approaches, the principles of these methods is briefly explained here. In the context of the vertical migration problem in turbulence, the performance of the surfing strategy is then compared to the performance of the strategy proposed by Alageshan et al. (2020b), learned through reinforcement learning.

5.4.1 | Principle of reinforcement learning approaches

Throughout this section an explanatory example is used to describe the general principles of reinforcement learning: we consider that someone, for instance myself, is in charge of finding the shortest path from a shelter to the summit of a given mountain⁵

⁵Note that solving this kind of hiking optimal navigation problems is obviously important for mountaineers and is an active field of research: see Parkinson et al. (2018) for instance.



Figure 5.7: Illustration of the problem of finding the best path from the shelter (house) to the mountain summit (flag). The cell centers represent the set of positions $s_{i,j} \in S$ corresponding to the set space. The actions correspond to the action of walking in any cardinal direction: a_N (north), a_S (south), a_W (west) and a_E (east). As it is easy to get lost, walking in any direction might not necessary lead to an adjacent state but might lead somewhere else.

(Fig. 5.7). I am provided a map of that mountain, a gps device that let me know my position at all times and a notebook to take some notes. I have a given time limit, a week for instance, to perform that task. To try to solve the problem, a first idea would be to use Dijkstra algorithm presented above (Sec. 5.2). To do so one would need to define a graph edges that maps the mountain and then assess the time needed to go from one edge to another to define the graph edges weights. While this may be computed easily for car navigation (based on the length of the road) and marine navigation (based on the ocean currents), this is much harder to perform for the problem of hiking unexplored mountain. The walking performance depends on the type of the terrain, its roughness, the slope and many other factors which make this assessment impossible without actually experimenting the hike. To overcome this issue, I could just walk over the whole mountain and try to assess this experimentally. Once done, this would let me define the graph edges, necessary to apply the Dijkstra algorithm. This is however impossible for two reasons. First it would take way too much time to hike the whole mountain by myself. Second the problem is not deterministic: if there is no trail to follow, I would never navigate through obstacle in the exact same way each time. As a consequence, starting from the same approximate position, and deciding to go in the east direction would not always lead me to the exact same position each time. These two particularities challenge the application of the Dijkstra algorithm, and justify the need for other approaches such as reinforcement learning. Note that this example can also be adapted to a problem of navigation with local information if I am not provided a map. In that case, the state space would be reduced to my local vision and the problem would certainly become even more probabilistic.

Reinforcement learning refers to various optimization methods to solve a *Markov decision processes* by trial and error. A Markov decision process is defined by a set of *states* S, a set of possible *actions* A that can be performed by an agent. In the context of the mountaineering problem, the set of states would correspond to positions mapped over the mountain and the set of actions would correspond to the action of walking in a cardinal direction for a given amount of time, one hour for instance. There is a given probability $P_a(s, s')$ to transition from a state $s \in S$ to another $s' \in S$ when performing the action $a \in A^6$. When performing an action a the *agent* is led from a state s to another s'. The agent is then offered an instantaneous scalar *reward* $\mathcal{R}_a(s, s')$. Its value can be negative, corresponding then to a penalty rather than an actual reward. Note well that the reward can also be probabilistic. In the case of our illustrative problem, the reward could correspond to how closer to the summit I got.

The general idea of reinforcement learning is to find the policy $\pi(a, s)$ that maximizes the accumulated reward, generally called *return*, obtained over iterated action. The policy $\pi(a, s)$ characterizes the probability to perform the action *a* given the state *s*. In other words, it corresponds to how likely I am to choose to walk in the direction *a* when I am at the position *s* on the map.

In practice, the principle of reinforcement learning is to use past experience to assess the actions that maximizes the expected cumulative reward that will be obtained in the future. Many different methods can be used to update the policy $\pi(a, s)$ as function of experience. As an example of these methods, we focus here one of the simplest approach that exists out there: the *Q*-learning method. Despite its simplicity compared to more advanced approaches, this method is actually widely used and is a good illustration of the general principles of reinforcement learning. In addition, this method is the optimisation approach used by (Alageshan et al., 2020b). As their results are to be compared to the surfing strategy in our study, the principle of this reinforcement learning method is to be understood.

⁶This is the property that makes a Markov decision problem different that the shortest path problem presented above.

The Q-learning approach relies on the *quality value* function Q(a, s). This value quantifies the expected return (cumulative reward over iterations) obtained if the action a is performed in the state s. In the context of the mountaineering problem, this function quantifies how close to the summit I am going to get in the future if my current decision is a at the gps position s. Given the knowledge of that function, the policy that maximizes reward is simply the policy that takes the action $a^* = \operatorname{argmax}_{a \in \mathcal{A}} Q(a, s)$ that maximizes Q(a, s) for a given state s. In other words the optimal policy reads $\pi^*(a^*, s) = 1$ and $\pi^*(a, s) = 0$ otherwise. However in the problem we consider, the exact value of the function Q is not known but must be assessed from experience. In practice, the value of Q is first initialized (uniformly in general) and its values are updated at each iteration using Bellman equation. If the action a of a given iteration led from the state s to the state s' and the reward $\mathcal{R}_a(s, s')$ was offered, then Q is updated as follows

$$\mathcal{Q}(a,s) \mapsto (1 - \lambda_{\text{learn.}})\mathcal{Q}(a,s) + \lambda_{\text{learn.}} \left[\mathcal{R}_a(s,s') + \gamma_{\text{learn.}} \max_{a \in \mathcal{A}} \mathcal{Q}(a,s) \right].$$
(5.15)

The parameters $\lambda_{\text{learn.}}$ and $\gamma_{\text{learn.}}$ are two free parameters of the problem. The parameter $\lambda_{\text{learn.}}$ characterizes how fast Q(a, s) is updated. This boils down to averaging the reward $\mathcal{R}_a(s, s')$ approximately over $1/\lambda_{\text{learn.}}$ iterations. If the problem is completely deterministic, $\lambda_{\text{learn.}}$ is set to 1 as no average is needed but the more probabilistic it becomes, the lower the value $\lambda_{\text{learn.}}$ is set to enhance the learning process. The parameter $\gamma_{\text{learn.}}$ characterizes the fact that rewards obtained late in the future are discounted with respect to the rewards obtained in a close future. The method then only accounts for an iteration horizon of the order of $1/\gamma_{\text{learn.}}$ rather than looking for an optimal solution over an infinite number of iterations.

We now know how the quality value Q can be built from experience. We also now how to deduced the optimal policy $\pi^*(a, s)$ (the final objective) once the value of Q is assessed from experience. Now remains to be prescribed the actual policy $\pi(a, s)$ that enables for both exploration and assessment of the value Q and the exploitation of the current knowledge of Q to avoid exploring the whole set of states. In the context of the mountaineering navigation problem, how to choose my decisions so that I explore sufficiently the mountain to look for new shorter paths but also use my current knowledge to avoid having to explore the whole mountain?

There are many different ways to prescribe that policy. We present here a simple yet popular approach: the ϵ -greedy approach. The policy can then be defined as

$$\pi(a,s) = \begin{cases} \epsilon_{\text{learn.}} / |\mathcal{A}| + (1 - \epsilon_{\text{learn.}}) & \text{if } a = \operatorname{argmax}_{a \in \mathcal{A}} \mathcal{Q}(a,s) \\ \epsilon_{\text{learn.}} / |\mathcal{A}| & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$
(5.16)

with $\epsilon_{\text{learn.}}$ yet another free parameter. Its value characterizes how much likely the action $a = \operatorname{argmax}_{a \in \mathcal{A}} \mathcal{Q}(a, s)$ that maximizes the expected return is to be chosen with respect to the others. If $\epsilon_{\text{learn.}} = 1$, then this optimal action is always chosen preventing the agent to improve its estimation of the quality function \mathcal{Q} . If $\epsilon_{\text{learn.}} = 0$, then the actions taken at each state are completely random as the probability distribution given by $\pi(a, s)$ would be uniformly distributed. This concludes the full prescription of a \mathcal{Q} -learning method.

While reinforcement techniques are tempting due to their very broad applicability, the learning process is time consuming. Moreover, most reinforcement learning methods are build upon numerous free parameters that need to be hand-tweaked to the problem solved. Finally the convergence to an optimal solution is not guaranteed and is especially challenging in the context of very stochastic problems (Alageshan et al., 2020b).

The development of a reinforcement learning method is out of the scope of this study that focuses on the previously described surfing strategy. Therefore, we use the result of (Alageshan et al., 2020b) to compare the surfing strategy to reinforcement learning.

5.4.2 | Comparison to the surfing strategy

A recent study by Alageshan et al. (2020a) used reinforcement learning to solve a navigation problem similar to ours. We sum up here the problem and characterize the adversial Q-learning method they used. The navigation problem they introduce is the problem of reaching a fixed target in a turbulent flow. The goal is to reach the target (of a given size) in a minimal average time, starting from random initial positions. The smart swimmers measure both the local flow vorticity $\vec{\omega}$ and the direction to the target \vec{r} at all times. The states $s \in S$ of the problem are defined as 13 discrete space based on the intensity of the local flow vorticity $\omega = |\vec{\omega}|$ and the current orientation $\hat{\vec{p}}$ with respect to the vorticity direction $\vec{\omega}$ and the direction towards the target [see Alageshan et al. (2020b) for more details]. The possibles actions $a \in A$ of the swimmers are defined as 6 possible swimming directions collinear to each one of the following vectors: \vec{r} , $-\vec{r}$, $\hat{\vec{r}} \times \hat{\vec{\omega}}, -\hat{\vec{r}} \times \hat{\vec{\omega}}, \hat{\vec{r}} \times (\hat{\vec{r}} \times \hat{\vec{\omega}})$ and $-\hat{\vec{r}} \times (\hat{\vec{r}} \times \hat{\vec{\omega}})$, with $\hat{\vec{r}}$ the direction to the target. The reward is defined *adversially* meaning in this context that the reward given to the agent is defined relatively to the performance of a naive microswimmer (bottom-heavy in the direction of the target) starting at the same position. Whenever the agent changes of space, the naive swimmer is then reset at the position of the smart agent. The reward is then defined as $\mathcal{R}(t) = r_{\text{naive}}(t) - r_{\text{smart}}(t)$ with *r* the distance to the target.

Due to the more complex nature of the problem they address compared to the problem of vertical migration, the choice of a performance metric is not obvious. The metric



Figure 5.8: Comparison between the surfing strategy (red symbols), bottom-heavy plankters (blue line) and the "smart" strategy obtained by Alageshan et al. (2020a) using reinforcement learning (green dashed line). The performance of surfers is plotted as a function of the time horizon τ , which is the only parameter to optimize. The swimmers have the same characteristics: $V_{\text{swim}} = 1.5 u_{\text{rms}}$ and $\tau_{\text{align}} = 0.5 \omega_{\text{rms}}^{-1}$.

chosen by Alageshan et al. (2020a) is the average time to reach the fixed target. This metric requires the addition of a parameter, the size of the target. Moreover this metric do not account for the agents that do not reach the target. To overcome these issues and compare the performance of the learnt strategy they obtain to the surfing strategy, we consider the target to reached is placed at infinity. In that case, the direction to target is constant and $\hat{r} = \hat{z}$. The problem then falls back into a "vertical migration" problem.

Figure 5.8 shows the performance of surfers as a function of the time horizon τ (the only parameter of our strategy) [the result of this comparative study have been published in Monthiller et al. (2022)]. It is compared to the performance of the strategy that Alageshan et al. (2020a) obtained through reinforcement learning in a 3D turbulent flow of $Re_{\lambda} = 30$. It shows that surfing outperforms their reinforcement learning strategy: surfers swim 66% faster than bottom-heavy plankters, while reinforcement learning agents only swim 11% faster. Note that the surfing strategy is favoured compared to their approach: \hat{n}_{surf} is a continuous function of a continuous measure of the flow ve-

locity gradients $\nabla \vec{u}$. As opposed to their smart microswimmers that are limited to the measure of the rotational part of the velocity gradients (the vorticity $\vec{\omega}$), and for which their control is discrete and function of a discrete state space. These limitations could be lifted up in practice using more advanced reinforcement learning methods. Note moreover that in the original paper of Alageshan et al. (2020a), trained agents reach the target 19% faster than naive agents (which correspond to bottom-heavy plankters). The discrepancy is likely due to the fact that their behavior has been trained in a different simulation flow simulation (our Reynolds number $Re_{\lambda} = 21$ is different from theirs) and using a difference in performance metric.

Overall, surfing not only appears to be a competitive strategy, but it also provides a baseline for future studies using reinforcement learning.

5.5 | Summary

We conclude this chapter by summing up key elements discussed in this chapter

- navigation problems can be addressed either using the Zermelo equation or using a dynamic programming approach
- while these methods are originally based on the knowledge of the whole velocity field, both of these approaches can be adapted to account for local knowledge of the flow
- both of these methods can lead to better performance than surfing in Taylor-Green vortices but at the cost of greater computational time that would make them particularly challenging to apply to more complex flows
- this comparative study leads to the generalisation of the surfing strategy than can be seen as a reduction of a rigorously optimal navigation method
- the generalized surfing strategy can further improve surfing performance given that memory or finer spatial measures of the flow are provided
- the surfing strategy is competitive with respect to reinforcement learning approaches

Discussion of biophysical relevance

Throughout this study, we presented a mechanistic approach to plankton migration and we developed a physics based strategy, called *surfing*, based on the optimal solution to the problem in a linear flow (cf. Chap. 2). This strategy is described by the control

$$\hat{\vec{n}}_{\text{surf}} = \frac{\vec{n}_{\text{surf}}}{|\vec{n}_{\text{surf}}|}, \quad \text{with} \quad \vec{n}_{\text{surf}} = \left[\exp\left(\tau\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}\right)\right]^T \cdot \hat{\vec{z}}, \tag{6.1}$$

where \hat{n}_{surf} is the preferred swimming direction, $\nabla \vec{u}$ is the local measure of the flow velocity gradients, \hat{z} is the measure of the local direction. This behavior enables simulated plankters to forage beneficial currents and get carried by them.

Based on an optimality-driven approach the expression given in Eq. 7.1 aims to model plankter behavior in the context of vertical migrations. While we showed this strategy to be **beneficial in turbulence** (Chap. 3) while being **robust to various limitations** (Chap. 4), we observed surfing performance to be impacted by various parameters. In particular, performance is impacted by the ratio of the plankter swimming velocity and the Kolmogorov velocity scale V_{swim}/u_{η} and the ratio of the reorientation time and the Kolmogorov time scale $\tau_{\text{align}}/\tau_{\eta}$ [the Kolmogorov scales correspond to the smallest scales of turbulence defined in Chap. 3, Sec. 3.1, Eq. (3.6)].

As both these ratios are impacted by the local turbulence intensity and the plankter properties, one need to check if these ratios corresponds to values for which surfing is beneficial for actual plankters in actual plankton habitats. To do so, we assess surfing performance as a function of the habitat for three characteristic planktonic organisms: a dinoflagellate (single cell eukaryote of size $d \approx 0.03$ mm), an invertebrate larvae (small animal larvae of size $d \approx 0.2$ mm that may evolve into larger animals: sea snails, oysters and more) and a copepod (small crustacean of size $d \approx 1$ mm). The size ratios are represented in Fig 6.1. Then we discuss the question of optimality in marine biology

and discuss the choice of vertical migration speed to evaluate performance while actual plankters are expected to optimize their fitness to their environment. We finally propose an experiment that would help find out whether the surfing strategy is actually performed by planktonic organisms in real life.

6.1 | How well would actual plankton perform?

To answer the question of this section, we first need to evaluate typical reorientation timescales of the characteristic planktonic organisms we consider. This timescales are first derived for both actively reorienting surfing plankters ($\tau_{\text{align,surf}}$) and bottom-heavy swimmers ($\tau_{\text{align,b-h}}$). Then we fit our numerical data to empirical models to obtain a rough yet continuous description of surfers and bottom-heavy plankters performance as a function of both the ratios V_{swim}/u_{η} and $\tau_{\text{align}}/\tau_{\eta}$.

6.1.1 | Estimation of the reorientation time τ_{align}

We consider plankton as spheres in a viscous flow. The viscous torque exerted on a rotating sphere is (Lamb, 1945)

$$T_{\mu} = \pi \mu d^3 \omega, \tag{6.2}$$

with μ the dynamic viscosity, d the diameter of the plankter and ω its angular velocity. The reorientation time can be estimated by balancing this viscous torque with either the active swimming torque for surfers or the passive gravitational torque for bottom-heavy swimmers. To swim at a constant speed V_{swim} , a microswimmer exerts a force opposite to the Stoke's drag of norm (Stokes et al., 1851)

$$F_{\rm swim} = 3\pi\mu dV_{\rm swim},\tag{6.3}$$

From this force, we can estimate the active torque that such a microswimmer is able to produce by multiplying it by the radius d/2

$$T_{\rm active} = \frac{3}{2}\pi\mu d^2 V_{\rm swim}.$$
(6.4)

Balancing the viscous torque T_{μ} , given in Eq. (6.2), with the active torque T_{active} gives a typical angular velocity ω_{active} . The reorientation time of surfers is then given as

$$\tau_{\text{align,surf}} = \frac{1}{2\omega_{\text{active}}} = \frac{1}{3} \frac{d}{V_{\text{swim}}}.$$
(6.5)



dinoflagellate

Figure 6.1: Visual representation of the size ratios of the typical plankters we consider.

plankton	d	$V_{ m swim}$	$ au_{ m align,surf}$	$ au_{\mathrm{align,b-h}}$
dinoflagellate	0.03	0.3	0.03	0.2
invertebrate larva	0.2	2	0.03	0.02
copepod	1	3	0.1	0.008

Table 6.1: Typical plankton characteristics: size d (in mm), swimming velocity V_{swim} (in mm s⁻¹), and reorientation time τ_{align} (in s). The reorientation time depends on the origin of the alignment torque. For surfers, this torque is due to active swimming and $\tau_{align}^{surf} = d/(3V_{swim})$ with d the plankter size. For bottom-heavy swimmers, it is due to gravity and $\tau_{align}^{surf} = 3\nu/(g\delta_g)$ (Pedley and Kessler, 1992) with g the acceleration of gravity and δ_g the distance between the center of mass and the geometrical center [we used $\delta_g = d/200$, a typical for zooplankton based on (Fields and Yen, 1997; Jonsson, 1989)]. The derivation of these reorientation times is given in Sec. 6.1.1.

We see that this reorientation time only depends on the stride length V_{swim}/d , the number of body lengths traveled per second.

For bottom-heavy swimmers, the gravitational torque is

$$T_{b-h} = \frac{1}{6}\pi d^3 \rho g \delta_g, \tag{6.6}$$

with ρ the fluid density, *g* the acceleration of gravity, and δ_g the distance between the center of mass and the geometric center.

As for surfers, we can find $\tau_{\text{align}}^{b-h}$, the reorientation time of bottom-heavy swimmers, by balancing the gravitational torque with the viscous torque. We find

$$\tau_{\text{align},b-h} = 3 \frac{\nu}{g \delta_g}, \tag{6.7}$$

with ν the kinematic viscosity of the fluid. This expression is identical to the one given by Pedley and Kessler (Pedley and Kessler, 1992). These two expressions let us evaluate the reorientation times of plankters based on physical parameters. We can then evaluate the parameters required to quantify surfing performance for the three typical organisms considered. Used below, the values of these parameters are presented in Tab. 6.1.

6.1.2 Empirical model for typical plankton performance

As our attempt to estimate performance in Chap. 3, Sec. 3.4 failed to capture correctly performance, we adopt a pragmatic approach here: we simply fit an empirical model to our numerical data, both for surfers and for bottom-heavy swimmers to estimate migration performance.



Figure 6.2: Evaluation of the empirical models of surfing performance. Comparison between the numerical results (symbols) and the empirical fits (solid lines) given in Eqs. (6.8) and (6.9), for bottom-heavy swimmers and surfers respectively. Performance of surfers (a) and bottom-heavy swimmers (b) as a function of τ_{align} for different V_{swim} . Performance of surfers (c) and bottom-heavy swimmers (d) as a function of V_{swim} for different τ_{align} .

Our previous numerical results suggests, the performance of surfers and bottomheavy plankters are influenced by both reorientation time τ_{align} and the swimming velocity V_{swim} . As noted in Chap. 4, Sec. 4.2.3, the previously observed drop of performance as τ_{align} time increases is mainly due to the fact that vorticity tend to tilt swimmers away from their preferred direction \hat{n} ($\hat{n} = \hat{n}_{\text{surf}}$ for surfers and $\hat{n} = \hat{z}$ for bottom-heavy swimmers). Then, the larger their reorientation time τ_{align} , the harder it is for plankters to realign with their preferred direction causing the performance to drop. However, when the plankter swimming speed V_{swim} increases, we observe that this effect is hindered, and faster bottom-heavy plankters tend to perform better than slower ones. Passing quicker through the flow, faster swimmers are less affected by the local vorticity as it decorrelates faster with time, hence the better performance. These two effects should affect both surfers and bottom-heavy plankters in the same way. As a consequence we first design an empirical model that accounts for these first two effects and fit it to the simulations results of bottom-heavy swimmers.

We found that the following exponential function could adequately fit our data on the whole range of τ_{align} and V_{swim} studied (Figs. 6.2b and 6.2d)

$$\frac{\langle V_{\text{eff.}} \rangle}{V_{\text{swim}}} \approx \exp\left(-0.3 \, \frac{\tau_{\text{align}} / \tau_{\eta}}{0.88 + 0.12 \left(V_{\text{swim}} / u_{\eta}\right)}\right). \tag{6.8}$$

For surfers, one also need to account for the additional effect that surfing performance decreases with swimming speed V_{swim} . Assuming the previously described effects affect the surfers similarly, we introduce this effect as another multiplicative term in addition to the model of Eq. 6.8. Using the tanh function to fit our data gives the following empirical model

$$\frac{\langle V_{\text{eff.}} \rangle}{V_{\text{swim}}} \approx \left[1.8 + 0.8 \tanh\left(\frac{3.0 - \left(V_{\text{swim}}/u_{\eta}\right)}{9.9}\right) \right] \exp\left(-0.3 \frac{\tau_{\text{align}}/\tau_{\eta}}{0.88 + 0.12 \left(V_{\text{swim}}/u_{\eta}\right)}\right). \tag{6.9}$$

The comparison between these empirical fits and the numerical results is shown in Fig. 6.2. It shows a good agreement that allows to estimate roughly the performance of plankton over a wide range of conditions (done below).

6.1.3 Results: surfing performance and plankton habitat

We can now assess the expected benefit of the surfing strategy over bottom-heaviness for vertical migration in different marine habitats. In this evaluation, we only account for the effect of the swimming speed V_{swim} and the reorientation time τ_{align} . Note that the influence of the turbulence intensity is accounted for through their ratio with the



Figure 6.3: The surfing strategy is beneficial over a wide range of plankton habitats. Expected vertical migration speed (effective vertical velocity, $V_{\text{eff.}}$, Eq. (2.15), relative to swimming velocity V_{swim}) as a function of the turbulence dissipation rate ϵ .We consider three typical plankton: a copepod, an invertebrate larva, and a dinoflagellate, whose characteristics are given in Tab. 6.1. Two strategies are compared: the proposed surfing strategy (red) and bottom-heavy swimmers (blue) orienting upwards due to gravity. In the upper panel, we indicate the range of turbulence intensity for different marine habitats (data from (Fuchs and Gerbi, 2016)) and the corresponding range of Kolmogorov time τ_{η} and Kolmogorov velocity u_{η} , Eq. (3.6).

values of the Kolmogorov scales u_{η} and τ_{η} that depend on turbulence intensity. Considered as a second order effect, the influence of the Reynolds number, Re_{λ} , is however ignored. The two ratios V_{swim}/u_{η} and $\tau_{\text{align}}/\tau_{\eta}$ are judged to be the most influent parameters. In practice, any of the parameters of Chap. 4 could be taken into account. Note that the results of this subsection have been published in Monthiller et al. (2022).

We remind the reader that we consider here three typical plankton: a dinoflagellate, an invertebrate larva and a copepod whose sizes, swimming speeds and reorientation times are given in Tab. 6.1. Their migration performance is estimated using the empirical models developed in Sec. 6.1.2. This performance is plotted in Fig. 6.3 as a function of the turbulence dissipation rate ϵ [that controls the values of u_{η} and τ_{η} defined in Eq. (3.6)]. Although it has been suggested that oceanic turbulence might be weaker than initially thought (Franks et al., 2022), this figure shows that typical zooplankton species could benefit from the surfing strategy across a wide range of habitats where vertical migration is crucial, in particular continental shelves, estuaries and open oceans (Fuchs and Gerbi, 2016).

Note however that Fig. 6.3 is plotted based on (1) rough empirical models that (2) do not account for all the effects described in Chap. 4. As a consequence there is room for improvement for future research to find more satisfactory models of performance (extending on Chap. 3, Sec. 3.5) and include more parameters to the model (for instance the parameters explored in Chap. 4) to obtain a less idealized description of plankton vertical migration speed.

6.2 | Optimality in marine biophysics

Throughout the whole study we address the problem of plankton vertical migration problem as a navigation problem. Based on a optimality-driven approach, we designed the surfing strategy that results from the optimal solution to the problem in a linear flow. This strategy enables simulated plankters to increase their effective migration speed by exploiting local flow features.

However the "optimality" of a plankter in not only driven by migration speed. Other parameters have to be taken into account such as predation, reproduction and food foraging (Smith et al., 2011). All these parameters influence the *fitness* of an organism to its environment: the essential concept of evolutionary theory. It describes the capacity of an individual to reproduce and pass its genes to the next generation. As the results of natural selection, the individuals that maximized their fitness survived and reproduced which resulted ultimately in the current marine ecology. Therefore looking
for strategies that maximize fitness could lead to models of plankter behavior. However the difficulty lies in the number of parameters that influence fitness to account for (Smith et al., 2011): predation, food foraging, energy consumption among others. Moreover, the formal definition of fitness itself remains unclear.

In the context of plankton ecology, the following definition of fitness is commonly used

$$g_{\rm fit.} = \frac{E_{\rm in.}}{\mu_{\rm mort.}},\tag{6.10}$$

with $E_{\text{in.}}$ the energy intake rate and $\mu_{\text{mort.}}$ the mortality rate (Visser, 2007). For instance, accounting for predator pressure and food foraging, this fitness value has been shown to control swimming speed and vertical positioning of plankters in tubulent environnements (Visser et al., 2009).

This highlights that, in the context of planktonic navigation strategies and in particular in the context of vertical migration, numerous parameters have to be accounted for to complete an optimality driven approach. Due to its complexity, accounting for all aspects of fitness at the same time is particularly challenging, hence our approach only accounting for vertical migration speed. However we show in this section that the surfing strategy can be adapted to account for more effects to increase the complexity of the model.

As it is highlighted in the definition of the fitness criteria $g_{\text{fit.}}$ [Eq. (6.10)] the energy consumption is an important parameter to account for. Therefore we now focus on the energy efficiency of the surfing strategy, ignoring predation and food foraging, to limit the complexity of the problem.

Problem formulation. To quantify the energetic efficiency $E_{\text{eff.}}$ of surfing, we define the following metric

$$E_{\rm eff.} = \frac{\langle V_{\rm eff.} \rangle}{\langle P_{\rm tot.} \rangle}.$$
(6.11)

with $\langle V_{\text{eff.}} \rangle$ the average effective upward velocity and $\langle P_{\text{tot.}} \rangle$ the average power consumed to achieve this effective upward velocity. Maximizing this quantity can be interpreted as maximizing the distance traveled for a given amount of available energy.

The power consumption $P_{\text{tot.}}$ of plankton can be decomposed in three terms, P_{swim} the swimming power consumption, P_{turn} the power consumption due to active rotation and $P_{\text{meta.}}$ the power consumed by the metabolism at rest:

$$P_{\text{tot.}} = P_{\text{swim}} + P_{\text{turn}} + P_{\text{meta.}}.$$
(6.12)

Considering planktonic organisms as small, spherical and inertialess swimmers, the active power consumption can simply be computed

$$P_{\rm swim} = 3\pi\mu dV_{\rm swim}^2 / \beta_{\rm eff.}$$
(6.13a)

$$P_{\rm turn} = \pi \mu d^3 \Omega_{\rm swim}^2 / \beta_{\rm eff.}, \tag{6.13b}$$

with μ the dynamic viscosity of water, *d* the plankton diameter, V_{swim} the plankter swimming speed and Ω_{swim} its active angular velocity. The coefficient $\beta_{eff.}$ accounts for weak efficiency of the conversion of biochemical energy to mechanic power. The estimate of this coefficient range from less than 0.01% to 10% (Buskey, 1998; Minkina, 1981; Morris et al., 1985). Note that for a spherical swimmer, this active angular velocity can be expressed as the following

$$\Omega_{\rm swim} = \left| \frac{d\hat{\vec{p}}}{dt} \times \hat{\vec{p}} - \frac{1}{2} \vec{\omega} \right|. \tag{6.14}$$

with $\vec{\omega}$ the local flow vorticity. There is no clear way to evaluate the $P_{\text{meta.}}$ however.

Estimation of the metabolic power $P_{meta.}$. One way to estimate the metabolic power consumption $P_{meta.}$ is to use the Kleiber's law (Kleiber et al., 1961). It is a known scaling that states that metabolic power consumption $P_{meta.}$ evolves with the mass of the animal M as $M^{3/4}$. Note however that metabolic power depends on numerous parameters in practice, therefore Kleiber's law should only be used to obtain a global trend (Glazier, 2005). Fully aware of this limitation, we use here the scaling deduced from the data of Gillooly et al. (2001): $P_{meta.} \approx \alpha_{meta.} M^{3/4}$ with $\alpha_{meta.} = 0.144 \text{ J.s}^{-1} \text{.kg}^{-3/4}$. This very rough estimate of $P_{meta.}$ is mainly use to get an idea of the expected order of magnitude of $P_{meta.}$. Considering organisms as spheres, the metabolic power consumption can then be computed as the following:

$$P_{\text{meta.}} = \left(\frac{\pi}{6}\right)^{3/4} \alpha_{\text{meta.}} \rho_{\text{p}}^{3/4} d^{9/4}$$
(6.15)

with $\rho_p = 6M_p/\pi d^3$ the density of the plankter. Then assuming that most planktonic organisms are roughly as dense as water $\rho_p \approx \rho_{water}$, one can evaluate these coefficients with $\mu = \mu_{water} = 10^{-3}$ kg m⁻¹ s⁻¹ and $\rho_p \approx \rho_{water} = 10^3$ kg m⁻³. In the limit of the previously described assumptions, the total power is only function of the swimming velocity V_{swim} , the active angular velocity Ω_{swim} and the plankter size *d*.

To get an idea of the order of magnitudes of this total power for actual plankters, we take the example of the larvae of the gastropod *Crepidula fornicata* (DiBenedetto et al., 2022). These organisms are of size $d \approx 500 \times 10^{-6}$ m and swim at $V_{\text{swim}} \approx 7 \times 10^{-4}$ m.s⁻¹. Furthermore, if these organisms are able to reorient, their active angular velocity

could be estimated as $\Omega_{swim} \approx V_{swim}/d = 1.4 \text{ rad.s}^{-1}$. Assuming the conversion from biochemical power to mechanical power is of efficiency $\beta_{eff.} = 1\%$, we obtain the following estimates of power consumption $P_{meta} \approx 6 \times 10^{-7} \text{ J.s}^{-1}$, $P_{swim} \approx 2 \times 10^{-10} \text{ J.s}^{-1}$ and $P_{turn} \approx 8 \times 10^{-11} \text{ J.s}^{-1}$. Note that the resulting metabolic power is of the same order of magnitude to that found commonly in literature: for instance Visser et al. (2009) us $P_{meta} = 1.8 \times 10^{-7} \text{ J.s}^{-1}$ in their study. We are then rather confident of the order of magnitude of our estimate. Then, note that the active power consumption ends up completely negligible compared to the metabolic power: $P_{swim} \ll P_{meta}$ and $P_{turn} \ll P_{meta}$. Therefore the total power consumption is mostly due to the metabolic power and thus $P_{tot.} \approx P_{meta}$. The surfing strategy would then remain beneficial as it results in increasing significantly the effective vertical velocity $V_{eff.}$ at almost no energetic cost (compared to P_{meta}), therefore maximizing $E_{eff.}$.

As a consequence, in the context of plankton vertical migration, and under the limit of the previously stated assumptions we do not expect the active power consumption to limit the use of an active reorientation and thus would not limit the use of the surfing strategy. Note however many elements of fitness could be considered, for instance stealth, that could be other reasons not to surf actively.

6.3 | Do plankton really surf?

All of these results suggests that (1) flow sensing plankters are **able to "surf" on turbulence** and (2) doing so would be **beneficial** (even if energy consumption is taken into account). Following our optimality-driven approach, we expect them to have evolved to exploit the flow this strategy trough natural selection. If we are correct, the ability to exploit the flow to migrate faster should be observable on real plankters.

To this end, we present below measurable cues that would help differentiate active reorientation towards the surfing direction \hat{n}_{surf} , meaning flow informed navigation is at play, from passive reorientation to the vertical \hat{z} through bottom-heaviness. We first develop these cues with the experiment of DiBenedetto et al. (2022) in mind as the data they generated could directly lead to the evaluation of these cues. We then discuss of another experiment that could be performed to apply the same protocol on phototactic plankters. Such experiment would provide a fine control on the direction of migration of plankters through the placement of the light source.

6.3.1 | Larvae in turbulence



Figure 6.4: Illustration of the experiment performed by DiBenedetto et al. (2022) that aimed to monitor the behavior of veliger larvae of the gastropod *Crepidula fornicata* in response to turbulence. The setup is mainly composed of a large tank in which the larvae are placed. An homogeneous isotropic turbulent flow is generated at the center of the thanks to eight jet generating pumps. The measures are performed in a vertical centerplane of the tank, illuminated with a laser sheet from which is extracted the 2D flow velocity field in that plane and the trajectory of the larvae.

6.3.1.1 | Brief description of the setup

DiBenedetto et al. (2022) observed the behavior of planktonic larvae, specifically the veliger larvae of the gastropod *Crepidula fornicata*, in a jet-stirred turbulence tank (Fig. 6.4). Both the larvae trajectories and two components of the flow velocity in a vertical center-plane of the tank have been measured (refer to the original paper for details).

Experiments were conducted for various turbulence intensity to assess and differentiate the response of these larvae to the local instantaneous flow from the to background turbulence. They observed a response to the same local instantaneous cues from the flow that differs with background turbulence. This observation suggests the ability of these larvae to integrate information over time. Published along the paper, the data generated by DiBenedetto et al. (2022) provide an interesting source of information concerning the behaviors of these larvae in turbulence. Moreover, the larvae they consider are in a early stage and therefore not ready to settle. As a consequence, we expect from these larvae to migrate vertically to seek for horizontal surface currents. The foraging of these currents are believed to help larvae spread out horizontally and enhance their chances of survival as a species (larval dispersal is further discussed in Sec. 7.2.1 and App. B).

The setup is then similar to the problem studied throughout this thesis. Therefore it offers a unique opportunity to compare the behavior of actual plankters with the surfing strategy presented here.

The following is part of an ongoing collaboration with Michelle DiBenedetto, author of the data. This collaboration aims to look closely to how the behavior of larvae correlates with the local flow they experiment to assess if surfing is at play or not. Note that the discussion presented here has broader significance as the methods described could be applied to any similar experiment.

6.3.1.2 | Deducing plankter orientation from slip velocity

The data published along with this paper would let us evaluate the correlation of plankters slip velocity (difference of the actual velocity of the plankter $d\vec{X}/dt$ and the flow velocity $\vec{u}(\vec{X})$ interpolated at the position of the plankter as if the later was not present) with the local flow velocity gradients $\nabla \vec{u}$ around these plankters.

The cues proposed here mostly rely on the measure of the angle of the plankter swimming direction with respect to the vertical \hat{z} . This angle is noted θ . Note that the orientation of the plankter is not directly measured in the experiment but it is deduced from the orientation of the slip velocity of the plankter. This slip velocity is evaluated as the difference between the actual plankter velocity and the flow velocity that is interpolated at the position of the plankter as if it did not exist

The estimated stokes number *St*, of these larvae ranges from $St \approx 10^{-1}$ to $St \approx 10^{-2}$ depending on the background turbulence imposed. This means no particle inertial effects are expected to influence this slip velocity. Therefore the observable slip velocity should mostly be caused by swimming. The slip velocity should then be a good estimate of the swimming velocity. However, the finite particle Reynolds number of the larvae (of the order of unity) challenges this assumptions as it means fluid inertia effects might come into play. This effect is not considered here as it is not expected to impact significantly the orientation of the slip velocity.

6.3.1.3 | Proposed cues

Note that flow vorticity is a component of the flow that affects both the orientation of spherical bottom-heavy swimmers, by tilting them away from the vertical, and the



Figure 6.5: Evaluation of the proposed experimental cues in simulated turbulence for both simulated surfers and bottom-heavy swimmers. Note how these cues would let us differentiate an active surfing-like behavior from a passive bottom-heavy behavior.

orientation of surfers, that tend to reorient to oppose the effect of vorticity. As such, the preferential orientation of plankters with respect to horizontal flow vorticity is a promising cue that would help out discriminating bottom-heavy-like behaviors from surfing-like behavior. The fact that the observation is limited to a single plane constitutes the main challenge to address: the expected orientation of surfers and bottom-heavy plankters must be projected in a single plane. Thankfully, this projection can be readily evaluated in our numerical simulation.

The cues we propose are presented in Fig. 6.5, all of which are based on the binned average components of the swimming direction $\hat{\vec{p}}$ projected in the plane $(\hat{\vec{e}}_x, \hat{\vec{e}}_z)$ as a function of either the horizontal flow vorticity or the horizontal gradient of the verti-



Figure 6.6: Illustration of the proposed experiment: monitoring the correlations between the behavior of phototactic plankters and the local flow field. The target direction of plankters is controlled through the position of light sensing. The camera and laser sheet are omitted for the sake of clarity. (Refer to Fig. 6.4 for more details)

cal velocity. The angle $\theta_{\langle \hat{p}_{surf} \rangle, y'}$ corresponding to the angle of the average swimming direction $\langle \hat{p} \rangle$ with respect to the vertical in the plane (\hat{e}_x, \hat{e}_z) oriented positively with the axis \hat{e}_y , is evaluated as $\arctan(\langle \hat{p}_{surf,x} \rangle, \langle \hat{p}_{surf,z} \rangle)$. Note how these cues would let us differentiate an active surfing-like behavior from a passive bottom-heavy behavior.

6.3.2 | Phototactic surfing

A large number of planktonic organisms display a phototactic behavior (Tranter et al., 1981; Wilhelmus and Dabiri, 2014), meaning they are attracted by light. These attraction could be used to control the target direction \hat{z} of such a plankters, independently of the direction of gravity \hat{z}_g . Experiments similar to the one described above could then be performed: by placing plankters in a water tank and analyse their response to the local flow gradients in the presence of a directional target controlled by light source (Fig. 6.6).

While turbulent can also be considered in this context, one could consider simpler flows, for instance in simple 2D Taylor-Green vortices, to simplify the analysis. Note that the proposed experiment is similar to that of the recent study by Houghton et al. (2018) (among others) with the addition of a prescribed measurable external flow.

6.4 | Summary

In this chapter, we demonstrated that

- the surfing strategy should be beneficial over a wide range of habitats,
- its energetic cost is expected to be negligible compared to the metabolic cost
- simple experiments could be performed to evaluate the ability of surfers to "surf"

Conclusion and perspectives

The surfing strategy describes a reactive behavior that directly links the measures of the vertical $\hat{\vec{z}}$ and the flow velocity gradients $\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}$ to a preferred swimming direction $\hat{\vec{n}}_{surf}$ (cf. Chap. 2)

$$\hat{\vec{n}}_{\text{surf}} = \frac{\vec{n}_{\text{surf}}}{|\vec{n}_{\text{surf}}|}, \quad \text{with} \quad \vec{n}_{\text{surf}} = \left[\exp\left(\tau\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}\right)\right]^T \cdot \hat{\vec{z}}.$$
 (7.1)

After characterizing this strategy in simple flow, we demonstrated its benefit in the context of vertical migration in simulations of turbulence: it leads to +100% speedup of vertical migration speed with respect to the actual swimming speed V_{swim} for small swimming velocities relative to the scale of the smallest turbulent features $V_{swim} \leq u_{\eta}$ (cf. Chap. 3). Moreover, this "surfing performance" remains robust to (cf. Chap. 4):

- **variations of turbulence intensity** (Chap. 4, Sec. 4.1):
 - it can be **adapted** to account for these variations (Chap. 4, Sec. 4.1.1)
 - it is robust to turbulence spatial heterogeneity (Chap. 4, Sec. 4.1.2)
- **plankton limitations** (Chap. 4, Sec. 4.2):
 - it is robust to limited processing skills (Chap. 4, Sec. 4.2.1)
 - it is robust to sensing limitation (Chap. 4, Sec. 4.2.2):
 - * it is robust to a **partial measure of the velocity gradients** $\nabla \vec{u}$ (Chap. 4, Sec. 4.2.2.1)
 - * it is robust to a **filtered measure of the velocity gradients** $\vec{\nabla} \vec{u}$ (Chap. 4, Sec. 4.2.2.2)
 - * it is robust to various noise sources (Chap. 4, Sec. 4.2.2.3)
 - it is robust to limited reorientation skills (Chap. 4, Sec. 4.2.3)

This demonstrated robustness **strengthens the relevance of this strategy for biophysics**: it is expected to remain beneficial for actual, limited, plankters. We also compared qualitatively the surfing strategy to other navigation methods. We demonstrated that while not being optimal, **the surfing strategy is competitive with other navigation methods** and has the advantage of simplicity (cf. Chap. 5). Finally, we evaluated the expected surfing performance in the ocean as a function of oceanic tubulence intensity and demonstrated its potential benefit over a wide range of plankton habitats (Chap. 6, Sec. 6.1, Fig. 6.3). Overall, **this strategy highlights the role of the gradient** $\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}$ in the choice of the preferred swimming direction $\hat{\vec{n}}$, which could be used to evaluate experimentally the ability of plankters to navigate efficiently in flows (Chap. 6, Sec. 6.3).

While the surfing strategy $[\hat{n}_{surf}, Eq. (7.1)]$ has been developed in the context of the vertical migration problem, it may have broader significance. Indeed, this strategy is a reactive behavior that directly links the measure of a target direction, \hat{z} , and the local measure of the flow velocity gradients, $\nabla \vec{u}$, to the preferred swimming direction \hat{n} . Up to this point, the target direction \hat{z} considered is independent of time and corresponds to the vertical. However any target direction can be considered in practice. As a consequence, by setting \hat{z} appropriately, one can use the surfing strategy to address additional navigation problems. Note that in the case that \hat{z} also evolves in time (characterizing the direction towards a prey to catch for instance), we expect the time horizon τ to depend on temporal statistics of both the measures: $\tau \leq \min(1/|d\hat{z}/dt|, |\nabla \vec{u}|/|d\nabla \vec{u}/dt|)$.

We conclude this thesis by pointing out the main challenges that remain to be addressed towards the better description of the plankter behavior in response to local flow measure. We first discuss of the fundamental question of the flow sampled by swimmers. Then we discuss of other navigation problems that could be addressed in a similar way. Finally we discuss of the ability to upscale the use of the strategy for broader applications.

7.1 Towards a better description of the flow sampled

Throughout our study, a large number of the phenomena we observed were related to the statistics of the flow sampled by swimming plankters. We first faced the problem in the context of the parameterization of the surfing strategy: its optimal time horizon τ^* is strongly dependant of the temporal statistics of the flow velocity gradients ($\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}$) sampled along plankter trajectories (Chap. 3, Sec. 3.3). On top of the flow properties themselves, the temporal statistics of the flow measured by simulated plankters are strongly impacted by swimming speed, therefore influencing their navigation behavior. Furthermore we observed that the application of the surfing behavior influences the flow velocity sampled by swimmers (effect the surfing strategy is designed for) but also impacts its own measure of the flow velocity gradient $\vec{\nabla} \vec{u}$ (effect the surfing strategy is **not** designed for). Therefore, a better fundamental description of how moving particles sample the flow velocity gradients $\vec{\nabla} \vec{u}$ is essential for a broader understanding of most of the phenomena described in this study. Furthermore, the statistics of the sampled $\vec{\nabla} \vec{u}$ is directly linked to the flow information plankters may extract from the flow, regardless of their behavior in response to it. As a consequence the analysis of these statistics is not limited to the study of plankton vertical migrations but is of broader significance: it may be essential to the modelling of the general behavior of flow-informed plankters.

We also observed large differences in the response of surfers to the strain part of the flow, *S*, velocity compared to the response to the rotational part of the flow, Ω (Chap. 2, 2.2.3). Furthermore, both these flow components do not contribute to the same extent to navigation efficiency (Chap. 3, Sec. 3.4) while being known to behave differently in turbulence (Buaria and Pumir, 2022). This suggests the need for an even finer analysis that separates the different flow contributions to the flow velocity gradients sampled by microswimmers. The horizontal flow vorticity, that contributes for the most part to surfing performance (Chap. 4, Sec. 4.2.2.1), would constitute a first good candidate to start such an analysis.

The need for this analysis also arose when accounting for the local spatial filtering of the flow measure (Chap. 4, Sec. 4.2.2.2). Essential for the study of the settling of inertial particles¹ (Maxey and Corrsin, 1986; Tom and Bragg, 2019), the statistics of the coarse grain gradients is the subject of recent interest, extensively discussed in Tom (2022) for instance. But, even in the context of passive particles, the temporal statistics of the Lagrangian, locally filtered, velocity gradients remains to be described. Therefore, due to the significant importance of these statistics in both the context of plankter behavior and more generally the physics of particles in fluid flows, future research should continue the efforts towards their accurate description.

7.2 | Towards other planktonic navigation problems

In this section we discuss the use of the surfing strategy in the context of additional navigation problems. We start by discussing the problem of larval horizontal dispersion and settlement. In particular, we show that the mean direction of the flow and the direction to flow boundaries can be deduced from second order spatial derivatives of the

¹Note that the settling of inertial particles is also discussed in App. A, Sec. A.2.2.

flow velocity. We then discuss long range navigation towards passive targets, detected through vision. Finally we briefly discuss possible approaches to address the problem of the plankton odor tracking problem.

7.2.1 | Larval horizontal dispersion and settlement

Many marine organisms, such as oysters and many of the sea snails, are sedentary during their adult stage. Their only chance to disperse and find new habitats to settle in is during their larval stage as plankters. It takes then a few generations for a population to migrate. Larval dispersion is then essential to explore the widest horizontal surface possible. To do so, many of these larvae navigate upwards when first released to escape the seafloor and catch up with strong surface horizontal currents (Kingsford et al., 2002; McEdward, 2020; Welch and Forward, 2001). When ready to settle, they navigate back downwards to find a substrate. Understanding the dynamics of this phenomenon is essential as it drives an important part of the behavior of planktonic larvae in nature and controls their spatial distribution.

The larval dispersion dynamics can be decomposed in four phases corresponding to different navigation problems:

- the vertical migration to escape the seafloor,
- the foraging of large scale horizontal currents,
- the downward vertical migration to get closer to the seafloor,
- and the proper settlement on the final substrate.

Vertical migration has already been extensively treated throughout this study. Moreover, the particular case of navigating in the direction of a idealized flow boundary has been characterized in Chap. 4, Sec. 4.1.2.2 where we showed surfing to remain effective despite turbulence heterogeneity.

However the issues of how to (1) forage for large scale horizontal currents and (2) forage for substrates to settle on remain untreated in this study. The later is particularly challenging in the case of the settlement of a vertical substrate. In that particular case relying on gravity alone is not enough to find these potential settling habitats. Therefore the ability of deducing the direction towards nearby vertical substrates from local flow sensing would provide an essential evolutionary advantage.

These problems are particularly challenging in the perspective of navigation problems as it includes two aspects of navigation: (1) determining where the target is (2) and navigating efficiently towards it. While the later can be addressed using the surfing strategy described above, the former needs to be addressed. Moreover both aspects of the problem may interconnect so that the optimal solution might also define a trajectory that favours flow sampling that helps the determination of the target. While a first physics-based approach to address the problem is presented in App. B, room is left for improvement in term of the complexity of the flow environment (simulate an actual seabed) and of the strategy considered (how well would reinforcement learning perform?).

7.2.2 | Navigating to a passive target

Navigating to a target is a common problem for planktonic organisms when they predate on other plankters. The close range dynamics of this problem is complex: it requires to account for hydrodynamic interactions between the prey and the predator. Despite its complexity, this navigation problem has been addressed in various contexts using either control theory (Zhu et al., 2022) or reinforcement learning (Borra et al., 2022; Zhu et al., 2022). Even though the surfing strategy could be applied in this context, we would expect poor performance compared to the previously cited approach as it would neither account for the presence of hydrodynamic interactions, neither for the behavior of the prey (if it has one).

However in the context of navigating towards a long range target, for instance detectable through light sensing if it is bioluminescent, those limitations may vanish. In that case the surfing strategy can be straightforwardly adapted by setting the target direction $\hat{\vec{z}}$ to point towards the prey. However, note that the target direction, noted $\hat{\vec{z}}_r$ in this context, then becomes time dependant. Therefore, as stated above, the optimal time horizon τ depends as much on the temporal evolution of the local gradients, $\nabla \vec{u}$, as on that of the local target direction \vec{z}_r . Therefore the temporal variation of \vec{z}_r need to be characterized to discuss the application of the surfing strategy, as is, to this problem. To characterize this dependance as a function of the distance to the target *r*, a rough scaling in the inertial range can be deduced from the Eulerian statistics of the flow velocity in turbulence, characterized by the Kolmogorov spectrum (Eq. 3.10,



Figure 7.1: Illustration of the effect of random walk on the distance to a target.

Chap. 3, Sec. 3.1.2)

$$\left|\frac{d\hat{z}_r}{dt}\right| \propto \epsilon^{1/3} r^{-1/6} + \alpha_r \, V_{\rm swim} r^{-1},\tag{7.2}$$

with ϵ the turbulence dissipation rate, V_{swim} the plankter swimming velocity and $\alpha_r \ge 0$ a coefficient that depends on plankter behavior and that quantifies how much the plankter tends to swim orthogonally to \hat{z}_r . The naive behavior of swimming strait in the direction of the target would result in $\alpha_r = 0$ but any behavior that differs from it would lead to $\alpha_r > 0$. Overall this highlights the expected dependence of the adapted surfing strategy (or any navigation strategy) on the distance to the target \hat{r} . This already highlight one of additional challenges of this problem.

Another challenge of this problem lies in particle dispersion. Two particle placed in turbulence always eventually move away from each other. This phenomenon has received extensive interest in past research, reviewed in Salazar and Collins (2009) for instance.

A simple way to illustrate this phenomenon is to model it as a random walk problem: a plankter is placed in turbulence and the flow causes that plankter to move in random direction as successive steps of distance *s*. Each step is separated by a time $\tau_{\text{corr.}}$, characterizing the time correlations of the flow. This correlation time can be defined so that the step size is directly linked to the average velocity norm of the flow: $s = \langle |\vec{u}| \rangle_{x,t} \tau_{\text{corr.}}$. If now a target is given, and the distance *r* to the target is monitored, how does *r* evolve with time? Illustrated in Fig. 7.1, even if the movement is random, the plankter has more chances to end up further away from the target that closer. We can then deduce an estimate of the dispersion velocity, $V_{\text{dis.}}(r)$, that pushes the plankter away from the target

$$V_{\rm dis.}(r) = \frac{\langle r(t + \tau_{\rm corr.}) \rangle - r(t)}{\tau_{\rm corr.}}$$
(7.3a)

$$\langle r(t+\tau_{\rm corr.})\rangle = \frac{1}{4\pi} \int_0^\pi \sqrt{r^2 + \langle |d\vec{r}/dt| \rangle_{x,t}^2 + 2r \langle |d\vec{r}/dt| \rangle_{x,t} \cos\theta} \sin\theta \,d\theta \tag{7.3b}$$

with $\langle |d\vec{r}/dt| \rangle_{x,t}$ the average velocity difference between the predator and the target. This dispersion velocity characterizes the dispersion effects that predators have to overcome to reach their prey. As previously described this average velocity difference is also expected to be a function of both *r* and the behavior of the plankton.

In the case of the dispersion of passive particle, the phenomenon of particle dispersion is fairly well understood (Salazar and Collins, 2009). But as highlighted above, the active behavior of plankters may strongly influence the temporal statistics of the flow they sample, thereby impacting the correlation time $\tau_{\text{corr.}}$ for instance (discussed in Chap. 3, Sec. 3.3.1).



Figure 7.2: Simulation of a scalar filament in turbulence, as part of the implementation of the *diffusive sheet method*, implemented in our home-made code *Sheld0n*.

The significance of this predation problem for plankton ecology makes it interesting to study in the context of navigation. However, the additional effects that are to be accounted for makes it much more challenging to address than the vertical migration problem addressed here. Furthermore, the dynamics of dispersion in turbulence alone remains unclear in the context of actively swimming particles. The understanding of these dynamics is therefore essential and would provide insight for future navigation studies but also to interpret the results of past studies that address similar navigation problems (Alageshan et al., 2020b).

7.2.3 | Navigating to an odor source

Following an odor trail is another common navigation problem that plankters have to solve. For instance, some female copepods leave trails of pheromones for males to follow (Bagøien and Kiørboe, 2005; Weissburg et al., 1998; Yen and Lasley, 2010). These odor trails are often characterized by their very low diffusion (corresponding to a high Péclet number Pe) that makes them particularly challenging to model numerically. Therefore, the problem of the diffusion of these odors in turbulence itself is subject of ongoing research (Roberts and Webster, 2002).

However the recent development of the *diffusive sheet method* (Martínez-Ruiz et al., 2018) makes the numerical modeling of this diffusion regime accessible. This enables the numerical modeling of the planktonic version of the odor tracking problem. As a first step to address this problem, we implemented this method in our open-source code *Sheld0n* (Fig. 7.2) ready to be used for future research.



Figure 7.3: Representation of the influence of chain formation on the plankter alignment with the flow. No chain formed, (a), implies little preferential alignment with the flow whereas, (b), long chains tend to align with the extension axes of the flow.

Note that numerous line-following navigation methods receive recent interest in various context (Yao and Cao, 2020). The particularity of odor following and its main challenge is to account for flow disturbance of that "line".

7.2.4 | Collective navigation

Numerous planktonic organisms are known for their collective behaviors (Mukherjee et al., 2019; Tsang and Kanso, 2014). For instance, in the context of vertical migration, Lovecchio et al. (2019) investigate the navigation advantage of collective chain formation. These chains are formed by cells remaining attached after cellular division. This effect is observed over a wide range phytoplankton species. Illustrated in Fig. 7.3, it is showed to influence significantly vertical migration. This effect is essentially explained through the preferential alignment with the flow that is caused by shape elongation (discussed in more details in App. A, Sec. A.1.2).

Overall, modeling the dynamics of plankton collective behavior is particularly important as they may also be responsible of part of the aggregation of planktonic organisms (Falgueras-Cano et al., 2022). Therefore it eventually causes the formation of marine snow and may result in a large contribution to the "biological pump" (Chap. 1).

In the context of the surfing strategy proposed here, the flow generated by nearby plankters have not been considered. Similarly to the exploitation of background turbulence, this flow induced by nearby plankters could be exploited in the same way. We would then expect surfers to display a *drafting* behavior, similar to that performed by cyclists when racing. The characterization of this effect is essential to understand the implications of a surfing-like behavior in weakly turbulent environments and its poten-

tial impact on aggregation. To this end, the stokesian dynamics approach [extensively described in (Townsend, 2017)], extended to the squirmer-like models (Ito et al., 2019), could be used to characterizes these phenomena numerically.

7.3 | Surfing towards broader applications

As stated in our review (Chap. 5), the problem of navigation is the topic of interest of numerous field in a multitude of different contexts. Despite its application here in the context of the navigation of plankton, the surfing strategy, in its general form (Chap. 5, Sec. 5.3.2)

$$\hat{\vec{n}}^* = \frac{\vec{n}^*}{|\vec{n}^*|}, \quad \text{with} \quad \vec{n}^* = \exp\left[\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \left(\frac{d^k \vec{\nabla} \vec{u}}{dt^k}\right)^T \frac{\tau^{k+1}}{(k+1)!} dt\right] \cdot \hat{\vec{z}},$$
 (7.4)

contributes to the list of optimal navigation strategies in the context of **directional** Zermelo navigation problem (ie. given a constant target direction \hat{z} to follow and a time τ left before evaluation).

This solution has the fundamental advantage of directly linking the optimal preferred swimming direction (or steering direction) to a local flow measure. The locality of the flow measure is an important limitation for plankton but also for any kind of animal that contrary to humans cannot rely on flow information on a global scale to navigate. Therefore, in contrast with recent approaches, such as that of Hays et al. (2014) that uses Zermelo equation, this surfing strategy might also be of use to model long range migrations of larger marine animals (Fossette et al., 2015; Hays et al., 2014; Luschi, 2013; Putman et al., 2014), of aerial insects (Chapman et al., 2015) and of birds (Wehner, 2001). On top of these alternative applications to marine biophysics, this strategy could be readily implemented in unmaned vehicles with on-board controllers for autonomous navigation to be used in association or challenged with current navigation methods used in aerial (Reddy et al., 2018) or marine (Tranzatto, 2015) vehicles.

However attempting to upscale this strategy requires accounting for finite-size (and finite-mass) effects from which plankters are exempted for the most parts. Even for moderate size animals (such as fishes), the effects caused by finite-size are numerous, some of which a reviewed in Brandt and Coletti (2022) in the context of idealized passive particles. Therefore we expect these effects to influence navigation and justify the need to account for them in future studies. One of these effects is that small scale flow fluctuations of smaller size than the size of the finite-size animal considered are filtered out (already discussed to some extent in Chap. 4, Sec.4.2.2.2 by considering a filtered measure of the gradients $\nabla \vec{u}$).

Another of these effects is particle inertia. Among other effects, it may cause a delay between the dynamics of the particle with respect to the dynamics of the flow. This challenges the surfing strategy as its derivation assumes that the motion is described by the kinematics alone of the swimmers $(d^2\vec{X}/dt^2 = \vec{0})$. However we show in App. A, Sec. A.2.2 (1) that in the limit of small inertia, a kinematic equation of motion can be recovered that helps accounting for this effect and (2) that, even without accounting for inertia the surfing strategy remains surprisingly beneficial in this inertial context. This shows the surfing strategy to remain competitive in an inertial context and could be further compared to other physics based approaches such as the one proposed by Bollt and Bewley (2021) in the future. Despite this promising performance, the multitude of effects that would need to be accounted for in practice leaves room for future research.

Additional motion dynamics

The surfing strategy, described in Chap. 2 is the result of the choice of the swimming direction $\hat{\vec{p}}$ based on a local measure of the flow velocity gradients $\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}$. Applying this strategy leads to beneficial preferential flow sampling (Chap. 2 Sec. 3.3) that leads to increased vertical migration.

However, the surfing strategy has been derived in the limit of numerous assumptions stated in Tab. 2.1 in Chap. 2. While these assumptions are valid in many cases, they limit significantly the richness of the underlying physics and the applicability of our results. As a consequence, throughout this appendix, we review some additional effects that could be accounted for and propose solutions to address these issues.

A.1 | Additional rotation dynamics

In this section, we first focus on the additional effects that could influence the orientation dynamics of surfers. We only account for the effects in the overdamped limit that corresponds to $St \ll 1$ defined in Eq. (2.7). Even more additional effects should be considered if $St \gtrsim 1$.

We first list and describe the additional dynamics than can be accounted for. Then we describe how these effects could taken into account in the active control.

A.1.1 | Bottom-heaviness

Bottom-heaviness denotes the characteristic of entities for which their center of mass differs from their geometric center. This displacement, generally caused by an heterogeneos distribution of weight, causes immersed bodies to reorient passively and tend to align microswimmers with the vertical. Affecting numerous planktonic organisms



Figure A.1: Influence of the alignment time τ_{align} on spherical bottomheavy swimmer effective upward velocity $V_{\text{eff.}}$. Shaded area represents the 95% confidence interval.

(Chan, 2012; Mogami et al., 2001; Wheeler et al., 2019), this phenomenon enables them to swim preferentially upwards without reorienting themselves actively.

While we already discussed bottom-heaviness throughout this study, bottom-heaviness was always separated from active reorientation. Then how can control be adapted to account for this passive reorientation effect?

As stated above, bottom-heaviness can be accounted in the overdamped limit and leads to the equation of orientation Eq. (4.9) proposed by Pedley and Kessler (1992) where \hat{n} is set to the vertical \hat{z} . This expression introduces the characteristic time $\tau_{\text{align}} = 3\nu/(g\delta)$ that corresponds to the time required by a bottom-heavy particle to align with the vertical in a quiescent fluid. This time depends of the displacement of the center of mass, noted δ , and the fluid viscosity ν . The bigger the alignment time τ_{align} , the weaker the reorienting torque.

Simulating swimming bottom-heavy plankters in our simulations, we illustrate how this effect impacts their vertical migrations. The results are plotted in Fig. A.1, where the effective vertical velocity $V_{\text{eff.}}$ is presented as a function of the reorientation time τ_{align} for various swimming speeds V_{swim} and turbulence intensity. As presentend above, the effective velocity of such planktonic microswimmers drops as τ_{align} increases because they tilt away from their target. But note how this effect is hindered when swimming speed V_{swim} increases. Passing faster through the flow, fast swimmers leave less time for flow fluctuations to tilt them away from the vertical. However, as observed in experiments



Figure A.2: Influence of the alignment time τ_{align} on spherical bottomheavy swimmer's vertical flow velocity sampled $u_{\hat{z}}(\vec{X})$. Shaded area represents the 95% confidence interval.

and simulations (Durham et al., 2013; Kessler, 1985), bottom-heaviness also causes the accumulation of microswimmers in downwelling flow regions, as illustrated above in Fig. A.2. This effect further hinders the vertical migration process and constitute an important drawback for effective navigation in flows. Moreover if bottom-heaviness is strong enough, it would also constrain the reorientation capabilities of plankters making it even more disadvantageous for actively reorienting swimmers.

A.1.2 | Spheroidal shape

Plankter shape is also known to influence the orientation dynamics of small plankters. This also result in non trivial preferential flow sampling that may lead to enhanced vertical migration performance if it is combined with bottom-heaviness. To study the influence of shape, one may consider planktonic organisms of spheroidal shape, rather than spherical, of aspect ratio λ_{shape} . The orientation kinematics are then described by Jeffery's orbits (Jeffery, 1922)

$$\frac{d\hat{\vec{p}}}{dt} = \boldsymbol{\Omega} \cdot \hat{\vec{p}} + \Lambda_{\text{shape}} \left(\boldsymbol{S} \cdot \hat{\vec{p}} - [\hat{\vec{p}} \otimes \hat{\vec{p}}] \cdot \boldsymbol{S} \cdot \hat{\vec{p}} \right), \tag{A.1}$$

with \vec{p} the symmetry axis of the spheroid and Λ_{shape} a parameter dependant of the plankter shape

$$\Lambda_{\text{shape}} = \frac{\lambda_{\text{shape}} - 1}{\lambda_{\text{shape}} + 1}.$$
(A.2)



Figure A.3: Influence of the shape parameter Λ_{shape} on spheroidal bottom-heavy swimmer effective upward velocity. (a) Effective upward velocity as a function of shape. (b) Average vertical velocity sampled as a function of shape. The bottom-heavy reorientation time is set to $\tau_{\text{align}} = 2\tau_{\eta}$ and the simulation case corresponds to $Re_{\lambda} = 11$. Shaded area represents the 95% confidence interval.

Note the additional term that is function of the symmetric part of the flow velocity gradient sym $\nabla \vec{u}$. This term is the cause of the alignment of elongated spheroids ($\lambda_{\text{shape}} > 1$ or $\Lambda_{\text{shape}} > 0$) with the stretching axes of the flow. Combined with bottom-heaviness, spheroidal microswimmers preferentially align with the upward maximal stretching direction [sgn(\hat{z}_{α}) \hat{e}_{α}]. Similarly to symmetric surfing (cf. Chap. 3, Sec. 3.4.1), this alignment leads to enhanced vertical migration performance. This effect is illustrated in Fig. A.3 where we observe enhanced vertical migration performance for elongated swimmers ($\Lambda_{\text{shape}} > 0$) compared to spherical plankters ($\Lambda_{\text{shape}} = 0$).

This effect, already observed in numerous numerical simulations (Borgnino et al., 2018; Gustavsson et al., 2016), is particularly well understood in the context of statistical Gaussian flow models (Gustavsson et al., 2016) but its impact on vertical migration in turbulent flows remains to be fully quantified. While an elongated shape can lead to advantageous preferential flow sampling, its benefit is unclear in the context of active reorientation as it further constrains the rotational dynamics of the plankter.

Other effects are to be accounted for if the plankter shape is not completely spheroidal, further enriching the rotational dynamics. For instance the presence of plankter flagella also induces significant passive torques (Kage et al., 2020).

A.1.3 Fluid inertial torque induced by settling

Recent studies brought attention to the importance of the fluid inertia torque on the rotational dynamics of small particles in flows (Anand et al., 2020; Gustavsson et al., 2019; Qiu et al., 2022a; Sheikh et al., 2020). This additional torque, generated from the settling of anisotropic planktonic microswimmers in flows, further enriches the rotational dynamics of small plankters. Including this effect, the orientation dynamics of such particles reads

$$\frac{d\vec{p}}{dt} = \vec{\Omega} \times \hat{\vec{p}} \text{ with}$$
(A.3a)

$$\vec{\Omega} = \frac{1}{2}\vec{\omega} + \Lambda_{\text{shape}}\left(\hat{\vec{p}} \times S \cdot \hat{\vec{p}}\right) - \frac{M_{\text{inert.}}V_{\text{term.}}^{\perp}}{\nu} \left[V_{\text{swim}} - V_{\text{term.}}^{\parallel}(\hat{\vec{z}} \cdot \hat{\vec{p}})\right](\hat{\vec{z}} \times \hat{\vec{p}})$$
(A.3b)

with $\vec{V}_{\text{term.}}$, the orientation dependant terminal velocity reached by the plankter in a quiescent fluid. This terminal velocity is composed of $V_{\text{term.}}^{\perp}$ and $V_{\text{term.}}^{\parallel}$. These components of the terminal velocity correspond to the terminal velocity reached either when falling in the direction of the spheroids major axis ($V_{\text{term.}}^{\parallel}$) or when falling in the direction orthogonal to that axis ($V_{\text{term.}}^{\perp}$). The terminal velocity values $V_{\text{term.}}^{\perp}$ and $V_{\text{term.}}^{\parallel}$ can be deduced from plankter and fluid properties and are proportional to ($\rho_p - \rho_f$) gd^2/μ with coefficient of proportionality that depends only on the aspect ratio lambda λ (Ardekani et al., 2017; Dahlkild, 2011; Gustavsson et al., 2019). The angular velocity of the plankter is noted $\vec{\Omega}$. The shape factor $M_{\text{inert.}}$ is dependant of the aspect ratio λ_{shape} alone. This factor ranges from $M_{\text{inert.}} = 0$ for spheres to $M_{\text{inert.}} \approx 0.1$ for elongated plankter shapes. Its expression and the detailed derivation is given in Qiu et al. (2022a).

Note how the third term, corresponding to the fluid inertia torque, creates a gyrotactic torque $[\alpha - (\hat{z} \times \hat{p})]$ when $V_{swim} > V_{term.}^{\perp}(\hat{z} \cdot \hat{p})$. This gyrotactic torque, is expected to strongly influences orientation dynamics of actual elongated settling planktonic organisms (Qiu et al., 2022a). Moreover, this phenomenon enables plankton to passively reorient upwards, and thus migrate vertically, without the need of bottom-heaviness. However, similarly to bottom-heaviness, we expect this gyrotactic torque to induce negative preferential flow sampling that would hinder vertical migration. Again, while the orientation dynamics are well understood (Qiu et al., 2022a), the implications of this effect on vertical migration remain to be quantified.

A.1.4 | Implications for active control

As all previously described phenomena affect plankter rotation dynamics, if they occur they need to be taken into account to develop a strategy for active reorientation control. All this induced torques only depend on plankter parameters (assumed to be known by the plankter), the local velocity gradient tensor $\vec{\nabla} \vec{u}$ and the direction $\hat{\vec{z}}$, both assumed to be measurable. Based on this information, surfers could account for these additional passive torques and adapt their reorientation dynamics accordingly.

We note Ω the total angular velocity of the plankter. This angular velocity is decomposed in $\vec{\Omega}_{swim}$, resulting from active control, and $\vec{\Omega}_{pass.}$, resulting from the sum of the passive torques described above. The total angular velocity $\vec{\Omega}$ then reads

$$\vec{\Omega} = \vec{\Omega}_{\text{swim}} + \vec{\Omega}_{\text{pass.}} \tag{A.4a}$$

$$\vec{\Omega}_{\text{pass.}} = \frac{1}{2}\vec{\omega} \qquad (\text{vorticity}) \qquad (A.4b)$$
$$-\frac{1}{2\tau_{\text{W}}}(\hat{\vec{z}} \times \hat{\vec{p}}) \qquad (\text{bottom-heaviness}) \qquad (A.4c)$$

+
$$\Lambda_{\text{shape}} \left(\hat{\vec{p}} \times \text{sym} \, \vec{\nabla} \, \vec{u} \cdot \hat{\vec{p}} \right)$$
 (Jeffery's orbits) (A.4d)

$$-\frac{M_{\text{inert.}}V_{\text{term.}}^{\perp}}{\nu} \left[V_{\text{swim}} - V_{\text{term.}}^{\parallel}(\hat{\vec{z}} \cdot \hat{\vec{p}}) \right] (\hat{\vec{z}} \times \hat{\vec{p}}) \quad \text{(fluid inertia).} \quad (A.4e)$$

In order to maximize alignment with $\hat{\vec{n}}_{surf}$ plankters may use the control method described in Sec. 4.2.3.2

$$\vec{\Omega}_{\text{swim}} = \Omega_{\text{swim}}^{\text{max}} \frac{\vec{\Omega}_{\text{swim}}^*}{|\vec{\Omega}_{\text{swim}}^*|} \quad \text{with} \quad \vec{\Omega}_{\text{swim}}^* = \frac{\hat{\vec{p}} \times \hat{\vec{n}}}{|\hat{\vec{p}} \times \hat{\vec{n}}|} \Omega_{\text{swim}}^{\text{max}} - \vec{\Omega}_{\text{pass.}}^{\perp \hat{\vec{p}}}, \tag{A.5}$$

with $\Omega_{\text{swim}}^{\text{max}}$ the maximal active angular velocity reachable by the swimmer, and $\vec{\Omega}_{\text{pass.}}^{\perp \hat{\vec{p}}} = \vec{\Omega}_{\text{pass.}} - (\vec{\Omega}_{\text{pass.}} \cdot \hat{\vec{p}})\hat{\vec{p}}$ the projection of $\vec{\Omega}_{\text{pass.}}$ on the plane orthogonal to the current swimming direction $\hat{\vec{p}}$. Note that if $\Omega_{\text{swim}}^{\text{max}} \gg |\vec{\Omega}_{\text{pass.}}|$, the plankter can be assumed to reorient instantaneously leading back to $\hat{\vec{p}} = \hat{\vec{n}}_{\text{surf.}}$

Overall, given that plankter can sense all necessary information, the rotational behaviour can be simply adapted to account for these richer rotation dynamics. The overall impact of these passive effects on vertical migration could then be quantitatively evaluated in future numerical studies.

A.2 | Additional translation dynamics

In this section, we discuss off additional translational dynamics that could also be accounted for in plankter dynamics. We first consider settling overdamped limit ($St \ll 1$) but we then extend our study to heavy spherical microswimmers out of that limit.

A.2.1 | Inertialess settling

As described above, settling induces rich rotational dynamics when plankters are not spherical. But regardless of rotation dynamics, settling displays interesting dynamics due to the orientation dependence of the settling velocity $\vec{V}_{term.}$. This dependence is actually important even in the case of instantaneous reorientation as it influences the optimal swimming direction in a linear flow.

To account for different plankter shapes along with settling, the new optimal swimming direction, noted $\hat{n}_{surf,set.}$, is of particular interest to model the actual active behavior of plankters. One can apply the same protocol used to derive the surfing strategy accounting for this effect, and the problem results in finding $\hat{n}_{surf,set.}$ that maximizes

$$f(\hat{\vec{n}}) = \left(\left[V_{\text{swim}} Id - \left(V_{\text{term.}}^{\parallel} - V_{\text{term.}}^{\perp} \right) \left(\hat{\vec{z}}_{g} \cdot \hat{\vec{n}} \right) Id \right] \cdot \exp \left[\tau \left(\vec{\nabla} \vec{u} \right)^{T} \right] \cdot \hat{\vec{z}} \right) \cdot \hat{\vec{n}}.$$
(A.6)

Note the distinction between the actual vertical, noted \hat{z}_g , corresponding to the direction of settling (oriented upwards), and the directional target of the migration \hat{z} . This distinction is important as the optimal solution is dependent of the cases of upwards vertical migration $\hat{z} = \hat{z}_g$ and downward vertical migration $\hat{z} = -\hat{z}_g$.

The maximization of Eq. (A.6) is not trivial, but several specific cases can be considered. Starting with the case of a quiescent or uniform flow $\vec{\nabla} \vec{u} = \mathbf{0}$, the optimal solution for upward vertical migration ($\hat{z} = \hat{z}_g$) is described by

$$\hat{\vec{n}}_{\text{surf,set.}} \cdot \hat{\vec{z}} = \frac{V_{\text{swim}}}{2\left(V_{\text{term.}}^{\parallel} - V_{\text{term.}}^{\perp}\right)} \quad \text{if } V_{\text{swim}} < 2\left(V_{\text{term.}}^{\parallel} - V_{\text{term.}}^{\perp}\right) \quad (A.7a)$$

$$\hat{\vec{n}}_{\text{surf,set.}} = \hat{\vec{z}} \quad \text{otherwise} \quad (A.7b)$$

Note how the optimal swimming direction $\hat{\vec{n}}_{\text{surf,set.}}$ might differ from the vertical $\hat{\vec{z}}$ for small swimming velocities V_{swim} . Indeed, if the difference of settling velocities is large enough $V_{\text{term.}}^{\parallel} - V_{\text{term.}}^{\perp}$, tilting away from the vertical reduces settling and might be advantageous. However if the goal it to maximize settling $\hat{\vec{z}} = -\hat{\vec{z}}_g$ rather than upward migration, this effect vanishes and the optimal orientation would simply reduce to $\hat{\vec{n}}_{\text{surf,set.}} = \hat{\vec{z}}$. Moreover note that when the flow is not quiescent, in the limit $V_{\text{swim}} \gg \left(V_{\text{term.}}^{\parallel} - V_{\text{term.}}^{\perp}\right)$ (corresponding to either no settling or a spherical shape), the effect of settling vanishes and the optimal solution results simply in the surfing strategy $\hat{\vec{n}}_{\text{surf,set.}} = \hat{\vec{n}}_{\text{surf.}}$.

Even though Eq. (A.6) is not solvable analytically in the general case, it can easily be solved using any optimization procedure. For example, one could use the Barzilai-Borwein gradient ascent method (Barzilai and Borwein, 1988; Fletcher, 2005). The optimal value $\hat{n}_{surf,set.} = \lim_{k\to\infty} \hat{n}_k$ can then be formulated as the result of an iterative

procedure

$$\hat{\vec{n}}_{k+1} = \frac{\vec{n}_{k+1}}{|\vec{n}_{k+1}|}$$
with $\vec{n}_{k+1} = \hat{\vec{n}}_k + \frac{\left| \left(\hat{\vec{n}}_k - \hat{\vec{n}}_{k-1} \right) \cdot \left[(\partial f / \partial \hat{\vec{n}}) (\hat{\vec{n}}_k) - (\partial f / \partial \hat{\vec{n}}) (\hat{\vec{n}}_{k-1}) \right] \right|}{\left| (\partial f / \partial \hat{\vec{n}}) (\hat{\vec{n}}_k) - (\partial f / \partial \hat{\vec{n}}) (\hat{\vec{n}}_{k-1}) \right|^2} \frac{\partial f}{\partial \hat{\vec{n}}} (\hat{\vec{n}}_k).$ (A.8)

Note that $\partial f / \partial \vec{n}$ can be computed from Eq. (A.6) resulting in

$$\frac{\partial f}{\partial \hat{\vec{n}}}(\hat{\vec{n}}) = V_{\text{swim}}\vec{n}_{\text{surf}} - \left(V_{\text{term.}}^{\parallel} - V_{\text{term.}}^{\perp}\right) \left[\left(\hat{\vec{z}}_{g} \cdot \hat{\vec{n}}\right)\vec{n}_{\text{surf}} - \left(\vec{n}_{\text{surf}} \cdot \hat{\vec{n}}\right)\hat{\vec{z}}_{g}\right], \quad (A.9)$$

with $\vec{n}_{\text{surf}} = \exp[\tau(\vec{\nabla}\vec{u})^T] \cdot \hat{\vec{z}}$.

This result suggest that additional translation dynamics can significantly impact navigation strategies in the context of plankton dynamics. Still inertialess settling can be accounted for to find a new navigation strategy described by $\hat{n}_{\text{surf,set.}}$. In the context of anisotropic settling plankters, the benefit of this *settling-informed* surfing strategy $(\hat{n} = \hat{n}_{\text{surf,set.}})$ over the original surfing behavior $(\hat{n} = \hat{n}_{\text{surf}})$ is yet to be quantified in turbulence.

A.2.2 | Inertial motion

The dynamics of inertial settling particles in flows apply to numerous fields of physics. In the context meteorology, the impact of turbulence-particle interactions on cloud formation is actively investigated (Vaillancourt and Yau, 2000). Turbulence leads to higher collision rates of cloud droplets and thus has an important role in their growth (Devenish et al., 2012). The physics of settling particles in flows is also crucial in geophysics, in particular to characterize sediment transport (Kok et al., 2012; Wallwork et al., 2022). These effects are also studied in the field of astrophysics (Völk et al., 1980). The clustering effect of turbulent gas is part of the formation of planetesimals, themselves building blocks for the formation of celestial objects (Hartlep and Cuzzi, 2020; Johansen et al., 2014; Völk et al., 1980). Also relevant for industrial applications, one may find particleflow interaction as part of combustion problems, mixing problems, material design and erosion problems (Balachandar and Eaton, 2010; Gustavsson and Mehlig, 2016; Silva et al., 2015).

Discussed below, these abundant studies led to the discovery of inertial passive phenomena that may either enhance or hinder settling. Able to influence vertical migration performance, these inertial passive effects have to be discussed in regard of the surfing strategy. While some effects might hinder particle settling such as vortex trapping (Tooby et al., 1977) or loitering (Nielsen, 1993), generally the flow motion enhance the average settling velocity of passive particles in turbulence via the preferential sweeping mechanism, also called fast tracking (Nielsen, 1993).

This phenomena is successfully described by Maxey and Corrsin (1986) theory. Considering heavy ($\rho_{\text{part.}} \gg \rho_{\text{fluid}}$) particles of small size $d \ll \eta$, Maxey and Corrsin (1986) uses the following model to describe particles motion

$$\frac{d^2 \vec{X}}{dt^2} = \frac{1}{\tau_{\text{delay}}} \left[\left(\vec{u} - \frac{d \vec{X}}{dt} \right) + V_{\text{term.}} \hat{\vec{z}} \right], \qquad (A.10)$$

with $V_{\text{term.}} = \tau_{\text{delay}}g$ the terminal settling velocity of particles in a quiescent fluid, and $\tau_{\text{delay}} = (1/18)\pi d^2 \rho_{\text{part.}}/\mu$ the relaxation time needed to reach that terminal velocity.

Maxey and Corrsin (1986) first observed preferential sweeping from simulations of inertial particles in randomly oriented Taylor-Green Vortices (Chap. 2, Sec. 2.3.1). The maximal speed up observed was up to $V_{\text{eff.}} \approx 8V_{\text{term.}}$ for $V_{\text{term.}} \approx 0.05u_{\text{max}}$ and $\tau_{\text{delay}} = \omega_{\text{max}}$. Maxey (1987a) repeated the numerical experiment in a Gaussian random flow field, representing turbulence, where a maximal speed up of $V_{\text{eff.}} \approx (1/2)V_{\text{term.}}$ has been observed for $V_{\text{term.}} \approx 0.4u_{\text{rms}}$ and $\tau_{\text{delay}} \approx T_L$ with T_L the large-eddy turnover time (Chap. chap:numeric, Sec. chap:sec:numeric_hit). Inducing a centrifugal force, inertia effects sweep away particles from vortices, propelling them in beneficial strain regions of the flow.

Verified in direct numerical simulations of homogeneous isotropic turbulence, Wang and Maxey (1993) show this effects to be particularly strong for $V_{\text{term.}}/u_{\eta} \approx 1$ and $\tau_{\text{delay}}/\tau_{\eta} \approx 1$. In that case, they show settling can be sped up by 50%. Since then, preferential sweeping has been observed in a wide variety of simulations (Bragg et al., 2021; Ireland et al., 2016; Tom and Bragg, 2019) and experiments (Petersen et al., 2019; Sumbekova et al., 2017) and in a few field measures (Li et al., 2021).

The motion of planktonic organisms, rarely much heavier than water, is not completely captured by the model of Eq. (A.10). However, this simple model is sufficiently complex to display non trivial inertial effects that deserve attention as a first step towards inertial planktonic navigation.

We define settling performance as a long term average downward displacement similarly to the swimming performance [Chap. 2, Sec. 2.1, Eq. (2.15)]

$$V_{\text{eff.}} = \lim_{T \to \infty} \frac{\vec{X}(T) - \vec{X}(0)}{T} \cdot \hat{\vec{z}}, \qquad (A.11)$$

with \vec{X} the particle position and $\hat{\vec{z}} = \hat{\vec{g}}$ the vertical direction **now oriented downwards**. Settling performance is plotted as a function of inertial delay *A*.11 in Fig. A.4. We ob-



Figure A.4: Influence of the inertial delay τ_{delay} on the settling speed of particles. Shaded area represents the 95% confidence interval. Parameters: $Re_{\lambda} = 11$, $V_{term.} = u_{\eta}$.

serve a maximal settling enhancement of 17% for $\tau_{\text{delay}} = 3\tau_{\eta}/4 \approx \tau_{\eta}$. This effect is already well understood and described by the theory of Maxey (1987a) for small values of the Stokes number $St = \tau_{\text{delay}}/\tau_{\eta}$, that has been recently extended to larger Stokes numbers by Tom and Bragg (2019).

Our aim here is to reinterpret this preferential sweeping effect in the context of the surfing strategy. Surfing is an approximate solution of vertical migration (or settling) maximization. The result in the context of a kinematic description of motion. Our results remain valid regardless of the kinematic motion mechanism, that can either be active control, inertia or a combination of both. We then look for a kinematic equation motion able to describe correctly the motion of inertial particles. To do so, we use a similar approach to that used in equilibrium-Eulerian methods to simulate particle loaded flows (Balachandar and Eaton, 2010; Cerminara et al., 2016; Ferry and Balachandar, 2001; Ferry et al., 2003). First, if $\tau_{delay} \ll \tau_{\eta}$, one can assume that $d^2\vec{X}/dt^2 \approx d\vec{u}/dt$. If this assumption is used in the equation of motion described in Eq. (A.10), we obtain

$$\left(Id + \tau_{\text{delay}}\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}\right) \cdot \frac{dX}{dt} = \vec{u} + V_{\text{term.}}\hat{\vec{z}} - \tau_{\text{delay}}\frac{\partial\vec{u}}{dt},\tag{A.12}$$

with *Id* the identity matrix. This implicit expression can be be solved with any linear

solver and in the case where the matrix $(Id + \tau_{delay} \vec{\nabla} \vec{u})$ is inversible, one obtain the following kinematic formulation of the inertial motion of particles

$$\frac{d\vec{X}}{dt} = \left(Id + \tau_{\text{delay}}\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}\right)^{-1} \cdot \left(\vec{u} + V_{\text{term.}}\hat{\vec{z}} - \tau_{\text{delay}}\frac{\partial\vec{u}}{dt}\right).$$
(A.13)

This kinematic model is used to integrate particle trajectories in our simulation of turbulence. We show in Fig. A.4 that this kinematic model enables to capture fairly well the settling efficiency of inertial particles for moderate inertial delays $\tau_{delay} \lesssim \tau_{\eta}$. Note the explosion of the uncertainty for the largest inertial delays. This is simply due to the singularity of the model that occurs when $Id + \tau_{delay} \vec{\nabla} \vec{u}$ is close of not being inversible. This singularity is discussed in Ferry and Balachandar (2001) and several methods can be used to limit the effect of this singularity.

A.2.2.1 | Heavy inertial surfing strategy

Starting from Eq. (A.12), and deploying the same protocol that led to the surfing strategy, one may take into account weak inertia to adapt the surfing direction

$$\hat{\vec{n}}_{\text{surf,inert.}} = \frac{\vec{n}_{\text{surf,inert.}}}{|\vec{n}_{\text{surf,inert.}}|},$$
with $\vec{n}_{\text{surf,inert.}} = \left[\exp\left(\tau \left[Id + \tau_{\text{delay}}\left(\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}\right)\right]^{-1}\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}\right) \left[Id + \tau_{\text{delay}}\left(\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}\right)\right]^{-1}\right]^{T} \cdot \hat{\vec{z}}.$
(A.14)

The performance of that new surfing strategy is then tested in our simulations and compared to simple settling inertial particles and to inertial surfers that do not adapt to their inertia (Fig. A.5). We observe even without anticipating, the surfing strategy is already effective in an inertial context and can perform much better than passive settling particles. On the contrary the inertial surfing strategy, while it provides a slight advantage for small values of τ_{delay} , the performance drops much faster than the actual surfing strategy for large values of τ_{delay} , as the kinematic model breaks down.

A.2.2.2 | Estimation of settling performance

To grasp a better understanding of these dynamics, we now look for an estimate of settling performance in the context of inertial particles. To obtain this estimate, we apply exactly the same protocol that is used in Chap. 3, Sec. 3.5 to estimate surfing performance. The main idea is to model the flow experienced by these inertial particles as a succession of linear flows that remain the same for a duration *T*. Considering a given



Figure A.5: Influence of the inertial delay τ_{delay} on surfing performance. Shaded area represents the 95% confidence interval. Parameters: $Re_{\lambda} = 11$, $V_{\text{term.}} = V_{\text{swim}} = u_{\eta}$.

linear flow of this succession, that flow is characterized by a velocity \vec{u}_0 at $\vec{x} = \vec{0}$ and t = 0, a constant gradient tensor $\nabla \vec{u}$ and a constant flow acceleration $\partial \vec{u}/\partial t$. The flow velocity field then reads

$$\vec{u}(\vec{x},t) = \vec{u}_0 + \vec{\nabla}\vec{u}\cdot\vec{x} + \frac{\partial\vec{u}}{\partial t}t.$$
(A.15)

Injecting this expression in the kinematic equation of motion (A.13) leads to

$$\frac{d\vec{X}}{dt} = \left(Id + \tau_{\text{delay}}\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}\right)^{-1} \cdot \left[\vec{u}_0 + \vec{\nabla}\vec{u}\cdot\vec{X} + V_{\text{term.}}\hat{\vec{z}} + (t - \tau_{\text{delay}})\frac{\partial\vec{u}}{dt}\right].$$
 (A.16)

The trajectory of such can then be integrated obtaining a similar expression to that of Eq. (2.18), used to derive the surfing strategy in Chap. 2, Sec. 2.2.1, that is then averaged over all possible values of \vec{u} and $\partial \vec{u} / \partial t$

$$\left\langle \vec{X}(T) \right\rangle_{\vec{u}_0,\partial\vec{u}/\partial t} = V_{\text{term.}} \int_0^T \exp\left[(T-t) \left(Id + \tau_{\text{delay}} \vec{\nabla} \vec{u} \right)^{-1} \vec{\nabla} \vec{u} \right] \cdot \left(Id + \tau_{\text{delay}} \vec{\nabla} \vec{u} \right)^{-1} \cdot \hat{\vec{z}} dt,$$
(A.17)

with *T* the final time after which $\vec{\nabla} \vec{u}$ changes.

With $\tau = T - t$ the time remaining before a new value of the gradients $\nabla \vec{u}$ is set, the average velocity of the settling particle is expressed as

$$\left\langle \frac{d\vec{X}}{dt} \right\rangle_{\vec{u}_0,\partial\vec{u}/\partial t} = V_{\text{term.}} \exp\left[\tau \left(Id + \tau_{\text{delay}} \vec{\nabla}\vec{u}\right)^{-1} \vec{\nabla}\vec{u}\right] \cdot \left(Id + \tau_{\text{delay}} \vec{\nabla}\vec{u}\right)^{-1} \cdot \hat{\vec{z}}.$$
 (A.18)

We now decompose the influence of the strain part of the flow ($S = \text{sym } \nabla \vec{u}$) and the rotation part of the flow ($\Omega = \text{skew } \nabla \vec{u}$) on the effective settling velocity $V_{\text{eff.}}$ of the inertial particles. Refer to Chap. 2, Sec.2.2.3 for more details about this decomposition.

A.2.2.3 | Strain rate S

We first start by assessing the contribution of the strain rate tensor (*S*) on settling performance. Similarly to the derivation of surfing performance, we need to consider that each component of the gradient are independent of each other. This ensures the tractability of the expression even though it is known that these components are correlated (Buaria and Pumir, 2022). In the limit of this assumption, if the expression is averaged over all possible values of Ω , we obtain the following proportionality relation

$$\left\langle \frac{d\vec{X}}{dt} \right\rangle_{\vec{u}_0,\partial\vec{u}/\partial t,\Omega} \propto V_{\text{term.}} \exp\left[\tau \left(Id + \tau_{\text{delay}}S\right)^{-1}S\right] \cdot \left(Id + \tau_{\text{delay}}S\right)^{-1} \cdot \hat{\vec{z}}.$$
 (A.19)

In practice the proportionality coefficient is a function of both the statistics of the rotational part the gradient tensor Ω and the inertial delay τ_{delay} . Nevertheless, the contribution of Ω is ignored for now.

We now consider then the orthonormal basis of the velocity gradient composed of the flow velocity gradients eigenvectors $(\hat{e}_{\alpha}, \hat{e}_{\beta}, \hat{e}_{\gamma})$. Their respective eigenvalues read $\alpha \ge \beta \ge \gamma$, with $\gamma = -(\alpha + \beta)$ due to flow incompressibility. In this case, for a given orientation of the gradient tensor with respect to the settling direction \hat{z} , the particle velocity then reads

$$\left\langle \frac{d\vec{X}}{dt} \right\rangle_{\vec{u}_0,\partial\vec{u}/\partial t,\boldsymbol{\Omega}} \propto V_{\text{term.}} \left[\frac{e^{\tau\alpha/(1+\tau_{\text{delay}}\alpha)}}{1+\tau_{\text{delay}}\alpha} z_{\alpha} \hat{\vec{e}}_{\alpha} + \frac{e^{\tau\beta/(1+\tau_{\text{delay}}\beta)}}{1+\tau_{\text{delay}}\beta} z_{\beta} \hat{\vec{e}}_{\beta} + \frac{e^{-\tau(\alpha+\beta)/(1-\tau_{\text{delay}}[\alpha+\beta])}}{1-\tau_{\text{delay}}(\alpha+\beta)} z_{\gamma} \hat{\vec{e}}_{\gamma} \right]$$
(A.20)

Note the singularity for $\tau_{delay} = \alpha + \beta$. Furthermore, in homogeneous isotropic turbulence, the most probable state of the eigenvalues is for the two largest of them to be equal: $\alpha = \beta$ (Lund and Rogers, 1994). With $\delta \equiv \alpha = \beta$ and $\gamma = -2\delta$, the expression further reduces to

$$\left\langle \frac{d\vec{X}}{dt} \right\rangle_{\vec{u}_0,\partial\vec{u}/\partial t,\boldsymbol{\Omega}} \propto V_{\text{term.}} \left[\frac{e^{\tau\delta/(1+\tau_{\text{delay}}\delta)}}{1+\tau_{\text{delay}}\delta} \left(z_\alpha \hat{\vec{e}}_\alpha + z_\beta \hat{\vec{e}}_\beta \right) + \frac{e^{-2\tau\delta/(1-2\tau_{\text{delay}}\delta)}}{1-2\tau_{\text{delay}}} z_\gamma \hat{\vec{e}}_\gamma \right].$$
(A.21)

We may then assess the coefficient of proportionality expecting the averaged velocity of inertialess ($\tau_{\text{delay}} = 0$) spherical particles is $V_{\text{term.}}\hat{z}$. The average velocity is then ex-

pressed as

$$\left\langle \frac{d\vec{X}}{dt} \right\rangle_{\vec{u},\partial\vec{u}/\partial t,\Omega} \approx \frac{V_{\text{term.}}}{2e^{T\delta} + e^{-2T\delta}} \left[\frac{e^{\tau\delta/(1+\tau_{\text{delay}}\delta)}}{1+\tau_{\text{delay}}\delta} \left(z_{\alpha}\hat{\vec{e}}_{\alpha} + z_{\beta}\hat{\vec{e}}_{\beta} \right) + \frac{e^{-2\tau\delta/(1-2\tau_{\text{delay}}\delta)}}{1-2\tau_{\text{delay}}\delta} z_{\gamma}\hat{\vec{e}}_{\gamma} \right].$$
(A.22)

From this expression can be evaluated an estimation of the contribution of the pure shear part of the flow on settling performance by computing $V_{\text{eff.}} = \partial \vec{X} / \partial t \cdot \hat{z}$. Averaging this product over all possible orientations of \hat{z} with respect to the basis $(\hat{e}_{\alpha}, \hat{e}_{\beta}, \hat{e}_{\gamma})$ leads to the final expression

$$\langle V_{\text{eff.}} \rangle_{\vec{u}_0, \partial \vec{u}/\partial t, \Omega, \hat{\vec{z}}} \approx \frac{V_{\text{term.}}}{2e^{T\delta} + e^{-2T\delta}} \left[\frac{2e^{\tau\delta/(1+\tau_{\text{delay}}\delta)}}{1+\tau_{\text{delay}}\delta} + \frac{e^{-2\tau\delta/(1+\tau_{\text{delay}}\delta)}}{1-2\tau_{\text{delay}}\delta} \right].$$
(A.23)

As stated above, the proportionality coefficient should depend on the inertial delay τ_{delay} in practice, if the contribution of Ω is taken into account. This is ignored for now. The final expression [Eq. A.22] is plotted in Fig. A.4. The values of δ and τ used for the plot are those obtained by fitting in Chap. 3, Sec. 3.4.1. As shown in the figure, the contribution of *S* actually hinders settling.

A.2.2.4 | Rotation rate Ω

We now focus on the contribution of the rotation rate of the flow (Ω) on settling performance. We apply the same protocole than above, briefly summarized here. We first note that

$$\left(Id + \tau_{\text{delay}}\Omega\right)^{-1} = \frac{Id - \tau_{\text{delay}}\Omega}{1 + (\tau_{\text{delay}}\omega/2)^2}$$
(A.24)

with $\omega = |\vec{\omega}|$ the norm of vorticity. Accounting only for the contribution of the rotational part of the flow, the average particle velocity is expressed as

$$\left\langle \frac{d\vec{X}}{dt} \right\rangle_{\vec{u}_0,\partial\vec{u}/\partial t,S} \propto \frac{V_{\text{term.}}}{1 + (\tau_{\text{delay}}\omega/2)^2} \exp\left[\frac{\tau \left(\boldsymbol{\Omega} - \tau_{\text{delay}}\boldsymbol{\Omega}^2\right)}{1 + (\tau_{\text{delay}}\omega/2)^2}\right] \cdot \left(\boldsymbol{Id} - \tau_{\text{delay}}\boldsymbol{\Omega}\right) \cdot \hat{\vec{z}}.$$
 (A.25)

After simplification, we can write this expression conveniently

$$\left\langle \frac{d\vec{X}}{dt} \right\rangle_{\vec{u}_0,\partial\vec{u}/\partial t,S} \propto \frac{V_{\text{term.}}}{1 + (\tau_{\text{delay}}\omega/2)^2} S_{\perp\hat{\omega}} (e^{\frac{\tau\tau_{\text{delay}}(\omega/2)^2}{1 + (\tau_{\text{delay}}\omega/2)^2}}) \cdot \exp\left(\frac{\tau \,\boldsymbol{\Omega}}{1 + (\tau_{\text{delay}}\omega/2)^2}\right) \cdot \left(Id - \tau_{\text{delay}}\boldsymbol{\Omega}\right) \cdot \hat{\vec{z}}$$
(A.26)

where $S_{\perp \hat{\vec{b}}}(a) = aId - (a-1)(\hat{\vec{b}} \times \hat{\vec{b}})$ corresponds to a stretching transformation matrix of intensity *a* in the plane orthogonal to the unit vector $\hat{\vec{b}}$. Note the commutativity of each of the matrix terms above and can be written in any particular order. Each of the multiplicative terms contribute differently to the average particle motion:

- The term $\exp(\tau \Omega/(1 + (\tau_{delay}\omega/2)^2))$ corresponds to the transformation matrix causing a rotation of angle $\tau \omega/(2 + 2(\tau_{delay}\omega/2)^2)$ along the axis $\hat{\omega}$. This term characterizes the direct effect of flow vorticity on the trajectory and is the only term that would also affect inertialess settling ($\tau_{delay} = 0$). Note however that inertia tend to decrease this effect as τ_{delay} increases.
- If particles are weakly inertial $\tau_{delay}\omega \ll 1$, the term $Id \tau_{delay}\Omega$ actually corresponds to a counter rotation compared to the previous term $Id \tau_{delay}\Omega = \exp(-\tau_{delay}\Omega) + O(\tau_{delay}\omega)$. Note the similitude with the skew-symmetric surfing strategy: $\hat{n}_{surf,\Omega} = \exp(-\tau_{delay}\Omega) \cdot \hat{z}$. As previously described for surfing, this term is responsible of preferential flow sampling that leads eventually to enhanced settling. This contribution is maximal for $\tau_{delay} = \tau$. However, the settling velocity is also influenced by the other two terms, that eventually impact the value of τ_{delay} for which settling is maximal.

 $\tau \tau_{\rm delay} (\omega/2)^2$

- The final matrix term S_{⊥∞}(e^{1+(τ_{delay}ω/2)²}) corresponds to a stretching transformation in the plane orthogonal to the vorticity w. This stretching also contributes to faster settling as it accentuates the movement of settling particles in plane orthogonal to vorticity. Starting with no influence for inertialess particles τ_{delay} = 0, this effect becomes stronger as the inertial lag τ_{delay} increases until a maximum is reached for τ_{delay} = 2/ω. For larger inertial delays τ_{delay} → +∞, this effect disappears eventually: e^{ττ_{delay}(ω/2)²}/_{1+(τ_{delay}ω/2)²} ~ e<sup>τ/τ_{delay} → 1.
 </sup>
- Finally the scalar term $1/[1 + (\tau_{delay}\omega/2)^2]$ decreases with τ_{delay} . This term contributes to the overall compression of the particle trajectory that hinders the effective settling speed.

Note well that these result are based on the assumption that $d^2\vec{X}/dt^2 = d^2\vec{u}/dt^2$. This is only expected to be valid for $\tau_{\text{delay}} \lesssim \tau$.

We now compute the expected settling speed by computing the dot product $\partial \dot{X} / \partial t \cdot \hat{z}$. Note that we use $Id - \tau_{delay} \Omega \approx \exp(-\tau_{delay} \Omega)$ for the sake of simplicity. With this simplification, we obtain

$$\langle V_{\text{eff.}} \rangle_{\vec{u},\partial\vec{u}/\partial t,\Omega,S} \propto \frac{V_{\text{term.}}}{1 + (\tau_{\text{delay}}\omega/2)^2} \left[e^{\frac{\tau \tau_{\text{delay}}(\omega/2)^2}{1 + (\tau_{\text{delay}}\omega/2)^2}} \cos\left(\omega \left[\frac{\tau}{1 + (\tau_{\text{delay}}\omega/2)^2} - \tau_{\text{delay}}\right]/2\right) z_{\perp\hat{\omega}}^2 + z_{\omega}^2 \right]$$
(A.27)

When averaged over all possible orientation of $\hat{\vec{z}}$, the settling reads

$$\langle V_{\text{eff.}} \rangle_{\vec{u},\partial\vec{u}/\partial t,\Omega,S,\hat{\vec{z}}} \propto \frac{1}{3} \frac{V_{\text{term.}}}{1 + (\tau_{\text{delay}}\omega/2)^2} \left[2e^{\frac{\tau\tau_{\text{delay}}(\omega/2)^2}{1 + (\tau_{\text{delay}}\omega/2)^2}} \cos\left(\omega \left[\frac{\tau}{1 + (\tau_{\text{delay}}\omega/2)^2} - \tau_{\text{delay}}\right]/2\right) + 1 \right]$$

$$(A.28)$$

The proportionality coefficient is finally obtained by evaluating the performance for inertialess particles and the settling speed is expressed as

$$\langle V_{\text{eff.}} \rangle_{\vec{u},\partial\vec{u}/\partial t,\boldsymbol{\Omega},\boldsymbol{S},\hat{\vec{z}}} \approx V_{\text{term.}} \frac{2e^{\frac{\tau\tau_{\text{delay}}(\omega/2)^2}{1+(\tau_{\text{delay}}\omega/2)^2}} \cos\left(\omega\left[\frac{\tau}{1+(\tau_{\text{delay}}\omega/2)^2}-\tau_{\text{delay}}\right]/2\right)+1}{\left[1+(\tau_{\text{delay}}\omega/2)^2\right]\left[2\cos(\omega\tau/2)+1\right]}.$$
 (A.29)

This model is plotted in Fig. A.4 with the value of ω and τ used for the plot are those obtained by fitting in Chap. 3, Sec. 3.4.1. While the model completely overshoots the settling performance, it shows that the contribution of the skew symmetric part of the flow is the actual cause of enhanced settling performance.

Similarly to what has been done in Chap. 3, Sec. 3.4.1, one could improve the model by assuming a Gaussian distribution of vorticity and one could apply a similar approach to obtain an estimation that depend on both contributions at the same time. As this is not the main interest of this study, we leave these aspects for future research.

Larval dispersion and settlement

Many marine organisms, such as oysters and many of the see snails, are sedentary during their adult stage. Their only chance to disperse and find new habitats to settle is during their larval stage as plankters. It then takes a few generations for a population to migrate. This larval dispersion is then essential to explore the widest horizontal surface possible. To do so, many of these larvae navigate upwards when first released to escape the seafloor and catch up with strong surface horizontal currents (Kingsford et al., 2002; McEdward, 2020; Welch and Forward, 2001). When ready to settle, they navigate back downwards to find a substrate.

The dynamics can then be decompose in four phases corresponding to different navigation problems:

- the vertical migration to escape the seafloor,
- the foraging of large scale horizontal currents,
- the downward vertical migration to get closer to the seafloor,
- and the proper settlement on the final substrate.

Vertical migration has already been extensively treated throughout this study and wont be further discussed in this section. Therefore the following discussion first focuses on the settlement on a substrate. We particularly focus on the case of vertical substrate that cannot be reached following gravity alone. We then discuss on how plankters could forage large scale horizontal currents. We further show that, as is, the surfing strategy can already be used to this end.
B.1 | Foraging walls: a turbophoretic strategy

Numerous marine species need to settle immersed rocks or any other submerged solid substrate in their larval stage to progress to their adult stage (Crimaldi et al., 2002; Eckman and Duggins, 1998; Fuchs et al., 2007). Oyster larvae, (Fuchs et al., 2013, 2015b) and barnacle larvae (Larsson et al., 2016) are a few examples in many.

To do so, many larvae are know to display a sinking behavior in response to turbulence while swimming upwards in quiescent waters (Crimaldi et al., 2002; Fuchs et al., 2007). Oyster larvae even tend to actively dive in response to turbulence (Fuchs et al., 2013). Their natural settling habitat being strongly turbulent, this sinking and diving behavior enhances the settling rate on the seafloor in suitable habitats. However, relying on gravity alone is not enough to settle on vertical substrates. Therefore, if the direction towards a vertical substrate can be deduced from local flow sensing, this ability would provide an essential evolutionary advantage that enables to find more suitable habitats. So how can plankter use flow sensing be used to migrate towards these nearby substrates?

Before addressing this question, we highlight that passive mechanisms can reproduce the same effect. For instance heavy inertial particles are well known to exhibit this very behavior, generally called *turbophoresis* (Caporaloni et al., 1975; Reeks, 1983). This effect causes inertial particles to move out intense turbulent regions. Such particles then eventually end up in the near-walls viscous region (Guha, 1997, 2008; Johnson et al., 2020). Rather than a passive effect, we look for an active behavior that causes similar *turbophoretic* dynamics using only a local measure of the flow.



Figure B.1: Schematic of the channel flow of the Johns Hop-kins Databases.

To discuss this question, we consider the turbulent channel flow of the Johns Hopkins databases. We briefly describe this case here while extensive details have been provided in Chap. 4 Sec. 4.1.2. The simulation case corresponds to the a fluid flow between two walls separated by a height of 2h. The boundary conditions are set periodic in the longitudinal and transverse directions. We note, $\hat{\vec{e}}_1$ the direction of the mean flow, $\hat{\vec{e}}_2$ the direction normal to the walls, and $\hat{\vec{e}}_3$ the transverse direction (Fig. B.1). We also refer to $\hat{\vec{e}}_2$ as the vertical below.

The flow viscosity always imposes the velocity of flows to match the velocity of their solid boundaries near them. Their presence in flows then causes the generation of strong velocity gradients at proximity. Therefore, in general, the strongest flow velocity gradients are found near solid flow boundaries. Given the ability to sense the flow, plankters could then look for the direction $\hat{\vec{z}}_{turb}$ in which the gradient intensity, $|\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}|$, increases. Using a gradient ascent approach, this direction is simply obtained by taking the gradient of this quantity: $\vec{\nabla} |\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}|$. The direction to follow can then be expressed as

$$\hat{\vec{z}}_{\text{turb.}} = \frac{\vec{z}_{\text{turb.}}}{|\vec{z}_{\text{turb.}}|} \quad \text{with} \quad z_{\text{turb.},k} = \frac{1}{|\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}|} \sum_{i} \sum_{j} \frac{\partial u_{i}}{\partial x_{j}} \frac{\partial^{2} u_{i}}{\partial x_{j} \partial x_{k}}, \tag{B.1}$$

with $z_{\text{turb.},k} = \vec{z}_{\text{turb.}} \cdot \hat{\vec{e}}_k$. Note that, depending on the turbophoretic behavior wanted, a plankter may either swim in the direction $\hat{\vec{n}}_{\text{turb.}}$ to search for solid substrates or try to swim in the opposite direction and then getting away from them.

Note however that the evaluation of this direction however requires to measure the second order spatial derivatives of the flow velocity field. Plankters should be able to approximate these second order derivatives given that the flow velocity gradients $\nabla \vec{u}$ are measured at several positions on their body. Moreover, locating the source of a flow intensity (and therefore, finding the maxima of gradient intensity) is a common problem for prey or predator detection for which some pankters are known to be very effective (Jiang et al., 2002; Kiørboe and Visser, 1999; Kiørboe et al., 1999). Therefore even though such turbophoretic behavior may be more complex [for instance flow measure depends on plankter orientation (Fields, 2010)] modelling turbophoretic plankters by making them swim in the direction \hat{z}_{turb} should lead to the correct qualitative behavior overall. The effect would however be overestimated if sensing limitations are not taken into account. To model more complex and limited behaviors, one could use for instance the triangulation behavior proposed by Redaelli et al. (2021).

This turbophoretic behavior based on local flow information inherits the same curse that all gradient ascent possess: it leads towards the local maxima of the gradient tensor intensity. Due to turbulent fluctuations, most of the time, these local maxima would not correspond to the position of the wall, and \hat{z}_{turb} would not necessarily point towards the wall at all times. This is illustrated in Fig. B.2(a) where we plot the instantaneous value of \hat{z}_{turb} for various positions in the turbulent channel flow presented above. Therefore, to be useful, this information has to be averaged either over time (either through memory or by repeatedly swimming in that direction over time) or over space if the size of the sensors enables such average. This is illustrated in Fig. B.3(b) where we plot the value of $\langle \vec{z}_{turb.} \rangle_{x_3,t} / |\langle \vec{z}_{turb.} \rangle_{x_3,t}|$ (average over the transverse direction and over time) for various positions of the vertical centerplane in the turbulent channel flow presented above.

Once the direction in which to go is determined, the question of how to control the preferred swimming direction $\hat{\vec{n}}$ to migrate as fast as possible in that direction arises. Therefore, combining the direction $\hat{\vec{z}}_{turb}$ with the surfing strategy leads to a first attempt



Figure B.2: The turbophoresis direction $\vec{n}_{turb.}$ [Eq. (B.1)] give the direction to the nearest wall. (a) Instantaneous value $\hat{\vec{n}}_{turb.}$ in the vertical centerplane and (b) averaged value $\langle \vec{n}_{turb.} \rangle_{x_3,t} / |\langle \vec{n}_{turb.} \rangle_{x_3,t}|$ as a function of position in the channel flow of the Johns Hopkins turbulence databases.

of simple physics-based navigation method that could be used to navigate efficiently towards flow boundaries. This model may be further improved using an adaptive time horizon proposed in Chap. 4 Sec. 4.1, as this problem implies navigation through heterogeneous turbulence. Accounting for this arguments, this would result in the following

$$\hat{\vec{n}}_{\text{surf,turb.}} = \frac{\vec{n}_{\text{surf,turb.}}}{|\vec{n}_{\text{surf,turb.}}|}, \quad \text{with} \quad \vec{n}_{\text{surf,turb.}} = \left[\exp\left(\alpha_{\tau}\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}/|S|\right)\right]^{T} \cdot \hat{\vec{z}}_{\text{turb.}}. \tag{B.2}$$

To complete the model, if an average value the average value $\langle \vec{n}_{turb.} \rangle / |\langle \vec{n}_{turb.} \rangle|$ cannot be evaluted due to memory or filtering limitations, one may consider to modulate swimming velocity $V_{swim,turb.} \propto |\vec{z}_{turb.}|$ so that the average preferred swimming direction reads

$$\frac{\left\langle V_{\text{swim,turb.}} \hat{\vec{n}}_{\text{turb.}} \right\rangle_{\vec{X},t}}{\left\langle V_{\text{swim,turb.}} \right\rangle_{\vec{X},t}} = \left\langle \vec{z}_{\text{turb.}} \right\rangle_{\vec{X},t} / \left| \left\langle \vec{z}_{\text{turb.}} \right\rangle_{\vec{X},t} \right|$$
(B.3)

Beneficial surfing performance was observed when the target direction \hat{z} was oriented normal to the flow boundaries (Chap. 4, Sec. 4.1.2), thus demonstrating the flow can also

be used to reach faster flow boundaries. However, the wall normal $\hat{\vec{e}}_2$ was directly given. So how does this holds for an uncertain estimate of this direction $\hat{\vec{z}}_{turb.}$, dependent of the local flow measure? The strategy defined by Eqs. (B.2) and (B.3) could be used as a reference navigation model to answer this question in future studies.

Note that turbophoresis is a navigation problem that has significance for larval dispersion but also to describe active responses of planktonic organisms to turbulence. Indeed, many planktonic species are known to react to turbulence intensity. For example, some copepod species exhibit turbulence escaping behaviors (Schmitt et al., 2011; Visser et al., 2001). This behaviour is generally believed to mitigate their food foraging efficiency with predation risks (Visser et al., 2009). When no mean flow is present, the intensity of the flow velocity gradients is maximal in strong turbulence. Therefore a strategy that maximizes or minimizes the gradient intensity, as the one described, could lead to similar responses to turbulence.

Overall this navigation problem is particularly complex and interesting as it includes two aspects of navigation: (1) determining where the target is (2) and navigating efficiently towards it. In the model proposed above, both these aspects of the problem are treated separately and combined afterwards to obtain the preferred swimming direction $\hat{n}_{surf,turb.}$. Future approaches that do not rely on this separation would certainly bring to light more intricate behaviors that account for the interdependence off these two aspects of the problem. In regard of the recent advances, the use of reinforcement learning techniques would certainly be particularly appropriate to this end, using the model above as a reference comparative model.

B.2 | Foraging large scale horizontal currents

We now focus on the stage corresponding to the foraging of strong large scale currents, which would contribute actively to the horizontal dispersion of planktonic larvae. Formally, our interest relies here in a single point dispersion problem where the horizontal displacement with respect to an Eulerian initial position (corresponding to where the larvae was released for instance) is to be maximized, after a large time *T*, regardless of the horizontal direction of that displacement. We further focus on the case for which a mean horizontal flow exists, represented by the turbulent channel flow given obtained from the Johns Hopkins turbulence databases. Simplified by these assumptions, we also separate the problem in two aspects: (1) finding the direction of the mean flow and (2) maximizing the overall displacement in that direction.

Being unable to measure directly the flow velocity, computing the direction of the



Figure B.3: Estimated flow direction $\hat{\vec{n}}_{\text{flow}}$ [Eq. (B.4)] as function of a local flow measure. (a) Instantaneous value $\hat{\vec{n}}_{\text{flow}}$ in the vertical centerplane and (b) averaged value $\langle \vec{n}_{\text{flow}} \rangle_{x_{3,t}} / |\langle \vec{n}_{\text{flow}} \rangle_{x_{3,t}}|$ as a function of position in the channel flow of the Johns Hopkins turbulence databases.

mean flow from the flow velocity gradients alone requires to be crafty. We may start by evaluating the previously described direction $\hat{z}_{turb.}$, that estimates the direction towards the nearest wall. Knowing that the mean flow is orthogonal to the wall normal, we expect an estimate of the mean flow direction to be expressed as a cross product of $\hat{z}_{turb.}$. Furthermore, as we expect the mean flow velocity gradient to form along the wall normal, the mean flow vorticity is in the plane orthogonal to both the wall normal and the mean flow velocity, therefore the mean flow velocity could be estimated as

$$\hat{\vec{z}}_{\text{flow}} = \frac{\vec{z}_{\text{flow}}}{|\vec{z}_{\text{flow}}|} \quad \text{with} \quad \vec{z}_{\text{flow.}} = \vec{z}_{\text{turb.}} \times \vec{\omega}$$
(B.4)

This expression is evaluated as a function of space in the vertical centerplane of the flow in Fig. B.3(a). As a comparison, we also plot the average value of $\langle \vec{n}_{\text{flow}} \rangle_{x_3,t} / |\langle \vec{n}_{\text{flow}} \rangle_{x_3,t}|$ in Fig. B.3(b).

In a similar manner as the previous section, we can deduce a model navigation strat-



Figure B.4: Surfers are able to exploit the mean gradients in a channel flow with $\hat{z} = \vec{e}_1$ and accumulate in the center of the channel. (a) Centered and normalized effective upward velocity as a function of the swimming velocity V_{swim} . (b) Concentration of surfing plankters as a function of height for various simulation times.

egy for the problem of horizontal dispersion

$$\hat{\vec{n}}_{\text{surf,flow}} = \frac{\vec{n}_{\text{surf,flow}}}{|\vec{n}_{\text{surf,flow}}|}, \quad \text{with} \quad \vec{n}_{\text{surf,flow}} = \left[\exp\left(\alpha_{\tau}\vec{\nabla}\vec{u}/|S|\right)\right]^{T} \cdot \hat{\vec{z}}_{\text{flow}}$$
(B.5a)

$$V_{\rm swim, turb.} \propto |\vec{z}_{\rm flow}|$$
 (B.5b)

As a first step towards the characterization of this navigation problem, we start evaluating the performance of adaptive surfers (parameterized by the parameter α_{τ}) that surf along the direction of the mean flow. To further simplify the problem, the direction of the mean flow is directly given to the surfers $\hat{z} = \hat{e}_1$ rather than evaluated using through the local evaluation of \hat{z}_{flow} . As a consequence, their swimming velocity, V_{swim} , is also fixed. We plot the resulting surfing performance, evaluated as $(\langle V_{eff.} \rangle_N - U_b)/V_{swim}$, as a function of V_{swim} in Fig. B.4(a). The performance metric corresponds to the average effective velocity $\langle V_{eff.} \rangle_N$ reached by surfers in the direction of the mean flow direction \hat{e}_x centered by the bulk velocity U_b (mean flow averaged in the whole channel) and normalized by the swimming velocity V_{swim} . This ensures that the performance of passive particles ($\langle V_{eff.} \rangle_N = U_b$) is 0 and that the performance of plankters swimming straight ($\langle V_{eff.} \rangle_N = U_b + V_{swim}$) is 1.

These results demonstrates the ability of surfers to exploit the flow, but how do surfers do so? In a turbulent flow with no mean, surfers exploit the small turbulent fluctuations to forages small, yet significant currents that carry surfers forward and enhance the overall migration along the target direction \hat{z} . In this case, the presence of a mean large scale gradients changes that if exploited, it would lead to the centerline where the flow velocity is maximal. By successively applying the surfing strategy using the local measure of the gradients, acting as a gradient ascent of u_1 , surfers should also exploit the mean flow velocity gradient in average. Therefore, surfers should converge towards the center of the channel. Indeed this is the effect we show in Fig. B.4(b) where plot the concentration of surfers c as a function of the vertical position x_2 for various simulation times. The concentrate towards the center of the channel by exploiting the mean flow velocity gradient of the flow. This demonstrates then the ability of surfers to not only exploit small scale flow fluctuations but also larger scale flow structures by provoking a mean displacement in response to the mean flow velocity gradient.

Overall the larval dispersion provides a challenging problem to address in the context of plankton migration, that might drive an important part of the behavior of planktonic larvae in nature. While the first steps are presented to characterize this problem in the context of the surfing strategy developed in this thesis, the case considered here is overly simplified. There is room for improvement in term of the complexity of the flow environment (simulate an actual seabed) and the strategy considered (how well would reinforcement learning perform?).

The energetic cost of surfing

It has been shown in Chap. 6, Sec. 6.2, that the metabolic power corresponds to the main source of power consumption in the context of the vertical navigation problem. Therefore we deduced that the application of the surfing strategy would cause be particularly beneficial due to its low energetic cost. However (1) this deduction relies on strong assumptions and (2) the surfing strategy can be applied in a broader context (such as the navigation of artificial microswimmers). Therefore we consider below the case of low metabolic power consumption (relative to the power consumption of the active power): $P_{\text{meta.}} = 0$.

C.1 | The cost of active reorientation

Considering the interesting limit for which $P_{\text{swim}} \gg P_{\text{meta}}$ and $P_{\text{turn}} \gg P_{\text{meta}}$, we evaluate numerically the value of $\langle V_{\text{eff.}} \rangle$ and $\langle \Omega_{\text{swim}}^2 \rangle$ from our numerical simulations for any surfing parameter τ . Figure C.1(a) shows that P_{turn} evolves as τ^2 . This is expected due to the linear dependence on τ of the swimming angular velocity $\Omega_{\text{swim}} \approx \tau |d(\vec{\nabla}\vec{u})^T/dt|$. This can be deduced from the expression of the surfing strategy given in Eq (7.1) for which the derivative can be expressed as the following

$$\frac{d\hat{\vec{n}}_{\text{surf}}}{dt} = \tau \left(Id - \hat{\vec{n}}_{\text{surf}} \otimes \hat{\vec{n}}_{\text{surf}} \right) \cdot \frac{d \left(\vec{\nabla} \vec{u} \right)^T}{dt} \cdot \hat{\vec{n}}_{\text{surf}}.$$
 (C.1)

Moreover, one observes a strong dependence on the swimming velocity V_{swim} of the power consumption. Passing faster through the flow, fast micro-swimmers increase the temporal derivative of their measure. This force surfers to react faster to flow variations, leading to a higher energetic cost.



Figure C.1: Influence of the surfing parameter τ and swimming velocity V_{swim} on rotating energy consumption $P_{\text{turn}} \propto \Omega_{\text{swim}}^2$ [Eq. (6.13b)]. Shaded area represents the 95% confidence interval.

Using this computed value of $P_{\text{turn.}}$, we then compare the energetic efficiency $E_{\text{eff.}}$ of surfers of various swimming speed V_{swim} in Fig. C.1(b) (still assuming that $P_{\text{meta.}} \approx 0$). We observe that the maximal energetic performance is slightly shifted towards smaller values of the surfing parameter τ , for instance $\tau^* \approx 2\tau_{\eta}$ for $V_{\text{swim}} = 4u_{\eta}$, compared to the case without taking energetic cost into account, for which $\tau^* \approx 3\tau_{\eta}$ for $V_{\text{swim}} =$ $4u_{\eta}$ (Fig. 3.9). Note furthermore that swimming speed itself, V_{swim} , has an important impact on energetic performance $E_{\text{eff.}}$, the smaller the swimming velocity, the best the performance.

While surfing could enable plankton to migrate faster for higher values of τ , the energetic cost may not be worth it. This discriminates the cases where power consumption is important. However, if the metabolic power $P_{meta.}$ is high enough, the problem is independent of the power consumption due to active orientation $P_{turn.}$.

C.2 | The cost of swimming: the on/off strategy

Until now, the swimming velocity V_{swim} of plankters was imposed constant. However, if a constant swimming speed V_{swim} is not prescribed, an energy efficient plankter may modulate it to achieve energy efficient vertical migration. While the surfing strategy remains the solution of the *average* swimming direction, one can ask how velocity could be distributed around this average to minimize energy consumption.

As the general problem may be too challenging to address, we consider in this sec-

tion a spherical swimming plankter with no preferred reorientation. The plankter is neither bottom-heavy, neither controls actively its orientation. The evolution of its position \vec{X} and swimming axis $\hat{\vec{p}}$ is then described by

$$\frac{d\vec{X}}{dt} = \vec{u}(\vec{X}, t) + V_{\text{swim}}(t)\,\hat{\vec{p}},\tag{C.2a}$$

$$\frac{d\vec{p}}{dt} = \frac{1}{2}\vec{\omega} \times \hat{\vec{p}},\tag{C.2b}$$

with $V_{swim}(t)$ the time dependent swimming speed and $\vec{\omega}$ the flow vorticity at the plankter's position. Furthermore, we restrict the possible swimming speed to an off/off behavior. Swimming is then triggered when a measured quantity passes over a given threshold. Commonly found in literature, it is often used to model plankton behavior (Dodson et al., 1997; Wheeler et al., 2019; Yamazaki and Kamykowski, 2003). In our study, we consider the following threshold:

$$V_{\rm swim}(t) = \begin{cases} V_{\rm swim} & \forall \, \theta(t) > \theta_{\rm th.} \\ 0 & \text{else} \end{cases}$$
(C.3)

with $\theta_{\text{th.}}$ a threshold angle and $\theta = \theta_{\langle \hat{n} \rangle_{\theta,\phi},\hat{p}}$ the angle between $\langle \hat{n} \rangle_{\theta,\phi}(\vec{\nabla}\vec{u},\hat{z})$ and \hat{p} with $\langle \hat{n} \rangle_{\theta,\phi}$ the preferred average swimming direction of the swimmer.

n swimming waiting

Figure C.2: Illustration of the optimal threshold angle $\theta_{\text{th.}}^*$.

We first asses the power consumption of such a swimmer. As we consider a plankter with no reorientation torque, we can assume in turbulence its orientation is uniformly distributed in all possible orientations. The average swimming power consumed is then obtained by integrating the swimming power consumed over all possible directions

$$\langle P_{\text{swim}} \rangle_{\theta,\phi} = \frac{1}{4\pi} \iint F_{\text{swim}} V_{\text{swim}}(\theta) \sin \theta \, d\theta \, d\phi$$

= $\frac{1}{2} \int_0^{\theta_{\text{th.}}} 3\pi \mu dV_{\text{swim}}^2 \sin \theta \, d\theta$
= $\frac{3}{2} \pi \mu dV_{\text{swim}}^2 \left(1 - \cos \theta_{\text{th.}}\right).$ (C.4)

This results in a estimate of the swimming power as a function of both the swimming velocity V_{swim} and the threshold angle θ_{th} .

The question is to swim as fast a possible in the direction \vec{z} for a given, prescribed swimming power P_{swim} . The only parameter to optimize is the threshold angle $\theta_{\text{th.}}$. We first evaluate the swimming velocity V_{swim} as a function of $\theta_{\text{th.}}$ that ensures the same

average power consumption $\langle P_{swim} \rangle_{\theta,\phi}$

$$V_{\rm swim} = \sqrt{\frac{2 \langle P_{\rm swim} \rangle_{\theta,\phi}}{3\pi\mu d (1 - \cos\theta_{\rm th.})}}.$$
 (C.5)

Then, we assess how the vertical effective swimming velocity evolves with θ . For naive swimmers for which $\hat{\vec{n}} = \hat{\vec{z}}$, we expect the average effective vertical velocity $V_{\text{eff.}}$ being directly proportional to $\cos \theta$. It can then be expressed as the following

$$\langle V_{\text{eff.}} \rangle_{\text{naive}} = \frac{V_{\text{swim}}}{2} \int_{0}^{\theta_{\text{th.}}} \cos\theta \sin\theta \, d\theta = \frac{V_{\text{swim}}}{4} \sin^2\theta_{\text{th.}} = \sqrt{\frac{\langle P_{\text{swim}} \rangle_{\theta,\phi}}{24\pi\mu d}} \frac{\sin^2\theta_{\text{th.}}}{\sqrt{1 - \cos\theta_{\text{th.}}}} \tag{C.6}$$

that is maximized for $\theta_{\text{th.}}^* = \arccos(1/3) \approx 0.39\pi$ (Fig. C.2)

As for reorienting surfers, we expect on/off surfers ($\hat{n} = \hat{n}_{surf}$) to perform better than naive on/off swimmers. If the same improvement is obtained, we expect $\langle V_{eff.} \rangle_{surf} / \langle V_{eff.} \rangle_{naive} = \alpha_{surf} \approx 1.7$ (Fig 3.9b) and

$$\langle V_{\text{eff.}} \rangle_{\text{surf}} = \alpha_{\text{surf}} \sqrt{\frac{\langle P_{\text{swim}} \rangle_{\theta,\phi}}{24\pi\mu d}} \frac{\sin^2 \theta_{\text{th.}}}{\sqrt{1 - \cos \theta_{\text{th.}}}}.$$
 (C.7)

To test this theory, we simulate numerical on/off plankton [Eq. (C.3)] in a turbulent environment of Reynolds number $Re_{\lambda} = 11$. Micro-swimmers are characterizes by their strategy $[\hat{\vec{n}}(t) = \hat{\vec{z}} \text{ or } \hat{\vec{n}}(t) = \hat{\vec{n}}_{surf}]$, their angular threshold $[\theta_{th.}, \text{Eq.}(C.3)]$ and their average swimming power $\langle P_{swim} \rangle_{\theta,\phi}$. Both the naive upward strategy, $\hat{\vec{n}} = \hat{\vec{z}}$, and the surfing strategy, $\hat{\vec{n}} = \hat{\vec{n}}_{surf}$, are tested varying $\theta_{th.}$ from $\pi/10$ to $\pi/2$.

To ensure the same swimming power is used by each micro-swimmer, their swimming velocity when swimming is given by Eq. (C.5) with $\langle P_{swim} \rangle_{\theta,\phi} = P_{swim,target}$. This expression relies on the hypothesis of a uniform angular distribution. This assumption may break down. Simulated micro-swimmers rotate with flow vorticity $\vec{\omega}$. When swimming velocity increases, the correlation time of $\vec{\omega}$ sampled decreases. This should lead to slightly smaller rotational diffusion, thus biasing the orientation distribution (Fig. C.3). The swimming state being more probable than expected, the swimmers with the lowest threshold $\theta_{th.}$ (and thus swimming the fastest instantaneously) should consume slightly more swimming power. As observed in Fig. C.5(a), this decrease in rotational diffusion is negligible and does not cause any effect on the average swimming power consumption of the naive swimmer ($\hat{n} = \hat{z}$).

However, the decrease of the correlation time of the flow velocity gradient $\nabla \vec{u}$ impacts the surfers. Indeed, their flow measure controls their preferred direction $\hat{\vec{n}} = \hat{\vec{n}}_{surf}$. When swimming $\hat{\vec{n}}_{surf}$ varies faster, thus reducing the time for which θ [Eq. (C.5)] remains below the swimming threshold θ_{th} . (Fig. C.4). This decreases the overall time



Figure C.3: Illustration of the rotational diffusion reduction when swimming cause a swimmer to swim more than expected.



Figure C.4: Illustration of the increase of rotational diffusion of the surfing direction causing a swimmer to swim less than expected.



Figure C.5: Influence of the angular threshold $\theta_{\text{th.}}$ [Eq. (C.3)] on swimming power consumption $P_{\text{swim}} \propto \langle V_{\text{swim}}(t)^2 \rangle$ for naive swimmers and surfers and two target swimming powers. Shaded area represents the 95% confidence interval.



Figure C.6: Influence of the angular threshold $\theta_{\text{th.}}$ [Eq. (C.3)] on effective upward velocity $V_{\text{eff.}}$ for naive swimmers and surfers and two target swimming powers. Shaded area represents the 95% confidence interval. Solid lines represent the theory [Eq. (C.7)].

spent in the swimming state compared to the waiting state, thus biasing orientation out of a uniform distribution of orientation of \hat{p} with respect to \hat{n} . Eq. (C.5) thus underestimates the necessary swimming velocity to keep a constant average swimming power $P_{\text{swim,target}}$.

We can then compare the effective vertical swimming velocity $V_{\text{eff.}}$ reached by on/off naive swimmers and surfers for various swimming thresholds $\theta_{\text{th.}}$ (Fig. C.6). We first notice that performance of naive swimmers is correctly predicted by the model described in Eq. (C.6). The performance of surfers is however not completely captured by Eq. (C.7) for the smallest values of $\theta_{\text{th.}}$. This discrepancy is due to the dependence of surfing performance with swimming velocity (which also caused low surfing performance in Fig. C.6(b) corresponding to high swimming power). Indeed, α_{surf} was considered constant to derive the model but in practice it varies and decreases with the swimming velocity V_{swim} . As a consequence, compared to the model, performance slightly drops for the lowest thresholds $\theta_{\text{th.}}$ corresponding to the highest swimming speeds.

Overall, the surfing framework can also be used to find efficient strategies in the context of minimal power consumption.

Runge kutta method

Numerical solvers are used to solve initial value problems of ordinary differential equations

$$\frac{d\vec{y}}{dt} = \vec{f}(t, \vec{y}), \quad \vec{y}(t_0) = \vec{y}_0.$$
 (D.1)

Starting from $t = t_0$ for which $\vec{y} = \vec{y}_0$ is known, we can directly compute the slope $\vec{k}_1 = \vec{f}(t_0, \vec{y}_0)$ of this function. Then approximating \vec{y} to its linear approximation $\vec{y}(t) \approx \vec{y}_0 + (t - t_0)\vec{k}_1$, one can obtain the value $\vec{y}_1 = \vec{y}_0 + \Delta t \vec{k} \approx \vec{y}(t + \Delta t)$ for a prescribed time step Δt . Performing this operation repeatedly leads to the integration of \vec{y} using the Euler method, defined by the following recursion equation

$$\vec{y}_{n+1} = \vec{y}_n + \Delta t f(y_n, t_n),$$
 (D.2)

where $\vec{y}_n = y(t + n \Delta t)$ and $t_n = t + n \Delta t$. Despite the appeal due to its simplicity, this method remains an first-order numerical integration method, meaning the error is proportional to the step size Δt . Any error produced by the method may accumulate over iterations and lead to a large errors over time.

To overcome this issue, one can rely on higher orders methods such as the Runge-Kutta method, that can be seen as a generalization of the Euler method. In this study, the equation of motion is integrated numerically using a 4th order explicit Runge-Kutta method. This method relies on the following recursion law

$$\vec{y}_{n+1} = \vec{y}_n + \Delta t \sum_{i=1}^{s} b_i \vec{k}_i$$
 (D.3)

where b_i are numerical coefficients, called *weights*, that are specific to each particular Runge-Kutta method. The values k_i correspond to the slope \vec{f} evaluated for various intermediate values in time between t_n and t_{n+1} (Fig. D.1). These slope values are eval-



Figure D.1: Illustration of the Runge-Kutta method.

uated as follows

$$k_{i} = f(t_{n} + c_{i}\Delta t, y_{n} + \Delta t \sum_{j=1}^{i-1} a_{i,j}k_{j})$$
(D.4)

with the coefficients c_i called *nodes* and the coefficients $a_{i,j}$ named the Runge-Kutta matrix. All coefficients are generally summed up into the Butcher table to describe a method of the Runge-Kutta family (Tab. D.1). Note that the coefficients of the method need to be chosen carefully so that it converges consistently towards the solution.

In other words, while the Euler method only relies on a single slope \vec{k} evaluated at $t = t_n$, the Runge-Kutta relies on s measures of the slope \vec{k}_i in between t_n and t_{n+1} . Moreover the Euler method corresponds to the Runge-Kutta case $\frac{0}{|1|}$ with s = 1.

In this study a fourth-order Runge-Kutta-Fehlberg method, characterized by the Butcher's table given in Tab. D.2 (Fehlberg, 1968), is used in our in-house open-source code *SHELD0N*¹, to integrate the equation of motion. The code can be setup to integrate plankter trajectories by automatically querying various flow





fields of John Hopkins turbulence database at plankton positions through simulations. It is also able to use local flow databases generated from *SNOOPY* simulations (or from any fluid solver with the same output format) by interpolating the flow field at plankter positions. In this study, we used a fourth-order Lagrange polynomial interpolation to

¹Our in-house code is available at http://www.github.com/COPEPOD/sheldOn.

0						
1/4	1/4					
3/8	3/32	9/32				
12/13	1932/2197	7200/2197	7296/2197			
1	439/216	-8	3680/513	-845/4104		
1/2	-8/27	2	-3544/2565	1859/4104	-11/40	
	16/135	0	6656/12825	28561/56430	-9/50	2/55
	25/216	0	1408/2565	2197/4104	-1/5	0

Table D.2: Butcher's table of the Runge-Kutta-Fehlberg method. The first row of b_i coefficients at the bottom of the table gives a fifth-order method. The second row corresponds to a fourth-order method.

integrate trajectories in our own flow databases while a sixth-order interpolation is performed on query when using the Johns Hopkins turbulence database. Implementation of various analytical flow velocity fields are also provided in which microswimmers trajectories can be integrated.

References

- Adhikari, S., Goswami, A. R., Roy, U. S., Aich, A., Datta, K., and Mukhopadhyay, S. K. Effect of a total solar eclipse on the surface crowding of zooplankton in a freshwater lake ecosystem. *Limnology*, 19(2):253–270, 2018.
- Alageshan, J. K., Verma, A. K., Bec, J., and Pandit, R. Machine learning strategies for path-planning microswimmers in turbulent flows. *Phys. Rev. E*, 101(4):043110–043110, 2020a. doi: 10.1103/PhysRevE.101.043110.
- Alageshan, J. K., Verma, A. K., Bec, J., and Pandit, R. Machine learning strategies for path-planning microswimmers in turbulent flows. *Physical Review E*, 101(4):043110, 2020b.
- Alldredge, A. L. and Silver, M. W. Characteristics, dynamics and significance of marine snow. *Progress in oceanography*, 20(1):41–82, 1988.
- Anand, P., Ray, S. S., and Subramanian, G. Orientation dynamics of sedimenting anisotropic particles in turbulence. *Physical Review Letters*, 125(3):034501, 2020.
- Archibald, K. M., Siegel, D. A., and Doney, S. C. Modeling the impact of zooplankton diel vertical migration on the carbon export flux of the biological pump. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles*, 33(2):181–199, 2019.
- Ardekani, M. N., Sardina, G., Brandt, L., Karp-Boss, L., Bearon, R., and Variano, E. Sedimentation of inertia-less prolate spheroids in homogenous isotropic turbulence with application to non-motile phytoplankton. *Journal of Fluid Mechanics*, 831:655–674, 2017.
- Ashurst, W. T., Kerstein, A., Kerr, R., and Gibson, C. Alignment of vorticity and scalar gradient with strain rate in simulated navier–stokes turbulence. *The Physics of fluids*, 30(8):2343–2353, 1987.
- Avgouleas, K. Optimal ship routing. 2008.

Avgouleas, K. and Sclavounos, P. D. Fuel-efficient ship routing. Nausivios Chora, 5:39-72, 2014.

- Bagøien, E. and Kiørboe, T. Blind dating—mate finding in planktonic copepods. i. tracking the pheromone trail of centropages typicus. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 300:105–115, 2005.
- Bagrow, L. History of cartography. Routledge, 2017.
- Balachandar, S. and Eaton, J. K. Turbulent dispersed multiphase flow. Annual review of fluid mechanics, 42:111-133, 2010.
- Bandara, K., Varpe, Ø., Wijewardene, L., Tverberg, V., and Eiane, K. Two hundred years of zooplankton vertical migration research. *Biological Reviews*, 96(4):1547–1589, 2021.
- Barzilai, J. and Borwein, J. M. Two-point step size gradient methods. IMA journal of numerical analysis, 8(1):141-148, 1988.

Batten, S. D., Abu-Alhaija, R., Chiba, S., Edwards, M., Graham, G., Jyothibabu, R., Kitchener, J. A., Koubbi, P.,

- McQuatters-Gollop, A., Muxagata, E., et al. A global plankton diversity monitoring program. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 6:321, 2019.
- Behrenfeld, M. J. and Boss, E. S. Resurrecting the ecological underpinnings of ocean plankton blooms. *Annu. Rev. Mar. Sci*, 6(1):167–194, 2014.
- Bellman, R. On a routing problem. *Quarterly of applied mathematics*, 16(1):87–90, 1958.
- Bellman, R. Dynamic programming. Science, 153(3731):34-37, 1966.
- Bellman, R. and Kalaba, R. Dynamic programming and statistical communication theory. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 43(8):749–751, 1957.
- Bequette, B. W. Process control: modeling, design, and simulation. Prentice Hall Professional, 2003.
- Bertrand, J. Sur l'homogénéité dans les formules de physique. *Cahiers de recherche de l'Academie de Sciences*, 86:916–920, 1878.
- Bianchi, D., Stock, C., Galbraith, E. D., and Sarmiento, J. L. Diel vertical migration: Ecological controls and impacts on the biological pump in a one-dimensional ocean model. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles*, 27(2):478–491, 2013.
- Biferale, L., Bonaccorso, F., Buzzicotti, M., Clark Di Leoni, P., and Gustavsson, K. Zermelo's problem: optimal point-topoint navigation in 2d turbulent flows using reinforcement learning. *Chaos: An Interdisciplinary Journal of Nonlinear Science*, 29(10):103138, 2019.
- Bollt, S. A. and Bewley, G. P. How to extract energy from turbulence in flight by fast tracking. *Journal of Fluid Mechanics*, 921, 2021.
- Borgnino, M., Boffetta, G., De Lillo, F., and Cencini, M. Gyrotactic swimmers in turbulence: shape effects and role of the large-scale flow. *Journal of Fluid Mechanics*, 856, 2018.
- Borra, F., Biferale, L., Cencini, M., and Celani, A. Reinforcement learning for pursuit and evasion of microswimmers at low reynolds number. *Physical Review Fluids*, 7(2):023103, 2022.
- Bouman, H. A., Platt, T., Sathyendranath, S., Li, W. K., Stuart, V., Fuentes-Yaco, C., Maass, H., Horne, E. P., Ulloa, O., Lutz, V., et al. Temperature as indicator of optical properties and community structure of marine phytoplankton: implications for remote sensing. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 258:19–30, 2003.
- Bragg, A. D., Richter, D. H., and Wang, G. Mechanisms governing the settling velocities and spatial distributions of inertial particles in wall-bounded turbulence. *Physical Review Fluids*, 6(6):064302, 2021.
- Brander, K., Dickson, R., and Edwards, M. Use of continuous plankton recorder information in support of marine management: applications in fisheries, environmental protection, and in the study of ecosystem response to environmental change. *Progress in Oceanography*, 58(2-4):175–191, 2003.
- Brandt, L. and Coletti, F. Particle-laden turbulence: progress and perspectives. *Annual Review of Fluid Mechanics*, 54: 159–189, 2022.
- Brownlee, J. Clever algorithms: nature-inspired programming recipes. Jason Brownlee, 2011.
- Buaria, D. and Pumir, A. Vorticity-strain rate dynamics and the smallest scales of turbulence. *Physical Review Letters*, 128 (9):094501, 2022.
- Buckingham, E. On physically similar systems; illustrations of the use of dimensional equations. *Physical review*, 4(4): 345, 1914.
- Buskey, E. J. and Swift, E. Behavioral responses of the coastal copepod acartia hudsonica (pinhey) to simulated dinoflagellate bioluminescence. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, 72(1):43–58, 1983.
- Buskey, E. J. and Swift, E. Behavioral responses of oceanic zooplankton to simulated bioluminescence. *The Biological Bulletin*, 168(2):263–275, 1985.

Buskey, E. Energetic costs of swarming behavior for the copepod dioithona oculata. Marine Biology, 130(3):425-431, 1998.

- Caillau, J.-B., Maslovskaya, S., Mensch, T., Moulinier, T., and Pomet, J.-B. Zermelo-markov-dubins problem and extensions in marine navigation. In 2019 IEEE 58th Conference on Decision and Control (CDC), pages 517–522. IEEE, 2019.
- Caldeira, K. and Wickett, M. E. Anthropogenic carbon and ocean ph. Nature, 425(6956):365-365, 2003.
- Capecelatro, J., Desjardins, O., and Fox, R. O. Numerical study of collisional particle dynamics in cluster-induced turbulence. *Journal of Fluid Mechanics*, 747, 2014.
- Caporaloni, M., Tampieri, F., Trombetti, F., and Vittori, O. Transfer of particles in nonisotropic air turbulence. *Journal of Atmospheric Sciences*, 32(3):565–568, 1975.
- Cardé, R. T. and Willis, M. A. Navigational strategies used by insects to find distant, wind-borne sources of odor. *Journal of chemical ecology*, 34(7):854–866, 2008.
- Cerminara, M., Esposti Ongaro, T., and Berselli, L. C. Ashee-1.0: a compressible, equilibrium–eulerian model for volcanic ash plumes. *Geoscientific Model Development*, 9(2):697–730, 2016.
- Chan, K. Y. K. Biomechanics of larval morphology affect swimming: insights from the sand dollars dendraster excentricus, 2012.
- Chapman, J. W., Reynolds, D. R., and Wilson, K. Long-range seasonal migration in insects: mechanisms, evolutionary drivers and ecological consequences. *Ecology letters*, 18(3):287–302, 2015.
- Charlson, R. J., Lovelock, J. E., Andreae, M. O., and Warren, S. G. Oceanic phytoplankton, atmospheric sulphur, cloud albedo and climate. *Nature*, 326(6114):655–661, 1987.
- Chevillard, L. and Meneveau, C. Lagrangian time correlations of vorticity alignments in isotropic turbulence: Observations and model predictions. *Physics of Fluids*, 23(10):101704, 2011.
- Colabrese, S., Gustavsson, K., Celani, A., and Biferale, L. Flow navigation by smart microswimmers via reinforcement learning. *Physical review letters*, 118(15):158004, 2017.
- Cottier, F. R., Tarling, G. A., Wold, A., and Falk-Petersen, S. Unsynchronised and synchronised vertical migration of zooplankton in a high arctic fjord. *Limnology and Oceanography*, 51(6):2586–2599, 2006.
- Creamean, J., Cross, J. N., Pickart, R., McRaven, L., Lin, P., Pacini, A., Hanlon, R., Schmale, D., Ceniceros, J., Aydell, T., et al. Ice nucleating particles carried from below a phytoplankton bloom to the arctic atmosphere. *Geophysical Research Letters*, 46(14):8572–8581, 2019.
- Crimaldi, J. P., Thompson, J. K., Rosman, J. H., Lowe, R. J., and Koseff, J. R. Hydrodynamics of larval settlement: the influence of turbulent stress events at potential recruitment sites. *Limnology and Oceanography*, 47(4):1137–1151, 2002.
- Cuvier, G. Le Règne Animal. chez Deterville, 1817.
- Dahlkild, A. A. Finite wavelength selection for the linear instability of a suspension of settling spheroids. *Journal of fluid mechanics*, 689:183–202, 2011.
- Devenish, B., Bartello, P., Brenguier, J.-L., Collins, L., Grabowski, W. W., IJzermans, R., Malinowski, S. P., Reeks, M., Vassilicos, J., Wang, L.-P., et al. Droplet growth in warm turbulent clouds. *Quarterly Journal of the Royal Meteorological Society*, 138(667):1401–1429, 2012.
- Dial, R. B. Algorithm 360: Shortest-path forest with topological ordering [h]. *Communications of the ACM*, 12(11):632–633, 1969.
- DiBenedetto, M. H., Helfrich, K. R., Pires, A., Anderson, E. J., and Mullineaux, L. S. Responding to the signal and the noise: behavior of planktonic gastropod larvae in turbulence. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 225(3):jeb243209, 2022.
- Dijkstra, E. W. et al. A note on two problems in connexion with graphs. Numerische mathematik, 1(1):269–271, 1959.

- Dodson, S. I., Tollrian, R., and Lampert, W. Daphnia swimming behavior during vertical migration. Journal of Plankton Research, 19(8):969–978, 1997.
- Doney, S. C. Plankton in a warmer world. Nature, 444(7120):695-696, 2006.
- Dormand, J. R. and Prince, P. J. A family of embedded runge-kutta formulae. Journal of computational and applied mathematics, 6(1):19–26, 1980.
- Ducklow, H. W., Steinberg, D. K., and Buesseler, K. O. Upper ocean carbon export and the biological pump. Oceanography, 14(4):50–58, 2001.
- Durham, W. M., Climent, E., Barry, M., De Lillo, F., Boffetta, G., Cencini, M., and Stocker, R. Turbulence drives microscale patches of motile phytoplankton. *Nature communications*, 4(1):1–7, 2013.
- Eckman, J. E. and Duggins, D. O. Larval settlement in turbulent pipe flows. *Journal of Marine Research*, 56(6):1285–1312, 1998.
- Fabian, S. T., Sumner, M. E., Wardill, T. J., Rossoni, S., and Gonzalez-Bellido, P. T. Interception by two predatory fly species is explained by a proportional navigation feedback controller. *Journal of The Royal Society Interface*, 15(147): 20180466, 2018.
- Falgueras-Cano, J., Falgueras-Cano, J. A., and Moya, A. Aggregated distribution as an explanation for the paradox of plankton and collective animal behavior. *Biology*, 11(10):1477, 2022.
- Fang, L., Bos, W. J., and Jin, G. Short-time evolution of lagrangian velocity gradient correlations in isotropic turbulence. *Physics of Fluids*, 27(12):125102, 2015.
- Farouk, S., Ahmad, F., Baioumy, H., Lehmann, B., Mohammed, I. Q., and Al-Kahtany, K. Geochemical characteristics of carbonaceous chalk near the cretaceous/paleogene transition, central jordan: Strong metal enrichment of redoxsensitive and biophile elements from remineralized calcitic plankton. *Marine and Petroleum Geology*, 120:104535, 2020.
- Fehlberg, E. Classical fifth-, sixth-, seventh-, and eighth-order Runge-Kutta formulas with stepsize control. National Aeronautics and Space Administration, 1968.
- Ferry, J. and Balachandar, S. A fast eulerian method for disperse two-phase flow. *International journal of multiphase flow*, 27(7):1199–1226, 2001.
- Ferry, J., Rani, S. L., and Balachandar, S. A locally implicit improvement of the equilibrium eulerian method. *International journal of multiphase flow*, 29(6):869–891, 2003.
- Fields, D. M. Orientation affects the sensitivity of acartia tonsa to fluid mechanical signals. *Marine biology*, 157(3):505–514, 2010.
- Fields, D. M. and Yen, J. The escape behavior of marine copepods in response to a quantifiable fluid mechanical disturbance. *Journal of Plankton Research*, 19(9):1289–1304, 1997.
- Fischer-Tenhagen, C., Johnen, D., Heuwieser, W., Becker, R., Schallschmidt, K., and Nehls, I. Odor perception by dogs: evaluating two training approaches for odor learning of sniffer dogs. *Chemical senses*, 42(5):435–441, 2017.
- Fletcher, R. On the barzilai-borwein method. In Optimization and control with applications, pages 235–256. Springer, 2005.
- Flynn, K. J., Blackford, J. C., Baird, M. E., Raven, J. A., Clark, D. R., Beardall, J., Brownlee, C., Fabian, H., and Wheeler, G. L. Changes in ph at the exterior surface of plankton with ocean acidification. *Nature climate change*, 2(7):510–513, 2012.
- Ford Jr, L. R. Network flow theory. Technical report, Rand Corp Santa Monica Ca, 1956.
- Fossette, S., Gleiss, A. C., Chalumeau, J., Bastian, T., Armstrong, C. D., Vandenabeele, S., Karpytchev, M., and Hays, G. C. Current-oriented swimming by jellyfish and its role in bloom maintenance. *Current Biology*, 25(3):342–347, 2015.
- Franks, P. J., Inman, B. G., MacKinnon, J. A., Alford, M. H., and Waterhouse, A. F. Oceanic turbulence from a planktonic

perspective. Limnology and Oceanography, 67(2):348-363, 2022.

- Fredman, M. L. and Tarjan, R. E. Fibonacci heaps and their uses in improved network optimization algorithms. *Journal of the ACM (JACM)*, 34(3):596–615, 1987.
- Frisch, U. and Kolmogorov, A. N. Turbulence: the legacy of AN Kolmogorov. Cambridge university press, 1995.
- Fuchs, H. L. and Gerbi, G. P. Seascape-level variation in turbulence-and wave-generated hydrodynamic signals experienced by plankton. *Progress in Oceanography*, 141:109–129, 2016.
- Fuchs, H. L., Neubert, M. G., and Mullineaux, L. S. Effects of turbulence-mediated larval behavior on larval supply and settlement in tidal currents. *Limnology and Oceanography*, 52(3):1156–1165, 2007.
- Fuchs, H. L., Hunter, E. J., Schmitt, E. L., and Guazzo, R. A. Active downward propulsion by oyster larvae in turbulence. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 216(8):1458–1469, 2013.
- Fuchs, H. L., Christman, A. J., Gerbi, G. P., Hunter, E. J., and Diez, F. J. Directional flow sensing by passively stable larvae. *The Journal of experimental biology*, 218(17):2782–2792, 2015a.
- Fuchs, H. L., Gerbi, G. P., Hunter, E. J., Christman, A. J., and Diez, F. J. Hydrodynamic sensing and behavior by oyster larvae in turbulence and waves. *The Journal of Experimental Biology*, 218(9):1419–1432, 2015b.
- Fuchs, H. L., Gerbi, G. P., Hunter, E. J., and Christman, A. J. Waves cue distinct behaviors and differentiate transport of congeneric snail larvae from sheltered versus wavy habitats. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 115(32): E7532–E7540, 2018.
- Gillooly, J. F., Brown, J. H., West, G. B., Savage, V. M., and Charnov, E. L. Effects of size and temperature on metabolic rate. *science*, 293(5538):2248–2251, 2001.
- Glazier, D. S. Beyond the '3/4-power law': variation in the intra-and interspecific scaling of metabolic rate in animals. *Biological reviews*, 80(4):611–662, 2005.
- Guerrero, J. A. and Bestaoui, Y. Uav path planning for structure inspection in windy environments. *Journal of Intelligent* & *Robotic Systems*, 69(1):297–311, 2013.
- Guha, A. A unified eulerian theory of turbulent deposition to smooth and rough surfaces. *Journal of Aerosol Science*, 28 (8):1517–1537, 1997.
- Guha, A. Transport and deposition of particles in turbulent and laminar flow. Annu. Rev. Fluid Mech., 40:311-341, 2008.
- Gulitski, G., Kholmyansky, M., Kinzelbach, W., Lüthi, B., Tsinober, A., and Yorish, S. Velocity and temperature derivatives in high-reynolds-number turbulent flows in the atmospheric surface layer. part 1. facilities, methods and some general results. *Journal of Fluid Mechanics*, 589:57–81, 2007.
- Gunnarson, P., Mandralis, I., Novati, G., Koumoutsakos, P., and Dabiri, J. O. Learning efficient navigation in vortical flow fields. *Nature Communications*, 12(1):1–7, 2021.
- Gustavsson, K. and Mehlig, B. Statistical models for spatial patterns of heavy particles in turbulence. *Advances in Physics*, 65(1):1–57, 2016.
- Gustavsson, K., Berglund, F., Jonsson, P., and Mehlig, B. Preferential sampling and small-scale clustering of gyrotactic microswimmers in turbulence. *Physical review letters*, 116(10):108104, 2016.
- Gustavsson, K., Sheikh, M., Lopez, D., Naso, A., Pumir, A., and Mehlig, B. Effect of fluid inertia on the orientation of a small prolate spheroid settling in turbulence. *New Journal of Physics*, 21(8):083008, 2019.
- Gustavsson, K., Biferale, L., Celani, A., and Colabrese, S. Finding efficient swimming strategies in a three-dimensional chaotic flow by reinforcement learning. *The European Physical Journal E*, 40(12):1–6, 2017.
- Guy, R. Unsolved problems in number theory, volume 1. Springer Science & Business Media, 2004.

Haddock, S. H., Moline, M. A., and Case, J. F. Bioluminescence in the sea. 2010.

- Hamner, W. M., Hamner, P. P., Strand, S. W., and Gilmer, R. W. Behavior of antarctic krill, euphausia superba: chemoreception, feeding, schooling, and molting. *Science*, 220(4595):433–435, 1983.
- Hardy, A. and Bainbridge, R. Experimental observations on the vertical migrations of plankton animals. *Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom*, 33(2):409–448, 1954.
- Hart, P. E., Nilsson, N. J., and Raphael, B. A formal basis for the heuristic determination of minimum cost paths. *IEEE transactions on Systems Science and Cybernetics*, 4(2):100–107, 1968.
- Hartlep, T. and Cuzzi, J. N. Cascade model for planetesimal formation by turbulent clustering. *The Astrophysical Journal*, 892(2):120, 2020.
- Hawkins, T. Cauchy and the spectral theory of matrices. Historia mathematica, 2(1):1–29, 1975.
- Hay, M. E. Marine chemical ecology: chemical signals and cues structure marine populations, communities, and ecosystems. *Annual review of marine science*, 1:193, 2009.
- Hays, G. C., Richardson, A. J., and Robinson, C. Climate change and marine plankton. *Trends in ecology & evolution*, 20 (6):337–344, 2005.
- Hays, G. C., Christensen, A., Fossette, S., Schofield, G., Talbot, J., and Mariani, P. Route optimisation and solving z ermelo's navigation problem during long distance migration in cross flows. *Ecology letters*, 17(2):137–143, 2014.
- Heuschele, J. and Selander, E. The chemical ecology of copepods. Journal of plankton research, 36(4):895–913, 2014.
- Hinge, G., Surampalli, R. Y., and Goyal, M. K. Sustainability of carbon storage and sequestration. Sustainability: Fundamentals and Applications, pages 465–482, 2020.
- Houghton, I. A., Koseff, J. R., Monismith, S. G., and Dabiri, J. O. Vertically migrating swimmers generate aggregationscale eddies in a stratified column. *Nature*, 556(7702):497–500, 2018.
- Ireland, P. J., Bragg, A. D., and Collins, L. R. The effect of reynolds number on inertial particle dynamics in isotropic turbulence. part 2. simulations with gravitational effects. *Journal of Fluid Mechanics*, 796:659–711, 2016.
- Ito, H., Omori, T., and Ishikawa, T. Swimming mediated by ciliary beating: comparison with a squirmer model. *Journal* of *Fluid Mechanics*, 874:774–796, 2019.
- Jeffery, G. B. The Motion of Ellipsoidal Particles Immersed in a Viscous Fluid. Proceedings of the Royal Society A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences, 102(715):161–179, November 1922. ISSN 1364-5021, 1471-2946. doi: 10.1098/rspa.1922.0078.
- Jékely, G., Colombelli, J., Hausen, H., Guy, K., Stelzer, E., Nédélec, F., and Arendt, D. Mechanism of phototaxis in marine zooplankton. *Nature*, 456(7220):395–399, 2008.
- Jiang, H., Osborn, T. R., and Meneveau, C. Hydrodynamic interaction between two copepods: a numerical study. Journal of plankton research, 24(3):235–253, 2002.
- Jing, T., Meng, Q.-H., and Ishida, H. Recent progress and trend of robot odor source localization. *IEEJ Transactions on Electrical and Electronic Engineering*, 16(7):938–953, 2021.
- Johansen, A., Blum, J., Tanaka, H., Ormel, C., Bizzarro, M., and Rickman, H. The multifaceted planetesimal formation process. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1402.1344*, 2014.
- Johnson, P. L., Bassenne, M., and Moin, P. Turbophoresis of small inertial particles: theoretical considerations and application to wall-modelled large-eddy simulations. *Journal of Fluid Mechanics*, 883, 2020.
- Jonsson, P. R. Vertical distribution of planktonic ciliates– an experimental analysis of swimming behaviour. *Marine* ecology progress series. Oldendorf, 52(1):39–53, 1989.

- Kaartvedt, S. Habitat preference during overwintering and timing of seasonal vertical migration of calanus finmarchicus. *Ophelia*, 44(1-3):145–156, 1996.
- Kage, A., Omori, T., Kikuchi, K., and Ishikawa, T. The shape effect of flagella is more important than bottom-heaviness on passive gravitactic orientation in chlamydomonas reinhardtii. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 223(5):jeb205989, 2020.
- Kessler, J. O. Hydrodynamic focusing of motile algal cells. Nature, 313(5999):218-220, 1985.
- Kim, S. L., Mullineaux, L. S., and Helfrich, K. R. Larval dispersal via entrainment into hydrothermal vent plumes. Journal of Geophysical Research: Oceans, 99(C6):12655–12665, 1994.
- Kingsford, M. J., Leis, J. M., Shanks, A., Lindeman, K. C., Morgan, S. G., and Pineda, J. Sensory environments, larval abilities and local self-recruitment. *Bulletin of Marine Science*, 70(1):309–340, 2002.
- Kiørboe, T. A mechanistic approach to plankton ecology. In *A Mechanistic Approach to Plankton Ecology*. Princeton University Press, 2018.
- Kiørboe, T. and Visser, A. W. Predator and prey perception in copepods due to hydromechanical signals. Marine Ecology Progress Series, 179:81–95, 1999.
- Kiørboe, T., Saiz, E., and Visser, A. Hydrodynamic signal perception in the copepod acartia tonsa. Marine Ecology Progress Series, 179:97–111, 1999.
- Kleiber, M. et al. The fire of life. an introduction to animal energetics. *The fire of life. An introduction to animal energetics.*, 1961.
- Kobayashi, E., Asajima, T., and Sueyoshi, N. Advanced navigation route optimization for an oceangoing vessel. In *Methods and Algorithms in Navigation*, pages 150–157. CRC Press, 2017.
- Koehl, M., Strother, J., Reidenbach, M., Koseff, J., and Hadfield, M. Individual-based model of larval transport to coral reefs in turbulent, wave-driven flow: behavioral responses to dissolved settlement inducer. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 335:1–18, 2007.
- Kok, J. F., Parteli, E. J., Michaels, T. I., and Karam, D. B. The physics of wind-blown sand and dust. *Reports on progress in Physics*, 75(10):106901, 2012.
- Kolmogorov, A. Dissipation of energy in locally isotropic turbulence in an incompressible viscous liquid. In *Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR*, volume 30, pages 299–303, 1941a.
- Kolmogorov, A. N. On degeneration (decay) of isotropic turbulence in an incompressible viscous liquid. In *Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR*, volume 31, pages 538–540, 1941b.
- Kolmogorov, A. N. The local structure of turbulence in incompressible viscous fluid for very large reynolds numbers. *Cr Acad. Sci. URSS*, 30:301–305, 1941c.
- Kolmogorov, A. N. On the logarithmically normal law of distribution of the size of particles under pulverization. In *Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR*, volume 31, page 99, 1941d.
- Krafft, B. A. and Krag, L. A. Antarctic krill (euphausia superba) exhibit positive phototaxis to white led light. *Polar Biology*, 44(3):483–489, 2021.
- Lal, R. Carbon sequestration. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 363(1492):815–830, 2008.
- Lamb, H. Hydrodynamics dover. New York, 43, 1945.
- Lange, S. and Friedrich, B. M. Sperm chemotaxis in marine species is optimal at physiological flow rates according theory of filament surfing. *PLoS computational biology*, 17(4):e1008826, 2021.
- Langmuir, I. Surface motion of water induced by wind. Science, 87(2250):119-123, 1938.

- Larsson, A. I., Granhag, L. M., and Jonsson, P. R. Instantaneous flow structures and opportunities for larval settlement: barnacle larvae swim to settle. *PLoS One*, 11(7):e0158957, 2016.
- Last, K. S., Hobbs, L., Berge, J., Brierley, A. S., and Cottier, F. Moonlight drives ocean-scale mass vertical migration of zooplankton during the arctic winter. *Current Biology*, 26(2):244–251, 2016.
- Lesieur, M. Turbulence (Edition 2013). EDP sciences, 2014.
- Lesur, G. and Longaretti, P.-Y. Impact of dimensionless numbers on the efficiency of magnetorotational instability induced turbulent transport. *MNRAS*, 378(4):1471–1480, 2007.
- Lesur, G. and Longaretti, P.-Y. On the relevance of subcritical hydrodynamic turbulence to accretion disk transport. A & A, 444(1):25–44, 2005.
- Li, J., Abraham, A., Guala, M., and Hong, J. Evidence of preferential sweeping during snow settling in atmospheric turbulence. *Journal of Fluid Mechanics*, 928, 2021.
- Li, Y. and Meneveau, C. Origin of non-gaussian statistics in hydrodynamic turbulence. *Physical review letters*, 95(16): 164502, 2005.
- Li, Y., Perlman, E., Wan, M., Yang, Y., Meneveau, C., Burns, R., Chen, S., Szalay, A., and Eyink, G. A public turbulence database cluster and applications to study lagrangian evolution of velocity increments in turbulence. *J. Turbul.*, (9): N31, 2008.
- Liberzon, A., Harrington, K., Daniel, N., Gurka, R., Harari, A., and Zilman, G. Moth-inspired navigation algorithm in a turbulent odor plume from a pulsating source. *PloS one*, 13(6):e0198422, 2018.
- Liebchen, B. and Löwen, H. Optimal navigation strategies for active particles. *EPL (Europhysics Letters)*, 127(3):34003, 2019.
- Loisy, A. and Eloy, C. Searching for a source without gradients: how good is infotaxis and how to beat it. *Proceedings of the Royal Society A*, 478(2262):20220118, 2022.
- Lombard, F., Koski, M., and Kiørboe, T. Copepods use chemical trails to find sinking marine snow aggregates. *Limnology* and oceanography, 58(1):185–192, 2013.
- Lovecchio, S., Climent, E., Stocker, R., and Durham, W. M. Chain formation can enhance the vertical migration of phytoplankton through turbulence. *Science advances*, 5(10):eaaw7879, 2019.
- Lowery, C. M., Bown, P. R., Fraass, A. J., and Hull, P. M. Ecological response of plankton to environmental change: thresholds for extinction. *Annual Review of Earth and Planetary Sciences*, 48(1):403–429, 2020.
- Lu, Q. and Luo, P. A learning particle swarm optimization algorithm for odor source localization. *International Journal of Automation and Computing*, 8(3):371–380, 2011.
- Lund, T. S. and Rogers, M. M. An improved measure of strain state probability in turbulent flows. *Physics of Fluids*, 6(5): 1838–1847, 1994.
- Luschi, P. Long-distance animal migrations in the oceanic environment: orientation and navigation correlates. *International Scholarly Research Notices*, 2013, 2013.
- Luus, R. Iterative dynamic programming. Chapman and Hall/CRC, 2019.
- Martínez-Ruiz, D., Meunier, P., Favier, B., Duchemin, L., and Villermaux, E. The diffusive sheet method for scalar mixing. *Journal of Fluid Mechanics*, 837:230–257, 2018.
- Martini, S. and Haddock, S. H. Quantification of bioluminescence from the surface to the deep sea demonstrates its predominance as an ecological trait. *Scientific reports*, 7(1):1–11, 2017.
- Maxey, M. R. The gravitational settling of aerosol particles in homogeneous turbulence and random flow fields. *Journal* of fluid mechanics, 174:441–465, 1987a.

Maxey, M. The motion of small spherical particles in a cellular flow field. The Physics of fluids, 30(7):1915–1928, 1987b.

- Maxey, M. t. and Corrsin, S. Gravitational settling of aerosol particles in randomly oriented cellular flow fields. *Journal of Atmospheric Sciences*, 43(11):1112–1134, 1986.
- McEdward, L. Ecology of marine invertebrate larvae. CRC press, 2020.
- McKinnon, A. D., Richardson, A. J., Burford, M. A., and Furnas, M. J. Vulnerability of great barrier reef plankton to climate change. 2007.
- McManus, M. A. and Woodson, C. B. Plankton distribution and ocean dispersal. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 215(6): 1008–1016, 2012.
- Meneveau, C. Lagrangian dynamics and models of the velocity gradient tensor in turbulent flows. *Annual Review of Fluid Mechanics*, 43(1):219–245, 2011.
- Michalec, F.-G., Fouxon, I., Souissi, S., and Holzner, M. Efficient mate finding in planktonic copepods swimming in turbulence. *Elife*, 9:e62014, 2020.
- Minkina, N. Estimation by hydrodynamic method of energy expenditure of copepods (copepoda, crustacea) on swimming. 1981.
- Mogami, Y., Ishii, J., and Baba, S. A. Theoretical and experimental dissection of gravity-dependent mechanical orientation in gravitactic microorganisms. *The Biological Bulletin*, 201(1):26–33, 2001.
- Monchaux, R., Bourgoin, M., and Cartellier, A. Analyzing preferential concentration and clustering of inertial particles in turbulence. *International Journal of Multiphase Flow*, 40:1–18, 2012.
- Monthiller, R., Loisy, A., Koehl, M. A., Favier, B., and Eloy, C. Surfing on turbulence: A strategy for planktonic navigation. *Physical Review Letters*, 129(6):064502, 2022.
- More, R. V. and Ardekani, A. M. Motion of an inertial squirmer in a density stratified fluid. *Journal of Fluid Mechanics*, 905, 2020.
- Morgan, S., Dibble, C., Susner, M., Wolcott, T., Wolcott, D., and Largier, J. Robotic biomimicry demonstrates behavioral control of planktonic dispersal in the sea. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 663:51–61, 2021.
- Morris, M., Gust, G., and Torres, J. Propulsion efficiency and cost of transport for copepods: a hydromechanical model of crustacean swimming. *Marine Biology*, 86(3):283–295, 1985.
- Mukherjee, S., Jemielita, M., Stergioula, V., Tikhonov, M., and Bassler, B. L. Photosensing and quorum sensing are integrated to control pseudomonas aeruginosa collective behaviors. *PLoS biology*, 17(12):e3000579, 2019.
- Nadeau, J., Lindensmith, C., Deming, J. W., Fernandez, V. I., and Stocker, R. Microbial morphology and motility as biosignatures for outer planet missions. *Astrobiology*, 16(10):755–774, 2016.
- Næss, T. and Nilssen, J. P. Diapausing fertilized adults. Oecologia, 86(3):368-371, 1991.
- Naylor, E. Orientation and navigation in coastal and estuarine zooplankton. Marine and Freshwater Behaviour and Physiology, 39(1):13–24, 2006.
- Nielsen, P. Turbulence effects on the settling of suspended particles. Journal of Sedimentary Research, 63(5):835-838, 1993.
- Omand, M. M., Steinberg, D. K., and Stamieszkin, K. Cloud shadows drive vertical migrations of deep-dwelling marine life. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 118(32):e2022977118, 2021.
- Orr, J. C., Fabry, V. J., Aumont, O., Bopp, L., Doney, S. C., Feely, R. A., Gnanadesikan, A., Gruber, N., Ishida, A., Joos, F., et al. Anthropogenic ocean acidification over the twenty-first century and its impact on calcifying organisms. *Nature*, 437(7059):681–686, 2005.
- Park, K.-T., Jang, S., Lee, K., Yoon, Y. J., Kim, M.-S., Park, K., Cho, H.-J., Kang, J.-H., Udisti, R., Lee, B.-Y., et al. Ob-

servational evidence for the formation of dms-derived aerosols during arctic phytoplankton blooms. *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics*, 17(15):9665–9675, 2017.

- Parkinson, C., Arnold, D., Bertozzi, A. L., Chow, Y. T., and Osher, S. Optimal human navigation in steep terrain: a hamilton-jacobi-bellman approach. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1805.04973*, 2018.
- Pécseli, H. L., Trulsen, J. K., Stiansen, J. E., Sundby, S., and Fossum, P. Feeding of plankton in turbulent oceans and lakes. *Limnology and Oceanography*, 64(3):1034–1046, 2019.
- Pedley, T. J. and Kessler, J. O. Hydrodynamic Phenomena in Suspensions of Swimming Microorganisms. *Annu. Rev. Fluid Mech.*, 24(1):313–358, 1992. doi: 10.1146/annurev.fl.24.010192.001525.
- Perlman, E., Burns, R., Li, Y., and Meneveau, C. Data exploration of turbulence simulations using a database cluster. In Proceedings of the 2007 ACM/IEEE conference on Supercomputing, pages 1–11, 2007.
- Peters, F. and Marrasé, C. Effects of turbulence on plankton: an overview of experimental evidence and some theoretical considerations. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 205:291–306, 2000.
- Petersen, A. J., Baker, L., and Coletti, F. Experimental study of inertial particles clustering and settling in homogeneous turbulence. *Journal of Fluid Mechanics*, 864:925–970, 2019.
- Pipchenko, O. 20. on the method of ship's transoceanic route planning. *Methods and Algorithms in Navigation: Marine Navigation and Safety of Sea Transportation*, page 157, 2011.
- Poiseuille, J. L. Recherches expérimentales sur le mouvement des liquides dans les tubes de très-petits diamètres. Imprimerie Royale, 1844.
- Prairie, J. C., Sutherland, K. R., Nickols, K. J., and Kaltenberg, A. M. Biophysical interactions in the plankton: A crossscale review. *Limnology and Oceanography: Fluids and Environments*, 2(1):121–145, 2012.
- Putman, N. F., Scanlan, M. M., Billman, E. J., O'Neil, J. P., Couture, R. B., Quinn, T. P., Lohmann, K. J., and Noakes, D. L. An inherited magnetic map guides ocean navigation in juvenile pacific salmon. *Current Biology*, 24(4):446–450, 2014.
- Qiu, J., Cui, Z., Climent, E., and Zhao, L. Gyrotactic mechanism induced by fluid inertial torque for settling elongated microswimmers. *Physical Review Research*, 4(2):023094, 2022a.
- Qiu, J., Mousavi, N., Gustavsson, K., Xu, C., Mehlig, B., and Zhao, L. Navigation of micro-swimmers in steady flow: The importance of symmetries. *Journal of Fluid Mechanics*, 932, 2022b.
- Qiu, J., Mousavi, N., Zhao, L., and Gustavsson, K. Active gyrotactic stability of microswimmers using hydromechanical signals. *Physical Review Fluids*, 7(1):014311, 2022c.
- Quinn, P. K. and Bates, T. S. The case against climate regulation via oceanic phytoplankton sulphur emissions. *Nature*, 480(7375):51–56, 2011.
- Qureshi, N. M., Bourgoin, M., Baudet, C., Cartellier, A., and Gagne, Y. Turbulent transport of material particles: an experimental study of finite size effects. *Physical review letters*, 99(18):184502, 2007.
- Redaelli, T., Eloy, C., and Kanso, E. Efficient strategy to track a planktonic target from its hydrodynamic signature. In *APS Division of Fluid Dynamics Meeting Abstracts*, pages Q11–009, 2021.
- Reddy, G. Soaring like a bird via reinforcement learning in the field. 07 Nature, 562, 2018.
- Reddy, G., Celani, A., Sejnowski, T. J., and Vergassola, M. Learning to soar in turbulent environments. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 113(33):E4877–E4884, 2016.
- Reddy, G., Wong-Ng, J., Celani, A., Sejnowski, T. J., and Vergassola, M. Glider soaring via reinforcement learning in the field. *Nature*, 562(7726):236–239, 2018.
- Reeks, M. The transport of discrete particles in inhomogeneous turbulence. Journal of aerosol science, 14(6):729–739, 1983.

- Ren, F., Wang, C., and Tang, H. Bluff body uses deep-reinforcement-learning trained active flow control to achieve hydrodynamic stealth. *Physics of Fluids*, 33(9):093602, 2021.
- Richards, S. A., Possingham, H. P., and Noye, J. Diel vertical migration: modelling light-mediated mechanisms. *Journal of Plankton Research*, 18(12):2199–2222, 1996.
- Richardson, A. J. In hot water: zooplankton and climate change. ICES Journal of Marine Science, 65(3):279–295, 2008.
- Richardson, L. F. Weather prediction by numerical process. University Press, 1922.
- Rigolli, N., Magnoli, N., Rosasco, L., and Seminara, A. Learning to predict target location with turbulent odor plumes. *Elife*, 11:e72196, 2022.
- Ringelberg, J. The photobehaviour of daphnia spp. as a model to explain diel vertical migration in zooplankton. *Biological Reviews*, 74(4):397–423, 1999.
- Roberts, P. J. and Webster, D. R. Turbulent diffusion, 2002.
- Rothschild, B. and Osborn, T. Small-scale turbulence and plankton contact rates. *Journal of plankton Research*, 10(3): 465–474, 1988.
- Sacchelli, L., Caillau, J.-B., Combot, T., and Pomet, J.-B. Zermelo-markov-dubins with two trailers. *IFAC-PapersOnLine*, 54(19):249–254, 2021.
- Saiz, E. and Kiørboe, T. Predatory and suspension feeding of the copepod acartia tonsa in turbulent environments. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 122:147–158, 1995.
- Salazar, J. P. and Collins, L. R. Two-particle dispersion in isotropic turbulent flows. Annual review of fluid mechanics, 41 (1):405–432, 2009.
- Samant, O., Alageshan, J. K., Sharma, S., and Kuley, A. Dynamic mode decomposition of inertial particle caustics in taylor–green flow. *Scientific Reports*, 11(1):1–9, 2021.
- Schminke, H. K. Entomology for the copepodologist. Journal of Plankton Research, 29(suppl_1):i149-i162, 2007.
- Schmitt, F. G., Devreker, D., Dur, G., and Souissi, S. Direct evidence of tidally oriented behavior of the copepod eurytemora affinis in the seine estuary. *Ecological research*, 26(4):773–780, 2011.
- Sheikh, M. Z., Gustavsson, K., Lopez, D., Lévêque, E., Mehlig, B., Pumir, A., and Naso, A. Importance of fluid inertia for the orientation of spheroids settling in turbulent flow. *Journal of Fluid Mechanics*, 886, 2020.
- Shneydor, N. A. Missile guidance and pursuit: kinematics, dynamics and control. Elsevier, 1998.
- Siegel, D., Kinlan, B., Gaylord, B., and Gaines, S. Lagrangian descriptions of marine larval dispersion. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 260:83–96, 2003.
- Silva, R., Garcia, F. A., Faia, P. M., and Rasteiro, M. G. Settling suspensions flow modelling: a review. KONA Powder and Particle Journal, page 2015009, 2015.
- Smith, S. L., Pahlow, M., Merico, A., and Wirtz, K. W. Optimality-based modeling of planktonic organisms. *Limnology* and Oceanography, 56(6):2080–2094, 2011.
- Snyder, J. P. Flattening the earth: two thousand years of map projections. University of Chicago Press, 1997.
- Sreenivasan, K. R. On the universality of the kolmogorov constant. Physics of Fluids, 7(11):2778–2784, 1995.
- Stahl, W. H. Martianus Capella and the Seven Liberal Arts: The Marriage of Philology and Mercury, volume 2. Columbia University Press, 1971.
- Stearns, D. and Forward, R. Photosensitivity of the calanoid copepod acartia tonsa. Marine Biology, 82(1):85–89, 1984.

Stokes, G. G. et al. On the effect of the internal friction of fluids on the motion of pendulums. 1851.

Stommel, H. Trajectories of small bodies sinking slowly through convection cells. J. mar. Res, 8(11):24-29, 1949.

- Strang, G. On the construction and comparison of difference schemes. *SIAM journal on numerical analysis*, 5(3):506–517, 1968.
- Sumbekova, S., Cartellier, A., Aliseda, A., and Bourgoin, M. Preferential concentration of inertial sub-kolmogorov particles: the roles of mass loading of particles, stokes numbers, and reynolds numbers. *Physical Review Fluids*, 2(2): 024302, 2017.
- Suthers, I. M., Richardson, A. J., and Rissik, D. The importance of plankton. Plankton: A Guide to Their Ecology and Monitoring for Water Quality, pages 1–13, 2019.
- Szyrmer, W. and Zawadzki, I. Biogenic and anthropogenic sources of ice-forming nuclei: A review. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society, 78(2):209–228, 1997.
- Tanaka, M., Genin, A., Lopes, R. M., Strickler, J. R., and Yamazaki, H. Biased measurements by stationary turbidityfluorescence instruments due to phototactic zooplankton behavior. *Limnology and Oceanography: Methods*, 17(9):505– 513, 2019.
- Taylor, G. I. Statistical theory of turbulenc. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series A-Mathematical and Physical Sciences, 151(873):421–444, 1935.
- Taylor, G. I. and Green, A. E. Mechanism of the production of small eddies from large ones. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series A-Mathematical and Physical Sciences, 158(895):499–521, 1937.
- Taylor, J. et al. The didascalicon: a medieval guide to the arts. *Records of civilization*, 64, 1961.
- Thorup, M. On ram priority queues. SIAM Journal on Computing, 30(1):86-109, 2000.
- Todorov, E. and Tassa, Y. Iterative local dynamic programming. In 2009 IEEE Symposium on Adaptive Dynamic Programming and Reinforcement Learning, pages 90–95. IEEE, 2009.
- Tom, J. An Investigation into the Multiscale Nature of Turbulence and its Effect on Particle Transport. PhD thesis, Duke University, 2022.
- Tom, J. and Bragg, A. D. Multiscale preferential sweeping of particles settling in turbulence. *Journal of Fluid Mechanics*, 871:244–270, 2019.
- Tooby, P. F., Wick, G. L., and Isaacs, J. D. The motion of a small sphere in a rotating velocity field: a possible mechanism for suspending particles in turbulence. *Journal of geophysical research*, 82(15):2096–2100, 1977.
- Townsend, A. K. The mechanics of suspensions. PhD thesis, UCL (University College London), 2017.
- Tranter, D., Bulleid, N., Campbell, R., Higgins, H., Rowe, F., Tranter, H., and Smith, D. Nocturnal movements of phototactic zooplankton in shallow waters. *Marine Biology*, 61(4):317–326, 1981.
- Tranzatto, M. Navigation and Control for an Autonomous Sailing Model Boat. PhD thesis, University of Pisa, 2015.
- Trubovitz, S., Lazarus, D., Renaudie, J., and Noble, P. J. Marine plankton show threshold extinction response to neogene climate change. *Nature communications*, 11(1):1–10, 2020.
- Tsang, A. C. H. and Kanso, E. Flagella-induced transitions in the collective behavior of confined microswimmers. *Physical Review E*, 90(2):021001, 2014.
- Tsinober, A., Kit, E., and Dracos, T. Experimental investigation of the field of velocity gradients in turbulent flows. *Journal of Fluid Mechanics*, 242:169–192, 1992.
- Tsou, M.-C. and Cheng, H.-C. An ant colony algorithm for efficient ship routing. Polish Maritime Research, 2013.
- Turner, J. T. Zooplankton fecal pellets, marine snow, phytodetritus and the ocean's biological pump. *Progress in Oceanog-raphy*, 130:205–248, 2015.

- Vaillancourt, P. A. and Yau, M. Review of particle-turbulence interactions and consequences for cloud physics. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society, 81(2):285–298, 2000.
- van Haren, H. and Compton, T. J. Diel vertical migration in deep sea plankton is finely tuned to latitudinal and seasonal day length. *PLoS One*, 8(5):e64435, 2013.
- Vaschy, A. Sur les lois de similitude en physique. In Annales télégraphiques, volume 19, pages 25–28, 1892.
- Vergassola, M., Villermaux, E., and Shraiman, B. I. 'infotaxis' as a strategy for searching without gradients. *Nature*, 445 (7126):406–409, 2007.
- Vettor, R. and Soares, C. G. Development of a ship weather routing system. Ocean Engineering, 123:1-14, 2016.
- Vikebø, F., Jørgensen, C., Kristiansen, T., and Fiksen, Ø. Drift, growth, and survival of larval northeast arctic cod with simple rules of behaviour. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 347:207–219, 2007.
- Visser, A. W. Motility of zooplankton: fitness, foraging and predation. Journal of Plankton research, 29(5):447-461, 2007.
- Visser, A. W., Mariani, P., and Pigolotti, S. Swimming in turbulence: zooplankton fitness in terms of foraging efficiency and predation risk. *Journal of Plankton Research*, 31(2):121–133, 2009.
- Visser, A., Saito, H., Saiz, E., and Kiørboe, T. Observations of copepod feeding and vertical distribution under natural turbulent conditions in the north sea. *Marine Biology*, 138(5):1011–1019, 2001.
- Völk, H., Jones, F., Morfill, G., and Roeser, S. Collisions between grains in a turbulent gas. Astronomy and Astrophysics, 85:316–325, 1980.
- Wallwork, J. T., Pu, J. H., Kundu, S., Hanmaiahgari, P. R., Pandey, M., Satyanaga, A., Khan, M. A., and Wood, A. Review of suspended sediment transport mathematical modelling studies. *Fluids*, 7(1):23, 2022.
- Wang, L.-P. and Maxey, M. R. Settling velocity and concentration distribution of heavy particles in homogeneous isotropic turbulence. *Journal of fluid mechanics*, 256:27–68, 1993.
- Wang, S. and Ardekani, A. Unsteady swimming of small organisms. Journal of Fluid Mechanics, 702:286–297, 2012.
- Wehner, R. Bird navigation-computing orthodromes. Science, 291(5502):264-265, 2001.
- Weissburg, M. J., Doall, M., and Yen, J. Following the invisible trail: kinematic analysis of mate-tracking in the copepod temora longicornis. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences*, 353(1369):701– 712, 1998.
- Welch, J. and Forward, R. Flood tide transport of blue crab, callinectes sapidus, postlarvae: behavioral responses to salinity and turbulence. *Marine Biology*, 139(5):911–918, 2001.
- Werdell, P. J., Behrenfeld, M. J., Bontempi, P. S., Boss, E., Cairns, B., Davis, G. T., Franz, B. A., Gliese, U. B., Gorman, E. T., Hasekamp, O., et al. The plankton, aerosol, cloud, ocean ecosystem mission: status, science, advances. *Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society*, 100(9):1775–1794, 2019.
- Wheeler, J. D., Secchi, E., Rusconi, R., and Stocker, R. Not just going with the flow: the effects of fluid flow on bacteria and plankton. *Annual review of cell and developmental biology*, 35:213–237, 2019.
- Wilhelmus, M. M. and Dabiri, J. O. Observations of large-scale fluid transport by laser-guided plankton aggregations. *Physics of Fluids*, 26(10):101302, 2014.
- Williams, B. R., McAfee, D., and Connell, S. D. Oyster larvae swim along gradients of sound. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 2022.
- Williamson, C. E., Fischer, J. M., Bollens, S. M., Overholt, E. P., and Breckenridge, J. K. Toward a more comprehensive theory of zooplankton diel vertical migration: Integrating ultraviolet radiation and water transparency into the biotic paradigm. *Limnology and oceanography*, 56(5):1603–1623, 2011.

- Willis, M. A., Avondet, J. L., and Zheng, E. The role of vision in odor-plume tracking by walking and flying insects. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 214(24):4121–4132, 2011.
- Wolodtschenko, A. and Forner, T. Prehistoric and early historic maps in europe: Conception of cd-atlas. *e-Perimetron*, 2 (2):114–116, 2007.
- Woodcock, A. H. Surface cooling and streaming in shallow fresh and salt waters. J. Mar. Res, 4(2):153-161, 1941.
- Yamazaki, A. K. and Kamykowski, D. Modeling planktonic behavior as a complex adaptive system. In *Handbook of* Scaling Methods in Aquatic Ecology, pages 563–578. CRC Press, 2003.
- Yao, W. and Cao, M. Path following control in 3d using a vector field. Automatica, 117:108957, 2020.
- Yen, J. and Lasley, R. Chemical communication between copepods: finding the mate in a fluid environment. In *Chemical communication in crustaceans*, pages 177–197. Springer, 2010.
- Yu, H. and Meneveau, C. Lagrangian refined kolmogorov similarity hypothesis for gradient time evolution and correlation in turbulent flows. *Physical review letters*, 104(8):084502, 2010a.
- Yu, H. and Meneveau, C. Lagrangian Refined Kolmogorov Similarity Hypothesis for Gradient Time Evolution and Correlation in Turbulent Flows. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 104(8):084502, February 2010b. ISSN 0031-9007, 1079-7114. doi: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.104.084502.
- Zermelo, E. Über das navigationsproblem bei ruhender oder veränderlicher windverteilung. ZAMM-Journal of Applied Mathematics and Mechanics/Zeitschrift für Angewandte Mathematik und Mechanik, 11(2):114–124, 1931.
- Zhu, G., Fang, W., Zhu, L., et al. Optimising low-reynolds-number predation via optimal control and reinforcement learning. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2203.07196*, 2022.
- Zöttl, A. and Stark, H. Nonlinear dynamics of a microswimmer in poiseuille flow. *Physical review letters*, 108(21):218104, 2012.